EDGAROnline

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/17/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

11494 SORRENTO VALLEY ROAD

SAN DIEGO, CA 92121-1318

858 597-6006

0001055726

INO

3841 - Surgical and Medical Instruments and Apparatus
Biotechnology & Drugs

Healthcare

12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

COMMISSION FILE NO. 001-14888

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(EXACT NAME OF REGISTRANT AS SPECIFIED IN ITS CHART ER)

DELAWARE 33-0969592
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

1787 SENTRY PARKWAY WEST
BUILDING 18, SUITE 400
BLUE BELL, PENNSYLVANIA 19422

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
REGISTRANT'S TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE: (267) 440-4200
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(B) OF THE ACT:
COMMON STOCK, $0.001 PAR VALUE NYSE MKT
(Title of Class) (Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered)
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(G) OF THE ACT: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edbéturities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant &) filed all reports required to be filed by Sectid or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l88ring the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the &egyit was required to file such reports), anché) been subject to such filing requirements ferpist 90 days. Ye&l
No 0O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasnitted electronically and posted on its corpokéb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation $+ihd the preceding 12 months (or for such shgrégiod that the registrant was required to submitost such files). Yes
No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i contained herein, and will not be containedhmltest of Registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part I of fiism 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, &accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&wse definitions oflarge
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “snealteporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the ExchaAge (Check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Serakporting company O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Acfyes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and namga@ommon equity (which consists solely of shase€ommon Stock) held by non-affiliates of the Ré&ant as of
June 30, 2013 was approximately $133,199,615 bars&).80, the closing price on that date of theiR®emt's Common Stock on the NYSE MKT.

The number of shares outstanding of the Regiss&mmmon Stock, $0.001 par value, was 239,609,3&d &larch 7, 2014.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statmt to be filed with the Commission pursuant tgiRation 14A in connection with the registrant’sl20Annual Meeting
of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement’) are incogped by reference into Part Il of this ReportclS®roxy Statement will be filed with the Commissiwt later than 120 days
after the conclusion of the registrant’s fiscalryeaded December 31, 2013 .






TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART | 2
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 2
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 28
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 41
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 41
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 41
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 42

PART II 43
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 43
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 44
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIMNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS 45
ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 55
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 56
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTARS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 56
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 56

PART Ill 58
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORBTGOVERNANCE 58
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 58
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIADWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 58
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACIDNS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE 58
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 58

PART IV 59
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 59
SIGNATURES 65
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F-1

Unless stated to the contrary, or unless the cootberwise requires, references to “Inovio,” “d@mpany,” “our company,” “our,” or
“we” in this report include Inovio Pharmaceuticdls;. and subsidiaries.




PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report (including the following sectimgarding ManagemestDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults
of Operations) contains forward-looking statemeatmrding our business, financial condition, ressaftoperations and prospects. Words suct
as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,”éhbeves,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressior variations of such words are intendec
to identify forward-looking statements, but are tie exclusive means of identifying forward-lookistgtements in this Annual Report.
Additionally, statements concerning future mattersluding statements regarding our business, ioantial position, the research and
development of our products and other statemegtrdeng matters that are not historical are forwlanking statements.

” ” o ”ou

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&adport reflect the good faith judgment of our mamagnt, such statements can only
be based on facts and factors currently known by ossequently, forward-looking statements arerigity subject to risks and uncertainties
and actual results and outcomes may differ matgffi@m the results and outcomes discussed in ticipated by the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contrtbugach differences in results and outcomes inclitigout limitation those discussed under
the heading “Risk Factors” below, as well as thdiseussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. Reatersrged not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak aslgf the date of this Annual Report. We undertakebligation to revise or update any
forward{ooking statements in order to reflect any evertimumstance that may arise after the date ofAhisual Report. Readers are urge:
carefully review and consider the various disclesumade in this Annual Report, which attempt tasalinterested parties of the risks and
factors that may affect our business, financialdition, results of operations and prospects.

Overview

We are developing a new generation of vaccinesrantine therapies, called synthetic vaccines, fatwsecancers and infectious
diseases. Our DNA-based immune therapies, in catibimwith our proprietary electroporation delivelgvices, are generating best-in-class
immune responses, with therapeutic T cell respoeseseding other technologies in terms of magnijtbdeadth, and response rate. In addi
our novel SynCofivaccine design has shown the ability to help bteakmmune system’s tolerance of cancerous ceiler@he recognized
role of killer T cells in eliminating cancerousiafected cells from the body, Inove5scientists believe that its active immunothempiay pla
an important role in helping fight these diseaghs. SynCorf design is also intended to provide “universal” pmion against known as well
as new unmatched strains of pathogens such asmzfu Human data to date have shown a favoratdéygabfile of our DNA vaccines
delivered using electroporation. We have completadent or planned clinical programs of our prefary SynCorf vaccines and
immunotherapies for HPV-caused pre-cancers ancecaiftherapeutic), influenza (preventive), prostatecer (therapeutic),
breast/lung/pancreatic cancer (therapeutic), hép&tivirus (HCV) (therapeutic), hepatitis B vir(i$BV) (therapeutic), HIV, and malaria
(preventive and therapeutic). Our partners andbolators include Roche, University of Pennsylvabigxel University, National
Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Health Agenaf/Canada, Program for Appropriate Technology @alth/Malaria Vaccine Initiative
(“PATH"/ “MVI"), National Institute of Allergy andinfectious Diseases (“NIAID"), Merck, United Statilitary HIV Research Program
(“USMHRP"), U.S. Army Medical Research Institutelofectious Diseases (“USAMRIID"), HIV Vaccines &tiNetwork (“HVTN") and
Department of Homeland Security (“DHS").

Industry Background
Historical Importance of Vaccines

Apart from sanitation and clean water, we belidhat the idea of stimulating the immune system aie ¢ia preventive vaccines, has
saved more lives and prevented more human sufféneng any other human invention. As recently asrdury ago, infectious diseases were
main cause of death worldwide, even in the moseliged countries. Today, there is a vast rangaofines available to protect against more
than two dozen infectious diseases, especiallghiddren, completely or virtually eradicating disea such as smallpox and polio.

Challenges and Opportunities for Immune Stimulafieghnologies

Despite the advances made to quality of life assalt of the development and use of vaccines dxepéast century, the technical
boundaries of conventional vaccine technology arestrained the development of new preventive vascfor challenging infectious disea
and been incapable of creating therapeutic vacan@amunotherapies against diseases such as camzky the opportunity for immune
stimulating technologies with the potential to figlancers and chronic infectious diseases has ag@ypeared to be as promising given multiple
recent and notable technology advancements suclhea&point inhibitors.
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Inovio’s Solution

With our synthetic vaccine platform comprising @&ymCon®vaccine design process as well as our proprietaotreporation deliver
technology, we have developed a pre-clinical amdoall stage pipeline of products that we belieas the potential to be safer than traditional
vaccines (our synthetic vaccines are non-live amdneplicating, therefore they cannot cause theadis; no serious adverse events have beer
attributed to the vaccines in human studies to)dhatve equivalent or stronger immune-stimulatiog/er than traditional vaccines (being
similar to live viruses, which are the best atigtig strong immune responses), are showing thertial to be used against diseases for which
conventional vaccine technology cannot be apphed, have added advantages with respect to devetdgime and cost. Prefinical studies i
animals and initial human clinical study data hdeenonstrated a favorable safety profile and bestaas immune responses that suggest the
potential efficacy of our approach.

The Next Generation of Vaccines: Synthetic Vaccines

Our synthetic vaccines are designed to prevendeade (prophylactic vaccines) or treat an existisgase (therapeutic vaccines). Our
synthetic vaccines consist of a DNA plasmid encgdine or more selected antigens (proteins assdaidtke a cancer or infectious disease tha
the body will recognize as foreign or dangerouaj tre introduced into cells of humans or animBEf& intent is to have those cells take up the
DNA coding for the targeted antigen and use this’aghtural machinery for making proteins usefuthe body to produce the selected antiger
(s) in the cells. These antigenic protein(s) manttrigger one or both of two arms of immune resgsnthe production of preventive
antibodies, known as a humoral immune responséoatitk activation of therapeutic T-cells, knowraasellular or cell-mediated immune
response. These responses may then neutralizenimagke infectious agents (e.g. viruses, bactaria, other microorganisms) or abnormal ¢
(e.g. malignant tumor cells).

Synthetic DNA vaccines have several potential athgas over traditional vaccines in that they ame-pathogenic (they cannot cause the
disease), may provide preventive immune resporgaast diseases that cannot be controlled by toadit vaccines, may generate therapeutic
immune responses against cancers and chronicioisaliseases, and are relatively fast, easy asdebegpensive to design and produce. For
example, synthetic vaccines against newly identifieal agents may be developed within weeks ortimmras opposed to the years often
required to develop a traditional vaccine candid@gamthetic vaccines can be stable under normat@mental conditions for extended peri
of time.

Inovio's SynCoffVaccines

Our synthetic DNA vaccines are designed to geneageific antibody and T cell responses. Firstdemntify one or more antigens that
we believe are the best targets to help direcinimeune system toward a particular cancer or indestidisease. We then apply our Syn€on
design process, which employs the extensive gedati&and sophisticated algorithms of bioinfornmtithis SynCoff design uses the genetic
make-up of the selected antigen(s) from multiplaiss of a virus or variants of a cancer. We sytithBy create a new genetic sequence of the
antigen that represents a consensus of the DNA maké these multiple strains or variants of thgéded antigen. These unmatched antigens
have been shown to break the immune system’s taleraf cancer cells and/or provide protection agfaimultiple unmatched strains of an
infectious disease, e.g. influenza, creating afpob@oncept of the ability to move beyond todajése bug, one drug” paradigm in which a
vaccine must match the strain of the circulatingwiin order to provide protection. These Syn€synthetic vaccine constructs may provide a
solution to the genetic “shift” and “drift” that tgpical of infectious diseases. These new synthethsensus DNA sequences do not exist in
nature and are patentable.

Technically speaking, SynCdétvaccine antigens are designed by aligning numepdosary amino acid sequences and choosing DNA-
based triplets for the most common or importantrangicid at each site. These antigens are furtht@nized at the DNA level for codon usage,
improved mRNA stability, and enhanced leader seceefor ribosome loading. The DNA inserts are ttoeecoptimized at the genetic level to
give them high expression capability in human cé&lle believe these design capabilities allow uUsetiber target appropriate immune system
mechanisms and produce a higher level of the cadéden to enhance the overall ability of the sgtithvaccine to induce the desired immune
response.

Published human data from two different SynC@NA immunotherapies--one for treating HPV-causegtgancers and cancers as well
as one for treating HIV infection have generatestfie-class T cell responses in terms of their ntage, durability, and killing effect,
providing evidence of their potential to providgrsficantly improved preventive and therapeuticatafities against cancers and infectious
diseases.

Electroporation Delivery Technology

Our synthetic vaccine candidates are delivereddatis of the body using our highly efficient, prigiary electroporation (EP) DNA
delivery technology, which uses brief, locally apglelectric fields to create temporary and revdegpermeability, or pores, in the cell
membrane. Most drugs and biologics must enterantell in order to perform
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their intended function. However, gaining entryoiatcell through the cell's protective membrane loam significant challenge. Electric pulse-
induced permeabilization of the cellular membragéerred to as electroporation, allows and enhatieesptake of a biopharmaceutical agent
previously injected into local tissue.

Alternative delivery approaches based on the usira$es and lipids are complex and expensive aweé in the past created concerns
regarding safety and caused unwanted immune respagminst the carriers themselves (believed tgoamise their ability to provide
protection). We have published data showing thesopimmune responses generated by our Syff@ancines delivered using our
CELLECTRA®electroporation technology compared to a viral @ebaised approach. We have not seen any publisitadrdlicating the
capability of alternative technologies focused simg genetic code to generate preventive or thetapantigens to exceed Inovio’s immune
response data obtained in early clinical studies.

We believe electroporation provides a relativetgightforward, cost effective method for deliverid§lA into cells with high efficiency
and minimal complications (as compared to viraltees) and, importantly, enabling what we believéécclinically relevant levels of gene
expression and immune responses.

Products and Product Development

Inovio’s primary focus is to independently and artpership advance the products developed fromtigrated platform consisting of its
SynCon®vaccine and CELLECTRAelectroporation technologies. We are currently tpirg a number of synthetic vaccines for the
prevention or treatment of cancer and chronic indes diseases. The table below summarizes thesstdour proprietary and collaborative
product development programs as of December 313.201

Inovio SynCon®Vaccine Development

Development Status

Product and

Product Area Indication(s) Pre-Clinical Phase | Phase Il Phase Il Partner/Funding/Sponsor
Cancer Cervical dysplasia (CIN 2/3) X X IP Inovio
(VGX-3100)
Cervical cancer (INO-3112) X X P Inovio

(VGX-3100 + DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

Head/neck cancer (INO-3112) X X P Inovio
(VGX-3100 + DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

Prostate cancer X P Roche
(INO-5150 +/- DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

hTERT expressing cancers (breast, lung, pancreat IP Inovio
INO-1400
Infectious Hepatitis B Virus IP Roche
Disease INO-1800
Hepatitis C Virus X P VGX International

INO-1800 + DNA-based IL-28 cytokine)

HIV (preventive) X P NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX®-GP)

HIV (preventive) X P US MHRP/NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX®-G)

Universal influenza X X NIH
(INO-3510)

Avian influenza X X Inovio

(VGX-3400x)

Malaria IP PATH MVI
Biodefense targets IP US AMRIID



X = Completed
IP = In Progress
P = Planning




Cancer Synthetic Vaccines

Previous Immune Therapy Successes Point to thdiyadif Inovio’s Immune Therapy and Vaccine Apploac

In April 2010, the FDA approved the first cancaatment “vaccine”. This product, sipuleucel-T (Rmoge®, manufactured by United
States based Dendreon), is approved for use in stgnewith metastatic prostate cancer. It is desigaestimulate an immune response to
prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), an antigen pr@semost prostate cancers, by treating the pasientn white blood cells with PAP in cell
culture and returning those cells back to the patiEhus, this approach is more of a personalipgidaach to medicine compared to a
therapeutic vaccine. In a clinical trial, sipuleb€ancreased the median survival of men with aaiartype of metastatic prostate cancer by
about four months. This was an encouraging stepdiat for the field of immunotherapies. However,ides the high cost to manufacture the
product, one of the glaring weaknesses of thisagulr is that Provenge does not generate high lefeksncer-specific T cells.

More recently, progress in the field of immune dpaint inhibitors (“ClIs”) has resulted in tremendoaptimism regarding the
potential for new immunotherapies against a spatwuficancers. The immune system relies on a safdgyatem of checkpoint mechanism
prevent excessive or incorrectly directed immurspoases. Many cancer cells have the ability tathij these checkpoints and neutralize T
cells sent by the immune system to eliminate theéheckpoint inhibitors prevent the cancer cell'digbio evade these checkpoints and enable
T cells (especially CD8 killer T cells) to completesir appropriate and intended killing functiodini@al studies by multiple companies of
different checkpoint inhibitors have shown notablerapeutic impact against melanoma and other caindewever, checkpoint inhibitors ar
“passive” immunotherapy and, based on anecdot&rehtions, may be less effective if there is nstrang enough pre-existing level of
antigen-specific CD8 T cells. Nevertheless, theyjfe significant encouragement that a strong Tgerlerating “active” immunotherapy used
as a monotherapy or in combination with a checkipaimbitor may unleash significant therapeuticeputal.

Inovio is advancing a growing pipeline of pre-atiai and clinical therapeutic vaccines targetingrage of cancers.

Therapeutic HPV Vaccine-VGX-3100
Late Stage Cervical Dysplasia (CIN 2/3)

HPV is the causative agent responsible for cernyioaicancers, cervical cancer, one of the mostiiggrowing cancers in men - head &
neck cancer, and other anogenital cancers. At amendime, approximately 10% of the world’s popidatis infected with HPV.

In the case of cervical pre-cancers and cancelige wdughly 70% of HPV infections are cleared bg thody on its own, persistent HPV
can lead to dysplasia, or premalignant changeslig, ©f the cervix. Researchers have estimatedltizal prevalence of clinically pre-
cancerous HPV infections at between 28 and 40amillihese HPV infections may lead to pnatignant cervical dysplasia; persistent dysp
may then progress to cancer. Every year, approri;naB80,000 cases of cervical cancer are diagneseldiwide, and about half of the
afflicted women, primarily in developing countrieke.

There are currently two FDA approved vaccines, @sit8and CervariX, that protect against HPV-types 16 and 18, theriRy
types that cause approximately 70 percent of akksa@f cervical cancer worldwide. However, prewentiaccines cannot provide protection for
those already infected with HPV, which is a largguation. In addition, not all girls and womengdle to be vaccinated are receiving these
vaccines. In the US, only about 32% of the eligfielmale population is completing the full three-siaation regimen. There is no viable
therapeutic vaccine or drug to fight HPV, nor dgsjs (a pre-cancerous condition) and cancers @¢dysdPV. Current treatments are
unappealing due to the potential psychologicabksteising from the “watch-and-wait” process typlicprescribed with early stage dysplasias
and the potential for premature births or diffidoiltths associated with ablative or surgical prarzed to remove late stage cervical dysplasias.

Inovio's VGX-3100 is a therapeutic vaccine desigteedhise immune responses against the E6 andtigjeas of HPV types 16 and 18
that are present in both pcancerous and cancerous cells transformed by tHieSetypes. E6 and E7 are oncogenes that play agratrole ir
transforming HPV-infected cells into pre-cancerand cancerous cells. The goal of the vaccine s$inaulate the body's immune system to
mount a T cell response strong enough to causeepetion of cells displaying the E6/E7 protein elpotential of such an immune therapy
would be to treat pre-cancerous dysplasias asagaiervical cancers caused by these HPV types.

We completed the phase | study of our therapeeticical cancer vaccine (VGX-3100) in 2010. Thiselescalation study tested the
safety and immunogenicity of VGX100 in women previously treated for moderate gesecervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2/8high
grade premalignant lesion that may lead to cendgaater. The trial enrolled patients in three ctthof six subjects each with synthetic vaccine
doses of 0.6 mg (0.3 mg each of two DNA plasmigl€),mg, and 6.0 mg. Each subject was dosed at,dagfth 1 and month 3.
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In September 2010, we presented top-line data stgpaghievement of best-in-class immune responssimlose escalation study. Data
from the trial included:

. Antigen-specific, doseelated T cell responses across the three dosesg

. Strong antigerspecific antibody responses in all three dose gg;

. VGX-3100 delivered using Inovio’s proprietary OFECTRA ®intramuscular electroporation delivery device wasegally saf
and well tolerated at all dose levels; and

. No vaccinerelated serious adverse events (SAEs). Reportestselevents and injection site reactions were toildoderate

and required no treatment.

Immunological analyses of blood samples collecifdie and after treatment indicate that antigercifipemmune responses were
induced against the target proteins produced byid&'®vaccine. Using a validated, standard interieELISpot assay, antigen-specific
cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL, or killer T cell) respses were observed against all four antigens GH@&EZ proteins for HPV types 16 and 18).
Overall, in all three dose cohorts combined, 14afuit8 vaccinated subjects (78%) developed sigaificCTL responses, with positive
responses ranging from under 100 to over 5000 S#Unglion cells; 72% (13 of 18) responded to asletwo antigens; and 50% (9 of 18)
responded to all four antigens.

In the 6 mg cohort, five of six vaccinated subj€83%) developed significant CTL responses by EbtSwith average responses of
1362 SFU per million cells after three immunizatiomhis was a 118% increase compared to the 2 imgricaverage of 626 SFU per million
cells (four responders out of six) and a 174% iaseecompared to the 0.6 mg dose cohort averag&’c8BU per million cells (four respondi
out of six).

Moreover, these ELISpot responses persisted 24snafedr the last immunization in 86% of evaluatdégnts, indicating that T cell
responses, in addition to antibody responses,gtéasiat least six months after the final immutiza at month 3.

In July 2011, we reported data demonstrating l@rgxtdurability of T cell immune responses of upvo years (at the latest time
measured) in 7 of 8 evaluated patients followiriguath vaccination of VGX-3100.

While the phase | study targeted only safety andimogenicity as endpoints and did not addresscalimfficacy, several literature
reports support the hypothesis that induction ofduantigen specific T cell responses is importambntrolling cancer. Furthermore, there are
examples of other cancer vaccine candidates taggéie E6 and/or E7 proteins achieving significdimical efficacy in patients with cervical
or vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia, yet the CTkpenses achieved in such studies were lower theeme thbserved in the current VGX-3100
study.

Furthermore, in October, 2012, we reported thairttraune responses generated in this study displayeniverful killing effect on cells
changed by HPV into precancerous dysplasias. Tiessdts appeared in the peer-reviewed jourSaience-Translational Medicinen an
article entitled, "Immunotherapy against HPV 16¢Eerates potent Thl and cytotoxic cellular immuasponses.” This desirable effect may
ultimately contribute to the regression or elimioatof cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer. kemnore, 91% of patients who developed T
cell responses showed the presence of CD8 T @glslde of this type of killing activity. Direct kihg by CTLs was observed in all vaccinated
subjects (6 of 6) in the 6 mg cohort.

Antibody responses to E6 and E7 antigens werenaésasured. Specific antibody responses to tumogemsican function as an import
surrogate potency marker for determining the imngemicity of a vaccine, i.e. the ability of a vaczitm induce an immune response.
Antibodies were generated against all four antigasgested by the enzyrtieked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). In the 6 mgarthantibody
responses were observed in five of six subject%o8®verall, 100% of the study participants (18.8j reported antibody positivity to at least
two vaccine antigens, and 94% (17 of 18) reportesitjpity to three antigens; 56% (10 of 18) werssitive to all four antigens.

In March 2011, we initiated a randomized, placebotwlled, double-blind phase Il study of VGX-31@@livered using our
CELLECTRA®intramuscular electroporation device in women WitV Type 16 or 18 and diagnosed with, but not yested for, cervical
intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) 2/3. The womenhe study received either 6 mg of VGX-3100 (the bigldose used in our phase | study) or ¢
placebo using the CELLECTRAIN vivo electroporation device at months 0, 1, 8n@he study is assessing efficacy by measuringessgpn
of cervical lesions from CIN 2/3 to CIN 1 or nornialthe treated versus control subjects. Immunahgiesponses will be measured in this
clinical study to assess the ability of this thgr&pgenerate strong T cells in a larger, contobfifudy. Safety is also being assessed
(ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01304524).

Therapeutic HPV Vaccine-VGX-3100 +DNA-Based IL-Y20Kine
Cervical Cancer and Head and Neck Cancer

In the first half of 2014 Inovio expects to inigetiwo phase I/lla clinical studies. These studigsassess immunogenicity (immune
response characteristics) and safety of INO-311@X\8100 in combination with a DNA-based
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IL-12 cytokine) — one in cervical cancer patientsl ¢he other in head/neck cancer patients. We adde®NA-based IL-12 immune activator
to VGX-3100 for these cancer studies because odndtcine clinical study (HVTN-080) showed that tdition of IL-12 to our DNA
vaccines can enhance the activation of CD8 T célksplan to also use our DNA-based IL-12 cytokimether new cancer studies as well.
Trial protocol details for INO-3112 studies have heen disclosed.

Prostate Cancer Therapeutic Vaccine-INO-5150

The development of a new treatment for prostateeramwould be a significant medical advance givext fliesent treatment options
(surgery, radiation and hormone deprivation), wedenewhat effective, all carry deleterious side&# and often do not confer loterm cure
Across the United States, there were 238,000 neesocaf prostate cancer and more than 29,000 diea204 3.

In January 2011, we announced the publicationsmientific paper in the journedluman Vaccinedetailing potent immune responses
pre-clinical study of our SynCdtvaccine for prostate cancer targeting two antigprostate specific antigen (“PSA”) and prostatecgjme
membrane antigen (“PSMA”). While current prostaaecer therapies target single antigens, in thidysive tested the hypothesis in mice that
multiple antigens administered with Inovio's elepwration- delivery technology would improve thednth and effectiveness of a prostate
cancer therapeutic vaccine.

This study, conducted by our scientists and coliatoos, is described in the published paper edtiti€o-delivery of PSA and PSMA
DNA vaccines with electroporation induces potenmiome responses.” The SynCtwaccine evaluated in this study was generated &y th
creation of PSA and PSMA synthetic consensus immens based on human and macaque sequences, whidadethe amino acid sequence:s
of the antigens to differ slightly from the natipeoteins associated with prostate cancer in huniarsimans, this difference may help
overcome self-tolerance of cancer cells displayivege prostate-related proteins and enable theaereof an anti-tumor immune response.
Mice received two immunizations of highly optimizegccine delivered by electroporation. Immunogéyigias evaluated one week after the
second vaccination. The resultant data showechthection of strong PSA and PSMA-specific cellulamune responses and also significant
antigen specific seroconversion, illustrating thath humoral and cellular immune responses carebergted by this approach.

In September, 2013, Roche exclusively licensedSkisCor® vaccine in conjunction with the use of Inovio’s AEHCTRA ®
electroporation technology for this vaccine as pag broader partnership agreement with Inovio.adfeect that a phase | study of this vaci
will be initiated in the first half of 2014. Rocligepaying for all costs associated with the develept of this vaccine. As a part of this license
agreement, Roche is also funding Inovio to desightast additional vaccine candidates to treattatesancer.

hTERT Therapeutic Vaccine-INO-1400

In July 2013, Inovio announced that its hTERT (hartelomerase reverse transcriptase) DNA cancein@eciministered with Inovio's
CELLECTRA®adaptive electroporation delivery technology getestr@aobust and broad immune responses, broke tieima system's
tolerance to its self-antigens, induced T cell$waitumor-killing function, and increased the ratsurvival in pre-clinical studies. Because
abnormally high levels of hTERT expression are thim85% of human cancers, INO-1400 holds the piateto perform as a "universal”
cancer therapeutic based on these early but urgeetad results. Inovio plans to advance INO-14@9 dfinical trials in 2014 to treat breast,
lung and pancreatic cancers expressing the antiERT.

Infectious Disease Synthetic Vaccines

Hepatitis B Virus-INO-1800

Although an effective preventive vaccine againgatigis B virus (HBV) infection has existed for ovbree decades, HBV remains a
major epidemic, especially among people of Asiath African descent. The World Health Organizatiotineates that 2 billion people globally
have been infected with HBV, with over 350 millipaople chronically infected with the virus andigk of developing cirrhosis or liver canc
It is estimated that upwards of 1.4 million peoipl¢he US are infected with the virus. Currenthe bnly therapies available for chronically
infected individuals are interferon-a and nucleesidalog treatments, which function by controllirgl replication but unfortunately do not
clear infection. Interferon can prevent viral reption in only 30% of patients and does so withasirdble side effects.

Liver cancer is the second most common cause ¢fidiean cancer worldwide, killing most patients kit five years of diagnosis. Abc
782,000new cases arise each year. One of the eajses and risk factors for liver cancer is intectyy
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hepatitis B. Chronically infected individuals magvetlop a permanent scarring of the liver (a coaditialled cirrhosis). Liver cirrhosis can
evolve into hepatocellular carcinoma, which claifd$,000 lives annually.

In November 2012, we announced data indicatingdhasynthetic HBV therapeutic vaccine generateshst T cell responses that
eliminated targeted liver cells in mice. Resultmirthis pre-clinical study appeared in the peererged journal,Cancer Gene Therapyin an
article entitled, "Synthetic DNA immunogen encodimgpatitis B core antigen drives immune respongigen.”

In this study, Inovio developed a synthetic DNA eiae which is encoded for the HBcAg antigen andesgnts a consensus of the
uniqgue HBcAg DNA sequences of all major HBV gena&yfA through E). When delivered by electroporatiesearchers first demonstrated
that this vaccine elicited strong HBcAg-specificdll and antibody responses in the periphery (datsi the liver) by ELISpot, ICS and cell
proliferation assays. Researchers observed thasitenation could also induce antigen-specific Gb8 CD4 T cells that produced both IFN-
y and TNI-a in the liver, indicating a strong vaccine-inddidecell response was also present in the liver.

Furthermore, study researchers found the vacciaefpT cells exhibited a killing function, anduwd migrate to and stay in the liver
and cause clearance of target cells without anyeswie of liver injury. Taken together, this is finst study to provide evidence that
intramuscular immunization can induce killer T setiat can migrate to the liver and eliminate taogdls.

In September, 2013, Roche exclusively licensedSkisCor® vaccine in conjunction with the use of Inovio’s AEHCTRA ®
electroporation technology for this vaccine as pag broader partnership agreement with Inovio.afecompleting pre-clinical work
associated with this vaccine and expect that aeptida study of this vaccine will be initiated @arly 2015. Roche is paying for all costs
associated with the development of this vaccine.

Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) Therapeutic Vaccine

Hepaititis is a disease characterized by inflammaticthe liver. HCV is a major cause of acute higisaHCV is spread primarily by
direct contact with human blood, the major causeddwide being the use of unscreened blood trarmigsand re-use of needles and syringe:s
that have not been adequately sterilized. As margb&s -85% of newly infected patients may progtessevelop chronic infection. Of those
with chronic liver disease, 5% - 20% may develaphaisis. About 1%-5% of infected people may digrfrilne consequences of long term
infection (due to liver cancer or cirrhosis). Glpaan estimated 150 million people are chronigaifected with HCV, which represents a
reservoir sufficiently large for HCV to persist,ch8 to 4 million people are newly infected eachry&athe US, while new incidences of HCV
have dropped dramatically, an estimated 3.2 milihomericans are chronically infected. People withociic HCV infection face an increased
risk of developing hepatocellular cancer, a diffi¢o-treat cancer with a poor prognosis. More t8&0,000 deaths each year are attributed to
HCV-caused liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular cance

In April, 2010, we announced, along with our cotieditors from Drexel University, Cheyney Universiand the University of
Pennsylvania, that we received a combined $2.8amitirant from the PA Commonwealth Universal Resle&nhancement Program (CURE),
to advance our proprietary synthetic vaccine tatttHCV using our CELLECTRA electroporation delivery system. The grant fundest p
clinical studies using an expanded set of Syniarmunogens to test the safety and effect on thetinevsystem of our novel vaccines
designed to treat persons who are chronically tefewith HCV and have not responded to currenthilable therapies.

At the end of 2011 we announced positive pre-dcihiesults from this proprietary HCV vaccine, INO&®, which were published in
Molecular Therapy. This synthetic multi-antigen DNA vaccine coveephtitis C virus genotypes la and 1b and targetaitigens NS3/4A,
which includes HCV nonstructural proteins 3 (NS8) @A (NS4A), as well as NS4B and NS5A proteindldwing immunization, rhesus
macaques mounted strong HCV-specific T cell immuasponses strikingly similar to those reporteddtigmts who have cleared the virus on
their own. The responses included strong NS3-spenierferon-gamma (IFN-g) induction, robust CD#aCD8 T cell proliferation, and
induction of polyfunctional T cells. The T cell pemses achieved with our proprietary, multi-antigeV DNA vaccine and CELLECTRA
delivery device were far superior to immunogeniciifa generated by ChronTech. Importantly, we als@rved functional T cells in the liver.

In October 2013, our partner VGX International lelved a phase | study of this HCV vaccine. UndedEHlZevelopment agreement,
VGX International is fully funding IND-enabling, ple |, and phase Il studies for this vaccine. Tareycurrently testing VGX-6150 (IN®20(
with DNA-based IL-28 cytokine) in phase | testimgorea.

HIV Preventive and Therapeutic Vaccines

Since its discovery in 1981, AIDS has killed mdrart 36 million people. In 2011, there were roughly million new cases of HIV
diagnosed. In 2012, approximately 35 million peapre living with HIV worldwide. Each year in thenited
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States, about 50,000 people become newly infectédriy/. At the end of 2010, 1.1 million peopletine US were living with HIV.

Effective vaccines have been actively pursued f&r @0 years, without success. HIV represents 6tleeanost confounding targets in
medicine. The virus' high mutagenicity (abilityrtautate) has made effective vaccine developmenteieailenging. Its outer envelope, swatl
in sugar molecules, is difficult to attack, and Hitikes the very cells that the immune systemdhen to thwart such an infection. Although
several drugs (anti-retrovirals) are availableréat the patients once they are infected, vac@nesecessary to stop the spread of disease an
perhaps reduce the need for anti-retroviral treatme

After many years of rapid development and introauncof new anti-retroviral drugs for treatment dfHnfection, the introduction of
new drugs to the market for treatment of HIV infectappears to be waning. Available drugs, desgteral limitations, have set a high
standard that must be met in terms of efficacy. e\mv, there is still a significant need for bett#Y therapies and patents are beginning to
expire on early HIV drugs. For example, zidovudamel other early anti-retrovirals are already atdélaas generic drugs. To maintain HIV-
related revenue, as well as meet the needs of Afidéied patients, pharmaceutical companies mustidewew drugs with improved profiles,
especially in terms of toxicity and more barrieysievelopment of viral resistance. As a resultnieglical and commercial needs are fueling
continued interest in the development of new ngithes (NRTIs), non-NRTIs, and protease inhibité1§ {or treatment of HIV infection.

Noting that many long-term survivors have high dswf killer CD8 T cells, the HIV vaccine field hagned to stimulating the immune
system to generate those cells. Recent HIV vaaznedidates adopted the use of an adenovirus anenoa human cold virus that had been
genetically modified to contain code for HIV antigeto prevent viral replication. These vaccineshanoven to not be effective. We believe a
different approach is needed to develop an effeataccine for HIV. More recently the RV-144 triadhich employed an ALVAC™ (canary
pox) vaccine prime followed by a protein vaccine$to demonstrated 30% efficacy in preventing adtijpiisof infection amongst the
vaccinated population compared to the control grédghough the efficacy was relatively modest, fimeling has for the first time showed that
a vaccine may be able to combat spread of HIV asdspurred the development of newer vaccine catedida

In October 2009, along with the HIV Vaccines Tii&twork (“HVTN”), we initiated a phase | study (HWF080) of PENNVAX®-B
(with and without a DNA cytokine, DNA IL-12) delived with electroporation using the CELLECTRAelivery device in healthy, uninfected
individuals. This randomized, double-blind, mulérter study was sponsored by the NIAID, an agefitifoNational Institutes of Health (the
“NIH"), and conducted by the NIAID-funded HVTN, amaccinated 48 healthy, HIV-negative volunteerseateral clinical sites to assess
safety and levels of immune responses.

Of the 48 total volunteers, eight subjects receiwgdacebo, 10 subjects received a 1 mg dose oNRBX ©-B vaccine, and 30 subjects
received a 1 mg dose of PENNVAXB along with IL12 DNA. All volunteers received vaccine or placetmninistered with electroporation
months 0, 1, and 3. T-cell immune responses weeeth using a validated flow cytometry-based oehalar cytokine staining (ICS) assay at
the HVTN core immunology laboratory at the Fred ¢hirnison Cancer Research Center in Seattle, WA.

We reported final data from this study in Septenfti#rl. These data indicate that antigen-specifieTresponses were generated by the
vaccine in a majority of subjects. Overall, eit@#4 or CD8 or both T-cell responses were obsergaihat at least one of the vaccine antigen
in 83.3% (30 of 36) of evaluated subjects afteed¢hwaccinations using electroporation. The respoatsencreased to 88.9% (24 of 27) of
evaluated subjects after three vaccinations wihtedporation plus the IL-12 cytokine gene adjuvahie investigators in this study concluded
that PENNVAX®-B + IL-12 plasmid delivered via electroporation i® frequencies and magnitudes of cellular immas@onses equal to or
greater than those reported from current vectoedh&V vaccines such as adenovirus or traditiofdAD/accination without electroporation.
These results represent best-in-class immune respdhat have not been observed with other plagiorm

Other specific results included:

. Antigenspecific CD4 T cell responses were generated bydbeine in 80.8% of evaluated vaccine recipieBisdf 26)

. Significantly strong antigen-specific CD8 T celsponses were also generated by the vaccine9&d&df evaluated vaccine
recipients (14 of 27).

. In an assessment of immune response durabilityoosix months post dose 3, 53.6% (15 of 28hefdubjects maintained
positive CD4 T cell responses and 42.9% (12 ofd?8he subjects maintained positive CD8 T cell oeses out to six months.

. Compared to the previously conducted HVTN 078gghl study, which assessed PENNVAB with cytokine adjuvant IL-12

at double the dose, with four vaccinations, buhwiit electroporation delivery, response rates imTN\080 with electroporatic
were significantly higher for both CD4 response®. 1%0) and CD8 T cell responses (3.6%). Samples &igmt placebo
recipients and preaccine samples from vaccine recipients were &sted and were negative for both CD4 T cell respoas(
CD8 T cell responses.




PENNVAX ®-B delivered using the CELLECTRAintramuscular electroporation delivery device withwithout IL-12 was
safe and generally well tolerated. There were rozine-related serious adverse events. Reportedsslegents and injection
site reactions were mild to moderate and requieteatment.

This data was published in July 2013 in the peeiereedJournal of Infectious Diseas@sthe article, “Safety and comparative
immunogenicity of an HIV-1 DNA vaccine in combinati with plasmid IL-12 and impact of intramusculd¥atroporation for delivery.”

A second clinical study testing PENNVA%B in a therapeutic setting, conducted in collaborawith the University of Pennsylvania,
started in 2011. The HIV-001 open label, phasedyenrolled 12 adult HIV-positive volunteers tsess safety and levels of immune
responses generated by Inovio's PENNV2B vaccine delivered with its CELLECTR®electroporation device. Study volunteers were
required to be on a highly active antiretrovirardpy (HAART) regimen, have undetectable plasma dad (<75 copies/mL), and have CD4
T lymphocyte counts above 400 cells/pL with nadirer 200 cell/jL. Twelve (12) eligible subjects were administeseidur dose series (day
weeks 4, 8 and 16) of PENNVAX-B containing 3 mg of DNA/dose via intramusculaatoporation.

In March 2012, we reported that there were no St adverse events or vaccine related graded3agtverse events noted in the study
and the vaccine was found to be generally welr&bézl. Reported injection site reactions were tailchoderate and did not require treatme!
resolve.

T cell responses were measured using a validaté8ot assay at the U Penn Immunology Core Faciliyerall, significant vaccine-
specific T cell responses were observed in 75%{®b12) of subjects against at least one of lineg vaccine antigens (gag. pol, or env)
following vaccination. Fifty percent of the subje¢6 out of 12) had strong vaccine induced antg@eeific responses above the pre-
vaccination levels to at least two of the antigémgportantly, the responses induced by vaccinatiere predominantly antigen-specific (i.e.
gag, pol and env) CD8 T-cells, which are considéodoe paramount in clearing chronic viral infencand an important measurement of the
performance of a therapeutic vaccine. These reatdtén stark contrast to previously reported sisidvith other DNA vaccines delivered
without electroporation that yielded poor overaltdll immune responses.

We believe these positive interim results, whicbveld that a DNA vaccine was able to generate robesll immune responses in
people chronically infected with HIV, demonstrate potency of our synthetic vaccine technologyfptat and raise the potential for the
development of therapeutic vaccines against HIV.aMeanalyzing the final data with the intent tegare a paper for submission to a peer-
reviewed scientific publication.

The valuable proof of concept data achieved withRENNVAX®-B clinical studies provided a strong and posithasis with which to
advance our HIV vaccine development program vidlBhVaccine Design and Development TeafH¥DDT) contract for PENNVAX® -GP
(discussed below).

In September 2010, the United States Military HigsBarch Program (MHRP) initiated a phase | trisddZ62) using one of our
prophylactic HIV vaccines in a unique prime-bodsategy. This program was developed to protectrejaliverse subtypes of HIV-1 prevalent
in North America, Europe, Africa, and South Ameri€hae study is being conducted by the United Stsiid&®P through its clinical research
network in the US and East Africa. The prime idasmid synthetic vaccine, Inovio's PENNVAXG, and the boost is a virus vector vaccine,
Modified Vaccinia Ankara-Chiang Mai Double Recomdmin (MVA-CMDR). Together, the vaccines are desigttedeliver a diverse mixture
of antigens for HIV-1 subtypes A, B, C, D and EeTtudy will test PENNVAX -G delivered with electroporation in conjunctiorthvihe
MVA-CMDR boost. The NIAID is sponsoring the studyhich is intended to enroll 92 total participantslassess safety and immune
responses. The study is being conducted in twe pRert A enrolled 12 subjects in the US (openllatly) and is complete. This study
confirmed the safety profile of the vaccine andragkthe door to initiate the larger placebo cofetbinternational study. Part B has complete
the targeted enrollment of 80 subjects in threeécAfr countries (Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda).

Based on the proof-of-concept established with PENKX ©-B, we were awarded a contract under the NIAID'¥ Mhccine Design and
Development Teams program to advance a more ogihpreventive HIV DNA vaccine, PENNVAX-GP, delivered using intradermal
electroporation delivery. The contract providesa$25.3 million of funding over seven years, inthg a five-year base period and follow-on
option years. The funding and development prograveis pre-clinical optimization, immunogenicity acfiallenge studies in animal models,
IND-enabling toxicology studies, cGMP (current goondnufacturing practices) manufacturing of all comgnts of the synthetic vaccine and
intradermal CELLECTRA electroporation device, and the conduct of a phasenan clinical trial. cGMP manufacture of the IEKAX ©-

GP constructs to support clinical trials will bendoicted at the manufacturing facility of our a#t&, VGX International, Inc. (“VGX Int'l").

We expect that the HVTN will launch the phase bgtof PENNVAX®-GP in the second half of 2014.
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HIV remains a challenging and tremendously impdréaaa of medical research, and we value the Ndtfxport to further evaluate the
immunogenicity and efficacy of our electroporatiglivery system and novel preventive HIV vaccinedidate.

Avian Influenza Vaccines

Influenza is one of the most communicable diseasdsypically affects children and elderly mostesely. Complications from influen:
cause more than 200,000 hospitalizations and dzetseeen 3,000-49,000 deaths each year in the USitees alone, according to the Centers
for Disease Control. The world is annually subjddtetwo influenza sessions (one per hemispheet)yden three and five million cases of
severe iliness, and up to 500,000 deaths. A parceocurs every ten to twenty years, which infedtrge proportion of the world's population
and can kill tens of millions of people as the “Bigh Flu” did in just two years (50-100 million dkea during 1918-1919).

New influenza viruses are constantly produced byatman or reassortment, and can develop resist@nstndard antiviral drugs. The
H5N1 flu virus has been spreading from Asia dedpiéebelief that it was under control immediateftieaoutbreaks there in 2004. In 2005,
there were reports of H5N1 in wild birds in Europe2006, there were reports of an H5N1 strain il Wwirds and poultry in Africa and the
Near East. According to the World Health Organ@atithe H5N1 bird flu has infected 650 people aslitted in 386 deaths (approximat
60% death rate) in 15 countries since 2003 (WH®rdsay 2014). While H5N1 has never been passesbpén-person and has not spread
widely, one concern is the potential for the letH&N1 to “reassort” with another of the influenzdbdypes that have been prone to spread
rapidly in humans, possibly creating a more dangeiofluenza strain. Through 2006, over 140 millmrds had been killed and over $10
billion spent to try to contain H5N1 avian influenavhich has a death rate of 90%-100% in birds.

Our VGX-3400X candidate targets H5N1. The vaccine consfdfsree distinct DNA plasmids coded for a consertsemagglutinin (HA
antigen derived from different H5N1 virus straias;onsensus neuraminidase (NA) antigen derived flifferent N1 sequences; and a
consensus nucleoprotein (NP) fused to a smallgrodf the m2 protein (m2E) based on a broader €geston of influenza viruses in addition
to H5N1 and HIN1.

In our first proof of principle study of our univeal flu vaccine program, VGX-3400X was deliveredhwintramuscular electroporation
using our CELLECTRA electroporation device. The primary objectiveshi$ tlinical trial were to assess safety and tdlditg. The
secondary objective was the measurement of ansigenific T cell and antibody responses, includimgling and hemagglutination inhibition
(HAI) responses, i.e. a measure of protection,regganultiple strains of H5SN1 influenza.

The study assessed a total of 60 healthy volunt88rm the US and 30 in Korea (in a separate,lighdinical trial sponsored by Inovio
affiliate VGX International). Three dose cohortsl@f subjects were each given two injections offigg 0.67 mg, or 2.0 mg of each plasmid at
months 0 and 1.

In a report in July, 2011, of interim data, VGX-840was found to be generally safe and well toletateall dose levels. There were no
vaccine-related serious adverse events. Reporiagisaievents and injection site reactions were toiloderate and required no treatment.

We tested for antibody responses against the targefens and observed high levels of binding aiis in 26 of 27 evaluated subjects
(96%). Antibodies were generated against all thrg@ens, as tested by the enzyme-linked immunestoidssay (ELISA). Positive antibody
responses persisted to seven months, the latesptint tested.

In testing for HAI responses against the VietnanH®N1/1203/04) strain, 3 of 27 subjects (11%) shawd@\l titers greater than 1:40,
which is considered to be an indicator of protetagainst influenza in humans. Two of the thregesub with HAI titers exceeding 1:40
against the Vietnam strain also demonstrated grézda 1:40 titers against the Indonesia (A/H5NAGBA) strain, demonstrating cross-reactive
responses in these volunteers.

Significantly, antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphge (CTL) responses were also observed againgtrak antigens (HA, NA and NP).
After two vaccinations, 13 of 18 vaccinated sulgg@2%) from the first two cohorts developed str@Td. responses to at least one of the
vaccine components. After cohort 3 samples werb/aed, 20 of 29 vaccinated subjects (69%) in albBorts developed strong CTL respor
to at least one of the vaccine components. ThesitiyT cell responses were measured up to seweth®s after the first vaccination.
Generation of influenza antigen-specific T cell@sses is believed to be important for generatimgarsal, long-lasting immunity against
influenza as well as to generate a stronger immesgonse against flu in elderly people.

In another component of the study, participantsirex a booster vaccination using just the H5 Hécuze component of VGX-3400X
delivered using intradermal (rather than intramiesgwelectroporation. The intradermal (ID) parttloé study was the first flu study using ID
electroporation delivery in humans. ID electropimratdelivers our SynCofivaccines into skin, which contains large amountsnofiune cells
such as dendritic cells and macrophages consitheostlimportant for generating protective antibod@sr new 1D electroporation device uses
a patented miniaturized needle array which creates
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electroporation conditions uniquely optimized feinsdelivery. The goal of this booster vaccinatieas to determine if ID delivery of the H5
HA construct can increase HAI titers beyond thad@eved by the initial intramuscular vaccinatiofsienty-two participants received the 1D
booster vaccination.

Immune response data measured one month aftdrabst were reported in November 2011. Ten of 2@estdh (50%) exhibited a four-
fold or greater rise in geometric mean titers (GNfdhe HAI assay (ranging from 1:20 to 1:80 HAegts) against the Clade 1
A/Vietnam/1203/04 strain. Significantly, a four-flobr greater rise in GMT titers against five otbdade 2 (Clade 2.1, 2.2; 2.3.2; 2.3.4) and
Clade 0 H5N1 viruses was also noted in 10-25% @f#ccinated subjects, further demonstrating creastive immune responses in these
volunteers. One subject displayed greater than HAlltiters against all six different H5N1 virustssted. ID vaccination was found to be
generally safe and well tolerated.

HAI measurements from the blood of a vaccinatedesilare used to assess the generation of proteatitibody responses. A four-fold
rise in HAI titers (compared to pre-vaccinationg@sidered to be an important indicator of immaaotivation. Generating an HAI titer of 1:20
is generally regarded as a positive vaccine respamish a titer of 1:40 or higher in the blood @fceinated subjects generally associated with
protection against influenza in humans.

Seventeen subjects boosted with the minimally iiveald vaccination were subsequently given a sedBnldooster vaccination. In May
2012 we reported that 100% and 89% of vaccinatbfsts demonstrated high-titered binding antibaeponses against the more common
Clade 1 A/Vietnam/1203/04 and Clade 2 A/Indo/5/68iss, respectively, demonstrating vaccapecific immune activation. We also testec
vaccine's ability to generate protective HAI resgemagainst six distinct H5SN1 virus strains (Clddlek, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3.2 and 2.3.4), representin
all major genetic branches of the H5N1 genetic. t@dfahe 17 subjects who completed the full immation regimen:

» Eight of 17 (47%) immunized subjects had an HAdrtivf 1:40 or higher against at least one of teeettH5N1 viruse

» Twelve of 17 (71%) vaccinated subjects had an HtAl bf 1:20 or higher against at least one H5MAis!

» Seven of 17 (41%) had an HAI titer of 1:40 or highgainst the Clade 2.2 A/Turkey/1/05 str

» Five of 17 vaccinated subjects (29%) displayed antiter of 1:20 or higher against at least thréfedent HSN1 viruses teste
* In an unprecedented result, two vaccinated subgstonstrated an HAI titer of 1:20 or higher aghadisix strains teste

Hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) measurements frdme blood of a vaccinated subject are used tcsatbe generation of protective
HA antibody responses generated by a vaccine. Alltiler data are presented in geometric meanstf&MT). Generating an HAI titer of 1::
is generally regarded as a positive response taabeine; a titer of 1:40 or higher in the bloodvatcinated subjects is generally associated
with protection against seasonal influenza virus®s has been observed in multiple subtypes.

Although a number of companies have widlreloped avian influenza programs and lead vaazndidates have entered into natic
stockpiles (US and EU), we believe there existeedrfor broadly protective and easily scalablertetdgies to prepare for the as yet unknown
target presented by the next form of avian infleéer@ur SynCoif technology provides protection from known aviartafza viruses (in
animal studies) and has also shown the abilityotegt against newly emergent, unmatched strains.

Responding to the 2013 H7N9 influenza outbreakyitmoompleted the design, optimization, and manufénog of an H7N9 DNA
vaccine within two weeks. A pre-clinical study bfs¢ DNA vaccine showed that 100% of vaccinated mieee protected against sickness and
death when they were challenged with a lethal d6$¢7N9 virus. This study further highlights theld of Inovio's SynCorf vaccine to
create cellular immune responses that could retheceeverity of H7N9 infection in a person thatwgeg the virus and limit the spread of the
virus in a pandemic setting. The data has been ibednipto a manuscript and it has been submittegbédolication.

We are seeking additional grant funding to advahiseprogram further.

Universal Influenza Vaccine

Conventional vaccines are strain-specific and hiaviéed ability to protect against genetic shiftsthe influenza strains they target. They
are therefore modified annually in anticipatiorttod next flu season’s new strain(s). If a signifibadifferent, unanticipated new strain
emerges, such as the 2009 swine-origin pandenaimsthen the current vaccines provide little ompmotective capability. In contrast, we
believe that our design approach to charactertmad consensus of antigens across variant swhsch influenza sutype creates the abili
to protect against new strains that have commoetgeroots, even though they are not perfectly medc By formulating a single vaccine with
some or all of the key sub-types, protection mapdfgeved against seasonal as well as pandemiicsstnach as swine flu or pandemic-
potential strains such
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as avian influenza noted above. We are focusecweldping DNA-based influenza vaccines able to jgi®broad protection against known as
well as newly emerging, unknown seasonal and pardieffuenza strains.

Instead of targeting a specific strain or strams,have developed a universal vaccine strateggabwlith the ever-changing flu threats.
Using our SynCofi process, our scientists designed synthetic vactargsting an optimal consensus of HA, NA, and N&tgins derived fror
multiple strains of each of the Type A sub-typedNH1H2N2, H3N2 (these three influenza sub-typesrtplieen responsible for the majority
of seasonal and pandemic influenza outbreaks irahsrduring the last century), as well as HSN1h#&oty, consensus HA vaccine constructs
from each sub-type, delivered using our electrapmmadevice, could potentially protect vaccinatetjscts from 90-95% of all human seasona
and pandemic influenza concerns. Additionally, \a@énalso developed an optimal consensus of HA segsederived from influenza Type B
strains. Type B is one of three components of ciseasonal influenza vaccinations. Thus, usingSsuCon® constructs, we have now
developed vaccine elements that can target bottigmaic-risk (H5N1, H7N9, H1IN1) as well as seasonfilienza strains (H3N2, HIN1,
influenza B).

Moreover, using our approach the vaccines mightiawe to be administered annually after the fest priming sessions. Rather, the
same combination could be used to boost the immystem every few years.

In September 2012, Inovio announced that an intanialysis of a SynCdhuniversal HIN1 influenza vaccine showed that itegated
protective HAI titers against some of the most pfent strains of HIN1 influenza from the past 16@rg in a phase | clinical trial. The open
label phase | study evaluated two synthetic HLNhdggglutinin (HA) plasmids designed to broadly pebtgainst unmatched influenza strains
within different branches of the H1N1 subtype. Thpksmids were delivered in healthy adults withvin's CELLECTRA® intradermal
electroporation device up to three times. The éeéid vaccine was well tolerated; reported adversate and injection site reactions were milc
to moderate and required no treatment.

Researchers exposed blood samples from the vaedisabjects to each of the nine key HIN1 virusesraulation over the last 100
years: eight were H1NL1 strains used to formulatestrasonal vaccines of the last 25 years; onehedd1N1 strain that caused the 1¢
Spanish flu. These unmatched influenza strains weed to assess the generation of hemagglutinatidsition (HAI) titers meeting or
exceeding 1:40. Demonstrating Inovio's syntheticiree's broad cross-reactive coverage, a signifigparcentage of subjects immunized with
Inovio's SynCorPvaccine had an HAI titer of 1:40 or higher agaissth of the nine HIN1 strains tested, ranging faad®0% response rate to
the A/Brisbane/59/07 strain to a 100% responsetodatiee A/Beijing/262/95 strain. The benchmarktfoe current licensed seasonal flu
vaccines, which are based on matching the vacchsddiuence to that of the circulating strain, ifawe greater than 65% of vaccinees
generate an HAI titer of 1:40 or higher againstriteched vaccine strain.

By design, Inovio's SynCdhuniversal flu vaccine is not matched to any singles and was not matched to any of the strairtedes
this study. The vaccine recipients generated ptigteElAl responses against the HLIN1 A/South Caedlifil8 strain from the 1918 Spanish flu
as well as all the HLN1 strains which were pathefannual seasonal trivalent inactivated flu vaesi(TIV) since 1986, including:
AlTaiwan/1/86, A/Texas/36/91, A/Bayern/07/95, A/jdey/262/95, A/New Caledonia/20/99, A/Solomon Islaf03/06, A/Brisbhane/59/07,
A/California/07/09. The HAI titers in the positivesponders ranged from 1:40 to greater than 1:1280.

Compared to the seasonal TIV (trivalent influenaacime)-immunized control group, which is matchethie current HIN1 seasonal flu
strain (A/California/07/09), those immunized witholio's vaccine generated a higher or similar paegge of positive HAI titer responders
against all of the strains except for A/Califor@ial09. As anticipated, the TIV recipients generdbedbest HAI titers against the matched
strain, but did not generate vaccine-induced respoates against the unmatched strains.

Inovio is conducting optimization studies in animabdels to further strengthen its HIN1 vaccinetepoy against all strains, especially
the current circulating strain, A/California/07/Gg well as to reduce the number of injections eéd¢d generate protective responses against
multiple strains.

In December 2012 we reported interim results dfiase | trial that showed that a single dose ofHilM1 universal SynCofflu vaccine
followed with a dose of a seasonal flu vaccine gateel protective immune responses in 40% of tribjexts compared with a 20% response
rate in elderly patients who received the seasitumahccine alone.

People over 65 years of age represent about 9G¥rafal influenza deaths in the US. Older peopte'sline systems typically mount
much weaker protective immune responses to seagaoeihes, often in only 10 to 20% of this popwlatiln younger adults, the same flu
vaccines generate protective immune responsedéasit65% of the vaccine recipients. Other apgrescsuch as the use of higher vaccine
doses and novel adjuvants, have not significantlyroved the seasonal
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vaccine's impact in the older population. Thusrehs a significant need for a new approach to idebetter protection in this more vulnerable
population.

With the vulnerability of the elderly in mind, thighase | study is evaluating the ability of Inogi8ynCorf vaccine alone, as well as in
combination with the 2012 seasonal influenza vaxdio generate protective levels of antigen-speaifitibody immune responses in a greater
proportion of the elderly population as well agfsess the potential for more universal protectgainst both matched and unmatched sea
influenza strains.

In the trial, conducted at the University of Mamisoin Winnipeg, Canada, 50 healthy elderly patigrgse divided into three groups: one
group of 20 subjects received a two-dose regimeénafio's HIN1 universal SynCdtflu vaccine delivered using Inovio's proprietary
CELLECTRA®intradermal electroporation device 16 weeks apasgcond group of 20 subjects received one dols®wib's SynCor?
vaccine delivered using electroporation followedabgose of seasonal flu vaccine 16 weeks latériré group of 10 subjects received placebo
delivered by electroporation followed by a dos¢hef seasonal flu vaccine 16 weeks later. The stuahjectives were to assess the tolerability,
safety, and immune responses of these differemivaiion regimens.

Serum samples from the vaccinated subjects werktosessess the generation of hemagglutinatiomitidn (HAI) titers meeting or
exceeding a dilution of 1:40 to the current HIN&ssmal flu strain (A/California/07/09). An HAI titef 1:40 is the level recognized as a
protective immune response against influenza indnsnBecause of generally high HAI titer backgrotatds to the A/California/07/09 strain,
vaccine-specific, protective response rates weterghéned by assessing the number of patients in gaaup who had HAI titers greater than
1:40 and HAI titers at least 4-fold higher than biaekground value at the start of the trial. Inonégd interim data, vaccination with the HIN1
universal SynCofiflu vaccine followed with a dose of a seasonalfigcine generated protective immune responses%n(8mf 20) of trial
subjects compared with a 20% (2 of 10) responseimatlderly patients who received the seasonaldhcine alone. We are analyzing the final
data with the intent to prepare a paper for subioris® a peer-reviewed scientific publication.

Finally, on our path to develop a universal sealseamecine we are completing tests in animal modélsur vaccine constructs for
A/H3N2 and Type B influenza. Our goal is to devel@gcines that can also generate HAI titers exogetli40 against unmatched strains
within the H3N2 and Type B subtypes. In January22®le reported that our synthetic vaccines fouifiza Type A H3N2 and Type B
achieved protective antibody responses in immunéechals against multiple unmatched strains.

In the study of Inovio's SynCdtH3N2 vaccine, investigators immunized small aninfalice and guinea pigs) with a synthetic vaccine
designed to produce the influenza hemagglutinin)(Ertigen in the animals. Inovio investigators haweate tested blood samples from the
animals for immune responses against unmatchedsfram several clades of H3N2. (Like the branaobfes tree, there are dozens of distinct
strains within each of these clades). The aninmaiatinized with the SynCdtH3N2 vaccine developed HlI titers exceeding the 1e46l
commonly associated with protective immunity agbseveral clades of H3N2 tested. These includeinsticirculating in the 2000-01, 2006-
07, and 2008-09 influenza seasons, which had nigsiessa change in the composition of the seasgtnabccine for those years. Additional
animal testing of the remaining few H3N2 cladestitared through 2012 and was to include a new stH#&N2v (A/Indiana/10/2011 X203),
which was selected in January 2012 by the CDCmndemic vaccine target.

Similarly, in the study of Inovio's SynC&ype B vaccine, investigators tested blood samfptes immunized mice for immune
responses against multiple, unmatched strains pé Byinfluenza. All the animals immunized with BgnCon® Type B vaccine developed Hl
titers exceeding the 1:40 level against all ofdtrains of Type B tested, including those circulgtand consequently a part of the vaccine
formulation in 2001-02, 2008-09, and 2011-12. TRoafluenza mutates more slowly than Type A, buduagh to preclude lasting immunity.
Type B influenza can lead to life-threatening caagtlons, including pneumonia, in young childreargons over 50, those with chronic
diseases (e.g. diabetes) or suppressed immunensystad others at risk for complications.

We are seeking additional grant and/or partnerifulntb advance this program further.

Malaria

Malaria continues to present a major healthcaréesige in the developing world and has been thedaf much attention by global
public health agencies. It is a deadly diseasedtiibkills approximately 627,000 people each yé&ahildren under the age of five residing in
Africa are affected most by this disease. Develaptroéan effective vaccine agair@tasmodium falciparurhas been a challenge. The parasiti
undergoes several stages of development duritifeitsycle and presents different potential targetigens at each stage as it passes through
human and mosquito hosts.
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In January 2013, the PATH Malaria Vaccine InitiatiVI) and Inovio announced a follow-on collabdoatto advance malaria vaccine
development and new vaccination delivery techn@egResearchers will test whether a novel vacgipesach that combines genetically
engineered DNA with electroporation delivery coilduce an immune response in humans that protgaiest malaria parasite infection.

Our vaccine candidate targets the pre-erythrosgtige of the parasite and focuses on inductiorif bumoral and cellular responses
against multiple target antigens. This approac¢htended to help prevent infection of liver celiglao further clear those cells that, despite the
antibody response, become infected. By targetiag#rasite during the first days after infectids type of vaccine may prevent the onset of
malaria symptoms and further inhibit spread ofdisease.

This follow-on agreement for clinical developmentls on a 2010 research and development collaboraetween Inovio and MVI.
Inovio researchers and their academic collaborateveloped novel DNA plasmids targeting multipldama parasite antigens and conducted
studies in rodents to demonstrate induction of thioanune responses. The success of these studidgerkin an expanded collaboration in
which further testing demonstrated potent T cedl antibody responses in other animal models. Adighdd in Infection & Immunity in 2013,
Inovio’s SynCorf malaria vaccine generated robust and long-lastinglllresponses that exhibited the functional gbib kill and eliminate
malaria-infected cells in small animals and non-homrimates. Researchers also found vaccine indDBe8l+ "killer T cells" in the liver,
which is essential for rapid elimination of livaiage malaria parasites. Inovio is prepared to laémshis program into a clinical trial, but the
actual timing of the human study is dependent ypoper and timely funding from MVI or other fundiagencies.

Cytomegalovirus

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a member of the herpesifianf viruses that spreads from one person to larathrough the transfer of body
fluids. CMV causes a wide variety of infection dtidess in healthy adults, in those with comprordisamune systems (such as HIV patients)
and in pregnant women who can pass the infectidhaio unborn child (congenital CMV) and thus caugant death and congenital
abnormalities. It is the most common viral infeatia solid organ transplant recipients and is ader®d a causative factor in certain cancers,
inflammatory diseases, and cardiovascular/pulmodmgases. CMV infects approximately 60%-95% ofltaduorldwide. According to the
CDC, among every 100 adults in the US, 50-80 dextad with CMV by the time they are 40 years oM\Cis the most common viral
infection that infants are born with in the Unit8thtes. The genetic complexity of CMV has inhibitieel advancement of vaccines for this
disease and, despite 50 years of research, tiiastiss a medical problem that has yet to seecineaor cure. The US Institute of Medicine
and US National Vaccine Program offices have rar®&®tY with the highest priority in terms of potertigalthcare dollar savings and
improvement in "quality adjusted life years." Altigh healthy people usually have few symptoms atithe of initial infection, after infection
the virus remains in a latent state in the bodytHerrest of a person's life. The virus can thetrdmesmitted and cause infection through organ
donation, or latent virus can become reactivateticause symptomatic disease.

In November 2012, we announced that our multiptelsstic vaccine constructs for cytomegalovirus (ONhuced robust T cells in
mice, demonstrating the potential for a SynC®NA vaccine to treat this disease. The results ftiois pre-clinical study appear in the peer-
reviewed journalHuman Vaccines & Immunotherapeutiosn article entitled "Vaccination with synthetionstructs expressing
cytomegalovirus immunogens is highly T cell immuenig in mice."

In this study, Inovio researchers first investigladenovel panel of ten CMV immunogens comprisechainly surface-associated proteins
based on promising prior clinical and poi@ical data that had been previously shown tintygortant for inducing cellular immune response
CMV infection. To maximize the potential for brogdeactive immunity, Inovio researchers created@ym® vaccines for each of the target
proteins based on amino acid consensus sequepcestultiple variant CMV clinical strains and excidithose from potentially divergent,
highly passaged lab-adapted strains.

Researchers observed that vaccination with each €dfigtruct was highly T cell immunogenic in preidal proof-of-concept mice
studies, generating robust and broad T cell regsoas extensively analyzed by the T cell ELISPGRysEach antigen produced responses
against at least four and as many as 28 diffeeggibns of the antigen and, importantly, responsas both CD8 and CD4 T cells were
observed. This increased diversity and magnitud=elbdlar responses may be critical for effectivlifigating CMV infection and disease in
the transplantation setting.

These data demonstrate that Inovio's next-gener&ymCor DNA vaccine technology is effective at inducing CD&ell responses
specific to CMV, in contrast to prior strategieattimduced mainly CD4-dominant responses. Addiflgna majority of epitopes identified for
the gB, gH, and gL antigens also contained HLAS llaae previously been reported to contribute eoshppression of viremia and
amelioration of disease. Further ongoing work détermine how many of the 10
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antigens will be selected and taken further famichl development as well as assess the inducfiantdody responses to prevent CMV
infection.

Synthetic Vaccines for Biodefense and Biosecurity

A number of infectious agents that are relativalsertoday are poised for an upsurge in incidenceither “natural” or terrorism-related
means. For example, natural threats are posedehipfiienza strain HSN1. At the same time, an eegyiad influenza virus for intentional
release would pose a significant human threat.

Since 2001, the United States government has spetibcated over a billion dollars in funding tddress the threat of biological
weapons. United States funding for bioweaponsdlattivities focuses primarily on research for aoquisition of medicines for defense.
Biodefense funding also goes toward stockpilinggstive equipment, increased surveillance and tieteof biological agents, and improving
state and hospital preparedness. The increasesitype of funding recently is mainly due to th@ject BioShield Act adopted in 2004.

There are opportunities to secure development figndind for proof-of principle synthetic vaccinedias for biowarfare pathogens. Over
the past five years, we have been successful atisgdunding from the US government for such pctge

The company continues to actively pursue grantcamdract funding from the NIH, Department of Defera&d other government funding
agencies as an important source of non-dilutivelifumto support development of specific technolsgiet are broadly applicable across
multiple product development programs in the asdasncer, infectious diseases and biodefense.dBas&arious initiatives and with the
support of NIH funding we are an active collaboratith the Department of Defense (U.S. Army) andtoule research and development of
DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietagcgbporation system. Specifically, our projects facused on identifying synthetic vaccine
candidates with the potential to provide rapid,ustimmunity to protect against bwarfare and bioterror attacks as well as developrokour
electroporation based equipment.

In April 2012, we received a U.S. Department of&efe Small Business Innovation Research Granttanae the development of a low-
cost, non-invasive surface electroporation (EPivdg}l device and test its utility in combinationtiviour novel synthetic DNA vaccines against
viruses with bioterrorism potential, including hanpuumala, arenavirus and pandemic influenza. gHojgct is a continuation of a first-stage
DOD grant in 2011 that initiated Inovio's developrnef this skin delivery system.

In the first phase of this project, Inovio focusedoptimizing the device design of its current miially invasive surface EP device. In t
second phase, the objective is to further advandevalidate this device and the resulting immurspo@ses in appropriate animal models. We
will also investigate the development and manufactd low-cost sterile disposables for the deviee the possibility of integrating dermal
injection capabilities into a combined inject/ER/ide platform.

Animal Health/Veterinary

VGX Animal Health, Inc. (VGX AH), a majority-owneslibsidiary, is advancing the development and comialeation of LifeTide®, a
plasmid-based growth hormone releasing hormone (@He&chnology for swine. LifeTid®is one of only four DNA-based treatments
approved for use in animals and is the only DNAelagent delivered using electroporation that leas lyranted marketing approval
(Australia and New Zealand). We are working onmenihg and/or monetizing this program.

In September 2012, we announced that a study pellis a leading peer-reviewed journal, theerican Journal of Veterinary
Researchshowed that_LifeTid&® SW 1.0, an optimized version requiring only 20%af dose of the licensed LifeTifleSW 5.0,
demonstrated significant decreases in perinatatatityrrate, an increase in the number of pigs tadive, and an increase in the weight and
number of pigs weaned compared with the contralgrédditionally, there was a significant incre&séhe lifespan of the treated sows in the
study. These findings provide further evidencéhefpotential of the plasmidased GHRH technology to improve productivity andffipability
for pig producers around the world.

We are developing a novel synthetic vaccine fot-foad-mouth disease (FMD) administered by our pedg@ry vaccine delivery
technology. The FMD virus is one of the most inf@a$ diseases affecting farm animals includingleastvine, sheep and goats, and is a
serious threat to global food safety. Once an @reaposed to FMD, livestock & dairy exports arased and herds are culled. For example, ir
a major FMD outbreak in the UK in 2001, more thamilion animals were slaughtered, resulting in enthran $10 billion (USD) in economic
losses. In a current FMD epidemic in South Korearem
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than 3.3 million animals, mostly swine, have beelted in an attempt to keep the disease from sjmgadoday's FMD vaccines based on
killed/inactivated viruses can actually cause FME&¢tion, so are only used regionally after an cedk rather than for broad preemptive
vaccination. Our synthetic DNA vaccine cannot cahgedisease, providing a safe approach to potgnpieotect against FMD and reduce its
serious impact on global food supply and commerce.

Because FMD can spread rapidly and beyond reglimahdaries there is a need to develop vaccineséimasimultaneously target
different regional serotypes (subtypes) of FMD girggle vaccine. Our SynCdétvaccine constructs target four of the seven maimRiifus
subtypes.

Due to the fear of inadvertent spread to farm alinrasearch with the live virus to test vaccinficaty is heavily restricted to only a fe
government laboratories in the US. The investigatioerefore developed a patented new proprietaryraiezation assay (using a mock virus
unrelated to FMD to assess the ability of the vaednduced antibodies to neutralize virus infedtidn a follow-on investigation of the
immune responses with the novel neutralizationyaagainst the Asia strain, the vaccinated animelgbtbped neutralizing antibody (NAb)
titers averaging 90 after a single vaccination iaaceasing in magnitude to 191 after two vaccimaid-or comparison, commercially available
attenuated/killed FMD virus vaccines are able gt swine with an NAb titer of 32-40. These résake the first report of a DNA vaccine
producing high titers of neutralizing antibodiesimgt FMD.

In a second large-animal study, sheep were vaeadrthtee times at 0, 5, and 10 weeks with a cortibmaaccine targeting either four
subtypes (O, A, C, Asia), three subtypes (O, ApASir a single subtype (Asia). The study investigaobserved in the vaccinated animals
high levels of seroconversion (production of antiiles specific to a particular antigen) and antibtigys (the actual level of antibody
production; in this case, ranging from 1000 — 100)ao all the vaccine subtypes after only onenar vaccinations. Importantly, the multi-
subtype DNA vaccines targeting three or four suesygpimultaneously were able to induce equally gtfewels of antibody titers compared to
the single-subtype vaccines. Strong T cell respofmamulatively > 1,500 SFU/million PBMC), which uld potentially play a role in treating
the disease, were also noted against the foureliffessubtype antigens.

In September 2011, we entered into a Cooperatiged&eh and Development Agreement (CRADA) with tinétédl States Department
Homeland Security (DHS) Science and Technologydarate Plum Island Animal Disease Center. Thitabokation will evaluate the
efficacy of our SynCofivaccines for FMD in important animal models inchglicattle, sheep, and pigs.

Historical and Discontinued Studies

In May 2004, we announced a collaboration and Seeadlowing Merck to use Inovio's earlier generagtectroporation delivery
technology in conjunction with certain DNA vaccirgesveloped by Merck. Merck completed phase | dihs&tudies for two DNA vaccines but
did not report results. As part of this licenseesgnent, Merck paid Inovio milestone payments amdéd all clinical development costs.
Although this agreement has not been terminatedtimer studies are planned from this license.

In 2013, our collaborator ChronTech Pharma AB reggbdata from its small phase 1l study of its egdyneration, single antigen
hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine delivered using early-generation delivery device in combinatioiva drug regimen. The study did not
achieve results showing a statistically significdifiterence in efficacy compared to the drug regiraone. We have ceased all activities
relating to this collaboration.

In 2013, the University of Southampton indicatedt tits UK phase Il clinical study of its WT1 leukienvaccine delivered using Inovio's
earlier generation electroporation delivery tecbgglis not currently recruiting new subjects duamanterruption in sponsor funding. There
have been no safety concerns identified duringsthdy.

Separately, Inovio has designed a (wholly owned)C3yn® cancer vaccine candidate based on the WT1 antigee telivered with its
state-of-the art CELLECTRAelectroporation device and has generated promjsieglinical data. This new candidate will be at judir
multiple cancer immunotherapeutic programs in Insvoncology pipeline.

These discontinued studies and collaborations Wased on a past strategy involving devacdy contributions to collaborators by Ino\
This contribution consisted of Inovio’s older geatéwn electroporation technology without the usénofvio’s SynCorf products.
Collaborations of this nature will not be a partrdvio’s core product-development focus strategy.

Additional Applications of Our Electroporation Deli very Technology

In addition to using our technology for human damgl vaccine delivery, it can be used for researclalidate new drug targets, to
generate monoclonal antibodies, deliver siRNA atheéiomolecules. The use of our technology for nesemcreases general awareness for th
technology and may facilitate its transition intmical development for these other
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applications. In addition, we believe there mayahb®enefit to exploring future potential applicasdor our technology in the area of gene
therapy to treat genetic disorders.

We continue to pursue limited opportunities in #neas of stem cells, ex-vivo applications and RNwiere collaborators would provide
the majority of required development resources.

Our Electroporation Delivery Technology
Choice of Tissue for DNA Delivery

Skeletal muscle has been a core focus for deliwgEBNA-based vaccines via electroporation becatisennainly composed of large
elongated cells with multiple nuclei. Muscle celte non-dividing, hence long-term expression caaliiained without integration of the gene
of interest into the genome. Muscle cells have k&emwn to have a capacity for secretion of protaitsthe blood stream. Secreted therape
proteins may therefore act systemically and prodbeeapeutic effects in distant tissues of the bdaiyhis respect, the muscle functions as a
factory for the production of the biopharmaceutita¢ded by the body. We envision that delivery WfA0by electroporation to muscle cells
will circumvent the costly and complicated prodantprocedures of viral gene delivery vectors, pmbased drugs, conventional vaccines an
monoclonal antibodies. This approach may providgterm stable expression of a therapeutic prateimonoclonal antibody at a sustained
level.

For vaccination, the DNA causes muscle cells t@pce antigenic proteins that the immune systemidelhtify as foreign and against
which it will mount an immune response. As with gentional vaccines, the immune system will theneligy memory of this antigen (and
related disease) for future reference. Intramusadtvery by electroporation of DNA encoded antigéas been shown to induce both hun
(antibody) and cellular (T cell) immune responses.

While we have generated pre-clinical and prelimjrainical evidence that intramuscular electroporatased DNA delivery will be
effective for a number of vaccines, electroporatibthe skin may also be a relevant route of adstiaiion. Skin or intradermal administration
is important and is becoming an attractive sitefonunization given its high density of antigengemeting cells (APCs). Unlike muscle, skin is
the first line of defense against most pathogensistherefore very rich in immune cells and molesuSkin specifically contains certain cells
that are known to help in generating a robust imen@sponse. With intradermal administration of etgmration, we may be able to
demonstrate a comparable immune response to nuelolery. Drug delivery into skin, or dermal tissigthe most attractive method given
that the skin is the largest, most accessible namst easily monitored organ of the human body,igischighly immuno-competent (able to
recognize antigens and mount an immune responbeit).

Our Electroporation Systems

Existing generations of electroporation systemsof an electrical pulse generator box the sfzlarge laptop attached by a cord
separate needle-electrode applicator. We havedalseloped a series of hand-held, cordless eleatatipa devices which bring together
groundbreaking design and engineering advancen@itembine all components into a self-containedyéda-use portable device the size of a
cordless hand tool.

CELLECTRA® System

There are several configurations in the CELLECTR¥vice family. The first covers intramuscular (IMBlivery of DNA; the second
covers the intradermal/subcutaneous delivery (I)NA. Both devices have been validated, manufactumder Current Good Manufacturi
Practices (cGMP) and are being used in human alitiials. We have filed a device master file (MAH}h the FDA covering the use of the
CELLECTRA®-IM EP device in human clinical trials. These degare intended to be used in combination with & Pksmid-based
vaccine.

The new CELLECTRA- SP products combine the functionality of our curgeneration of skin and intramuscular electroponat
devices in clinical testing with enhanced form,igesand portability. All components from the pufggnerator and applicator are integrated
into a cordless, rechargeable device. The rechalgbattery can enable vaccination of several heshdubjects, making the device highly
amenable to mass vaccination. The devices arerdsbip accommodate different electrode arrays tet the requirements of the particular
vaccine and tissue for delivery (skin or muscle).

In 2013, we made a strategic decision to cons@iditclinical development to the CELLECTRAP devices and their future improved
versions. The Elgefiand MedPulset devices were discontinued and will be phased dlaviing the closure of the Chrontech and University
of Southampton trials. The consolidation of theides to the CELLECTRAwill help streamline inventories and managemeriofcal
development under a single device platform. Th&IECTRA ®device has been used to support all of our intgraaveloped vaccine and
immunotherapy programs.

Next Generation Devices
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All of our electroporation delivery systems notéxbae can increase levels of gene expression (oeluption of the immune-stimulating
protein the vaccine was coded to produce) of DNécirees by 1000-fold or more compared to deliveriDbfA vaccines via conventional
injection alone. Delivery of our SynCéivaccines into muscle or skin tissue with our elgmbration systems have generated robust immune
responses in humans against cervical dysplasiagimfa (H5N1 and H1IN1), and HIV, as well as foreottiseases in animal models.

While our current intramuscular (IM) delivery tedtogies are well tolerated, we are also advancegd generation, minimally invasive
intradermal electroporation delivery devices. ODalkvice penetrates to no more than 3 mm, compgarigdramuscular devices that go dee
Furthermore, a second ID device is a surface elpatation (SEP) device that sits on the surfadb@tkin and uses a virtually undetectable
scratch to facilitate delivery of the vaccine. Witle advancement of these devices, our aim is t@rakectroporation delivery amenable to
mass prophylactic vaccination by decreasing dossldeincreasing tolerability of the vaccinationdancreasing the breadth of viable vaccine
targets. Our data related to influenza, HIV, malaand smallpox antigens demonstrate that DNA defiwith this newer generation of ID
delivery including SEP devices yields levels of immogenicity in terms of both antibody and T cefipenses and/or efficacy against a virus
challenge that is comparable to intramuscular edpotration devices currently in the clinic.

These results were highlighted in October 201 2hénpeer-reviewed journakluman Gene Therapyin a paper which described the
positive immunological effects of the optimizedatteporation parameters for its minimally invasskeén (intradermal) EP delivery devices.

We also previously announced (February 2011) amesdle-free, contactless electroporation technalogyaccine delivery, which
provides the powerful enabling capabilities of &lggoration without contacting the skin. Our pratcial research was highlighted in a paper
published in the scientific journedluman VaccinesThe paper appearing lfluman Vaccines“Piezoelectric permeabilization of mammalian
dermal tissue for in vivo DNA delivery leads to enked protein expression and increased immunodggiidescribed an innovative
electroporation method optimized for delivery istan. This new method is based on piezoelectrigityich is the generation of an electric fi
or electric potential by certain materials in rasp®to applied mechanical stress.

Collaborations and Licensing Agreements

We have entered into various arrangements withacatp, academic, and government collaboratorg)dimes, licensees and others. TF
arrangements are summarized below and elsewhénisiannual report. In addition, we conduct ongadisgussions with potential
collaborators, licensors and licensees.

On September 10, 2013, Inovio entered into an sketuworldwide license agreement with Roche toasde develop and commercial
Inovio's multi-antigen DNA immunotherapies targgtjprostate cancer (INO-5150) and hepatitis B (INSD€). Under the terms of the
agreement, Roche made an upfront payment of $1i@mib Inovio. Roche will pay for all ongoing ddepment costs and up to $412.5 mill
upon reaching certain development, regulatory amdnoercial event based payments. Additional devetapravent based payments could alsi
be made to Inovio if Roche pursues other indicatioith INO-5150 or INO-1800. As a part of this litse agreement, Roche is also funding
Inovio to design and test additional vaccine caatdid to treat prostate cancer. Roche’s statedsatinfind first-in-class and best-in-class
therapies that may become next generation treagnfienpatients with different types of cancer. Tistnership provides validation of Inovso’
novel technology for treating and preventing dissaprovides non-dilutive funding, and allows usitcelerate our product development
pipeline.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboradiod License Agreement (the “Agreement”) with VGXelmational (“VGX Int'l”).
Under the Agreement, we granted VGX Int’l an exiladicense to our SynCdtuniversal influenza vaccine (the “Product”) delie@mvith
electroporation to be developed in certain coustrieAsia.

As consideration for this license we have receweedsearch and development initiation fee, as agetesearch support and annual lict
maintenance fees, and will receive royalties orpnetluct sales. In addition, contingent upon admesnt of clinical and regulatory mileston
we will receive development payments over the tefithe Agreement. The Agreement also provides tis @iclusive rights to supply devices
for clinical and commercial purposes (includinggsnuse components) to VGX Int'l for use in the drrot.

The term of the Agreement commenced upon execationwill extend on a country by country basis uihi last to expire of all Royal
Periods for the territory (as such term is defimethe Agreement) for any Product in that countnyless the Agreement is terminated earlier ir
accordance with its provisions as a result of biebg mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right tart@nate without cause upon prior written
notice.

In October 2011, we entered into a product devetgmollaboration agreement with VGX Int’l to covadop our SynCofitherapeutic
vaccines for hepatitis B and C infections. Undertdrms of the agreement, VGX Int’l received marigtights for these vaccines in Asia,
excluding Japan, and in return was to fully fundHsnabling and initial phase |
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and Il clinical studies. We will receive paymengsbd on the achievement of clinical milestonesrapdities based on sales in the licensed
territories and will retain all commercial rightsall other territories.

In conjunction with our announcement of our Rochemership we also announced that we reacquiredghts, title and interest to the
SynCon® hepatitis B vaccine in Asia from VGX Int'l.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeexisting license agreement with the University ehRsylvania, adding exclusive
worldwide licenses for technology and intellectpedperty for novel synthetic vaccines against pamdenfluenza, Chikungunya, and FMD.
The amendment also encompassed new chemokine tkingymolecular adjuvant technologies. The techgwpwas developed in the
University of Pennsylvania laboratory of ProfesBarid B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field of DNA-bdseccines and chairman of our
scientific advisory board. Under the terms of thiginal license agreement completed in 2007, waiakt exclusive worldwide rights to
develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HRMW influenza. The agreement also
included molecular adjuvants. These prior and mexstnt agreements and amendments provide for ygyaytments, based on future sales, to
the University of Pennsylvania.

In July 2011, we further expanded our license ageze with the University of Pennsylvania, addinglagive worldwide licenses for
technology and intellectual property for novel $yatic vaccines against prostate cancer, herpesagrincluding CMV (cytomegalovirus),
malaria, hepatitis B, RSV (respiratory syncytiaing), and MRSA (methicillin-resistant staphylocog@ureus). The amendment also
encompassed a new optimized IL-12 cytokine genavady.

In November 2012, we again expanded our licenseeagent with the University of Pennsylvania, addiregldwide rights to technology
and intellectual property for novel synthetic vags against intestinal infections including Claktnn difficile, or C. difficile; cancer
therapeutic vaccines targeting Wilms' tumor gen®/drl; and biodefense pathogens including Ebolathedamily of Filovirus such as
Marburg.

In March 2009, we announced an agreement with &leHPMalaria Vaccine Initiative (MVI) to evaluate i preelinical feasibility study
our SynCorfvaccine development platform. More specificallystbollaboration was to design and test synthetizine candidates using
target antigens frorRlasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using th&(BEECTRA ® electroporation device. The first program
completed in February 2010. In September 2010, Etyfeed to provide follow-on funding to continue lexation and development of our
malaria synthetic vaccine candidate in non-humamates.

In the prior MVI-funded feasibility study, our maia vaccine candidate induced broad-based immuaifgur pre-erythrocytic malaria
antigens. In the subsequent non-human primate stushSynCor? vaccine constructs, which target sporozoites aadivier stage of the
parasite, demonstrated potent T cell and antibody.

In January 2013, we announced a follow-on collatimmavith the PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative (MVFfpcused on initiating human
studies to assess whether a DNA vaccine(s) detivesang electroporation can induce an immune respanhumans that protects against
malaria parasite infection. The actual timing & tuman study is dependent upon proper and timelgifig from MVI.

Market

We anticipate that over the next several yearsnaben of key demographic and technological factbmikl accelerate growth in the
market for vaccines and medical therapies to preaed treat infectious diseases and cancer, phatigun our product categories. These
factors include the following:

. Rise in emerging infectious diseases and the tlokpandemicsThe attention received by the pandemic potentiaidn
influenza has mobilized cross-border agencies dietyigovernments, world health organizations anhpe and public
corporations to develop effective vaccination ametapeutics strategies. Our candidate vaccinesvian influenza,
Chikungunya and dengue are among those intendgzhte these needs.

. Increased consumer awareneln areas such as cervical cancer, increased comawageness related to HPV infection, the
primary cause of cervical cancer, has led to redesfforts for developing effective therapies. Thierent vaccines for cervical
cancer prevention (GardaSihnd Cervari¥'), while being effective measures for preventiothia unexposed population, are
ineffective in people infected with HPV.

. Large unmet needn areas such as HIV and HBV (prevention and thgrtgere is a large unmet need with no vaccineoogti
on the market. With the exit of several playerthia recent years from the HIV vaccine developmesd af our vaccines prove
successful we believe we are positioned to obtaigrificant market position.
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We believe there is a significant unmet clinicaéthéo develop more efficacious vaccines that stieutellular immunity (i.e. can induce
therapeutic T cell responses) and can be applidiséases such as cancer, hepatitis C or HIV iiofecEor these applications, our scientists
believe that synthetic vaccines may offer an improent over conventional vaccination. Our scienbisigve that electroporation of DNA is
critical to maximizing the efficiency of DNA vacation and meeting unmet clinical needs for theripawaccines, which some industry
analysts consider to be a multi-billion dollar metrkpportunity.

Competition

We are aware of several development-stage andliskdbenterprises, including major pharmaceutical biotechnology firms, which
are actively engaged in infectious disease anderaraccine research and development. These in€@uagell N.V (now part of J&J), Sanofi-
Aventis, Novatrtis, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, MerdRfizer, and Medimmune, Inc., a wholly owned sdiasiy of AstraZeneca, Inc. We may
also experience competition from companies thaelaguired or may acquire technologies from congsniniversities and other research
institutions. As these companies develop theirnetdyies, they may develop proprietary technologibich may materially and adversely
affect our business.

In addition, a number of companies are develophoglycts to address the same diseases that wergeting. For example, Sanofi-
Aventis, Novatrtis, Inc., Medimmune, GlaxoSmithKIjr@SL (in collaboration with Merck), and others bagroducts or development programs
for influenza. Merck and GlaxoSmithKline have conmai@ized preventive vaccines against HPV to prioégainst cervical cancer; Advaxis
has a therapeutic cervical cancer product in pHasals. Much of the development for our HIV anthlaria vaccines is being done by
government and non-government organizations sutieadIH and Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

We compete with companies that are developing DEIWvery technologies, such as viral delivery systelipid-based systems, or
electroporation technology with an aim to carry imuwivo gene delivery for the treatment of varialiseases. Currently there are five key D
delivery technologies: viral, lipids, naked DNA €éige gun” and electroporation. All of these techgiae have shown promise, but they each
also have their unique obstacles to overcome. Wewveeour electroporation system is strongly posi¢id to succeed as the dominant delivery
method for DNA-based vaccines.

Viral DNA Delivery

This technology utilizes a virus as a carrier tbvée genetic material into target cells. The mett®very efficient for delivering vaccine
antigens and has the advantage of mimicking real wifection so that the recipient will mount ahd immune response against the vaccine.
The greatest limitation of the technology stemsnffaroblems with unwanted immune responses agdiastital vector, limiting its use to
patients who have not been previously exposedetitial vector and making repeated administratidincdlt. In addition, complexity and
safety concerns increase the cost of vaccines amglecate regulatory approval.

Ballistic DNA Delivery (Gene Gun)

This technology utilizes micron sized DNZpated gold particles that are shot into the skingicompressed gas. The method has me
considerably over the last 15 years and has bemmrsto be an efficient method to deliver a numiferazcine antigens. Since the DNA is dry
coated, excellent stability of the vaccine can ¢l@eved. The method is limited to use in skin anly @ few micrograms of genetic material
be delivered each time. This may limit the utilitijthe method for targets such as cancer whereshigibses of vaccine antigens and stronger
cell responses are needed.

Lipid DNA Delivery

A number of lipid formulations have been develofet increase the effect of DNA vaccines. Thesekbgyreither increasing uptake of
the DNA into cells or by acting as an adjuvantrtailg the immune system. While there has been pssgin this field, lipid delivery tends to be
less efficient than viral vectors and is hampengddncerns regarding toxicity and increased comifylex

“Naked” DNA Delivery

The simplest DNA delivery mode is the injection‘néked” plasmid DNA into target tissue, usually lgital muscle. This method is safe
and economical but inefficient in terms of cellnséction, the process of transferring DNA intcedl across the outer cell membrane.
Unfortunately, it is the least effective way of igeting DNA since only an extremely small fracti@pproximately one out of twenty million)
of the DNA molecules are taken up by the cells. fitethod is inadequate for delivering DNA vaccings large animals and humans.
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“Naked” DNA Delivery With Electroporation

When naked DNA injection is followed by electropiima of the target tissue, transfection is sigmrifity greater with resultant gene
expression generally enhanced 100/@- This increase makes many DNA vaccine candglpbtentially feasible without unduly compromis
safety or cost.

In December 2004, the first patient was treatedgusiur electroporation system to deliver a plasbiith-based therapeutic vaccine and
we have initiated, together with partners, adddigrhase | and phase Il clinical trials using decgoporation technology to deliver preventive
and therapeutic synthetic vaccines. To date oengisis have not observed any serious adversestrgitcan be attributed to the use of
electroporation in these clinical studies.

We believe that the greatest obstacle to makinthsyic vaccines a reality has been the lack of, dfigient and economical delivery of
DNA plasmid constructs into target cells and tHat&oporation may become the method of choicdfdA delivery into cells in many
applications.

There are other companies with electroporatiorlettial property and devices. We believe we hagmificant competitive advantages
over other companies focused on electroporatiomfdtiple reasons:

. We have an extensive history and experienceueldping the methods and devices that optimizeisieeof electroporation in
conjunction with DNA-based agents. This experidmag been validated with multiple sets of interiradeom multiple clinical
studies assessing DNA-based immunotherapies amihescagainst cancers and infectious disease. i@geith our partners
and collaborators, we have been the leader in ledtaty proof-of-principle of electroporation-dediked synthetic vaccines.

. We have a broad product line of electroporatiotrimsents designed to enable DNA delivery in tumorgscle, and ski

. We have been very proactive in filing for paterats well as acquiring and licensing addition&pts, to expand our global
patent estate.

If any of our competitors develop products withiegty or safety profiles significantly better thaur products, we may not be able to
commercialize our products, and sales of any ofconmmercialized products could be harmed. Someaio€ompetitors and potential
competitors have substantially greater product kbgveent capabilities and financial, scientific, keting and human resources than we do.
Competitors may develop products earlier, obtail\Fpprovals for products more rapidly, or developducts that are more effective than
those under development by us. We will seek to eafmaur technological capabilities to remain competj however, research and
development by others may render our technologigsazlucts obsolete or noncompetitive, or resuttéatments or cures superior to ours.

Our competitive position will be affected by theefise indications addressed by our product caedidatd those of our competitors, the
timing of market introduction for these productsldne stage of development of other technologiegltvess these disease indications. For us
and our competitors, proprietary technologies atiéity to complete clinical trials on a timely issind with the desired results, and the ability
to obtain timely regulatory approvals to marketsth@roduct candidates are likely to be significamhpetitive factors. Other important
competitive factors will include the efficacy, safeease of use, reliability, availability and griof products and the ability to fund operations
during the period between technological concepdioth commercial sales.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies may expaneicturequirements for public disclosure of DNA-bagproduct development data,
which may harm our competitive position with foreignd United States companies developing DNA-bpseducts for similar indications.

Government Regulation
DNA Vaccine Product Regulation

Any pharmaceutical products we develop will requé&gulatory clearances prior to clinical trials aultlitional regulatory approvals pri
to commercialization. New gene-based products &ocine or therapeutic applications are subjecktensive regulation by the FDA and
comparable agencies in other countries. Our patieptoducts will be regulated as biological produtiat are used to treat or prevent disease.
In the United States, drugs are subject to reguiathder the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic AdheFDC Act. Biological products, in
addition to being subject to provisions of the FB&, are regulated in the United States under thidi® Health Service Act. Both statutes and
related regulations govern, among other thingsinggsmanufacturing, safety, efficacy, labelingyrsie, record keeping, advertising, and othel
promotional practices.

Obtaining FDA approval or comparable approval freimilar agencies in other countries is a costly tameé-consuming process.
Generally, FDA approval requires that pre-clinistldies be conducted in the laboratory and in aninoglel systems to gain preliminary
information on efficacy and to identify any maj@fety concerns. In the United States, the
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results of these studies are submitted as a part 8f/D application which the FDA must review atldw before human clinical trials can st:
The IND application includes a detailed descriptifrthe proposed clinical investigations.

A company must submit an IND application or equevdlapplication in other countries for each propgs®duct and must conduct
clinical studies to demonstrate the safety anda&fy of the product necessary to obtain FDA approveomparable approval from similar
agencies in other countries. For example, in thigedrStates, the FDA receives reports on the pesgoéeach phase of clinical testing and |
require the modification, suspension, or termimatdclinical trials if an unwarranted risk is pesed to patients.

To obtain FDA approval prior to marketing a pharmwéecal product in the United States typically regs several phases of clinical tri
to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the prbdandidate. Clinical trials are the means by Whigperimental treatments are tested in
humans, and are conducted following pre-clinicatitgy. Clinical trials may be conducted within teited States or in foreign countries. If
clinical trials are conducted in foreign countritk® products under development as well as this @@ subject to regulations of the FDA
and/or its counterparts in the other countries.rUpaccessful completion of clinical trials, apprioamarket the treatment for a particular
patient population may be requested from the FDtkh@United States and/or its counterparts in atbentries.

Clinical trials for therapeutic products are noripdlone in three phases. Phase | clinical triagstgpically conducted with a small
number of patients or healthy subjects to evalsatety, determine a safe dosage range, identiéyefii@cts, and, if possible, gain early
evidence of effectiveness. Phase Il clinical trais conducted with a larger group of patientsvedumte effectiveness of an investigational
product for a defined patient population, and teedmine common short-term side effects and risks@ated with the drug. Phase 11l clinical
trials involve large scale, multi-center, comparatirials that are conducted to evaluate the olvkealefitrisk relationship of the investigatior
product and to provide an adequate basis for ptddbeling. In some special cases where the effitasting of a product may present a sp¢
challenge to testing in humans, such as in the eaeaccine to protect healthy humans from atlifeatening disease that is not a naturally
occurring threat, effectiveness testing may beiredun animals.

After completion of clinical trials of a new produ&DA marketing approval must be obtained or egjlaint approval in comparable
agencies in other countries. For the FDA, if thedoict is regulated as a biologic, a Biologics LEApplication, or BLA, is required. The
BLA must include results of product developmentwii¢s, pre-clinical studies, and clinical triaisaddition to detailed chemistry,
manufacturing and control information.

Applications submitted to the FDA are subject taiapredictable and potentially prolonged approvatpss. Despite good-faith
communication and collaboration between the apptiaad the FDA during the development processi-ibA& may ultimately decide, upon
final review of the data, that the application daessatisfy its criteria for approval or requigditional product development or further pre-
clinical or clinical studies. Even if FDA regulayoclearances are obtained, a marketed producbjsaito continual review, and later discov
of previously unknown problems or failure to complith the applicable regulatory requirements mayultein restrictions on the marketing ¢
product or withdrawal of the product from the mar&e well as possible civil or criminal sanctions.

Before marketing clearance for a product can barseg the facility in which the product is manufaetd must be inspected by the FDA
and must comply with cGMP regulations. In additiafier marketing clearance is secured, the manuiagt facility must be inspected
periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA inspectors.

In addition to the FDA requirements, the NIH haskblshed guidelines for research involving humanagic materials, including
recombinant DNA molecules. The FDA cooperates énghforcement of these guidelines, which applyltteaombinant DNA research that is
conducted at facilities supported by the NIH, imthg proposals to conduct clinical research invedvijene therapies. The NIH review of
clinical trial proposals and safety informatioraipublic process and often involves review and aygdrby the Recombinant DNA Advisory
Committee, of the NIH.

Sponsors of clinical trials are required to registed report results for all controlled clinical@stigations, other than phase |
investigations, of a product subject to FDA regolat Trial registration may require public discloswf confidential commercial development
data resulting in the loss of competitive secnatsich could be commercially detrimental.

Medical Device Manufacturing Regulation

In addition, we are subject to regulation as a wedievice manufacturer. We must comply with aetgrof manufacturing, product
development and quality regulations in order t@ble to distribute our electroporation devices caruially around the world. In Europe, we
must comply with the Medical Device Directives. Wave a Quality System certified by its internatiodatified Body to be in compliance
with the international Quality System Standard, 18@85, and meeting the Annex Il Quality System nexpients of the MDD. We completed
Annex Il Conformity Assessment procedures to alfomthe CE Mark of our electroporation devices.
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In the United States, we are required to maintadilifies, equipment, processes and proceduresthah compliance with quality
systems regulations. Our systems have been cotedrtecbe in compliance with these regulations @ndongoing operations are conducted
within these systems. Commercially distributed degiwithin the United States must be developedruiodeal design controls and be
submitted to the FDA for clearance or approval.ddi’elopment activity is performed according tarfat procedures to ensure compliance
with all design control regulations.

We employ modern manufacturing methods and contoatptimize performance and control costs. Intecapabilities and core
competencies are strategically determined to opérour manufacturing efficiency. We utilize contramnufacturers for key operations, such
as clean room assembly and sterilization, whichateconomically conducted in-house. We outsosigeificant sub-assemblies, such as
populated printed circuit boards, for which capreduirements or manufacturing volumes do notfiusertical integration.

Other Regulations

We also are subject to various federal, state acal laws, regulations, and recommendations regjatirsafe working conditions,
laboratory and manufacturing practices, the expemtiad use of animals, and the use and disposaz&rtious or potentially hazardous
substances, including radioactive compounds artiitus disease agents, used in connection withesgarch. The extent of government
regulation that might result from any future legtgdn or administrative action cannot be accurgbeddicted.

Commercialization and Manufacturing

Because of the broad potential applications oftecinnologies, we intend to develop and commere&alinducts both on our own and
through our collaborators and licensees. We interdkvelop and commercialize products in well-dediispecialty markets, such as infectious
diseases and cancer. Where appropriate, we interadyton strategic marketing and distributionaaiies.

We believe our plasmids can be produced in commlegaiantities through uniform methods of fermewntatind processing that are
applicable to all plasmids. We believe we will Heeato obtain sufficient supplies of plasmids fiifareseeable clinical investigations.

Relationship with VGX Int'l

We acquired an equity interest in VGX Int'l in 200%s of December 31, 2013, we owned 14.7% of thetanding capital stock of VGX
Int’l and VGX Int'l owned 294,360 shares of our cmmn stock. None of our current officers, directanskey employees beneficially owns,
directly or indirectly, any securities of VGX Int'l

In 2008 we sold our manufacturing operations (idiclg patent rights to certain manufacturing techgg) to VGXI, Inc., a wholly-
owned United States subsidiary of VGX Int'l. In e@tion with this transfer we entered into a Sugidyeement pursuant to which
VGXI, Inc., a cGMP contract manufacturer, produaed supplies the DNA plasmids for all of our reshand early clinical trials. The price
the plasmids we purchase from VGXI, Inc. is deteediby us and VGX Intat the time of order placement or, with respegbiioduct supplie
in connection with a grant contract, based on thdracted bid provided by the applicable agency.ageed to treat VGX Int’l and its
subsidiary as our most favored supplier for DNAsph&ds and VGX Int'l and its subsidiary agreed &atrus as their most favored customer.
Before we can manufacture DNA plasmids on our oelmalif or engage a third party other than VGXlIat'its subsidiary to manufacture D!
plasmids for us, we must first offer such manufantuwork to VGX Int’l or its subsidiary.

We have also entered into license and collaboragyaements pursuant to which we have granted W&Kexclusive rights to certain
our product candidates in certain jurisdictions: &ample, VGX Int'l has exclusive rights in couag in Asia including Korea to our VGX-
3400X and INO-3510 for treatment of flu and our &iitgs C program. In exchange for these rights, VIGX shares the development costs for
some of our product candidates. Prior to signimgRlbche Agreement, we reacquired the rights,aitig interest to hepatitis B in Asia
previously licensed to VGX Int'l. As a result, waigh $300,000 to VGX Int'l as of December 31, 2028dd on the up-front payment received
from Roche.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&cmgnized revenue from VGX Int’l of $425,000 ark&¥$,000, respectively, which
consisted of licensing, collaborative research @elopment arrangements and other fees. Opertjpenses related to VGX Int'l for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 w$2.3 million and $871,000, respectively, primarigyated to biologics manufacturing. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012 we had an accountvabbeibalance of $0 and $36,000, respectively, ftiBX Int'l and its subsidiaries. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012 we had a prepaid batdr23 million and $887,000, respectively, to VBXI| and its subsidiaries.

Intellectual Property
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Patents and other proprietary rights are essdnt@lr business. We file patent applications tdgmoour technologies, inventions and
improvements to our inventions that we considerartgnt to the development of our business. Wefditgpatent registration extensively in the
United States and in key foreign markets. Althoogh patent filings include claims covering varidaatures of our products and product
candidates, including composition, methods of mactuire and use, our patents do not provide usaaitiplete protection, or guarantee,
against the development of competing productsdtfitimn, some of our know-how and technology arepatentable. We thus also rely upon
trade secrets, knoWwew, continuing technological innovations and lisiely opportunities to develop and maintain our cetitipe position. We
also require employees, consultants, advisors alf@borators to enter into confidentiality agreemsebut such agreements may provide
limited protection for our trade secrets, know-hawother proprietary information.

Our intellectual property portfolio covers our prigary technologies, including electroporationigity and vaccine related technolog
As of February 21, 2014, our patent portfolio irdd over 99 issued United States patents and 846dSoreign counterpart patents.

Key vaccine related technology patents and puldigiaent applications include the following:

. European patent no. 1809336B1, entitled, “GroMtihmone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) Enhances Vadom#&tesponse”

. US Pat No. 7,846,720, entitled, “Optimized Higield Synthetic Plasmids”

. US Pat. No. 8,168,769, entitled, “Improved Vaes and Methods for Using the Same,” with claimsaled to HPV vaccine
products.

. US Pat. No. 8,389,706, entitled, “Vaccines famtén Papilloma Virus and Methods for Using the Same

. International publication WO 08/014521, entitléldnproved Vaccines and Methods for Using the SAmich includes HCV,
HPV, influenza, HIV, and cancer (hnTERT) SynCdnNA.

. International publication WO2009/099716, entlfl&tNovel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of e Virus.”

. US Pat. No. 8,133,723, entitled, “Novel Vaccikgminst Multiple Subtypes Of Influenza.”

. US Pat. No. 8,298,820, entitled, “Influenza MNiclAcid Molecules and Vaccines Made Thereform”

. International publication WO2009/073330, entifleNovel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Oflugnza Virus.”

. International publication W0O2010/0050939, eatit|“IMPROVED HCV VACCINES AND METHODS FOR USING TH
SAME”"

. International publication W0O2010/044919, entifleSMALLPOX DNA VACCINE AND THE ANTIGENS THEREIN HAT
ELICIT AN IMMUNE RESPONSE”

. US Pat. No. 8,178,660, entitled, “VACCINES ANBIMUNOTHERAPEUTICS USING CODON OPTIMIZED IL-15 AND
METHODS FOR USING THE SAME.”

. European patent EU1976871, entitled, “VACCINESIAIMMUNOTHERAPEUTICS USING CODON OPTIMIZED IL-15
AND METHODS FOR USING THE SAME”

. US Pat No. 7173116, entitled, “NUCLEIC ACID FORMATIONS FOR GENE DELIVERY AND METHODS OF USE”

Key electroporation related patents covering rasfgeeld strengths include the following:

. US Pat No. 7,922,709, entitled, “Enhanced dejive# naked DNA to skin by non-invasive in vivo elmporation.”

. US Pat No. 7,328,064, entitled, “Electroporatitavice and injection apparatus,” with claims dieelco methods of delivering
an agent plus electroporation.

. US Pat No. 7,245,963, entitled, “Electrode adsgrfor constant-current electroporation and use”

. US Pat No. 7,664,545, entitled, “Electrode adsgrfor constant-current electroporation and use”

. US Pat No. 6,697,669, entitled, “Skin and musgatgeted gene therapy by pulsed electrical field”

. US Pat No. 6,110,161 issued August 29, :
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. US Pat No. 6,261,281 issued July 17, -
. US Pat No. 6,958,060 issued October 25, .

. US Pat No. 6,939,862 issued September 6,

If we fail to protect our intellectual property hitg adequately our competitors might gain accessitéechnology and our business wc
thus be harmed. In addition, defending our intéllatproperty rights might entail significant exgenAny of our intellectual property rights
may be challenged by others or invalidated throadyministrative processes or litigation throughdbarts. In addition, our patents, or any
other patents that may be issued to us in thedutaay not provide us with any competitive advaesa@r may be challenged by third parties.
Furthermore, legal standards relating to the \glidinforceability and scope of protection of iteetual property rights are uncertain. Effective
patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret giotemay not be available to us in each countrengtwe operate. The laws of some foreign
countries may not be as protective of intellechraperty rights as those in the United States,domdestic and international mechanisms for
enforcement of intellectual property rights in ta@®untries may be inadequate. Accordingly, despiteefforts, we may be unable to prevent
third parties from infringing upon or misappropitat our intellectual property or otherwise gainamress to our technology. We may be
required to expend significant resources to mortat protect our intellectual property rights. Waynmitiate claims or litigation against third
parties for infringement of our proprietary riglotsto establish the validity of our proprietaryhtg. Any such litigation, whether or not it is
ultimately resolved in our favor, would result igrsficant expense to us and divert the effortewf technical and management personnel.

There may be rights we are not aware of, inclu@ipglications that have been filed but not publistied, when issued, could be assertec
against us. These third-parties could bring claageinst us, and that would cause us to incur sofistaxpenses and, if successful against us,
could cause us to pay substantial damages. Fuitlagpatent infringement suit were brought agairsstwe could be forced to stop or delay
research, development, manufacturing or saleseoptbduct or biologic drug candidate that is thigjestt of the suit. As a result of patent
infringement claims, or in order to avoid potentiEims, we may choose or be required to seekeadie from the third-party. These licenses
may not be available on acceptable terms, or aEad#n if we are able to obtain a license, thenkgewould likely obligate us to pay license 1
or royalties or both, and the rights granted tonight be non-exclusive, which could result in oampetitors gaining access to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we could be peeted from commercializing a product, or be fortedease some aspect of our business
operations, if, as a result of actual or threatquagdnt infringement claims, we are unable to enterlicenses on acceptable terms. All of the
issues described above could also impact our anabrs, which would also impact the success otdtkaboration and therefore us.

Important legal issues remain to be resolved disgd@xtent and scope of available patent protedtiohiologic products, including
vaccines, and processes in the United States &ed iotportant markets outside the United Statesh sis Europe and Japan. Foreign markets
may not provide the same level of patent protecii®provided under the United States patent syaMmrecognize that litigation or
administrative proceedings may be necessary tordate the validity and scope of certain of our aflters’ proprietary rights. Any such
litigation or proceeding may result in a signific@ommitment of resources in the future and coafdd us to interrupt our operations, redesigr
our products or processes, or negotiate a licem®zment, all of which would adversely affect cewanue. Furthermore, changes in, or
different interpretations of, patent laws in theitdd States and other countries may result in pdaevs that allow others to use our discoveries
or develop and commercialize our products.

We cannot guarantee that the patents we obtalmeairipatented technology we hold will afford usigigant commercial protection.

Significant Customers and Research and Development

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we def884 of our revenue from Roche. During the yeadedrDecember 31, 2013 and
2012, we derived 16% and 69% of our revenue fraNRAID, respectively.

Since our inception, virtually all of our activiidhave consisted of research and development®figdeted to developing our
electroporation technologies and synthetic vacciResearch and development expense consists afige@@curred in performing research
and development activities including salaries amadfits, facilities and other overhead expenséscal trials, contract services and other
outside expenses. Our research and developmemsxpeas $ 21.4 million in 2013 and $18.0 millior201.2.

Corporate History and Headquarters
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. grew out of the megfer GX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“VGX") and Inovio®nedical Corporation. On June
1, 2009, VGX, a private company primarily focuseddeveloping DNA vaccines, completed a merger Witvio Biomedical Corporation, a
publicly listed company whose main focus was depielp electroporation delivery technology and desjqairsuant to the terms of an
Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Meajeddecember 5, 2008, as further amended on Mrch009. Subsequent to the
merger, we conduct our business through our Urtates wholly-owned subsidiaries, VGX Pharmacelstitd C and Genetronics, Inc. On
May 14, 2010, the entity changed its corporate nameovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our corporate eaders is located at 1787 Sentry
Parkway West, Blue Bell, Pennsylvania 19422, aed¢fephone number is (267) 440-4200. Inovio Phaemticals (NYSE MKT: INO) is
focused on advancing products based on its integitachnology platform consisting of its SynCddNA immunotherapies and vaccines
delivered with its CELLECTRA electroporation delivery devices.

VGX was originally incorporated as Viral Genomirgl under the laws of Delaware on April 17, 20@0g¢velop new drugs and
therapies to treat viral diseases and cancerscdimpany was renamed VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on3122006. On February 21, 2007,
VGX acquired Advisys, Inc., a company possessingAlziNd electroporation technology, through an aggsthase agreement. On April 14,
2007, VGX entered into an exclusive license agregméh the Trustees of the University of Pennsyiaarelated to therapeutic and
prophylactic DNA vaccines developed by Dr. Davididée at the University of Pennsylvania School ofdiéine. VGX focused on advancing
its DNA vaccine technology targeting cancers atfieidtious diseases.

Inovio Biomedical Corporation originated, in pa$ a company incorporated on June 29, 1983, uhddats of California as
Biotechnologies & Experimental Research, Inc. Topany changed its corporate name to BTX, Inc. ecenber 10, 1991, and Genetron
Inc. on February 8, 1994. On April 14, 1994, Gemetrs, Inc. became a public company through a stweghange agreement with Consolidi
United Safety Technologies, Inc., a company listedhe Vancouver Stock Exchange under the lawsitiEB Columbia, Canada, which then
changed its name to Genetronics Biomedical LtdSeptember 29, 1994. Genetronics, Inc. remainedixdsly owned operating subsidiary.
On September 2, 1997, the company listed on thentorStock Exchange. On December 8, 1998, the coynsied on the American Stock
Exchange (now owned by the NYSE and referred tha®NYSE MKT). We voluntarily de-listed from the fomto Stock Exchange on January
17, 2003. On June 15, 2001, Genetronics Biomedichlcompleted a change in jurisdiction of incomtion from British Columbia, Canada,
the state of Delaware and became Genetronics Bicalgdorporation. On January 25, 2005, GenetroBiosnedical Corporation acquired
Inovio AS, a gene delivery technology company. Cardh 31, 2005, Genetronics Biomedical Corporatias venamed Inovio Biomedical
Corporation. Inovio Biomedical Corporation was anajly formed to develop electroporation devicestfe research marketplace and later
began to explore human applications of electropmrdd deliver agents such as chemotherapeutictaggene therapies, and DNA vaccines.

Available Information

Our Internet website addressag/w.inovio.com We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quartesports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed onabiedif directors and executive officers, and anyeadments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of3beurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchangg @vailable free of charge on our
website as soon as reasonably practicable aftedegtronically file such material with, or furnigtto, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. You can also read and aogymaterials we file with the SEC at the SEC’sIRUReference Room at 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549. You can obtain additionfdrmation about the operation of the Public Refice Room by calling the SEC
800-SECO330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Interrtet (iww.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy aridrination statements, and otl
information regarding issuers that file electroflicavith the SEC, including us.

Information regarding our corporate governancduitiag the charters of our audit committee, our m@tion and corporate governance
committee and our compensation committee, our @bdrisiness Conduct and Ethics, our Corporate Gmarere Policy and information for
contacting our board of directors is available anlaternet site (www.inovio.com). We will provigay of the foregoing information without
charge upon request to Peter Kies, 10480 Watefliigée, San Diego, CA, 92121.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics include<adle of Ethics applicable to our Chief Executdféicer and Chief Financial
Officer, who also serves as our principal accountifficer. Any amendments to or waivers of the CoflEthics will be promptly posted on ¢
Internet site (www.inovio.com) or in a report onrfo8-K, as required by applicable law.

Employees

As of March 7, 2014, we employed 71 people on ktiinle basis and 3 people under consulting andept@mployment agreements. Of
the combined total, 52 were in product researchclwvimcludes research and development, qualityrasse, clinical, engineering, and
manufacturing, and 22 were in general and admatist, which includes
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corporate development, information technology, leigaestor relations, finance, and corporate adstiation. None of our employees are
subject to collective bargaining agreements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factmgarding information included in this Annual Repd he risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we face.tibddi risks and uncertainties not presently kndems or that we currently deem
immaterial also may impair our business operatidhany of the following risks actually occur, domsiness, financial condition and operating
results could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred losses since inception, expedhtur significant net losses in the foreseeable fioé and may never become profitable.

We have experienced significant operating lossefte; as of December 31, 2013 our accumulateditiefas approximately $ 295.8
million . We have generated limited revenues, prilpaonsisting of license and grant revenue, andrest income. We expect to continue to
incur substantial additional operating losses fdeast the next several years as we advance ioigatltrials and research and development
activities. We may never successfully commerciatimevaccine product candidates or electroporabiased synthetic vaccine delivery
technology and thus may never have any signififiztnte revenues or achieve and sustain profitgbMie believe that current cash and cash
equivalents plus short-term investments are sefficio meet planned working capital requirememntsuhh the end of 2017. We will continue
to rely on outside sources of financing to meetaapital needs beyond this time.

We have limited sources of revenue and our sucésstependent on our ability to develop our vaccered other product candidates and
electroporation equipment.

We do not sell any products and may not have amgrgiroducts commercially available for severalkggti atall. Our ability to generat
future revenues depends heavily on our success in:

» developing and securing United States and/@idorregulatory approvals for our product candigaitecluding securing regulatory
approval for conducting clinical trials with prodwandidates;

e developing our electroporatidrased DNA delivery technology; &

e commercializing any products for which we receippraval from the FDA and foreign regulatory autkies

Our electroporation equipment and product candiail require extensive additional clinical studgd evaluation, regulatory approval
in multiple jurisdictions, substantial investmentasignificant marketing efforts before we genegatg revenues from product sales. We are
not permitted to market or promote our electropora¢quipment and product candidates before wavecegulatory approval from the FDA
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. If deenot receive regulatory approval for and sudodgcommercialize any products, we will
not generate any revenues from sales of electroporaquipment and products, and we may not betalientinue our operations.

None of our human vaccine product candidates hagbapproved for sale, and we may not develop conaialy successful vaccin
products.

Our human vaccine programs are in the early stafyjessearch and development, and currently incladeine product candidates in
discovery, pre-clinical studies and phase | arditiical studies. There are limited data regardhmgefficiency of synthetic vaccines compared
with conventional vaccines, and we must conductestantial amount of additional research and dgmémt before any regulatory authority
will approve any of our vaccine product candidaiése success of our efforts to develop and commkzeiour vaccine product candidates
could fail for a number of reasons. For examplecadld experience delays in product developmentcéingtal trials. Our vaccine product
candidates could be found to be ineffective or tssa otherwise fail to receive necessary reguattearances. The products, if safe and
effective, could be difficult to manufacture onaage scale or uneconomical to market, or our coiopgtcould develop superior vaccine
products more quickly and efficiently or more effeely market their competing products.

In addition, adverse events, or the perceptiorduéese events, relating to vaccines and vaccinieegltechnologies may negatively
impact our ability to develop commercially succasshccine products. For example, pharmaceuticalpamies have been subject to claims
that the use of some pediatric vaccines has caquemsdnal injuries, including brain damage, centealous system damage and autism. These
and other claims may influence public perceptiothefuse of vaccine products and could result éaigr governmental regulation, stricter
labeling requirements and potential regulatory ykela the testing or approval of our potential prois.
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We will need substantial additional capital to déee our synthetic vaccine and electroporation deliy technology and other product
candidates and for our future operations.

Conducting the costly and time consuming resegmehclinical and clinical testing necessary to obtagulatory approvals and bring ¢
vaccine delivery technology and product candidadenarket will require a commitment of substantialds in excess of our current capital.
Our future capital requirements will depend on méagjors, including, among others:

« the progress of our current and new product deveop program:

« the progress, scope and results of ourctiréeal and clinical testin

« the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

« the cost of manufacturing our products and prodantlidate:

« the cost of prosecuting, enforcing and defendirgjregy patent infringement claims and other intéllatproperty right:
e competing technological and market developmentd

» our ability and costs to establish and maintaittaborative and other arrangements with thirdipsito assist in potentially bringing
our products to market.

Additional financing may not be available on acedyi¢ terms, or at all. Domestic and internatiorglial markets have been
experiencing heightened volatility and turmoil, nmakit more difficult to raise capital through thesuance of equity securities. Furthermore, a
a result of the recent volatility in the capitalnkets, the cost and availability of credit has baed may continue to be adversely affected by
illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreaden€ern about the stability of the markets genemallg the strength of counterparties
specifically has led many lenders and institutianaéstors to reduce, and in some cases ceaseuim@y funding to borrowers. To the extent
we are able to raise additional capital throughstile of equity securities or we issue securitieonnection with another transaction, the
ownership position of existing stockholders coutdslibstantially diluted. If additional funds aréseal through the issuance of preferred stock
or debt securities, these securities are likelyaee rights, preferences and privileges senioutaccommon stock and may involve significant
fees, interest expense, restrictive covenantstandranting of security interests in our assetsctbhting interest rates could also increase the
costs of any debt financing we may obtain. Raisiagjtal through a licensing or other transactioroining our intellectual property could
require us to relinquish valuable intellectual mup rights and thereby sacrifice long-term valoeshort-term liquidity.

Our failure to successfully address ongoing ligyidequirements would have a substantially negatiygact on our business. If we are
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptadlms when needed, we may need to take actionadietsely affect our business, our stock
price and our ability to achieve cash flow in theufe, including possibly surrendering our rigltsoéme technologies or product opportunities
delaying our clinical trials or curtailing or ceagioperations.

We depend upon key personnel who may terminaterteaiployment with us at any time and we may needite additional qualified
personnel in order to obtain financing, pursue caborations or develop or market our product candids.

The success of our business strategy will depeadsignificant degree upon the continued serviéégp management, technical and
scientific personnel and our ability to attract aathin additional qualified personnel and managecduding personnel with expertise in
clinical trials, government regulation, manufaatigri marketing and other areas. Competition foritjedlpersonnel is intense among
companies, academic institutions and other org#niz If we are unable to attract and retain kesspnnel and advisors, it may negatively
affect our ability to successfully develop, testienercialize and market our products and produndidates.

We face intense and increasing competition and marfiyour competitors have significantly greater rasees and experience.

Many other companies are pursuing other formsaaitinent or prevention for diseases that we taFgetexample, many of our
competitors are working on developing and testisiNH, HLN1 and universal influenza vaccines, aneéss\H1N1 vaccines developed by our
competitors have been approved for human use. @upetitors and potential competitors include lgsggarmaceutical and medical device
companies and more established biotechnology coiegarhese companies have significantly greatanfiral and other resources and greate
expertise than us in research and developmentrisg@overnment contracts and grants to suppogares and development efforts,
manufacturing, pre-clinical and clinical testingpta@ining regulatory approvals and marketing. Thés/make it easier for them to respond mor
quickly than us to new or changing opportunitieshhologies or market needs. Many of these conopgtiiperate large, well-funded research
and development programs and have significant ptsdapproved or in development. Small companies asy prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborativesangements with large pharmaceutical companiesroudin
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acquisition or development of intellectual propatghts. Our potential competitors also includedsgaic institutions, governmental agencies
and other public and private research organizatioaisconduct research, seek patent protectiorestadblish collaborative arrangements for
product and clinical development and marketing.eResh and development by others may seek to renddechnologies or products obsolete
or noncompetitive.

If we lose or are unable to secure collaboratorsgartners, or if our collaborators or partners dooh apply adequate resources to th
relationships with us, our product development apdtential for profitability will suffer.

We have entered into, or may enter into, distriiiutico-promotion, partnership, sponsored researdlother arrangements for
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing andratommercialization activities relating to ouogucts. For example, in the past we have
entered into a license and collaboration agreem@htRoche. The amount and timing of resourcesiaggly our collaborators are largely
outside of our control.

If any of our current or future collaborators brieas or terminates our agreements, or fails to ocotrmlur collaborative activities in a
timely manner, our commercialization of productasldde diminished or blocked completely. It is pbkesthat collaborators will change their
strategic focus, pursue alternative technologiedeselop alternative products, either on their @wim collaboration with others. Further, we
may be forced to fund programs that were previofistgled by our collaborators, and we may not havége able to access, the necessary
funding. The effectiveness of our partners, if dnymnarketing our products will also affect our eeues and earnings.

We desire to enter into new collaborative agreemeéidwever, we may not be able to successfully tiggoany additional collaborative
arrangements and, if established, these relatipashay not be scientifically or commercially susfek Our success in the future depends in
part on our ability to enter into agreements witheo highlyregarded organizations. This can be difficult dueternal and external constrai
placed on these organizations. Some organizati@ystrave insufficient administrative and relatedasfructure to enable collaborations with
many companies at once, which can extend the titagés to develop, negotiate and implement alsotktion. Once news of discussions
regarding possible collaborations are known inntteglical community, regardless of whether the nevegcurate, failure to announce a
collaborative agreement or the entity's announcéiea collaboration with another entity may resaladverse speculation about us, resulting
in harm to our reputation and our business.

Disputes could also arise between us and our egisii future collaborators, as to a variety of m¥asttincluding financial and intellectual
property matters or other obligations under oueagrents. These disputes could be both expensivenagaonsuming and may result in
delays in the development and commercializatioousfproducts or could damage our relationship wittollaborator.

A small number of licensing partners and governmardntracts account for a substantial portion of ovevenue.

We currently derive, and in the past we have ddrigesignificant portion of our revenue from a lied number of licensing partners and
government grants and contracts. For example, gltiia year ended December 31, 2013, Roche andli&i®Mccounted for approximately
68% and 16%, of our consolidated revenue, respagtilf we fail to sign additional future contraetéth major licensing partners and the
government, if a contract is delayed or deferredf an existing contract expires or is canceled am fail to replace the contract with new
business, our revenue would be adversely affected.

We have agreements with government agencies, whighsubject to termination and uncertain future fuling.

We have entered into agreements with governmemicégge such as the NIAID and the US Army, and werid to continue entering into
these agreements in the future. Our business timipadependent on the continued performance kgdlhgovernment agencies of their
responsibilities under these agreements, includdegjuate continued funding of the agencies andphegrams. We have no control over the
resources and funding that government agenciesdenagte to these agreements, which may be subjectrioal renewal and which generally
may be terminated by the government agencies atiizey

Government agencies may fail to perform their resgalities under these agreements, which may ctesa to be terminated by the
government agencies. In addition, we may fail tdgren our responsibilities under these agreemaiésy of our government agreements are
subject to audits, which may occur several yeaes #fie period to which the audit relates. If adigigdentifies significant unallowable costs,
could incur a material charge to our earnings duction in our cash position. As a result, we mayhsuccessful entering, or ineligible to
enter, into future government agreements.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate sidigantly.
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We expect our operating results to be subject totgdy fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by
numerous factors, including:

* variations in the level of expenses related toadectroporation equipment, product candidates tréudevelopment prograr

e expenses related to corporate transactions, imguaties not fully complete

e addition or termination of clinical trials or fundj suppor

e any intellectual property infringement lawsuit itniesh we may become involve

e any legal claims that may be asserted against asyoof our officers

* regulatory developments affecting our electroporagquipment and product candidates or those of@upetitors

« our execution of any collaborative, licensingsomilar arrangements, and the timing of paymergsway make or receive under
these arrangements; and

« if any of our products receives regulatory approtia levels of underlying demand for our prodt

If our quarterly operating results fall below theectations of investors or securities analysts pitice of our common stock could
decline substantially. Furthermore, any quartdtgtiations in our operating results may, in turase the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially. We believe that quarterly comparssohour financial results are not necessarily nregal and should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future performance.

If we are unable to obtain FDA approval of our prodts, we will not be able to commercialize thentlwe United States

We need FDA approval prior to marketing our elgopbration equipment and products in the United Stdfeve fail to obtain FDA
approval to market our electroporation equipmeit areduct candidates, we will be unable to sellmaducts in the United States, which will
significantly impair our ability to generate anyesaues.

This regulatory review and approval process, winickudes evaluation of pre-clinical studies andickl trials of our products as well as
the evaluation of our manufacturing processes amdhird-party contract manufacturers' facilitisslengthy, expensive and uncertain. To
receive approval, we must, among other things, dsinate with substantial evidence from weshtrolled clinical trials that our electroporat
equipment and product candidates are both safeffextive for each indication for which approvaksught. Satisfaction of the approval
requirements typically takes several years andithe needed to satisfy them may vary substantibiged on the type, complexity and novelty
of the product. We do not know if or when we migdtteive regulatory approvals for our electroporagquipment and any of our product
candidates currently under development. Moreover,approvals that we obtain may not cover all ef ¢hinical indications for which we are
seeking approval, or could contain significant tatibns in the form of narrow indications, warningeecautions or contra-indications with
respect to conditions of use. In such event, oilitytd generate revenues from such products wbeadjreatly reduced and our business woul
be harmed.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the apprpvatess and may either refuse to consider ouregijn for substantive review or m
form the opinion after review of our data that application is insufficient to allow approval ofroglectroporation equipment and product
candidates. If the FDA does not consider or appoureapplication, it may require that we conduditidnal clinical, pre-clinical or
manufacturing validation studies and submit thaa defore it will reconsider our application. Degamg on the extent of these or any other
studies, approval of any applications that we stibmaiy be delayed by several years, or may reqsite expend more resources than we hav
available. It is also possible that additional sadif performed and completed, may not be suégkssconsidered sufficient by the FDA for
approval or even to make our applications appravdbbny of these outcomes occur, we may be fotocebandon one or more of our
applications for approval, which might significantiarm our business and prospects.

It is possible that none of our products or anydpd we may seek to develop in the future will emetain the appropriate regulatory
approvals necessary for us or our collaboratoc®tomence product sales. Any delay in obtainin@roinability to obtain, applicable
regulatory approvals would prevent us from comnadizing our products, generating revenues and gifgeand sustaining profitability.

Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive press with an uncertain outcome, and results of éarlstudies and trials may not be
predictive of future trial results

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manysy/gacomplete, and its outcome is uncertain. Faib@n occur at any time during the
clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinistiidies and early clinical trials of our produetsay not be predictive of the results of later-stage
clinical trials. Results from one study may notré#iected or supported by the results of
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similar studies. Results of an animal study mayhbmoindicative of results achievable in human gsdHuman-use equipment and product
candidates in later stages of clinical trials mail/tb show the desired safety and efficacy trdéspite having progressed through pre-clinical
studies and initial clinical testing. The time regd to obtain approval by the FDA and similar fgreauthorities is unpredictable but typically
takes many years following the commencement ofadirtrials, depending upon numerous factors. lditégh, approval policies, regulations,
or the type and amount of clinical data necessagatn approval may change. We have not obtaingalatry approval for any human-use
products.

Our products could fail to complete the clinic@lfiprocess for many reasons, including the foltayvi

e we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaof the FDA or comparable foreign regulatoryharities that our electroporation
equipment and a product candidate are safe anctigfdor any indication;

< the results of clinical trials may not meet tbeel of statistical significance required by tHeA-or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities for approval;

« the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay disagree with the design or implementatioounfclinical trials
* we may not be successful in enrolling a sufficiemtinber of participants in clinical tria

e we may be unable to demonstrate that our eleotadion equipment and a product candidate's dirind other benefits outweigh
its safety risks;

e we may be unable to demonstrate that our elgotetion equipment and a product candidate presengglvantage over existing
therapies, or over placebo in any indications farol the FDA requires a placebo-controlled trial;

- the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory auttiesimay disagree with our interpretation of daterf pre-clinical studies or
clinical trials;

- the data collected from clinical trials of ouoguct candidates may not be sufficient to supff@tsubmission of a new drug
application or other submission or to obtain retpriaapproval in the United States or elsewhere;

« the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory auttiesi may fail to approve the manufacturing processdacilities of us or third-
party manufacturers with which we or our collaboratcontract for clinical and commercial supplisc

« the approval policies or regulations of the FBrAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may#icantly change in a manner
rendering our clinical data insufficient for appabv

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinitasting could result in increased costs to us atelay or limit our ability to generat
revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinieating could significantly affect our productvédopment costs. We do not know
whether planned clinical trials will begin on tirmebe completed on schedule, if at all. In additimmgoing clinical trials may not be completed
on schedule, or at all. The commencement and cdioplef clinical trials can be delayed for a numbéreasons, including delays related to:

*  obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clintical;
< adverse results from third party clinical trialgatving gene based therapies and the regulatopores theret

e reaching agreement on acceptable terms witlpprtive CROs and trial sites, the terms of whiah lba subject to extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among diéier CROs and trial sites;

«  future bans or stricter standards imposed on gaseddtherapy clinical tria
« manufacturing sufficient quantities of our elecwogtion equipment and product candidates for uséinical trials
« obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, appabto conduct a clinical trial at a prospectivie;

» slower than expected recruitment and enrollnoépiatients to participate in clinical trials fowvariety of reasons, including
competition from other clinical trial programs fgimilar indications;

e conducting clinical trials with sites internatiolyaflue to regulatory approvals and meeting intéomat standard

e retaining patients who have initiated a clinit@l but may be prone to withdraw due to sideet$ from the therapy, lack of
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost ttherrfollow-up; and

e collecting, reviewing and analyzing our clinicaatrdata
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Clinical trials may also be delayed as a resuéirobiguous or negative interim results. In additelinical trial may be suspended or
terminated by us, the FDA, the IRB overseeing thecal trial at issue, any of our clinical triatas with respect to that site, or other regulaton
authorities due to a number of factors, including:

« failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangith regulatory requirements or our clinical prots

* inspection of the clinical trial operations dat sites by the FDA or other regulatory authestresulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold;

e unforeseen safety issues;

« lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicili

If we experience delays in completion of, or if teeminate, any of our clinical trials, the commargirospects for our electroporation
equipment and our product candidates may be haameaur ability to generate product revenues véltlblayed. In addition, many of the
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the cenamment or completion of clinical trials may aldtimately lead to the denial of regulatory
approval of a product candidate. Further, delayhéncommencement or completion of clinical trimiay adversely affect the trading price of
our common stock.

We and our collaborators rely on third parties torduct our clinical trials. If these third partieslo not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we aur collaborators may not be able to obtain rdgtory approval for or commercialize
our product candidates.

We and our collaborators have entered into agretsmwath CROs to provide monitors for and to mandagta for our on-going clinical
programs. We and the CROs conducting clinicalgrial our electroporation equipment and producticdates are required to comply with
current good clinical practices, or GCPs, reguratiand guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of products in clinical development. The
FDA enforces GCPs through periodic inspectionsiaf $ponsors, principal investigators and trigesi If we or the CROs conducting clinical
trials of our product candidates fail to complywépplicable GCPs, the clinical data generatetierctinical trials may be deemed unreliable
and the FDA may require additional clinical trialsfore approving any marketing applications.

If any relationships with CROs terminate, we or ooltaborators may not be able to enter into areaments with alternative CROs. In
addition, these third-party CROs are not our emgdsy and we cannot control whether or not they téesafficient time and resources to our
on-going clinical programs or perform trials eféntly. These CROs may also have relationships ethbr commercial entities, including our
competitors, for whom they may also be conductingaal studies or other drug development actigitiehich could harm our competitive
position. If CROs do not successfully carry outititentractual duties or obligations or meet expdateadlines, if they need to be replaced, ol
if the quality or accuracy of the clinical datayrebtain is compromised due to the failure to adherour clinical protocols, regulatory
requirements, or for other reasons, our clinidaltrmay be extended, delayed or terminated, anchayenot be able to obtain regulatory
approval for or successfully commercialize our pirdccandidates. As a result, our financial resatid the commercial prospects for our
product candidates would be harmed, our costs dnaidase and our ability to generate revenuesidoeildelayed. Cost overruns by or
disputes with our CROs may significantly increase @éxpenses.

Even if our products receive regulatory approvéiely may still face future development and regulatatifficulties.

Even if United States regulatory approval is oledirthe FDA may still impose significant restricisoon a product's indicated uses or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for padiptcostly post-approval studies. This governnaéotersight may be particularly strict
with respect to gene based therapies. Our proailitalso be subject to ongoing FDA requirementseaing the labeling, packaging, storage
advertising, promotion, record keeping and subroissif safety and other post-market informationadidition, manufacturers of drug products
and their facilities are subject to continual revignd periodic inspections by the FDA and otheulaipry authorities for compliance with
current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, lans. If we or a regulatory agency discover pyasly unknown problems with a
product, such as adverse events of unanticipatetiseor frequency, or problems with the facilitshere the product is manufactured, a
regulatory agency may impose restrictions on thadyct, the manufacturer or us, including requinvithdrawal of the product from the
market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, aadpct candidates or the manufacturing facilit@sdur product candidates fail to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements, a reguiamency may:

e issue Warning Letters or untitled lette
e impose civil or criminal penaltie

e suspend regulatory appro\

e suspend any ongoing clinical tri¢

» refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapplications filed by L
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e impose restrictions on operations, including cosy manufacturing requirements

*  seize or detain products or require us to initeapgoduct reca

Even if our products receive regulatory approvalne United States, we may never receive approvaoonmercialize our products outsic
of the United States.

In order to market any electroporation equipmert roduct candidates outside of the United Statesnust establish and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oférotiountries regarding safety and efficacy. Apprgvacedures vary among countries and
can involve additional product testing and addiicedministrative review periods. The time requitedbtain approval in other countries
might differ from that required to obtain FDA appab The regulatory approval process in other coemimay include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA approval in the United Statewell as other risks. Regulatory approval in ooentry does not ensure regulatory
approval in another, but a failure or delay in atitay regulatory approval in one country may havesgative effect on the regulatory proces
others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval imnestcountries or any delay or setback in obtaisinch approval could have the same adverse
effects detailed above regarding FDA approval tthnited States. Such effects include the risksahaproduct candidates may not be
approved for all indications requested, which cdindt the uses of our product candidates and laavadverse effect on their commercial
potential or require costly, post-marketing follay-studies.

We face potential product liability exposure andl successful claims are brought against us, we niragur substantial liability.

The use of our electroporation equipment and syicthraccine candidates in clinical trials and théesof any products for which we
obtain marketing approval expose us to the righrofluct liability claims. Product liability clainmight be brought against us by consumers,
health care providers, pharmaceutical companieshars selling or otherwise coming into contactwatr products. For example,
pharmaceutical companies have been subject to sldiat the use of some pediatric vaccines has daessonal injuries, including brain
damage, central nervous system damage and autisnth@se companies have incurred material costefend these claims. If we cannot
successfully defend ourselves against productlifialsiaims, we could incur substantial liabilities addition, regardless of merit or eventual
outcome, product liability claims may result in:

e decreased demand for our product candic

e impairment of our business reputati

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant

e costs of related litigatio

e distraction of management's attention from our prinbusines:
e substantial monetary awards to patients or ottemelnts

* loss of revenues; a

e inability to commercialize our produc

We have obtained product liability insurance cogeréor our clinical trials, but our insurance cage may not be sufficient to reimbu
us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Mereawsurance coverage is becoming increasinglgmesipe, and, in the future, we may not
be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reakpoast or in sufficient amounts to protect usiagtdosses due to liability. On occasion,
large judgments have been awarded in class aetwsuits based on products that had unanticipatiedesfects. A successful product liability
claim or series of claims brought against us cealdse our stock price to decline and, if judgmerteed our insurance coverage, could
adversely affect our business.

We currently have no marketing and sales organipatiand have no experience in marketing productswlié are unable to establish
marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agraents with third parties to market and sell ourgatucts, we may not be able to generate
product revenues

We currently do not have a sales organizationfembarketing, sales and distribution of our elgudration equipment and product
candidates. In order to commercialize any prodwetsmust build our marketing, sales, distributioanagerial and other non-technical
capabilities or make arrangements with third partieperform these services. We contemplate eshaigj our own sales force or seeking third
party partners to sell our products. The establesttrand development of our own sales force to niankg products we may develop will be
expensive and time consuming and could delay angyamt launch, and we may not be able to succegsfaitelop this capability. We will also
have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biwtelogy companies to recruit, hire, train andiretaarketing and sales personnel. To the
extent we rely on third parties to commercialize approved products, if any, we will receive lowevenues than if we commercialized these
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products ourselves. In addition, we may have ldti@o control over the sales efforts of third arinvolved in our commercialization efforts.
In the event we are unable to develop our own nigngk@nd sales force or collaborate with a thirdpanarketing and sales organization, we
would not be able to commercialize our product édenes which would negatively impact our abilitygenerate product revenues.

If any of our products for which we receive regutaly approval does not achieve broad market acceptarihe revenues that we gener;
from their sales will be limited

The commercial success of our electroporation engeip and product candidates for which we obtairketarg approval from the FDA
or other regulatory authorities will depend upoe #tceptance of these products by both the mezhoaiunity and patient population.
Coverage and reimbursement of our product candidatehird-party payors, including government paygenerally is also necessary for
optimal commercial success. The degree of marlespaance of any of our approved products will dejpem a number of factors, including:

e our ability to provide acceptable evidence of sagetd efficacy

+ the relative convenience and ease of administr;

< the prevalence and severity of any actual or peeckadverse side effec

< limitations or warnings contained in a produEf3A-approved labeling, including, for example, gratial “black box"warning:

e availability of alternative treatmen

e pricing and cost effectivene

» the effectiveness of our or any future collaborsiteales and marketing stratec

e our ability to obtain sufficient thirgarty coverage or reimbursement;

« the willingness of patients to pay out of pockethe absence of thirdarty coverag
If our electroporation equipment and product caattid are approved but do not achieve an adequatieofeacceptance by physicians,

health care payors and patients, we may not gensudficient revenue from these products, and wg med become or remain profitable. In

addition, our efforts to educate the medical comitywand third-party payors on the benefits of otoduct candidates may require significant
resources and may never be successful.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimburaent policies which, if not favorable to our prodticandidates, could hinder or prevent
our products' commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our electroporatiorugament and product candidates successfully wiblethel in part on the extent to which
governmental authorities, private health insurexs @her third-party payors establish appropriateecage and reimbursement levels for our
product candidates and related treatments. Asealibtd for coverage and reimbursement, third-paayors generally require that drug
products have been approved for marketing by th&.Rird-party payors also are increasingly chalieg the effectiveness of and prices
charged for medical products and services. We roap@ able to obtain third-party coverage or reirsbment for our products in whole or in
part.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or preventr products' commercial succes

In both the United States and certain foreign ficigons there have been, and we anticipate théreantinue to be, a number of
legislative and regulatory changes to the healthsgstem that could impact our ability to sell afpur products profitably. In the United
States, the Federal government recently passethbaid reform legislation, the Patient Protectiod Affordable Care Act, or the ACA. The
provisions of the ACA are effective on various dabeer the next several years. While many of theailderegarding the implementation of the
ACA are yet to be determined, we believe there bellcontinuing trends towards expanding coveragedee individuals, containing health
care costs and improving quality. At the same tithe rebates, discounts, taxes and other costsias=sbwith the ACA are expected to be a
significant cost to the pharmaceutical industry.

The continuing efforts of the government, insuracoepanies, managed care organizations and othiergpaf healthcare services to
make and implement healthcare reforms may advessflyt:

e our ability to set a price we believe is fair farrg@roducts
e our ability to generate revenues and achieve ontaiai profitability
« the availability of capital; ar

e our ability to obtain timely approval of our prodsi
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If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare retations, we could face substantial penalties angr dusiness, operations and financii
condition could be adversely affected.

Certain federal and state healthcare laws andatgok pertaining to fraud and abuse and patiggte's may be applicable to our
business. We could be subject to healthcare fraddhuse and patient privacy regulation by botHféderal government and the states in
which we conduct our business, without limitatidhe laws that may affect our ability to operatdude:

« the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickbackt&ts which prohibits, among other things, peopberf soliciting, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ittcduce either the referral of an individual, foritem or service or the purchasing
or ordering of a good or service, for which paymmiaty be made under federal healthcare programsasuttte Medicare and
Medicaid programs;

« federal false claims laws which prohibit, amanper things, individuals or entities from knowipgiresenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddijocar other third-party payors that are falserautiulent;

« the ACA expands the government's investigative enforcement authority and increases the pesdtifefraud and abuse,
including amendments to both the False Claims Adtthe Anti-Kickback Statute to make it easier timdp suit under those
statutes;

« the federal Health Insurance Portability and @aatability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibiexecuting a scheme to defraud
any healthcare benefit program or making falseestahts relating to healthcare matters and whiahialposes certain
requirements relating to the privacy, security mlmdsmission of individually identifiable healtifanmation;

e the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whictong other things, strictly regulates drug prodmnatketing, prohibits
manufacturers from marketing drug products forlalfel use and regulates the distribution of drugmas; and

- state law equivalents of each of the above fddaws, such as anti-kickback and false claimsslasich may apply to items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, iditlg commercial insurers, and state laws govertiiegorivacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, mahwytich differ from each other in significant waged often are not preempted
by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Additionally, the compliance environment is chamgiwith more states, such as California and Maassetts, mandating implementation
of compliance programs, compliance with industtyicst codes, and spending limits, and other stated) as Vermont, Maine, and Minnesota
requiring reporting to state governments of gifmpensation, and other remuneration to physicldnder the ACA, starting in 2012,
pharmaceutical companies will be required to re@orgtransfers of value made to doctors and tegdispitals and to disclose such data to
HHS, with initial disclosure to HHS due in 2013.€He laws all provide for penalties for non-compi@nThe shifting regulatory environment,
along with the requirement to comply with multigleisdictions with different compliance and/or refog requirements, increases the
possibility that a company may run afoul of onermre laws.

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf the laws described above or any other goventai regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including civil andnimal penalties, damages, fines and the curtaitraerestructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringjlof our operations could adversely affect duifiy to operate our business and our
financial results. Any action against us for vi@atof these laws, even if we successfully defegairest it, could cause us to incur significant
legal expenses and divert our management's attefntion the operation of our business. Moreoverjeaghg and sustaining compliance with
applicable federal and state privacy, security famgd laws may prove costly.

If we and the contract manufacturers upon whom wely fail to produce our systems and product candiain the volumes that we requi
on a timely basis, or fail to comply with stringerggulations, we may face delays in the developnam commercialization of our
electroporation equipment and product candidates.

We manufacture some components of our electroporatistems and utilize the services of contractufsarurers to manufacture the
remaining components of these systems and our predpplies for clinical trials. The manufactureoof systems and product supplies
requires significant expertise and capital investimiacluding the development of advanced manufarjuechniques and process controls.
Manufacturers often encounter difficulties in protion, particularly in scaling up for commerciabguction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields, gtiatontrol, including stability of the equipmentdproduct candidates and quality assurance
testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as agttompliance with strictly enforced federal, staid foreign regulations. If we or our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these diffes or our manufacturers otherwise fail to coynpith their obligations to us, our ability
provide our
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electroporation equipment to our partners and ptstio patients in our clinical trials or to comwiafly launch a product would be
jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the syppt clinical trial supplies could delay the comiia of our clinical trials, increase the co
associated with maintaining our clinical trial pram and, depending upon the period of delay, requsrto commence new trials at significant
additional expense or terminate the trials complete

In addition, all manufacturers of our products ma@nply with cGMP requirements enforced by the RBugh its facilities inspection
program. These requirements include, among otlimegthquality control, quality assurance and theegation and maintenance of records ancd
documentation. Manufacturers of our products mayrzble to comply with these cGMP requirementsaiticl other FDA, state and foreign
regulatory requirements. We have little controlromer manufacturers' compliance with these regufatiand standards. A failure to comply
with these requirements may result in fines and panalties, suspension of production, suspensiaelay in product approval, product
seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product appioifahe safety of any product is compromised tlueur or our manufacturers' failure to
adhere to applicable laws or for other reasonsynag not be able to obtain regulatory approval fosuxcessfully commercialize our products,
and we may be held liable for any injuries sustiag a result. Any of these factors could causglaydf clinical trials, regulatory
submissions, approvals or commercialization ofgraducts, entail higher costs or result in our bainable to effectively commercialize our
products. Furthermore, if our manufacturers faillédiver the required commercial quantities omaety basis, pursuant to provided
specifications and at commercially reasonable price may be unable to meet demand for our produnctsvould lose potential revenues.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rket additional product candidates or approved prmds would impair our ability to grow
We may acquire, iticense, develop and/or market additional prodaats product candidates. The success of these actapends part
upon our ability to identify, select and acquiremising product candidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleingra license or acquisition of a product candidatapproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with sutislly greater financial, marketing and sale®ueses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates art@ged products. We have limited resources to iffeahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses a&otiiiologies and integrate them into our curremggtfucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licengipgortunities that are never completed, or we fadyo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thietsigp additional product candidates on termswleafind acceptable, or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entail numeraperational and financial risks, including:

e exposure to unknown liabilitie

» disruption of our business and diversion of our agment's time and attention to develop acquiredyats or technologie
« incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuanaiesecurities to pay for acquisitio

« higher than expected acquisition and integraticsts

e increased amortization expen:

- difficulty and cost in combining the operations gredsonnel of any acquired businesses with ouradip@s and personn

* impairment of relationships with key supplierscastomers of any acquired businesses due to esangnanagement and
ownership; and

* inability to retain key employees of any acquiregihesse

Further, any product candidate that we acquire ragyire additional development efforts prior to eonercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apddie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchdadates are prone to risks of failure typical
of product development, including the possibilltatt a product candidate will not be shown to béicahtly safe and effective for approval by
regulatory authorities.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materehd we and our third-party manufacturers must cpy with environmental laws and
regulations, which can be expensive and restrictthwe do business.

Our and our third-party manufacturers' activitiegalve the controlled storage, use and disposhhafirdous materials, including the
components of our product candidates and othertiaza compounds. We and our manufacturers arecubjéederal, state and local laws
regulations governing the use, manufacture, stofaayedling and disposal of these hazardous matetrathe event of an accident, state or
federal authorities may curtail the use of thesteneds and interrupt our
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business operations. If we are subject to anyliiglais a result of our or our third-party manufaetrs' activities involving hazardous materials,
our business and financial condition may be adWyedéected.

We may be subject to stockholder litigation, whistould harm our business and financial condition.

We may have actions brought against us by stockheletlating to the Merger, past transactions, gésum our stock price or other
matters. Any such actions could give rise to sutistedamages, and thereby have a material adedfeset on our consolidated financial
position, liquidity, or results of operations. Eviéan action is not resolved against us, the uagsly and expense associated with stockholder
actions could harm our business, financial conditind reputation. Litigation can be costly, tim&seoming and disruptive to business
operations. The defense of lawsuits could alsdtr@sdiversion of our management's time and aibenaway from business operations, which
could harm our business.

Our results of operations and liquidity needs couleé materially affected by market fluctuations ageéneral economic conditions.

Our results of operations could be materially aéddy economic conditions generally, both in thrétéd States and elsewhere around
the world. Recently, concerns over inflation, eyergsts, geopolitical issues, the availability @odt of credit, the United States mortgage
market and a declining residential real estate etdrkthe United States have contributed to in@éamlatility and diminished expectations for
the economy and the markets going forward. Thesgerfs combined with volatile oil prices, declinibgsiness and consumer confidence and
increased unemployment, have precipitated an eccn@ression. Domestic and international capitalkets have also been experiencing
heightened volatility and turmoil. These events #redcontinuing market upheavals may have an adwdfsct on us. In the event of a
continuing market downturn, our results of operagicould be adversely affected. Our future cosiuiity or debt capital and access to the
capital markets could be adversely affected, amdstack price could decline. There may be disrupiioor delay in the performance of our
third-party contractors and suppliers. If our cantors, suppliers and partners are unable to wdiisir contractual commitments, our business
could suffer. In addition, we maintain significarhounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or finarecial institutions that are in excess of
federally insured limits. Given the current instipiof financial institutions, we may experienaesses on these deposits.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to generate and proteatrr intellectual property and our proprietary teclmogies, and we may not be able to ens
their protection.

Our commercial success will depend in part on olrtgiand maintaining patent, trademark, trade $eanel other intellectual property
protection relating to our electroporation equiptramd product candidates, as well as successfafgnding these intellectual property rights
against third-party challenges.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies can be highly uncertain and invebwaplex legal and factual
guestions for which important legal principles reamanresolved. The laws and regulations regardiegdireadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology patents has evolved over recent yaaiontinues to undergo review and revision, bothe United States. The biotechnology
patent situation outside the United States carvba more uncertain depending on the country. Chaimgeither the patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the United Statied other countries may diminish the value ofiotellectual property. Accordingly, we
cannot predict the breadth of claims that may lmevald or enforced in our licensed patents, ourrgater in third-party patents, nor can we
predict the likelihood of our patents survivingatent validity challenge.

The degree of future protection for our intellettoperty rights is uncertain, because legal decisnaking can be unpredictable,
thereby often times resulting in limited protectiarhich may not adequately protect our rights anpeus to gain or keep our competitive
advantage, or resulting in an invalid or unenfobdegatent. For example:

* we, or the parties from whom we have acquirelicensed patent rights, may not have been thetéirlle the underlying patent
applications or the first to make the inventionsered by such patents;

* the named inventors or co-inventors of patensatent applications that we have licensed or isedunay be incorrect, which may
give rise to inventorship and ownership challenges;

« others may develop similar or alternative tedbg@s, or duplicate any of our products or techgas that may not be covered by
our patents, including design-arounds;

« pending patent applications may not result in idguetents
« theissued patents covering our products arttht#ogies may not provide us with any competitidgantages or have any
commercial value;
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» theissued patents may be challenged and invatidataendered unenforceal

* the issued patents may be subject to reexaraimatihich could result in a narrowing of the scopelaims or cancellation of
claims found unpatentable;

* we may not develop or acquire additional proprietachnologies that are patenta
e our trademarks may be invalid or subject to a tpady's prior use; |

e our ability to enforce our patent rights willgid on our ability to detect infringement, anigjétion to enforce patent rights may
not be pursued due to significant financial coditggrsion of resources, and unpredictability ofedrable result or ruling.

We depend, in part, on our licensors and collaloesab protect a portion of our intellectual prdgeights. In such cases, our licensors
and collaborators may be primarily or wholly resgibfe for the maintenance of patents and prosetuatigpatent applications relating to
important areas of our business. If any of thesggsafail to adequately protect these products veisued patents, our business and prospects
would be harmed significantly.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect amelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficufinmtect. Although we use reasonable efforts tégatoour trade secrets, our employees,
consultants, contractors, outside scientific calaltors and other advisors may unintentionally ilfudly disclose our trade secrets to
competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third-pamyity illegally obtained and is using any of ouade secrets is expensive and time consuming
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, tooutside the United States are sometimes leiagvib protect trade secrets. Moreover, our
competitors may independently develop equivaleoiadge, methods and know-how.

If we or our licensors fail to obtain or maintaiatpnt protection or trade secret protection formoduct candidates or our technologies,
third parties could use our proprietary informatiauhich could impair our ability to compete in thrarket and adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues and attain profitability.

From time to time, U.S. and other policymakers haraposed reforming the patent laws and regulatidriseir countries. In September
2011 the America Invents Act (the Act) was signad iaw. The Act's various provisions will go irgéfect over an 18-month period. The Act
changes the current “first-to-invent” system to/atem that awards a patent to the “first-inventoefite” for an application for a patentable
invention. The Act also creates a procedure tolehgé newly issued patents in the patent officepaist-grant proceedings and new inter
parties reexamination proceedings. These changgsmake it easier for competitors to challenge atepts, which could result in increased
competition and have a material adverse effectwwrpmduct sales, business and results of opegtidme changes may also make it harder to
challenge third-party patents and place greateoitapce on being the first inventor to file a pai@pplication on an invention.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse effaan our business.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellégiwgerty rights that could be enforced againstfukey do so, we may be required
to alter our technologies, pay licensing fees aseeactivities. If our products or technologiesiintfe the intellectual property rights of others,
they could bring legal action against us or ougrigors or collaborators claiming damages and sgé&ianjoin any activities that they believe
infringe their intellectual property rights.

Because patent applications can take many yedsue, and there is a period when the applicagamains undisclosed to the public,
there may be currently pending applications unkntows or reissue applications that may later téstssued patents upon which our
products or technologies may infringe. There cald be existing patents of which we are unawaatedbr products or technologies may
infringe. In addition, if third parties file pateapplications or obtain patents claiming producteohnologies also claimed by us in pending
applications or issued patents, we may have ticpzate in interference or derivation proceedingthie United States Patent and Trademark
Office to determine priority or derivation of theviention. If third parties file oppositions in féga countries, we may also have to participat
opposition proceedings in foreign tribunals to deff¢he patentability of our filed foreign patenphgations.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intetitual property rights, it could cause our businessiffer in a number of ways, including:

* we may become involved in time-consuming andeaspve litigation, even if the claim is without ritethe third party's patent is
invalid or we have not infringed;

* we may become liable for substantial damagepdst infringement if a court decides that our tetbgies infringe upon a third
party's patent;
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we may be enjoined by a court to stop makintiingeor licensing our products or technologiesheitit a license from a patent
holder, which may not be available on commercialigeptable terms, if at all, or which may requsdaipay substantial royalties
or grant cross-licenses to our patents; and

we may have to redesign our products so thgtdoenot infringe upon others' patent rights, whichy not be possible or could
require substantial investment or time.

If any of these events occur, our business couféisand the market price of our common stock megfide.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock is expected to beatitd and an investment in our common stock couldatine substantially in value.

In light of our small size and limited resourcesweell as the uncertainties and risks that carctéfar business and industry, our stock
price is expected to be highly volatile and carsbigiect to substantial drops, with or even in theeace of news affecting our business. Perio
to period comparisons are not indicative of futpegformance. The following factors, in additiontie other risk factors described in this
annual report, and the potentially low volume afies in our common stock, may have a significapgithon the market price of our common
stock, some of which are beyond our control:

developments concerning any research and develdpoiiaical trials, manufacturing, and marketindoefs or collaboration

fluctuating public or scientific interest in tipetential for influenza pandemic or other applmas for our vaccine or other product
candidates;

our announcement of significant acquisitions, sfyit collaborations, joint ventures or capital cotnments
fluctuations in our operating rest

announcements of technological innovati

new products or services that we or our competibéfies;

the initiation, conduct and/or outcome of inteliedtproperty and/or litigation matte

changes in financial or other estimates by seesréinalysts or other reviewers or evaluators obasmes:
conditions or trends in bipharmaceutical or other healthcare indusi

regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

negative perception of gene based thel

changes in the economic performance and/or magkaations of other biotechnology and medical decmepanie:
additions or departures of key persor

sales or other transactions involving our commourls

sales or other transactions by executive officeirectors involving our common sto

changes in accounting principl

global unrest, terrorist activities, and econonmd ather external factors; ¢

catastrophic weather and/or global disease pand

The stock market in general has recently expergénelatively large price and volume fluctuatiorrs plarticular, the market prices of
securities of smaller biotechnology and medicaliceeompanies have experienced dramatic fluctustibat often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating results of ttesapanies. Continued market fluctuations couldltésiextreme volatility in the price of the
common stock, which could cause a decline in theevaf the common stock. In addition, price volatimay increase if the trading volume of
our common stock remains limited or declines.

40




Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabDelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftrol which could limit the
market price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatbntains provisions that could delay or preweahange of control of our company
or changes in our board of directors that our dtotrders might consider favorable. Some of thesgigians include:

» the authority of our board of directors to isshares of undesignated preferred stock and toriete the rights, preferences and
privileges of these shares, without stockholderrayxyd;

» all stockholder actions must be effected at a dalled meeting of stockholders and not by writtensent; an

+ the elimination of cumulative votin

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eftdn 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Lackwmay prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning tE%nore of our outstanding voting stock. These athér provisions in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, amended@sthted bylaws and Delaware law could make it rddfeeult for stockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our board of direstor initiate actions that are opposed by the-thenent board of directors, including to delay
or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contaablving our company. Any delay or prevention affeange of control transaction or change:
in our board of directors could cause the markieeposf our common stock to decline.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commomlstind we do not anticipate paying dividends in tfloeeseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stodlate, and we currently intend to retain our fertearnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. In additioa terms of any future debt or credit facilitaympreclude or limit our ability to pay any
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if,aof our common stock will be your sole sourceofential gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have no unresolved written comments from the Sa€ regarding our filings under the Exchange.Act

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own no real property and have no plans to aedny real property in the future. Our corporatedagiarters is located at 1787 Sentry
Park West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. This lease gsigned on December 19, 2009 and was amendedbindfg 2012 to extend the lease ternr
for an additional year and increase the leasedespaapproximately 2,319 square feet. The leadenawl run through June 30, 2017 for a tota
of approximately 8,761 square feet. The annualuader the new lease terms was $122,000, $126§10®,000 and $180,000 for the first,
second, third and fourth year, respectively, anthei $184,000 for the fifth year, $188,000 for #ieth year and $193,000 for the seventh y
At the end of the lease term, we have the optiaeiéwing this lease for an additional three-yeasé term at an annual rate equal to the fair
market rental value of the property, as definethenlease agreement.

The corporate office in San Diego is located at800Wateridge Circle in San Diego, California. Tleiase was signed in April 2013 and
we occupied the building in early December 2013 iHitial term of the Lease runs through Decemh&@0P23 for a total of approximately
26,500 square feet. The base rent adjusts perliydibeoughout the ten year term of the Lease, wittnthly payments ranging from zero to
$82,945. In addition, we pay the landlord our stadreperating expenses and a property managemeni\fe intend to use the facility for offi
and research and development purposes.

In March 2014, we entered into a new office leasBlymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania. We expect to pgt¢he new space commencing
in the third quarter of 2014 and sublet our exgsfacility. The initial term of the new lease is.3¥ears. The base rent adjusts periodically
throughout the term of the Lease, with monthly pagta ranging from $0 to $58,164. In addition, wé pay the landlord our share of
operating expenses and a property management fedawvé paid the landlord a security deposit of G383,

We believe our current and future planned facsitiéll be adequate to meet our operating needthéoforeseeable future. Should we
need additional space, we believe we will be ableeture additional space at commercially reasenalés.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUIT Y, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Informatior

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYS&rMnder the symbol “INO.” The following table sdtsth the quarterly high and
low per share closing prices of our common stockHhe two most recent fiscal years.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Period: High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 08z $ 05C $ 07¢ % 0.41
Second Quarter $ 08C % 051 $ 06¢ $ 0.4C
Third Quarter $ 3.0 $ 0.8t $ 0.6¢ $ 0.4t
Fourth Quarter $ 297 % 172 $ 072 $ 0.4¢

As of March 13, 2014, we had approximately 209 camrstockholders of record. This figure does noltide beneficial owners who
hold shares in nominee name. The closing priceslpare of our common stock on March 13, 2014 wa#4$2s reported on the NYSE MKT.

Dividends

The payment of any dividends on our common stoetitisin the discretion of our board of directorse\Wave not paid cash dividends on
our common stock and the board of directors doégxyect to declare cash dividends on the comnurk $h the foreseeable future.

Performance Grapl

The graph below matches Inovio Pharmaceuticals'sleamulative 5-year total shareholder return ommon stock with the cumulative
total returns of the NYSE MKT Composite index ahd & & P SuperCap Biotechnology index. The graghrass that the value of the
investment in our common stock and in each of tdexes (including reinvestment of dividends) waB@n December 31, 2008 and tracks it
through December 31, 2013.
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COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among Inovie Pharmaceuticals Inc., the NY3SE MET Composite Index,
and S&P SuperCap Biotechnology Index
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2100 invested on 12/31/08 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright® 2014 58P, a divizion of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. Al rights reserved,

12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12/13
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100.0( 219.2: 221.1¢ 82.31 96.0¢ 557.6¢
NYSE MKT Composite 100.0( 135.5¢ 175.0° 179.9¢ 190.6¢ 200.5¢
S&P SuperCap Biotechnology 100.0( 98.0¢ 99.52 122.6: 174.4¢ 305.3(

The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock pnerformance.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected cordatfd financial data for the periods indicatediveéer from consolidated financial

statements prepared in accordance with United Stgteerally accepted accounting principles.
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Operations Data:
Revenue under collaborative research and
development arrangements, including from
affiliated entity $ 9,664,554 $ 660,00 $ 567,85t $ 527,22. % 5,055,30!
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 3,802,79! 3,458,64! 9,227,40: 5,617,48: 4,064,80!
Total revenues 13,467,34 4,118,65; 9,795,25 6,144,70! 9,120,11
Loss from operations (19,544,33) (23,493,53) (21,638,54) (19,220,16) (13,957,75)
Interest and other income, net 132,21 166,11 34,28¢ 147,40t 30,32¢
Change in fair value of common stock
warrants (45,632,66) 1,982,62 8,690,65! 2,403,92. (1,286,88)
(Loss) Gain on investment in affiliated
entity (1,038,74) 1,631,81 (2,390,49) (969,919 (9,244,61)
Net loss (66,083,53) (19,712,98) (15,304,09) (17,638,74) (24,458,92)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling
interest 55,08¢ 44,02t 51,15( 24,95( 47,43¢
Net loss attributable to Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. $ (66,028,44) (19,668,95) $ (15,252,94) $ (17,613,79) (24,411,48)
Per common share—basanddiluted:
Net loss (0.36) 0.1 $ (0.12) $ (0.19) (0.39)
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders (0.36) (019 $ (0.12) $ (0.17) (0.39)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,719,79 5,646,02 $ 17,350,11 $ 19,998,48 $  30,296,21
Short-term investments 18,905,60 8,034,00. 12,863,42 1,849,27. 10,397,53
Total assets 88,287,20 45,138,75 61,106,56 56,067,39 80,628,91
Current liabilities 28,966,45 8,376,57 11,043,02 6,436,70: 19,350,03
Accumulated deficit (295,788,57) (229,760,12) (210,091,17) (194,838,22) (177,224,43)
Total stockholders’ equity 52,902,68 34,857,40 47,861,66 47,100,91 61,184,94

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report contains forward-looking statementsedédnstatements relate to future events or our déuimancial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemégtterminology such as “may,

“estimate,

will,

" “should,” “expect,
predict,” “potential” or “continue,” t he negative of such terms or other comparable @ofogy. These statements are only

plan,

anticipate,

believe,”

predictions. Actual events or results may diffetenally.

Although we believe that the expectations reflestdte forward-looking statements are reasonae cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementstéduer, neither we, nor any other person, assurapassibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statementsaieinder no obligation to update any of the fordvdmoking statements after the filing of
this Annual Report to conform such statements toahcesults or to changes in our expectations.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in codijiom with our consolidated financi
statements and the related notes and other finhidiamation appearing elsewhere in this AnnuapBe. Readers are also urged to carefully
review and consider the various disclosures madedowhich attempt to advise interested partiehieffactors which affect our business,
including without limitation the disclosures madeltem 1A of Part | of this Annual Report under @eption “Risk Factors.”

Risk factors that could cause actual results téedifrom those contained in the forward-lookingtstaents include but are not limited to:
our history of losses; our lack of products thavé@aeceived regulatory approval; uncertainties irdrd in clinical trials and product
development programs, including but not limitedhe fact that pre-clinical and clinical results magt be indicative of results achievable in
other trials or for other indications, that resufi®m one study may not necessarily be reflecteslipported by the results of other similar
studies, that results from an animal study maybaoindicative of results
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achievable in human studies, that clinical tesimgxpensive and can take many years to completethte outcome of any clinical trial is
uncertain and failure can occur at any time durthg clinical trial process, and that our electrojption technology and DNA vaccines may
to show the desired safety and efficacy traitdimaal trials; the availability of funding; the ality to manufacture vaccine candidates; the
availability or potential availability of alternatie therapies or treatments for the conditions téedeby us or our collaborators, including
alternatives that may be more efficacious or ef&tctive than any therapy or treatment that we amdcollaborators hope to develop; whet
our proprietary rights are enforceable or defensilokr infringe or allegedly infringe on rights ofr@rs or can withstand claims of invalidity;
and the impact of government healthcare proposals.

Overview

We are engaged in the discovery, development, alidedy of a new generation of vaccines and immileeapies, called synthetic
vaccines, focused on cancers and infectious dise@g DNA-based immune therapies, in combinatiadh wur proprietary electroporation
delivery, are generating best-in-class immune nese®, with therapeutic T-cell responses exceedhmgy technologies in terms of magnitude,
breadth, and response rate. The Company's DNA-I&gedon®technology is also designed to provide universatgmtion against known as
well as new unmatched strains of pathogens sustflasnza. Human data to date have shown a faversdifiety profile. Our clinical programs
include HPV/cervical cancer (therapeutic), avidiuenza (preventive), prostate cancer (therapeugaokemia (therapeutic), HCV, HBV and
HIV vaccines. We are advancing preclinical resedocta universal seasonal/pandemic influenza vacaswell as other products. Our parti
and collaborators include Roche, University of Bgfrania, Drexel University, National Microbiologyaboratory of the Public Health Agen
of Canada, Program for Appropriate Technology imltigMalaria Vaccine Initiative (“PATH” or “MVI”),National Institute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), Merck, University &uthampton, United States Military HIV Researcbglam (“USMHRP”), U.S. Army
Medical Research Institute of Infectious DiseaS8SAMRIID"), HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN”) ard Department of Homeland
Security (“DHS").

All of our potential human products are in reseat development phases. We have not generategagryues from the sale of any
such products, and we do not expect to generatsuatyrevenues for at least the next several yd&sarn revenue from license fees and
milestone revenue, collaborative research and dpwetnt agreements, grants and government cont@gtproduct candidates will require
significant additional research and developmerdredf including extensive preclinical and clinibagting. All product candidates that we
advance to clinical testing will require regulatayproval prior to commercial use, and will requignificant costs for commercialization. We
may not be successful in our research and developafiorts, and we may never generate sufficieatipct revenue to be profitable.

Recent Developments

In September 2013, we entered into a Collaboratiense, and Option Agreement (the “Agreementthvid. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd
and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”). Under the égment, we and Roche will co-develop highly-optedizmulti-antigen DNA
immunotherapies targeting prostate cancer and iisffthe “Products”).

Roche acquired an exclusive worldwide license for@NA-based vaccines INO-5150 (targeting prostatgcer) and INO-1800
(targeting hepatitis B) as well as the use of odLCECTRA ®electroporation technology for delivery of the viaes. Roche also obtained an
option to license additional vaccines in connectigin a collaborative research program in prostatecer.

Under the terms of the Agreement, we will receiaerf Roche payments based on the achievement afallevent based payments and
royalties based on sales of the Products. In Oct®®E3, Roche made an upfront payment of $10.0anito us, and will also provide
preclinical R&D support and payments for near-teegulatory events as well as payments upon readgrtgin development and commercial
events potentially up to $412.5 million. Additiord@velopment event based payments could also be toad if Roche pursues other
indications with INO-5150 or INO-1800. In additiome are entitled to receive up to double-digitd@royalties on product sales.

In April 2013 we entered into an office lease (thease”) with BMR-Wateridge LP, located in San Deealifornia. We occupied the
facility in early December 2013. The initial terrhtbe Lease is ten years. We intend to use thétfafor office and research and development
purposes. The base rent adjusts periodically througthe ten year term of the Lease, with montlalyrpents ranging from zero to $82,945. In
addition, we pay the landlord our share of opegaéiRpenses and a property management fee and halva pecurity deposit of $64,000.

In March 2013, our collaborator ChronTech Pharmaré&orted data from its phase Il study of its egdyeration, single antigen
hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine delivered using MedPulsef delivery device in combination with a drug regim&he study did not achieve
results showing a statistically significant diffece in efficacy compared to the drug regimen aldvie.have ceased all activities relating to this
collaboration. We have achieved T-cell responsés atir proprietary, multi-antigen HCV DNA vaccinechCELLECTRA® delivery device
that are far superior to immunogenicity data geteerdy ChronTech and which included the observaifdnnctional T cells in the liver. In
October 2013, our affiliate
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VGX Int'l launched a phase | study of this HCV viaec

The University of Southampton has indicated thatK phase Il clinical study of its WT1 leukemiaceae delivered using our
electroporation technology is not currently reéngitnew subjects due to an interruption in spoffisoding. Efforts are under way to re-
establish funding, however, the study is on holddireg the outcome of these refunding efforts. Theree been no safety concerns identified
during the study. Our aim is to maximize sharehol@due by advancing our wholly-owned, integrateoppietary SynCoi vaccine and
electroporation technology platform. We have desiba SynCoff cancer vaccine candidate based on the WT1 antigghave generated
promising preclinical data. This new candidate Wwéla part of multiple cancer immunotherapeutigpms in our oncology pipeline.

The Company continues to focus on its most importammercial opportunities and proprietary progrdomsled by third parties. -
build on promising preclinical and clinical datarn our universal flu vaccine program, we are atyiweeking additional grant funding ¢
partnerships to further develop our potentiallygaigm-changing flu products.

In March 2013, we completed an underwritten offgrif 27,377,266 shares of our common stock andamgsito purchase an aggregate
of up to 13,688,633 shares of common stock. Theestend warrants were sold in units at a priceddB%per unit, with each unit consisting of
one share of common stock and a warrant to purdh&feshares of common stock at an exercise pfi$0.3936 per share. The warrants have
a term of five and one-half years. The net proceafisr deducting the underwriters' discounts aheroffering expenses, were approximately
$14.0 million.

As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulateditliefi$ 295.8million. We expect to continue to incur substantipérating losses
the future due to our commitment to our researchdavelopment programs, the funding of preclingtatlies, clinical trials and regulatory
activities and the costs of general and adminiggatctivities.

Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as¢hthat are, in management’s view, important tgotrérayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and require managemjgmiggnent. Our discussion and analysis of our firgrmndition and results of operations is
based on our audited consolidated financial statésnahich have been prepared in accordance wih GAAP. There have been no changes
to our critical accounting policies during the yeaded December 31, 2013 other than the adoptiogceht accounting pronouncements
discussed below. The preparation of these finastééments requires us to make estimates and prigrthat affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Wedasestimates on experience and on various assomsgtiat we believe are reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form thesfor making judgments about the carrying vakfesssets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results méerdifom those estimates. Our critical accountintigies include:

Revenue Recognition.
Grant revenue

We receive non-refundable grants under availablegonent programs. Government grants towards cuesgenditures are
recorded as revenue when there is reasonable assutat we have complied with all conditions neaegto receive the grants, collectability
is reasonably assured, and as the expendituréscameed.

License fee and milestone revenue

We have adopted a strategy of co-developing onditgy our gene delivery technology for specificegnr specific medical
indications. Accordingly, we have entered into abbirative research and development agreementsaaed&iceived funding for pre-clinical
research and clinical trials. Prior to the adoptiéthe Financial Accounting Standards Board's (§BA) Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU") No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic §Q4ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementge analyzed our multiple element
arrangements to determine whether the identifidgdetables could be accounted for individually eparate units of accounting. The deliverec
item(s) were considered a separate unit of accogiitiall of the following criteria were met: (1e delivered item(s) has value to the custome
on a standalone basis; (2) there is objective aliahie evidence of the fair value of the undelegeitem(s); and (3) if the arrangement include:
a general right of return relative to the deliveiteth, delivery or performance of the undelivengairi(s) is considered probable and
substantially in our control. If these criteria wearot met, the deliverable was combined with otlediverables in the arrangement and
accounted for as a combined unit of accounting.

For new collaborative agreements or material modifdons of existing collaborative agreements edtér® after December 31,
2010, we follow the provisions of ASU No. 2009-118 order to account for the multiple-element aremegnts, we identify the deliverables
included within the agreement and evaluate whidivel@bles represent separable units of accounfinglyzing the arrangement to identify
deliverables requires the use of judgment, and daliterable may be an obligation to deliver segsia right or license to use an asset, or
another performance obligation. A delivered item is
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considered a separate unit of accounting whenelieeded item has value to the collaborator oreadtlone basis based on the consideration
of the relevant facts and circumstances for ea@ngement.

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itioepf the agreement to all identified units o€agnting based on their relative
selling price. The relative selling price for eatdiverable is determined using vendor specifieotiye evidence (“VSOE"), of selling price or
third-party evidence of selling price if VSOE daext exist. If neither VSOE nor third-party eviderafeselling price exists, we use our best
estimate of the selling price for the deliverafllee amount of allocable arrangement consideraidimited to amounts that are fixed or
determinable. The consideration received is alEgtaimong the separate units of accounting, andppkcable revenue recognition criteria are
applied to each of the separate units. Changd®ialtocation of the sales price between delivaratiundelivered elements can impact reve
recognition but do not change the total revenuegeized under any agreement.

Upfront license fee payments are recognized upéwetg of the license if facts and circumstancedate that the license has
standalone value from the undelivered items, thagive selling price allocation of the license gual to or exceeds the upfront license fee,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,rang fo the collaborator is fixed or determinalaled collectability is reasonably assured.
Upfront license fee payments are deferred if faat$ circumstances dictate that the license doesawa standalone value. The determination
of the length of the period over which to deferamwe is subject to judgment and estimation ancheas an impact on the amount of revenue
recognized in a given period.

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2010-17, Reveneednition (Topic 605)Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition
(“Milestone Method”), we recognized non-refundabiestone payments upon the achievement of spdaffidestones upon which we had
earned the milestone payment, provided the milespatyment was substantive in nature and the aghievieof the milestone was not
reasonably assured at the inception of the agreeMéndeferred payments for milestone events tiegieweasonably assured and recognized
them ratably over the minimum remaining period of performance obligations. Payments for milestahaswere not reasonably assured
were treated as the culmination of a separatersggnirocess and were recognized as revenue whemildgtones were achieved.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted on a prosebasis the Milestone Method of ASU No. 2010-0rider the Milestone
Method, we will recognize consideration that istimgent upon the achievement of a milestone ieritisrety as revenue in the period in which
the milestone is achieved only if the milestonsuibstantive in its entirety. A milestone is consédiesubstantive when it meets all of the
following criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with eitherentity's performance to achieve the milestorta@enhancement of the value of
the delivered item(s) as a result of a specificonte resulting from the entity's performance taeaahthe milestone,

2.  The consideration relates solely to past perforraaant

3.  The consideration is reasonable relative to alhefdeliverables and payment terms within the gearen!

A milestone is defined as an event (i) that cary el achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity's performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehgty's performance, (ii) for which there is stagive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikd&igeved and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the Company.

Research and Development ExpenSésce our inception, most of our activities havasisted of research and development efforts
related to developing our electroporation techne®gnd DNA vaccines. Research and developmennsgpeaonsist of expenses incurred in
performing research and development activitiequiticlg salaries and benefits, facilities and otharbead expenses, clinical trials, contract
services and other outside expenses. Researchesatbgment expenses are charged to operationgsith incurred.

Valuation and Impairment Evaluations of Goodwildaimtangible Asset$Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair
value of the net assets of acquired businessesf Becember 31, 2013, our intangible assets reguftom the acquisition of VGX and Inovio
AS, and additional intangibles including previoushpitalized patent costs and license costs, net@fmulated amortization, totaled $ 5.7
million. Intangible assets are amortized over tesiimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 18 yeW's.are concurrently conducting peknical,
Phase I, and Phase Il trials using acquired intdegj and we have entered into certain signifitaahsing agreements for use of these acq!
intangibles.

Historically we have recorded patents at cost andrtized these costs using the straight-line methaat the expected useful lives of the
patents or 17 years, whichever is less. Patens cosisist of the consideration paid for patentsratated legal costs. Effective June 1, 2009, ir
connection with our acquisition of VGX, all new pat costs are being expensed as incurred. Patstst capitalized as of June 1, 2009 will
continue to be amortized over the expected lifthefpatent. The
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effect of this change was immaterial to prior pdsioWe record license costs based on the fair \aflaensideration paid and amortize using
the straight-line method over the shorter of theeexed useful life of the underlying patents ortdren of the related license agreement to the
extent the license has an alternative future use.

The determination of the value of such intangilgeeds requires management to make estimates andggms that affect our
consolidated financial statements. We assess paltenpairments to intangible assets when theevidence that events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouincéisset may not be recovered. Our judgments liegaite existence of impairment
indicators and future cash flows related to inthteyassets are based on operational performarmér @fcquired businesses, market conditions
and other factors. If impairment is indicated, wduce the carrying value of the intangible assé&itosalue. While our current and historical
operating and cash flow losses are potential indisaof impairment, we believe the future cash 8dw be received from our intangible assets
will exceed the intangible assets' carrying vaare] accordingly, we have not recognized any impatiosses through December 31, 2013.

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is measumdrhpairment annually, or when events indicaté tmpairment exists. Our
accounting policy with respect to reviewing goodfok impairment is a two step process. The fitepsof the impairment test compares the
value of our reporting unit with its carrying valureluding allocated goodwill. If the carrying valwf our reporting unit exceeds its fair value,
then the second step of the impairment test iopedd to measure the impairment loss, if any. \Wedgeodwill for impairment at the entity
level, which is considered our reporting unit. @stimate of fair value is determined using bothDiscounted Cash Flow method of the
Income Approach and the Guideline Public Companthotkof the Market Approach. The Discounted CasiwHhethod estimates future cash
flows of our business for a certain discrete pednd then discounts them to their present value.Gtideline Public Company method
computes value indicators (“multiples”) from theeogting data of the selected publicly traded gungetompanies. After these multiples were
evaluated, appropriate value indicators were sedeahd applied to the operating statistics of #p®rting unit to arrive at indications of value.
Specifically, we relied upon the application of dldnvested Capital based valuation multiples fecheguideline company. In applying the
Income and Market Approaches, premiums and dissouate determined and applied to estimate thev&dires of the reporting unit. To arrive
at the indicated value of equity under each approae then assigned a relative weighting to thaltieg values from each approach to
determine whether the carrying value of the repgrtinit exceeds its fair value, thus requiring $tep of the impairment test.

We conduct the impairment test annually on Noven30¢hn for each fiscal year for which goodwill issdwated for impairment. We are
also aware of the requirement to evaluate goodarilimpairment at other times should circumstararese. To date, we have concluded tha
fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the dagwalue and therefore, step two of the impairntest has never been performed.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tissegsment process, the estimates and assumptiarsevaee consistent with our internal
planning. If these estimates or their related aggiams change in the future, we may be requiragt¢ord an impairment charge on all or a
portion of our goodwill and intangible assets. Rartmore, we cannot predict the occurrence of fumagairment-triggering events nor the
impact such events might have on our reported asdgts. Future events could cause us to conchatérhpairment indicators exist and that
goodwill or other intangible assets associated withacquired businesses are impaired. Any respitimpairment loss could have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Stock-based Compensatidie have equity incentive plans under which we tgreated incentive stock options, restricted statksu
and non-qualified stock options.

Our employee stock-based compensation cost is &stihat the grant date based on the fair-valukeoéivard and is recognized as an
expense ratably over the requisite service periddenaward. Determining the appropriate fair-vatuedel and calculating the fair value of
stock-based awards at the grant date requiresdmasile judgment, including estimating stock priokatility, expected option life and
forfeiture rates. We develop our estimates basetigiarical data. If factors change and we empliffgint assumptions in future periods, the
compensation expense that we record may diffeiifgigntly from what we have recorded in the currpeatiod. A small change in the estime
used may have a relatively large change in thenagtid valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricingehto value stock option awards. We
recognize compensation expense using the straightmortization method.

Our non-employee stock-based compensation awaedwn@asured at either the fair value of the conataer received or the fair value of
the equity instruments issued, whichever is moliably measurable. If the fair value of the equitgtruments issued is used, it is measured a
each reporting date using the stock price and otteersurement assumptions as of the earlier di€iylate at which a commitment for
performance by the counterparty to earn the edutyuments is reached, or (ii) the date at whighdounterparty’s performance is completed

Registered Common Stock Warrami& account for registered common stock warrantsyaunt to the authoritative guidance on
accounting for derivative financial instrumentsemdd to, and potentially settled in, a company’'sietock, on the understanding that in
compliance with applicable securities laws, thasteged warrants require the issuance of registered
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securities upon exercise and do not sufficienticfurde an implied right to net cash settlement.cVéssify registered warrants on the
consolidated balance sheet as a current liabilibjch is revalued at each balance sheet date subsetp the initial issuance. Determining the
appropriate fairvalue model and calculating the fair value of reggisd warrants requires considerable judgment dictpestimating stock prit
volatility and expected warrant life. We develop estimates based on historical data. A small ceamghe estimates used may have a
relatively large change in the estimated valuatitie. use the Black-Scholes pricing model to val@erdgistered warrants. Changes in the fair
market value of the warrants are reflected in thesolidated statement of operations as “Changaitirvalue of common stock warrants.”

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronoung@ses contained in Note 2 to the Consolidated iéra Statements, included
elsewhere in this report.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 ang 201

The consolidated financial data for the years erdecember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 is pexbénthe following table and the
results of these two periods are used in the disonghereafter.

Increase/ Increase/
December 31, December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012 $ %
Revenues:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements, including from affiliated entity $ 9,664,54 $ 660,00 $ 9,004,54. 1,36¢%
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 3,802,79! 3,458,64! 344,15( 10
Total revenues 13,467,34 4,118,65. 9,348,69. 227
Operating expenses:
Research and development 21,368,60 17,984,82 3,383,77 19
General and administrative 13,643,07 10,778,35 2,864,71! 27
Gain on sale of assets (2,000,001 (1,151,00i) (849,000 74
Total operating expenses 33,011,67 27,612,18 5,399,49. 20
Loss from operations (19,544,33) (23,493,53) 3,949,201 17
Interest and other income, net 132,21« 166,11: (33,899 (20
Change in fair value of common stock warrants (45,632,66) 1,982,62I (47,615,28) (2,402)
(Loss) Gain on investment in affiliated entity (1,038,74) 1,631,81! (2,670,56) 164
Net loss (66,083,53) (19,712,98) (46,370,55) (235)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 55,08 44,02¢ 11,05¢ 25
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95) $ (46,359,49) (236)%
Revenus

Revenue primarily consists of revenue under colative research and development arrangements antsgand government contracts.
Our total revenue increased $ 9.3 million or 22#the year ended December 31, 2013, as compathd fear ended December 31, 2012.

The $9.0 millionincrease in revenue under collaborative researdidemelopment arrangements for the year ended Deredd, 2013 €
compared to 2012 was primarily due to due to tiremae recognized from our Agreement with Rocheredtato in September 2013 (See
Note 3).

The $344,000 increase in grants and miscellanesugnue for the year ended December 31, 2013 asazedhfp 2012, was primarily
attributable to $726,000 of revenue recognized unde PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative (“MVI1”) congct during the year ended December
31, 2013 as compared to $85,000 of revenue recedhia the same period in 2012, due to the indratf the third amendment in October
2012. There were also increases in revenue recadfiam our NIH research project grant, our sub@mtitwith the University of Pennsylvania
and our U.S. Department of Defense SBIR grant 62%100, $142,000 and $126,000, respectively, feygar ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to the same period in
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2012, among other variances. These increases \ffeet by lower revenue of $740,000 recognized fmamcontract with the NIAID.

Research and Development Exper

The $3.4 millionincrease in research and development expensedsefgear ended December 31, 2013 as compared towgdxl @rimarihy
due to $1.3 million in expenses incurred relatethtoRoche Agreement, which includes $1.1 milliosub-license fees paid based on the up-
front payment received from Roche. The increasealssattributable to $915,000 in higher compensadind related expenses, $606,000 in
higher costs related to work performed for the MW@htract, $304,000 in higher engineering and peifesl services and $170,000 in higher
clinical trial expenses, among other variances.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busithegelopment expenses and the amortization ofgitile assets. The $ 2.9 million
increase in general and administrative expensethiéoyear ended December 31, 2013 as compared {e#r ended December 31, 2012 was
primarily due to an increase in consultant stockelolbcompensation, rent expense related to defernéan the new building lease,
compensation and related expenses, outside corgsalivices, corporate and patent legal fees anddction costs associated with the isstL
of warrants in the March 2013 financing of $554,08806,000, $494,000, $394,000, $357,000 and $806r@spectively, among other
variances.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation cost is meaattbd grant date, based on the fair value of e reduced by estimated
forfeitures, and is recognized as expense oveettfoyee’s requisite service period. Total employ@®pensation cost for our stock plans for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 wasrfilich and $1.2 million, of which $550,000 and385000 was included in research and
development expenses and $605,000 and $638,00hekaded in general and administrative expensepagtively. At December 31, 2013,
there was $956,000 of total unrecognized compesrsatist related to unvested stock options, whickexpect to recognize over a weighted-
average period of 1.8 years, as compared to $9@4¢d@he year ended December 31, 2012 expectbd tecognized over a weighted-average
period of 1.9 years. Total stock-based compens#&biooptions granted to non-employees for the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 wa
$714,000 and $153,000, respectively.

Interest and Other Income, r
Interest and other income, net, decreased by $84¢dGhe year ended December 31, 2013 as compauail 2.

Change in fair value of common stock warrants

The change in fair value of common stock warraotshe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 @as$million and $2.0 millior
respectively. The significant variance is due ® tévaluation of registered common stock warrassad by us in March 2013, December
2011, January 2011 and June 2009. We revalue vist@apach balance sheet date to fair value. Warthat were exercised during the period
were revalued the day prior to exercise and reifladsnto stockholders' equity upon exercise. Thange in fair value was primarily due to
significant increase in Company stock price dutimgyear. If unexercised, the warrants will expitearious dates between July 2014 and
September 2018.

Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity
The gain (loss) is a result of the change in tlrenfiarket value of the investment in VGX Int'l fte year ended December 31, 2013.

Gain on Sale of Assets

The gain on sale of assets is related to the M2DdA Asset Purchase Agreement with OncoSec. Thmergadrded during the year ended
December 31, 2013 is related to the cash receivadglthe year related to the sale, and the gaiorded during 2012 is related to the cash
received related to the sale as well as the irfaialvalue of the warrants received in connectigih the second amendment to the Asset
Purchase Agreement signed in March 2012 (See Note 5

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossgsaccordingly have not recorded a provisionoome taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2013, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniadePennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $122.4 million , $38.9 million and358 million , respectively, net of the
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net operating losses that will expire due to IRCt®a 382 limitations. We also had federal andestasearch and development tax credits of
approximately $2.0 million and $2.1 million , resfieely, net of the federal research and develogroesdits that will expire due to IRC
Section 383 limitations. If not utilized, the ngtevating losses and credits will begin to expir@0i8. Utilization of net operating losses and
credits are subject to a substantial annual limitatlue to ownership change limitations providedhsy Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as

amended.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 andl 201

The consolidated financial data for the years efdiecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 is pezbénthe following table and the

results of these two periods are used in the dssonghereafter.

Increase/ Increase/
December 31, December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2012 2011
Revenues:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements, including from affiliated entity $ 660,00 $ 567,85¢ $ 92,14° 16 %
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 3,458,64! 9,227,40: (5,768,75) (63
Total revenues 4,118,65: 9,795,25 (5,676,60) (58)
Operating expenses:
Research and development 17,984,82 20,032,00 (2,047,171 (20
General and administrative 10,778,35 11,988,79 (1,210,43) (20
Gain on sale of assets (1,151,001 (587,000 (564,000 96
Total operating expenses 27,612,18 31,433,79 (3,821,61) (12
Loss from operations (23,493,53) (21,638,54) (1,854,99) (9)
Interest and other income, net 166,11. 34,28¢ 131,82¢ 38t
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 1,982,62 8,690,65! (6,708,03) (77)
Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity 1,631,81! (2,390,49) 4,022,31 16¢€
Net loss (19,712,98) (15,304,09) (4,408,88) (29
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 44,02¢ 51,15( (7,125 (19
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (19,668,95) $ (15,252,94) $ (4,416,017 (29%
Revenut

Revenue primarily consists of license fees, revamger collaborative research and development geraents and grants and
government contracts. Our total revenue decreas&driillion or 58% for the year ended December2®11,2, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 primarily due to decreases intgi@nd miscellaneous revenue.

Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgements was $660,000 for the year endedniiesre31, 2012, as compared
to $568,000 for the year ended December 31, 204 .iffcrease in 2012 was related to work performrettuour Collaborative Development
and License Agreement with VGX Int'l. Under the égment, we will co-develop with VGX Int'l our SynCttherapeutic vaccines for
hepatitis B and C infections. This increase waghslly offset by lower revenue recognized from vasieamaller license agreements.

The $5.8 million decrease in grants and miscellas@evenue for the year ended December 31, 20&@nagared to 2011, was primarily
due to the timing of scheduled contract paymentshwviesulted in lower revenues recognized fromamntract with the NIAID of $2.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compai&d &omillion for the year ended December 31, 20tk decrease was also attributable tc
lower revenue of $656,000 and $394,000 recogninel@éiour PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative (“MVI") adract and subcontract with Drexel
University, respectively, during the year ended &@eber 31, 2012 as compared to the year ended Dec&hp2011.

Research and Development Exper

The $2.0 million decrease in research and develapexpenses for the year ended December 31, 20d@gzared to 2011 was
primarily due to $3.1 million in lower direct costlated to work performed for the NIAID contracida$908,000 in
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lower clinical expenses related to biologics mantufang and laboratory processing. These decreases partially offset by $1.6 million in
higher compensation and related expenses duereased employee headcount, $257,000 in higheramin&bor for scientific and clinical
advisory services, and $202,000 in higher engingeand professional services for device improvemerhong other variances.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busiteselopment expenses and the amortization aofgrile assets. The $1.2 million
decrease in general and administrative expensdbldogrear ended December 31, 2012 as compared {eetr ended December 31, 2011 was
primarily due to a $843,000 decrease in severaxgenses, a $512,000 decrease in employee stock-basgensation due to no severance
related stock option expense, and a $369,000 dezira&ompensation and related expenses. Theseadesrwere partially offset by an
increase in legal expenses, investor relationsgdritervices, and accounting fees of $226,000, $087and $122,000, respectively, among
other variances.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation cost is meaattbd grant date, based on the fair value of e reduced by estimated
forfeitures, and is recognized as expense oveettifoyee’s requisite service period. Total employ@®pensation cost for our stock plans for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 wasrfilich and $1.6 million, of which $555,000 and744000 was included in research and
development expenses and $638,000 and $1.1 milléanincluded in general and administrative experrespectively. The decrease was
primarily due to a lower valuation of the employteck options granted during the year and no secereelated stock-based compensation
expense recognized in 2012. At December 31, 20&2¢ twas $944,000 of total unrecognized compensatst related to unvested stock
options, which we expect to recognize over a weigtgtverage period of 1.9 years, as compared to,98 for the year ended December 31,
2011 expected to be recognized over a weightedagegueriod of 1.7 years. Total stock-based compiensfar options granted to non-
employees for the years ended December 31, 2012Gidwas $153,000 and $33,000, respectively.

Interest and Other Income, r

The $132,000 increase in interest and other incowie for the year ended December 31, 2012 as aemipa 2011, was primarily due to
a higher interest rate earned on our short-terrastment accounts.

Change in fair value of common stock warrants

The change in fair value of common stock warraotshe years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 2@s#llion and $8.7 million,
respectively. The variance is primarily due to téealuation of registered common stock warrantsedsy us in January 2011 and December
2011. We revalue warrants at each balance sheetal&ir value.

Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity
The gain (loss) is a result of the change in tlrenfiarket value of the investment in VGX Int'l fte year ended December 31, 2012.

Gain on Sale of Assets

The gain on sale of assets is related to the M2DdA Asset Purchase Agreement with OncoSec. Tieigaglated to the cash received
related to the sale as well as the initial faiueabf the warrants received in connection withfitst and second amendments to the Asset
Purchase Agreement signed in September 2011 anch\28d.2, respectively (See Note 5).

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossgsaccordingly have not recorded a provisionoome taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2012, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniadePennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $108.0 million, $37.4 million and $6illion, respectively, net of the net operatingses that will expire due to IRC
Section 382 limitations. We also had federal aatestesearch and development tax credits of appedely $863,000 and $1.9 million,
respectively, net of the federal research and deweént credits that will expire due to IRC Sect®3 limitations. If not utilized, the net
operating losses and credits will begin to expirg@18. Utilization of net operating losses andlitseare subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership change limitations po®d by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aetnd
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our primary uses of cash have beefin@nce research and development activities inotudlinical trial activities in the
oncology, DNA vaccines and other immunotherapy atgaur business. Since inception, we have satisiur cash requirements principally
from proceeds from the sale of equity securities.

Working Capital and Liquidity

As of December 31, 2013 we had cash and shortiterestments of $52.6 million and working capital$o29.7 million , as compared to
$13.7 million and $7.6 million, respectively, asi@écember 31, 2012. The increase in cash and t@rantinvestments during the year ended
December 31, 2013 was primarily due to proceedsived from warrant and stock option exercises,A0UM Sales Agreement and March
2013 financing, offset by expenditures relatedupresearch and development activities and vageneral and administrative expenses re
to legal, consultants, accounting and audit, amgarate development. The increase in working chjgitaffset by the increase in the valuation
of our registered common stock warrants that assified as a current liability on the consolidatathnce sheet.

Net cash used in operating activities was $ 15/Homiand $22.3 million for the years ended Decenfie 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $(9.2) million and $5.3 million for the yeansded December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The variance was primarily the restitiming differences in short-term investmentghases, sales and maturities.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $7/58illion and $5.3 million for the years ended Daber 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The increase was related to procesmgved from our March 2013 financing, warrant atatk option exercises and our ATM
Sales Agreement during the year.

On March 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten putdfiering of 21,810,900 shares of our common stooiuding 2,844,900 shares of
common stock issued pursuant to the underwriterésaise of its overallotment option, at the puldiftering price of $2.90 per share. The net
proceeds, after deducting the underwriter’s dist®and commission and other estimated offering es@® were approximately $59.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warramttseock options to purchase 23,090,211 sharesmfmon stock were exercised for
total proceeds to the Company of $19.8 million.

In March 2013, we completed an underwritten offgrif 27,377,266 shares of our common stock andamgsito purchase an aggregate
of up to 13,688,633 shares of common stock. Theestend warrants were sold in units at a priceddB%per unit, with each unit consisting of
one share of common stock and a warrant to purdh&feshares of common stock at an exercise pfi$0.3936 per share. The warrants have
a term of five and one-half years. The net proceafisr deducting the underwriters' discounts aheoffering expenses, were approximately
$14.0 million.

In June 2012, we entered into an "at-the-markeTMAsales agreement (the "Sales Agreement”) witbatside placement agent (the
“Placement Agent”jo sell shares of our common stock with aggregedesgproceeds of up to $25.0 million from timeitog, through an AT!
equity offering program under which the Placemegéwt will act as sales agent. During the year efszember 31, 2013, we sold 15,700
shares of common stock under the ATM Sales Agreefoemet proceeds of $18.9 million. As of DecemBg&r 2012 we had sold 9,344,611
shares of common stock under the ATM Sales Agreefemet proceeds of $5.3 million. As of DecemBgr 2013, we have exhausted all
available proceeds under this Sales Agreement.

As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulateditlefi$ 295.8 million . We have operated at a lsisse 1994, and we expect to
continue to operate at a loss for some time. Theuatnof the accumulated deficit will continue tariease, as it will be expensive to continue
research and development efforts. If these aaivitire successful and if we receive approval flenFDA to market our DNA vaccine
products, then we will need to raise additionalding to market and sell the approved vaccine prisdaicd equipment. We cannot predict the
outcome of the above matters at this time. We @atiating potential collaborations as an additiomay to fund operations. We believe that
current cash and cash equivalents plus short-tevestments are sufficient to meet planned workangjtal requirements through the end of
2017. We will continue to rely on outside sourcéfirancing to meet our capital needs beyond thiet

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatiive or are reasonably likely to have a cuweffuture effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenegenses, and results of operations, liquiditpjtahexpenditures or capital resources.
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Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2013, we did not have any atteterial long-term debt or other known contractidigations, except for the
operating leases for our facilities, which expmeD17 through 2023, and operating leases for capiehich expire in 2015 through 2017.

We are contractually obligated to make the folloyvirperating lease payments as of December 31, 2013:

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3 —-5years 5years
Operating lease obligations $ 7,754,000 $ 233,000 $ 1,494,000 $ 1,407,000 $ 4,620,001

In the normal course of business, we are a parariety of agreements pursuant to which we neaghldigated to indemnify the other
party. It is not possible to predict the maximuntgmbial amount of future payments under these tgh@greements due to the conditional
nature of our obligations and the unique facts@raimstances involved in each particular agreentdistorically, payments made by us un
these types of agreements have not had a matfféel en our business, consolidated results of atpans or financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLO SURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magant our consolidated financial position, resuftserations or cash flows due to
adverse changes in financial and commodity mankeep and rates. We are exposed to market riskapilyrin the area of changes in United
States interest rates and conditions in the credikets, and the recent fluctuations in interetstsrand availability of funding in the credit
markets primarily impact the performance of ourgsivnents. We do not have any material foreign oagyrer other derivative financial
instruments. Under our current policies, we dous# interest rate derivative instruments to mamxgesure to interest rate changes. We
attempt to increase the safety and preservati@uoinvested principal funds by limiting defaulskj market risk and reinvestment risk. We
mitigate default risk by investing in investmenade securities.

Fair Value measurements

We account for our common stock warrants pursuatite authoritative guidance on accounting forwdgive financial instruments
indexed to, and potentially settled in, a compaaows stock, on the understanding that in compliamitle applicable securities laws, the
registered warrants require the issuance of regigteecurities upon exercise and do not suffigigmttclude an implied right to net cash
settlement. We classify registered warrants orctmesolidated balance sheet as a current liabiiay is revalued at each balance sheet date
subsequent to the initial issuance.

The investment in affiliated entity represents ownership interest in the Korean based company, W@K We report this investment
fair value on the consolidated balance sheet uti@glosing price of VGX Int'l's shares of commawnck as listed on the Korean Stock
Exchange.

Common stock warrants that we have received tohase shares of OncoSec are classified on the ¢datsal balance sheet as a long-
term asset that is revalued at each balance sheesdbsequent to the initial receipt.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have operated primarily in the United Statesrapdt transactions during the year ended Decenmbh&@®.3, have been made in
United States dollars. Accordingly, we have not aagl material exposure to foreign currency ratetélations, with the exception of the
valuation of our equity investment in VGX Int'l vahi is denominated in South Korean Won. We do neé fzey foreign currency hedging
instruments in place.

Certain transactions related to us are denominaiethrily in foreign currencies, including Euros;ith Pounds, Canadian Dollars and
South Korean Won. As a result, our financial resatiuld be affected by factors such as changesdigh currency exchange rates or weak
economic conditions in foreign markets where wedem business, including the impact of the existirigis in the global financial markets in
such countries and the impact on both the UnitateStdollar and the noted foreign currencies.

We do not use derivative financial instrumentssjpeculative purposes. We do not engage in exchatgéedging or hold or issue
foreign exchange contracts for trading purposesteédtly, we do not expect the impact of fluctuation the relative fair value of other
currencies to be material in 2014.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTA RY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorgiad by reference to our Consolidated Financiak8tants and the Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm beigig at page F-1 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH AC COUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2013, we carried out an evaloatiith the participation of our Chief Executivéfi®er and Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls prattedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeExohange Act). Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chi@iancial Officer concluded that our disclosure colstand procedures were effective as of
the end of the period covered by this report irording, processing, summarizing and reporting, timely basis, information required to be
disclosed in reports that we file or submit undher Exchange Act and our disclosure controls andqatares were also effective to ensure that
information we disclose in the reports we file obmit under the Exchange Act is accumulated andheanicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Bircial Officer, to allow timely decisions regardirggjuired disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Redag

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securkieshange Act of 1934. Our internal control ovegfigial reporting is a process designed
under the supervision of our Chief Executive Offiaad Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonaddsurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of our ficial statements for external purposes in accomaiiih United States generally accepted
accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2013, management, with theqipation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chiaf&éncial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcéporting based on the criteria for effectiveeimal control over financial reporting
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framgwbissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgativres of the Treadway Commission
(1992 framework). Based on the assessment, manageetermined that we maintained effective inteamaltrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin

There have not been any changes in our internatamver financial reporting (as defined in Rul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth ceraof our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 ithat materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interaantrol over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Puldzounting Firrr

The independent registered public accounting firat audited the consolidated financial statemdasare included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K has issued an audit reporhereffectiveness of our internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2013.
The report appears below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'stalecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®#, 2013, based on criteria
established in Internal Contrb#tegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@92
framework) (the COSO criteria). Inovio PharmacealicInc.'s management is responsible for maimgieifective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control Over FireReporting. Our responsibility is to expresso@mion on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéanternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etastilg and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the Company's assets that could bavaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may beciomeéequate because of changes in condit
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maimd, in all material respects, effective interoaihtrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Inovio Pharmacésiticer. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, andeflaged consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders'yauid cash flows for each of the three yearsérptriod ended December 31, 2013 of In
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated Margl20¥4 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Diego, California
March 17, 2014
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is her@lgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 2013 fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item 11 is her@lgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 20t3 fiscal year.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEF ICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is her@lgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 2013 fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED T RANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director independence and other information reguig this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by refeesftom our definitive proxy
statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14thiw 120 days after the end of our 2013 fiscalryea

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVI CES

The information required by this Item 14 is her@lgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 203 fiscal year.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHED ULES
1. Financial Statemer

Consolidated financial statements required to lleel faereunder are indexed on Page F-1 hereof.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not listed herein have been omitted lsedéwe information required to be set forth theirgimot applicable or is included in
the Financial Statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of thiswamal report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

3.1(a Certificate of Incorporation with all amendmentsc@rporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the sgnt's Form 10-Q
quarterly report for the quarter ended June 3032filkd on August 9, 2013).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inovio Pharmacdstitrec. dated August 10, 2011 (incorporated bgnesfice to
Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’'s Form 8-K currenpoet filed on August 12, 2011).

4.16+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Grants under the720@nnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated begnesfice to
Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Registration Sta¢enon Form S-8 filed on May 14, 2007).

4174+ Form of Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Optiora@ts under the 2007 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plao(porated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the registrant’'s Regtidbn Statement on Form S-8 filed with on May 2@07).

4.1¢  Form of Common Stock Warrant issued by Inovio Plen@aticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Bixli.1 to the
registrant’s Form 8-K current report filed on Jaiyu24, 2011).

4.1¢  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issudddmio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit
4.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K current repogdilDecember 1, 2011).

4.2C Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issudddnio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit
4.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K current repordilMarch 7, 2013).
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Exhibit
Number

10.1

10.2t

10.3%

10.4

10.5+

10.€

10.7+

10.¢

10.¢

10.12+

10.13"

10.14

Description of Document

Lease Agreement by and between the registrant a8d Sentry Park West LLC dated December 10, 20@®(porated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s FA®K annual report for the year ended Decembe3a9 filed on March 26,
2010).

License Agreement dated September 20, 2000 by eimeebn the registrant and the University of Soldinidla Research
Foundation, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.5 of the registrant’'s Form 10-Q quarterlgag for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 filed on November 9, 2000).

Non-Exclusive License and Research Collaboratiorefgent dated as of May 21, 2004 by and amongetiistrant and
Merck & Co., Inc. and Genetronics, Inc., a subsida the registrant (incorporated by referenc&xaibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
Form 10-Q quarterly report for the quarter endate 380, 2004 filed on August 13, 2004).

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incortedrly reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the registraftem 8-K current report
filed on August 6, 2007).

Employment Agreement dated as of December 27, B8fdeen Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Peter @esrporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s FA®AK report for the year ended December 31, 20&@ ftin March 16, 2011).

Termination of Voting Trust Agreement dated as o/Bmber 8, 2013 by and among Inovio Pharmaceutibals the stockholders
parties thereto, Simon Benito and Dr. Morton Call{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 tordggistrant’'s Form 10-Q
quarterly report for the quarter ended Septembge2303, filed on November 11, 2013).

Employment Agreement dated December 27, 2010 betimewio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Niranjan Y. 8agd (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s FAi®rK report for the year ended December 31, 20&d fin March 15, 2012).

Lease dated April 9, 2013 by and between BMR-WadgtgriLP and Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpatdty reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to registrant's quarterly report foe tquarter ended March 31, 2013, filed on May 00,3}

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors abfficers of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorgid by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form 10-Q quastedport for the quarterly period ended June 3092@led on August 19, 2009).

Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Psaamended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit20f the registrant’s
Form 10-K annual report for the year ended DecerBbeR012 filed on March 18, 2013).

License Agreement dated June 26, 2000 by and amaylgr College of Medicine, Valentis, Inc. and Ajgal Veterinary
Systems, Inc., as filed with the registrant’s Regiton Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@85April 27, 2009).

License Agreement dated January 25, 2001 by angeketBaylor College of Medicine and Applied Vetarin Systems, Inc. as
assigned to VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amengédrst Amendment dated April 17, 2002, Second Adment dated May 29,
2002, Third amendment dated March 5, 2002, Fountteddment dated April 14, 2004 and Fifth Amendmexéd February 15,
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27ilad with the registrant’s Registration StatementForm S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009).
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Exhibit
Number

10.15°

10.16°

10.17-

10.18"

10.20°

10.21°

10.22

10.23"

10.24

Description of Document

Collaboration, Option and License Agreement datedfé&september 9, 2013 by and among F. Hoffman-aehR Ltd, Hoffman-La
Roche Inc. and Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (inocaped by reference to Exhibit 10.1 as filed walgistrant’s Form 8-K current
report filed on September 12, 2013).

R&D Alliance Agreement dated December 19, 20051y laetween Ganial Immunotherapeutics, Inc. and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.31 as filed with the registrant’s Reégasion Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 20@indwamong Ronald O. Bergan, Mary Alice Bergan, 46X
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.32 as filed with the registrant’s Reégasion Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

License Agreement dated May 9, 2007 by and betiegtor University and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inccérporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.34 as filed with the regist’s registration statement on Form S-4 (File B88-156035) on April 27,
20009).

Non-Exclusive License Agreement dated Septemb20@7 by and between VGX Animal Health, Inc. and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextuibit 10.36 as filed with the registrant’s Reégagon Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

License Agreement dated September 1, 2007 by amebe VGX Animal Health, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceusgc#nc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 adfigth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-156035)
on April 27, 2009).

Assignment of Contingent Payments Agreement datgdl@r 20, 2007 by and among Ronald O. Bergan, Macg Bergan,
VGX Animal Health, Inc., and VGX Pharmaceuticals;.l(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38iladl with the registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 338085) on April 27, 2009).

R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated Ddmm 8, 2006 by and between VGX International, amd VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidedad October 31, 2007 and as amended by Seameddment dated
August 4, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi39 as filed with the registrant’s Registrati®tatement on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Sales and Marketing Agreement dated February 28 B and between VGX International and VGX Pharuécals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 agifikéth the registrant’s Registration Statement omiS-4 (File No. 333-156035)
on April 27, 2009).
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Exhibit
Number

10.254

10.26°

10.2%

10.29°

10.304

10.314

10.32

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.35

10.3¢

10.3%

10.3¢

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by amdden J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D. and VGX Pharmaceutitrats, as amended
by First Amendment of Employment Agreement dateddd@1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBit43 as filed with the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-ke (Nb. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

CELLECTRA® Device License Agreement dated April 16, 2008 hy hetween VGX International and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextuibit 10.44 as filed with the registrant’s Reégagon Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2008 bgraodg VGXI, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Incc@rporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.48 as filed with the regist’'s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File 388-156035) on April 27,
20009).

Patent License Agreement dated April 27, 2007 liy/l@tween The Trustees of the University of Pervasyh and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidagad June 12, 2008 (incorporated by referené&iabit 10.50 as filed
with the registrant’s Registration Statement omi&-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

2001 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Pharmacelgjdac., as amended (incorporated by referen&tobit 10.62 as filed
with the registrant’s Registration Statement omi&-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

2007 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Animal Healtit. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 108%iled with the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-lke (Nb. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Memorandum of NIH Research Grant Agreement by ataiden National Institute of Allergy and InfectioDseases and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextuibit 10.66 as filed with the registrant’s Reégagon Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued®) Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 2003 (incorporétgdeference to
Exhibit 10.67 as filed with the registrant’s Regisibn Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@8bApril 27, 2009).

Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement for WarranBuaehase Common Stock issued by VGX Pharmaceutloalssince 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 adfidth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-156035)
on April 27, 2009).

License and Collaboration Agreement dated Marci2240 between Inovio Pharmaceuticals, inc. and I@&rnational, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 as fildgth the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterly repant the quarter ended March 31,
2010 filed on May 17, 2010).

Lease Agreement dated as of March 5, 2014 betwesmdBwine Operating Partnership L.P. and InoviorRia@euticals, Inc. (file
herewith).

Purchase Agreement dated February 27, 2014 betimegio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & &ud Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated, as representative of therabunderwriters (incorporated by reference toikixh.1 as filed with the
registrant's Form 8-K current report filed on Fesy27, 2014).

Intentionally omitted.
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Exhibit
Number

10.394

10.404

10.414

10.424

10.434

10.444

21.1

23.1

24.1

31.1

31.z

32.1

101.INE

101.SCt

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRI

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated December 10, 2009 betivewio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Mark L. Bagairéinzorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the registrant’s FAiBrK report for the year ended December 31, 20é&d 6n March 15, 2012).

Collaborative Development and License Agreemergdi&ictober 7, 2011 between VGX International, &nd Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.1 as filed with the registrant’s For@-@ quarterly report for the
quarter ended September 30, 2011 filed on Novempb2011).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d3emfember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticadsand J. Joseph
Kim, PhD. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit4Dof the registrant's Form 10-K annual reporttfee year ended
December 31, 2012 filed on March 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d3esiember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticadsand Peter
Kies (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42h#f registrant’s Form 10-K annual report for tlearyended December 31,
2012 filed on March 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d3eaember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceutitadsand Mark L.
Bagarazzi (incorporated by reference to Exhibigd3@f the registrant’s Form 10-K annual reporttfa year ended
December 31, 2012 filed on March 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d3eazember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceutitadsand Niranjan
Sardesai (incorporated by reference to Exhibit4@#the registrant’'s Form 10-K annual report fog tyear ended December 31,
2012 filed on March 18, 2013).

Subsidiaries of the registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuéecurities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursusSecurities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adbptasuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002.

XBRL Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docute

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin
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Designates management contract, compensatamoplarrangement.

Portions redacted pursuant to confidential tneait applications.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized on March 17, 2014 .

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /sl J. DSEPHK IM

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgppl. Joseph Kir
and Peter Kies, and each of them severally, hiotrue and lawful attorney-in-fact with powersoibstitution and resubstitution to sign in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all cégmdio do any and all things and execute anyadlridstruments that such attorney may deen
necessary or advisable under the Securities ExehAngof 1934 and any rules, regulations and regouénts of the United States Securities
Exchange Commission in connection with the Annugh®t on Form 10-K and any and all amendments tieastfully for all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in peessuhhereby ratifies and confirms all said attorrayfact and agents, each acting alone, and
his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfdlyor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and orlétes indicated.

Signature Title Date
President, Chief Executive Officer and DirectorijBipal Executive March 17, 2014
Isl J. DSEPHK IM Officer)
J. Joseph Kim
/sl AVTAR D HILLON Chairman of the Board of Directors March 17, 2014
Auvtar Dhillon
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Oféicand Principal March 17, 2014
/sl PETER K IES Financial Officer)
Peter Kies
/s/  SIMON X. BENITO Director March 17, 2014

Simon X. Benito

/sl ANGEL CABRERA Director March 17, 2014

Angel Cabrera

/s/ MORTON C OLLINS Director March 17, 2014

Morton Collins

/sl  ADEL MAHMOUD Director March 17, 2014
Adel Mahmoud
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as okBéer 31, 2013 and 2012, :
the related consolidated statements of operatamprehensive loss, stockholders' equity and dasls ffor each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013. These financimtnts are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemerstschan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnilhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 20B29012, and the consolidated results of its oferaiand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20T®nformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogiprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s internal control over firiahreporting as of December 31, 2013, based iberier established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpng Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@®2lframework) and our report
dated March 17, 2014 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Diego, California
March 17, 2014
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable from affiliated entity
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets froimteffi entity
Deferred tax asset

Total current assets
Restricted cash

Fixed assets, net
Investment in affiliated entity
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill

Common stock warrants
Other assets

Total assets $

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due taaftllientity
Accrued clinical trial expenses
Common stock warrants
Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue from affiliated entity

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Deferred revenue from affiliated entity, net of reunt portion
Deferred rent

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock—par value $0.001; Authorized sha@®00,000, issued and outstanding shares: Bétiat
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012

Common stock—par value $0.001; Authorized shar@8;00,000 at December 31, 2013 and 300,000,000 at
December 31, 2012, issued and outstanding: 21@304t December 31, 2013 and 144,313,005 at Dece3ibe
2012

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Total Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders’ egity
Non-controlling interest

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $

2013 2012
33,719,79 $ 5,646,02.
18,905,60 8,034,00.
3,301,56. 830,43
— 36,23
637,43: 471,32t
2,057,35 887,16°
61,83¢ 62,72¢
58,683,58 15,967,91
100,76: 100,41(
2,886,54! 363,02:
9,664,58 10,703,33
5,718,77: 7,489,31!
10,113,37 10,113,37
717,501 267,20(
402,07! 134,19
88,287,20 $ 45,138,75
544450, $ 3,181,57-
522,25! 187,27
1,446,18 1,405,89
19,540,58 2,859,89!
1,624,38 353,39:
388,54: 388,54:
28,966,45 8,376,57
1,997,33 88,60¢
1,211,69. 1,586,69.
3,013,26. 65,07¢
195,77 164,39
35,384,52 10,281,34
210,30 144,31
348,109,66 263,897,11

(295,788,57) (229,760,12)

(76,36 73,36:
52,455,02 34,354,66
447 65 502,74
52,902,68 34,857,40
88,287,20 $ 45,138,75

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.






Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenues:
Revenue under collaborative research and develdpanemgements $ 9,239,564 % 82,53¢ 156,39
Revenue under collaborative research and develdpanemgements with affiliate
entity 425,00( 577,46 411,45¢
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 3,802,79 3,458,64! 9,227,40
Total revenues 13,467,34 4,118,65: 9,795,25
Operating expenses:
Research and development 21,368,60 17,984,82 20,032,00
General and administrative 13,643,07. 10,778,35 11,988,79
Gain on sale of assets (2,000,00) (1,151,00) (587,000
Total operating expenses 33,011,67 27,612,18 31,433,79
Loss from operations (19,544,33) (23,493,53) (21,638,54)
Other income (expense):
Interest and other income, net 132,21 166,11: 34,28t
Change in fair value of common stock warrants (45,632,66) 1,982,62 8,690,65:
(Loss) Gain on investment in affiliated entity (1,038,74) 1,631,81 (2,390,49)
Net loss (66,083,53) (19,712,98) (15,304,09)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 55,08¢ 44,02¢ 51,15(
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95) (15,252,94)
Loss per common share—basic and diluted:
Net loss per share attributable to Inovio Pharmaceticals, Inc. stockholders  $ (0.3¢) $ (0.19 (0.12)
Weighted average number of common shares outstandjp—basic and diluted 184,351,09 136,509,24 126,239,33

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net loss $ (66,083,53) $ (19,712,98) $ (15,304,09)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 11¢€ 1,98¢ (3,267)
Unrealized (loss) gain on short-term investtaen (149,849 35,98¢ 35,80¢
Comprehensive loss $ (66,233,25) $ (19,675,01) $ (15,271,55)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-cdiirigpinterest 55,08¢ 44,02¢ 51,15(
Comprehensive loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceticals, Inc. $ (66178,17) $ (19,630,98) $  (15,220,40)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock

Common stock

Accumulated

Additional other Non- Total
Number Number paid-in Accumulated comprehensive  controlling stockholders’
of shares  Amount of shares Amount capital deficit income (loss) interest equity
Balance at December 31, 201( 26 — 105,038,19 $105,03¢ $241,233,33 $(194,838,22) $ 285( $ 597,91¢ $ 47,100,91
Issuance of common stock for
cash, net of financing costs of
$41,838 — — 1,028,90: 1,02¢ 1,350,641 — — — 1,351,66!
Issuance of common stock anc
warrants for cash, net of
financing costs of $1.3 million — — 21,130,40 21,13( 22,936,67 — — — 22,957,80
Fair value of common stock
warrants issued in connection
with equity financing — — — — (11,727,37) — — — (12,727,37)
Issuance of common stock anc
warrants for cash, net of
financing costs of $314,871 — — 7,699,71. 7,70( 3,677,42 — — — 3,685,12!
Fair value of common stock
warrants issued in connection
with equity financing — — — — (1,905,67) — — — (1,905,67)
Exercise of stock options and
warrants for cash — — 71,18t 71 15,85¢ — — — 15,93(
Stock-based compensation — — _ — 1,654,82: — — — 1,654,82;
Net loss attributable
to common
stockholders — — — — — (15,252,94) — (51,150 (15,304,09)
Unrealized gain on
short-term
investments — — — — — — 35,80¢ — 35,80¢
Foreign currency
translation
adjustments — — — — — — (3,269) — (3,267)
Balance at December 31, 2011 26 — 134,968,39 $134,96! $257,235,70 $(210,091,17) $ 35,39: $ 546,76t $ 47,861,66
Issuance of common stock for
cash, net of financing costs of
$164,695 — — 9,344,61 9,34 5,315,79 — — — 5,325,14
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,345,61 — — — 1,345,61
Net loss attributable
to common
stockholders — — — — — (19,668,95) — (44,025 (29,712,98)
Unrealized gain on
short-term
investments — — — — — — 35,98 — 35,98t
Foreign currency
translation
adjustments = = = = = = 1,98¢ = 1,98¢
Balance at December 31, 2012 26 — 144313,00 $144,31! $263,897,11 $(229,760,12) $ 73,36  $ 502,74 $ 34,857,40
Issuance of common stock anc
warrants for cash, net of
financing costs of $783,000 — — 27,377,26 27,377 14,247,44 — — — 14,274,81
Fair value of common stock
warrants issued in connection
with equity financing — — — — (5,968,24) — — — (5,968,24)
Issuance of common stock for
cash, net of financing costs of
$585,000 — — 15,700,66 15,70: 18,909,15 — — — 18,924,85
Exercise of stock options and
warrants for cash — — 22,849,75 22,85( 19,785,38 — — — 19,808,23
Cashless exercise of warrants _ 64,12; 64 (64) — — — —
Change in classification of
warrants from liability to equity
due to exercise — — — — 35,370,52 — — — 35,370,52
Stock-based compensation — — _ — 1,868,34 — — — 1,868,34!
Net loss attributable
to common
stockholders — — — — — (66,028,44) — (55,089 (66,083,53)
Unrealized loss on
short-term
investments — — — — — — (149,84 — (149,84



Foreign currency

translation
adjustments — — — — — — 11€ — 11¢
Balance at December 31, 201: 26 — 210,304,82 $210,30¢ $348,109,66 $(295,788,57) $ (76,365 $  447,65¢ $ 52,902,68

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (66,083,53) $ (19,712,98) $ (15,304,09)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation 328,75: 173,75( 142,19
Amortization of intangible assets 1,770,53 1,821,17! 1,869,51
Change in value of common stock warrants 45,632,66 (1,982,62) (8,690,65)
Stock-based compensation 1,868,34! 1,345,61 1,654,82;
Interest income accrued on short-term investments (484) (1,149 6,271
Deferred taxes 32,27¢ 22,80¢ 25,67¢
Deferred rent 410,18 (15,799 13,76
Transaction costs associated with issuance of ntarra 315,97 — —
Loss on short-term investments 38,95( — —
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1,82: — _
Loss (Gain) on investment in affiliated entity 1,038,74! (1,631,81) 2,390,49:
Gain on sale of intangible assets (2,000,001 (1,151,001 (587,00()
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (2,471,13) (362,52¢) (435,02))
Accounts receivable from affiliated entity 36,23« 2,17: 33,74
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (229,709 363,58:¢ (472,079
Prepaid expenses and other current assets frolitafii entity (1,401,25) (445,98) 212,25(
Restricted cash (352 (357) (100,05
Other assets 26,79: (14,799 50,86¢
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,164,04! (790,849 1,789,37
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due t@ggftlentity 334,98( 166,93: (1,660,60)
Deferred revenue 3,179,72. 282,04t (333,72)
Deferred revenue from affiliated entity (375,000 (375,00() (361,45
Net cash used in operating activities (15,381,43) (22,306,78) (19,755,71)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments (15,399,49) (9,142,22) (18,193,61)
Maturities of investments 4,339,57 14,008,77 7,206,001
Purchases of capital assets (176,929 (240,98¢) (161,18)
Additional investment in affiliated entity — — (101,12)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 2,000,001 650,00( 350,00(
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (9,236,84) 5,275,56! (10,899,92)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and waynsett®f issuance costs 32,883,70 5,325,14 27,994,60
Proceeds from stock option and warrant exercises 19,808,23 — 15,93(
Net cash provided by financing activities 52,691,93 5,325,14 28,010,53
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casratmts 11€ 1,98¢ (3,269
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 28,073,77 (11,704,09) (2,648,37)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,646,02 17,350,11 19,998,48
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 33,719,79 $ 5,646,02 $ 17,350,11
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities
Lease incentive $ 2,538,000 $ — $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. The Company

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company” or ‘“Wi@) is developing vaccines and immune therapiedied synthetic vaccines,
focused on cancers and infectious diseases. The&uyis DNA-based immune therapies, in combinatitih its proprietary electroporation
delivery devices, are generating immune respongéstherapeutic T-cell responses exceeding othehrtologies in terms of magnitude,
breadth, and response rate. In addition, the Coypanvel SynCofivaccine design has shown the ability to help btekakmmune system’s
tolerance of cancerous cells. Given the recogniakdof killer T cells in eliminating cancerousiafected cells from the body, Inovio’s
scientists believe that its active immunotherapiey play an important role in helping fight thessedses. Inovio's SynCédesign is also
intended to provide universal protection againstviam as well as new unmatched strains of pathogssts &s influenza. Human data to date
have shown a favorable safety profile of the CompfsgaDNA vaccines delivered using electroporatione Tompany has completed, current or
planned clinical programs of its proprietary SynCweaccines and immunotherapies for HPV-caused preecarand cancers (therapeutic),
influenza (preventive), prostate cancer (therapgutreast/lung/pancreatic cancer (therapeutigatitis C virus (HCV) (therapeutic), hepatitis
B virus (HBV) (therapeutic), HIV, and malaria (pextive and therapeutic). The Company's partnersalttaborators include Roche,
University of Pennsylvania, Drexel University, Natal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Healtlyéncy of Canada, Program for
Appropriate Technology in Health/Malaria Vaccindiative (“PATH"/ “MVI"), National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
(“NIAID"), Merck, United States Military HIV Reseah Program (“USMHRP”), U.S. Army Medical Researoktltute of Infectious Diseases
(“USAMRIID™), HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN") and Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

Inovio incurred a net loss of $66.0 million for thear ended December 31, 2013 . Inovio had workagital of $29.7 million and an
accumulated deficit of $295.8 million as of Decem®g, 2013 . The Company’s ability to continuedferations is dependent upon its ability
to obtain additional capital in the future and &efei profitable operations. The Company expectemtirtue to rely on outside sources of
financing to meet its capital needs and the Compaay never achieve positive cash flow. These caotestgld financial statements do not
include any adjustments to the specific amountsciamskifications of assets and liabilities, whiclginh be necessary should Inovio be unable t
continue in business. Inovio’s consolidated finahstatements as of and for the year ended DeceBih@013 have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which contemplates the realizati@ssets and the settlement of liabilities and cidments in the normal course of business
the foreseeable future. The Company has evaluateskquent events after the balance sheet dategthtba date it issued these financial
statements.

Reclassificatior
Certain reclassifications have been made to thor paar consolidated financial statements to conftr the current year presentation.

Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements includaticeunts of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andutssiliaries. In conjunction with the
acquisition in June 2009 of VGX Pharmaceuticals (tlerger”), the Company acquired an 88% intenesfGX Animal Health and certain
shares in VGX International, Inc. (“VGX Int'l") (aublicly-traded company in South Korea). The Conypeansolidates Genetronics, Inc.,
VGX Pharmaceuticals and its subsidiary VGX Animalatth and records a non-controlling interest fer @6 of VGX Animal Health it does
not own as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Coygavestment in VGX Int'l, which is recordediagestment in affiliated entity within
the consolidated balance sheets is accounted fairatalue on a recurring basis, with changesinvalue recorded on the consolidated
statements of operations within gain (loss) on stment in affiliated entity. All intercompany acetds and transactions have been eliminated
upon consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidahat requires companies to perform a qualitaialysis to determine whether a
variable interest in another entity representsrarotling financial interest in a variable interesttity. A controlling financial interest in a
variable interest entity is characterized by hawoth the power to direct the most significant\atiis of the entity and the obligation to abs
losses or the right to receive benefits of thetgnlihis guidance also requires on-going reasseassnoé variable interests based on changes ir
facts and circumstances. This guidance became
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effective for fiscal years beginning after Novembbr 2009. The Company adopted the provisionsegthidance in the first quarter of 2010
and determined that none of the entities with whithCompany currently conducts business and anldions are variable interest entities,
except VGXI (a wholly-owned subsidiary of VGX Int'The Company determined that they are not thegmy beneficiary and therefore are
not required to consolidate VGXI. The Company awntis to assess its variable interests and haswde&el that no significant changes have
occurred as of December 31, 2013.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateménticcordance with United States generally aeckatcounting principles requires
the Company to make estimates and judgments tfeait dfie reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiesvia bases its estimates on historical experiendeoa various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatioesesults of which form the basis for making jodmts about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Actual results may differ from thesémates under different assumptions or
conditions. On an ongoing basis, the Company reviesvestimates to ensure that these estimatesgajgiely reflect changes in the business
or as new information becomes available.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ Bompany to concentrations of credit risk, conmigharily of cash and cash
equivalents, and short-term investments. The Companits its exposure to credit loss by placingdésh and investments with high credit
quality financial institutions. Additionally, thedhpany has established guidelines regarding dfigaton of its investments and their
maturities which are designed to maintain princgrad maximize liquidity. The Company had contradts customers which represented m
than 10% of total revenues for all of the yearsented as discussed in Note 6.

Fair value of Financial Instrumen

The Company’s financial instruments consist priatlipof cash equivalents, short-term investmemsgestment in affiliated entity and
common stock warrants. The carrying amounts of egsiivalents approximate the related fair valuestduhe short-term maturities of these
instruments. Investments consist of available-Bde-Securities that are reported at fair value withrelated unrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive losspgponent of consolidated stockholders’ equitye Tompany’s investment in affiliated
entity is accounted for at fair value on a recuiirasis, with changes in fair value recorded orctivesolidated statements of operations within
gain(loss) from investment in affiliated entity. @ bstimated fair value of the common stock warrentketermined by using the Black-Scholes
pricing model as of December 31, 2013, as discuissBidte 5.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are considered by the Compang bidily liquid investments purchased with originaturities of three months or le
from the date of purchase. Cash and cash equigaleritide certain money market accounts at DeceBihe2013 and 2012 .

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of a certificate of dapuaih a term of 90 days which has been pledgecb#ateral with a financial institution.
The certificate of deposit has been classifiededd-to-maturity and is accounted for at amortizestavhich approximates fair value. The
certificate of deposit and accrued interest witiomoatically renew at each maturity date until teration of the agreement.

Investment:

The Company defines investments as income yielsigrities that can be readily converted into chslestments include mutual funds
and municipal bonds at December 31, 2013 and ioatifs of deposit, mutual funds, and municipal lsoadDecember 31, 2012 .

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoaimdl do not bear interest. Inovio performs ongoieglit evaluations of our
customers’ financial condition. Credit is extendeaustomers as deemed necessary and generallydbesjuire collateral. Management
believes that the risk of loss is significantly uedd due to the quality and financial position of customers. No allowance for doubtful
accounts was deemed necessary at December 31aga2012 .
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Fixed Asset

Property and equipment are stated at cost and claé using the straight-line method over thenestied useful life of the assets,
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvemsare amortized over the shorter of the remaiténg of the related leases or the estimate
economic useful lives of the improvements. Repaird maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Long-Lived Assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed for impairmentalue when changes in circumstances dictatedhgsen undiscounted future
operating cash flows, and appropriate losses amgrézed and reflected in current earnings, toetttent the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated fair value determined by#ieeof appraisals, discounted cash flow analysesrmparable fair values of similar assets.
The Company has not recognized any losses on lead-assets through December 31, 2013 .

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair value of the net assets of acquirginesses. Intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives randing1 5 to 18 years. Acquired intangible asse¢scantinuously being developed for the
future economic viability contemplated at the tiofeacquisition. The Company is concurrently conthgepre-clinical, Phase I, and Phase Il
trials using the acquired intangibles, and hasredtato certain significant licensing agreementsuise of these acquired intangibles.

Historically the Company has recorded patents stt @od amortized these costs using the straigbtdiiathod over the expected useful
lives of the patents or 17 years, whichever is.|Paitent cost consists of the consideration paigdtents and related legal costs. Effective
June 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisitioW@X, all new patent costs are being expensedastied. Patent cost capitalized as of June
1, 2009 will continue to be amortized over the eted life of the patent. License costs are recolmesdd on the fair value of consideration
and amortized using the straight-line method okershorter of the expected useful life of the ulyiley patents or the term of the related
license agreement to the extent the license hatenmative future use. As of December 31, 20132012, the Company’s intangible assets
resulting from the acquisition of VGX and Inovio Aghd additional intangibles including previousapialized patent costs and license costs,
net of accumulated amortization, totaled $5.7 orilland $ 7.5 million , respectively.

The determination of the value of such intangildeeds requires management to make estimates andggms that affect the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements. The@amy assesses potential impairments to intangdsets when there is evidence that
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdtlrying amount of an asset may not be recovételCompany’s judgments regarding the
existence of impairment indicators and future déshis related to intangible assets are based oratipaal performance of our acquired
businesses, market conditions and other factoidairment is indicated, the Company will reduge tarrying value of the intangible asset tc
fair value. While current and historical operatargd cash flow losses are potential indicators @iaiiment, the Company believes the future
cash flows to be received from its intangible asgeéli exceed the intangible assets’ carrying vahred accordingly, the Company has not
recognized any impairment losses through Decembe?(@®L3 .

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is measumdrhpairment annually, or when events indicate impairment exists. The
Company’s accounting policy with respect to reviegvgoodwill for impairment is a two step processeTirst step of the impairment test
compares the fair value of our reporting unit wighcarrying value including allocated goodwill thfe carrying value of the Company’s
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then theosecstep of the impairment test is performed tosusmathe impairment loss, if any. The
Company tests goodwill for impairment at the enliityel, which is considered our reporting unit. T@mpany’s estimate of fair value is
determined using both the Discounted Cash Flow atktt the Income Approach and the Guideline Pubbmpany method of the Market
Approach. The Discounted Cash Flow method estinfatase cash flows of our business for a certagtidite period and then discounts them
to their present value. The Guideline Public Conypalethod computes value indicators (“multiplesgrfr the operating data of the selected
publicly traded guideline companies. After thesdtiples were evaluated, appropriate value indicateere selected and applied to the
operating statistics of the reporting unit to agrat indications of value. Specifically, the Compaglied upon the application of Total Invested
Capital based valuation multiples for each guidetiompany. In applying the Income and Market Apphes, premiums and discounts were
determined and applied to estimate the fair vatde¢ke reporting unit. To arrive at the indicatedue of equity under each approach, the
Company then assigned a relative weighting to ¢isalting values from each approach to determindhvenghe carrying value of the reporting
unit exceeds its fair value, thus requiring step tf’the impairment test.

The Company conducts the impairment test annuallavember 30th for each fiscal year for which geitids evaluated for
impairment. The Company is also aware of the reqguént to evaluate goodwill for impairment at ottieres
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should circumstances arise. To date, the Compasigdracluded that the fair value of the reporting erceeded the carrying value and
therefore, step two of the impairment test has nbeen performed.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisssegsment process, the estimates and assumpto@sittipany is using are consistent
with its internal planning. If these estimatestwit related assumptions change in the futureCvapany may be required to record an
impairment charge on all or a portion of our godtamd intangible assets. Furthermore, the Compamyot predict the occurrence of future
impairment triggering events nor the impact sucbngéy might have on its reported asset values. &@wents could cause the Company to
conclude that impairment indicators exist and gwtdwill or other intangible assets associated #stlacquired businesses are impaired. Any
resulting impairment loss could have an adverseaghpn the Company’s results of operations. See Rdor further discussion of the
Company’s goodwill and intangible assets.

Income Taxe

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitigsfor temporary differences between the fic@hreporting basis and the tax
basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities alwitly net operating loss and tax credit carry failga The Company records a valuation
allowance against its deferred tax assets to rethe&ceet carrying value to an amount that it begeis more likely than not to be realized. W
the Company establishes or reduces the valuatiowahce against its deferred tax assets, its pvi®r income taxes will increase or
decrease, respectively, in the period such detetioimis made.

Valuation allowances against the Company’s defeiaedssets were $61.1 million and $52.2 millioDatember 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. Changes in the valuation allowanedgn they are recognized in the provision for inedaxes, are included as a component of
the estimated annual effective tax rate.

Revenue Recognitic
Grant revenue

Inovio receives non-refundable grants under aviElgbvernment programs. Government grants towardeit expenditures are recorded
as revenue when there is reasonable assuranceehmve complied with all conditions necessaryetteive the grants, collectability is
reasonably assured, and as the expenditures ameddc

License fee and milestone revenue

Inovio has adopted a strategy of co-developingcenking its gene delivery technology for speaifémes or specific medical indications.
Accordingly, the Company has entered into collatveeaesearch and development agreements and ¢eised funding for pre-clinical
research and clinical trials. Prior to the adoptiéthe Financial Accounting Standards Board's (§B&) Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU") No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic Q4ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementee Company analyzed its multiple
element arrangements to determine whether theifigeihteliverables could be accounted for indivitijuas separate units of accounting. The
delivered item(s) were considered a separate fiait@unting if all of the following criteria weraet: (1)the delivered item(s) has value to the
customer on a standalone basis; (2)there is obgeatid reliable evidence of the fair value of thdelivered item(s); and (3) if the arrangemen
includes a general right of return relative to dedivered item, delivery or performance of the Uiveéeed item(s) is considered probable and
substantially in our control. If these criteria wetot met, the deliverable was combined with otlediverables in the arrangement and
accounted for as a combined unit of accounting.

For new collaborative agreements or material medlifons of existing collaborative agreements entar® after December 31, 2010,
Inovio follows the provisions of ASU No. 2009-18. érder to account for the multiple-element arrangets, the Company identifies the
deliverables included within the agreement anduatak which deliverables represent separable ofhéscounting. Analyzing the arrangement
to identify deliverables requires the use of judgimand each deliverable may be an obligation tiveteservices, a right or license to use an
asset, or another performance obligation. A dedigietem is considered a separate unit of accoumttren the delivered item has value to the
collaborator on a standalone basis based on ttedmyation of the relevant facts and circumstarfgesach arrangement.

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itioef the agreement to all identified units o€agnting based on their relative
selling price. The relative selling price for eatdliverable is determined using vendor specifieotiye evidence (“WSOE"), of selling price or
third-party evidence of selling price if VSOE doest exist. If neither VSOE nor third-party eviderafeselling price exists, we use our best
estimate of the selling price for the deliverafilee amount of allocable arrangement consideraidimited to amounts that are fixed or
determinable. The consideration received is alEgtaimong the separate units of accounting, andppkcable revenue recognition criteria are
applied to each of the separate units.
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Changes in the allocation of the sales price batvdedivered and undelivered elements can impa&mea® recognition but do not change the
total revenue recognized under any agreement.

Upfront license fee payments are recognized upéwetg of the license if facts and circumstancedate that the license has
standalone value from the undelivered items, thagive selling price allocation of the license gual to or exceeds the upfront license fee,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,rag fo the collaborator is fixed or determinalaled collectability is reasonably assured.
Upfront license fee payments are deferred if faat$ circumstances dictate that the license doekawa standalone value. The determination
of the length of the period over which to deferamwe is subject to judgment and estimation anchears an impact on the amount of revenue
recognized in a given period.

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2010-17, Revenegedy)nition (Topic 605Milestone Method of Revenue Recognifitmilestone
Method”), Inovio recognized non-refundable mileggrayments upon the achievement of specified mitest upon which we had earned the
milestone payment, provided the milestone paymerst substantive in nature and the achievement ahilestone was not reasonably assurec
at the inception of the agreement. The Companyraefgoayments for milestone events that were reddprassured and recognized them
ratably over the minimum remaining period of ourfpamance obligations. Payments for milestones et not reasonably assured were
treated as the culmination of a separate earnirggeps and were recognized as revenue when thstomés were achieved.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted prospective basis the Milestone Method of ASU Rgil0-17. Under the
Milestone Method, the Company will recognize coesidion that is contingent upon the achievemeat milestone in its entirety as revenue ir
the period in which the milestone is achieved afiie milestone is substantive in its entiretynflestone is considered substantive when it
meets all of the following criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with eitherentity's performance to achieve the milestorte@enhancement of the value of
the delivered item(s) as a result of a specificonte resulting from the entity's performance tdeaahthe milestone,

2. The consideration relates solely to past perforraaant

3.  The consideration is reasonable relative to athefdeliverables and payment terms within the gearent

A milestone is defined as an event (i) that caly bel achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity's performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehsty's performance, (ii) for which there is stagive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikh&igeved and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the Company.

Research and Development Exper

Since Inovio’s inception, virtually all of the Compy’s activities have consisted of research an@ldpwment efforts related to
developing electroporation technologies and DNAcirses. Research and development expenses consigb@fises incurred in performing
research and development activities including ssdaand benefits, facilities and other overheadergps, clinical trials, contract services and
other outside expenses. Research and developmeemnses are charged to operations as they areeadcurr

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividiregrt loss for the year by the weighted averagebeumf common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per simoalculated in accordance with the treasurykstoethod and reflects the potential dilution
that would occur if securities or other contractéssue common stock were exercised or convertedrtonon stock. Since the effect of the
assumed exercise of common stock options, warearttother convertible securities was anti-dilufimeall periods presented, basic and
diluted loss per share are the same.

The following table summarizes potential commorrstdhat were excluded from diluted net loss pareskalculation because of tt
anti-dilutive effect:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Options to purchase common stock 16,538,11 16,257,44 14,302,80
Warrants to purchase common stock 14,059,26! 21,593,84 21,743,84
Convertible preferred stock 38,23: 38,23 38,23
Total 30,635,61 37,889,52 36,084,88
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Leases

Leases are classified as either capital or opey#tmses. Leases which transfer substantiallyf dHeobenefits and risks incidental to the
ownership of assets are accounted for as if thaeseam acquisition of an asset and incurrence obégation at the inception of the lease. All
other leases are accounted for as operating |dase$0’s Blue Bell, PA headquarters and San DiggA,facility leases, which have escalating
payments, are both expensed on a strdigatbasis over the term of the lease. The allowaovided by the lessor for leasehold improven
are considered tenant incentives and are amomizedstraight-line basis over the term of the le@ibese leases represent the primary expen:
and commitment as indicated in Note 11 “Commitmeb&dow. Other leases exist for office machinewglsas copiers, wherein lease expens
is recorded as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fehale-based awards made to employees, direcholsiam-employees. Inovio
estimates the fair value of stock options grantdgithe Black-Scholes option pricing model. Thad&Scholes option pricing model was
developed for use in estimating the fair valuerafléd options, which have no vesting restrictiams @re fully transferable. In addition, option
valuation models require the input of highly sulijezassumptions, including the expected stockepvinlatility and expected option life. Inoy
measures the fair value of employee and directar@svat the date of grant. For non-employee awérdsio measures the fair value at each
reporting period. All option grants are amortizegiothe requisite service period of the awards etraight-line basis. Expected volatility is
based on historical volatility. The expected lifeoptions granted is based on historical expedfedThe risk-free interest rate is based on the
United States Treasury yield in effect at the twhgrant with maturities appropriate for the expelcterm of the stock option. The forfeiture
rate is based on historical data and Inovio recstosk-based compensation expense only for thoaedavihat are expected to vest. The
dividend yield is based on the fact that no divitlehave been paid on common stock historically,reorge are currently expected to be paid.

Weighted average assumptions used in the Blacki&zinaodel for employees and directors are presdreiev:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 0.41% 0.36% 1.23%
Expected volatility 111% 131% 134%
Expected life in years 4 4 4
Dividend yield — — —
Forfeiture rate 8% 8% 11%

Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model for@mployees are presented below:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 0.84% — 1.52% 0.67% — 0.83% 0.91% — 3.47%
Expected volatility 102%-113% 103%-117% 96%-119%
Expected life in years 7-10 7-10 6-10

Dividend yield — — —

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

The below recent pronouncement may have a signffiediect on the Company's financial statementseRepronouncements that are
anticipated to have an impact on or are unrelatade Company's financial condition, results ofragiens, or related disclosures are not
discussed.

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), No. 2013-0Rx February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd&dard (“FASB”) issued
an ASU which amended the disclosure requiremegisrding the reporting of amounts reclassified dwtazumulated other comprehensive
income. The amendment does not change the cuggairement for reporting net income or other cormersive income, but requires
additional disclosures about significant amount$assified out of accumulated
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other comprehensive income including the effedhefreclassification on the related net income iliees. The Company has adopted ASU
2013-02 prospectively effective January 1, 2013thedadoption is not expected to have a significapgact on the Company's financial
statements as the requirements are disclosurdronbture.

3. Collaborative Agreements

In September 2013, the Company entered into a @mldive, License, and Option Agreement (the “Agreat”) with F. Hoffmann-La
Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”). @nthe Agreement, the Company and Roche will ceelbgvmulti-antigen DNA
immunotherapies targeting prostate cancer and tisf&{the “Products”).

Roche acquired an exclusive worldwide licenselier€ompany's DNA-based vaccines INO-5150 (targetiogtate cancer) and INO-
1800 (targeting hepatitis B) as well as the ustefCompany's CELLECTRAelectroporation technology for delivery of the vimes. Roche
also obtained an option to license additional vaegin connection with a collaborative researclyfznm in prostate cancer.

Under the terms of the Agreement, Roche made aonigbayment of $10 million and has agreed to nadditional development,
regulatory and commercial event based paymentp ¢t $412.5 million , of which $3.0 million relatéd INO-1800 represent milestones un
the milestone method of accounting. Additional exmased payments could also be made to the ConipRioghe pursues other indications
with INO-5150 or INO-1800. The Company has assessedt based payments under the revised autheetgtiidance for research and
development milestones and determined that otlaer e $3.0 million related to INO-1800 discusskove, none of the other event based
payments represent milestones under the milest@tleath of accounting. No event based payments @sioihes were achieved during the
periods presented.

The Company is entitled to receive up to doubletdigred royalties on product sales. Unless teat@d earlier in accordance with its
terms, the Agreement continues in effect untildate when no royalty or other payment obligationdar the Agreement are or will become
due, i.e., a royalty term ending on the later efdate that is (a) ten years after the date dfitsiecommercial sale of the product that is sabje
to the Agreement or (b) the expiration of the tastxpire of the patent rights that are subje¢h&éoAgreement. Under the terms of the
Agreement the Company also agreed to perform centgiearch and development and manufacturing grpysservices, at Roche's expense.

The Company identified the deliverables at theptioa of the agreement. The Company has deterniivdhe license to INO-5150 and
INO-1800, the Option Right to license additional vaesirresearch and development services, manufagtamith drug supply, and participati
in the Joint Steering Committee individually repnessseparate units of accounting because eacheddbie has standalone value. The Com,
considered the provisions of the multiple-elemerdragement guidance in determining whether theveldbles outlined above have standalon
value and thus should be treated as separatedfigiteounting. The Company determined that thaies and Option Right to license
additional vaccines have standalone value and septeeparate units of accounting because thes righveyed permit Roche to perform all
efforts necessary to complete development, comalereiand begin selling the product upon regulaggryroval. In addition, Roche has the
appropriate development, regulatory and commeensipértise with products similar to the producthised under the agreement and has the
ability to engage third parties to manufacturegheduct allowing Roche to realize the value ofltbense without receiving any of the
remaining deliverables. Roche can also sublicesdeeense rights to third parties. Also, the Compdetermined that the research services,
committee participation and manufacturing servieash represent individual units of accounting ashiRaould perform such services and/or
could acquire these on a separate basis. The &teéntited selling prices for these units of accaghtivere determined based on market
conditions, the terms of comparable collaboratigeeaments for similar technology in the pharmacaltind biotechnology industry, the
Company's pricing practices and pricing objectiaed the nature of the research and developmeritssrto be provided. While market data
was considered throughout the valuation proceimaiely, the selling prices of the licenses andi@pRight were determined utilizing two
forms of the relief from royalty method under timedme Approach and the cost-to-recreate methodruhdeCost Approach. The arrangement
consideration was allocated to the deliverablesdas the relative selling price method.

The amount allocable to the delivered unit or uaftaccounting is limited to the amount that issidered fixed and determinable and is
not contingent upon the delivery of additional itear meeting other specified performance conditi@ased on the results of the Company's
analysis, the $10 million up-front payment was edied as follows: $5.0 million and $3.4 milliontte license to INO-5150 and INO-1800,
respectively, $1.5 million to the Option Right athb5,000to the Joint Steering Committee obligation. The ants allocated to the licenses
INO-5150 and INO-1800 were recognized as revenuerucollaborative research and development arraagenduring the year ended
December 31, 2013 as these were determined torbedeapon the granting of the license and delieéhe related knowledge and data. Due
to the Company's continuing involvement obligatidhe remaining amounts will be classified as deférevenue as of December 31, 2013.
The Company will recognize revenues associated wibarch and development services and manufagtamiah drug supply as revenues unde
collaborative arrangements as the related seraieeperformed and according to the relative selbrige method of the allocable arrangement
consideration. During the year ended December @13,2he Company recognized
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revenues of $9.2 million from Roche, of which $nillion was allocated to the licenses and $84,@0@search and development services an
manufacturing, respectively. As of December 31,3@e Company has a deferred revenue balance 4#fdiBion related to the Roche
Agreement.

The Company has entered into various Collabordeeclopment and License Agreements with VGX In$'ldiscussed in Note 15.
Under these Agreements, the Company may receivecsfieivent based payments upon approval of an igeg¢isinal new drug application
(IND) and/or initiation of clinical trials and futa net sales. These future event based paymemistaoeet the criteria of a milestone in
accordance with the authoritative guidance as #neysolely based on the performance of the col&bus.

4. Investments

Investments consist of mutual funds and municijpalds at December 31, 2013 and of certificates pbsi¢ mutual funds, and municij
bonds at December 31, 2012. The Company classifi@svestments as available-for-sale, as the adeich investments may be required prio
to maturity to implement management strategiess@ lievestments are carried at fair value, withuiealized gains and losses reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive totei consolidated statements of stockholders’'teauitil realized. Realized gains and
losses from the sale of investments, if any, aterdéned on a specific identification basis. Realigjains and losses and declines in value
judged to be oth-than-temporary, if any, on available-for-sale isiveents are included as a component of interesbtoea income, net, in the
consolidated statements of operations. During @ gnded December 31, 2013, net realized lossvaistiments of $39,000 was recorded. No
such impairment charges were recorded during thesyended December 31, 2012 or 2011. Interestvastiments classified as available-for-
sale are included in interest and other income,inghe consolidated statements of operations.

The following is a summary of short-tem investmegf December 31, 2013 and 2012:

As of December 31, 2013

Contractual Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
Mutual funds == $ 18,17851 $ — % (78,619 $ 18,099,90
Municipal bonds Less than 1 805,14 56( — 805,70:
Total investments $ 18,983,66 $ 56C $ (78,619 $ 18,905,60

As of December 31, 2012

Contractual Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
Mutual funds - $ 7,500,06. $ 83,86¢ $ — 3 7,583,93.
Certificates of deposit Less than 1 250,00t — — 250,00t
Municipal bonds Less than 1 201,47( — (2,400 200,07(
Total investments $ 7,951,53. $ 83,86¢ $ (1,400 $ 8,034,00.

5. Fair Value Measurements

The guidance regarding fair value measurementblestas a three-tier fair value hierarchy whichogtizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, definetbaservable inputs such as quoted prices in actar&ets; Level 2, defined as inputs other
than quoted prices in active markets that are edhectly or indirectly observable; and Level &fided as unobservable inputs in which little
or no market data exists, therefore requiring dityeto develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities are classified based ordhest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurements. The Company
reviews the fair value hierarchy classificationabquarterly basis. Changes in the ability to obsewrluation inputs may result in a
reclassification of levels for certain securitieishin the fair value hierarchy. The Company did have any transfer of assets and liabilities
between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the faiueshierarchy during the years ended December @13 2nd 2012.

The following table presents the Company’s assaddiabilities that are measured at fair value or@uirring basis as of December 31,
2013:
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Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2013

Using Quoted Prices
in Active Markets

Using Significant
Other Unobservable

Using Significant
Unobservable

for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:

Money market funds $ 26,852,56 $ 26,852,56 $ —
Mutual funds 18,099,90 — 18,099,90 —
Municipal bonds 805,70: — 805,70 —
Investment in affiliated entity 9,664,58 9,664,58 — —
Common stock warrants 717,50! — — 717,501
Total Assets $ 56,140,25 $ 36,517,14 % 18,905,60 $ 717,50(
Liabilities:

Common stock warrants $ 19,540,58 $ — 3 — 3 19,540,58
Total Liabilities $ 19,540,58 $ — 8 — 3 19,540,58

The following table presents the Company’s assaddiabilities that are measured at fair value araurring basis as of December 31,

2012:
Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2012
Using Quoted Prices Using Significant Using Significant
in Active Markets Other Unobservable Unobservable
for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Money market funds $ 1,686,400 $ 1,686,400 $ — 8 —
Mutual funds 7,583,93 — 7,583,93 —
Certificates of deposit 250,00( — 250,00( —
Municipal bonds 200,07( — 200,07( —
Investment in affiliated entity 10,703,33 10,703,33 — —
Common stock warrants 267,20( — — 267,20(
Total Assets $ 20,690,93 % 12,389,73 $ 8,034,00. $ 267,20!
Liabilities:
Common stock warrants $ 2,859,89' $ — ¢ — % 2,859,89
Total Liabilities $ 2,859,89° $ — 3 — 3 2,859,89

Level 1 assets include money market funds heldhbyCtompany that are valued at quoted market pracewiell as the Company’s
investment in VGX Int'l, for which the fair valus based on the market value of 8,220,775 commaesiom December 31, 2013 and 2012,
listed on the Korean Stock Exchange. The Compaoguatts for its investment at fair value on a reiogrbasis.

Level 2 assets at December 31, 2013 include méunds held by the Company that are initially vala¢dhe transaction price and
subsequently valued, at the end of each reporgenigg, typically utilizing market observable datde Company obtains the fair value of its
Level 2 assets from a professional pricing serwdgch may use quoted market prices for identicadlanparable instruments, or inputs other
than quoted prices that are observable eitherttlirecindirectly. The professional pricing servigathers quoted market prices and observabl
inputs for all of mutual funds from a variety oflimstry data providers. The valuation techniquesl tiseneasure the fair value of the
Company's Level 2 financial instruments were defifrem non-binding market consensus prices thatamborated by observable market
data, quoted market prices for similar instrumeotgricing models such as discounted cash flolwregies. The Company validates the
guoted market prices provided by the primary pgcervice by comparing their assessment of thesédires of the Company's investment
portfolio balance against the fair values of thempany's investment portfolio balance obtained feomindependent source.
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Level 3 assets at December 31, 2013 include twoants received by the Company to purchase shamsnaion stock of OncoSec
Medical Incorporated (“OncoSec’ly connection with the first and second amendmentse Asset Purchase Agreement between the Cor
and OncoSec signed in September 2011 and March 2&diectively. The first warrant to purchase 1,000 shares of common stock of
OncoSec has a contractual life of five years witteaercise price of $1.20 per share. The seconchniaio purchase 3,000,000 shares of
common stock of OncoSec has a contractual lifévefyears with an exercise price of $1.00 per share

As of December 31, 2013 the Company recorded atemg asset of approximately $718,000 associatédtive warrants received to
purchase common stock of OncoSec. The Companyd#hgewarrants received in March 2012 as of thgaisee date using the Black Scholes
pricing model and recorded a $501,000 gain onafadasets within the consolidated statement ofaimers. Inputs used in the pricing model
include estimates of OncoSec stock price volatitypected warrant life and risk-free interest.réitee Company develops its estimates based
on publicly available historical data and knowledg®©ncoSec. The Company reassesses the fair ghthe warrants at each reporting date.
The assumptions used to estimate the fair valudseoDncoSec common stock warrants at Decemb&038B, are presented below:

Risk-free interest rate 0.78%
Expected volatility 85%
Expected life in years 2.75-3.25
Dividend yield —

As a result of these calculations, the Companyroemban increase (decrease) in fair value of tleevearrants of $450,000 and
($334,000) for the years ended December 31, 20d2@h2, respectively. The change in fair valuefiected in the Company's consolidated
statement of operations as a component of chanigér imalue of common stock warrants.

The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company’s total Level 3 finaadcssets for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of year $ 267,200 $ 100,00(
Common stock warrant recorded at fair value upausition — 501,00t
Increase (Decrease) in fair value included in ckeandair value of common stock
warrants 450,30( (333,800
Balance at end of year $ 717,500 $ 267,20!

Level 3 liabilities held as of December 31, 2018sist of common stock warrant liabilities assodatgth warrants to purchase the
Company's common stock issued in July 2009, Jar2@t§ and March 2013. Level 3 liabilities held &9©ecember 31, 2012 consist of
common stock warrant liabilities associated withramats to purchase the Company's common stockdsasuiuly 2009, January 2011 and
December 2011. During the year ended December(B, 2varrants to purchase 21,164,997 shares of constock were exercised.

As of December 31, 2013 the Company recorded &$hBlion common stock warrant liability. The Compyareassesses the fair value
of the common stock warrants at each reporting atdlizing a Black-Scholes pricing model. Inputsdsn the pricing model include estimates
of stock price volatility, expected warrant lifedarisk-free interest rate. The Company developsstBnates based on historical data. The ranc
of assumptions used to estimate the fair value®ofmon stock warrants at December 31, 2013 arepess below:

Risk-free interest rate 0.13%-1.75%
Expected volatility 90%-112%
Expected life in years .50-4.70
Dividend yield —
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Changes in these assumptions as well as in the &wyigpstock price on the valuation date can haigrdficant impact on the fair value
of the common stock warrant liability. As a resafithese calculations, the Company recorded araser (decrease) in fair value of $46.1
million , $(2.3) million and $(8.8) million for thgears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201 Eatésgy. The significant change in fair
value was primarily due to the change in the Comgisastock price during the period. The changeiinviaue is reflected in the Company's
consolidated statement of operations as a comparfi@hange in fair value of common stock warraw{arrants that were exercised during the
period were revalued on the day prior to exercigkthen reclassified into stockholders' equity uprercise.

The following table presents the changes in faineaf the Company' total Level 3 financial liabilities for the yeagaded December 3
2013 and 2012:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of year $ 2,859,890 $ 5,176,31
Record fair value of warrants issued in March 2fd8ncing 5,968,24. —
Increase (Decrease) in fair value included in ckandair value of common stock warrants 46,082,96 (2,316,42)
Change in classification from liability to stockdels' equity due to warrant exercises (35,370,52) —
Balance at end of year $ 1954058 $ 2,859,89
6. Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk
% of Total % of Total % of Total
Customer 2013 Revenue 2012 Revenue 2011 Revenue
Roche $ 9,181,75! 68% $ = —% $ = —%
NIAID 2,090,93! 16 2,831,11! 69% 7,801,971 80%
VGX Int'l (affiliated entity) 425,00( 3 577,46 14 411,45¢ 4
All other 1,769,64 13 710,07( 17 1,581,82: 16
Total Revenue $ 13,467,34 10(% $ 4,118,65: 10% $ 9,795,25 10C%

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, the Company recognized revenue from varicesse fees and milestone
payments, collaborative research and developmeatagents, grants and government contracts. As oémber 31, 2013, $2.6 million or 79%
and $382,000 or 12% of accounts receivable wabuatidd to Roche and the NIAID, respectively. ADafcember 31, 2012, $612,000 or 71%
and $95,000 or 11% of accounts receivable wadatad to the NIAID and University of Pennsylvami@spectively.

There is minimal credit risk with these customeaisdudl upon collection history, their size and fianoondition. Accordingly, the
Company does not consider it necessary to recoedeave for uncollectible accounts receivable.
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7. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 carfigit following:

Accumulated

Depreciation
and Net Book
Cost Amortization Value
As of December 31, 2013
Machinery, equipment and office furniture $ 2,381,03. $ (1,807,70) $ 573,32
Leasehold improvements 2,420,941 (107,72) 2,313,21

$ 480197 $ (1,91542) $  2,886,54

As of December 31, 2012

Machinery, equipment and office furniture $ 2,014,558 $ (1,731,66) $ 282,92¢
Leasehold improvements 466,13! (386,04.) 80,09:
$ 2,480,72. % (2,117,70) $ 363,02:

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033 , 2012 and 2011 was $329,000 , $174,006a48,000 , respectively. The
Company determined that the carrying value of theasg-lived assets was not impaired for the perjpasented.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following sets forth the goodwill and intangildssets by major asset class:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Useful
Life Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book
(Yrs) Gross Amortization Value Gross Amortization Value
Non-Amortizing:
Goodwill(a) $ 10,113,37 % — $ 10,11337 $ 10,113,37 $ — $ 10,113,37
Amortizing:
Patents 8-17 5,802,52i (5,128,22) 674,30: 5,802,52i (4,852,67) 949,85!
Licenses 8-17 1,323,76. (1,075,61) 248,14 1,323,76. (1,046,871 276,89:
CELLECTRA
® (b) 5-11 8,106,27! (5,543,78) 2,562,48 8,106,27! (4,334,23) 3,772,03
GHRH(b) 11 335,31« (145,21Y 190,09¢ 335,31« (113,53) 221,78:
Other(c) 18 4,050,001 (2,006,25i) 2,043,75! 4,050,001 (1,781,25) 2,268,75!
Total intangible
assets 19,617,87 (13,899,09) 5,718,77! 19,617,87 (12,128,55) 7,489,31
Total goodwill
and intangible
assets $ 29,731,24 $ (13,899,09) $ 15832,14 $ 29,731,24 $ (12,128,55) $ 17,602,68

€) Goodwill was recorded from the Inovio AS adifion in January 2005 and from the acquisitioV&X in June 2009 for $3.9 million
and $6.2 million , respectively.

(b) CELLECTRA®and GHRH are developed technologies which wererdecbfrom the acquisition of VG
(c) Other intangible assets represent the fair valleeqtiired intellectual property from the Inovio A&quisition

Aggregate amortization expense on intangible asea$s$1.8 million , $1.8 million and $1.9 millioarfthe years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Amortizationegrge related to intangible assets at DecembelO3B, fr each of the next five fiscal years
and beyond is expected to be incurred as follows:
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2014 $ 943,00(

2015 870,00(
2016 816,00(
2017 775,00(
2018 773,00(
Thereafter 1,542,00!

$ 5,719,00!

In accordance with the guidance regarding goodthi#, Company has completed its annual impairmentted fair value analysis for
goodwill held throughout the year. The Company cmrsl the impairment test annually on Novembet 3There was no impairment or
impairment indicator present and no loss was rembdlring the years ended December 31, 2013, 26d12@11, respectively.

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at Decerhp20B83 and 2012 consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Trade accounts payable $ 1,865,72. $ 852,57:
Accrued compensation 2,586,801 1,560,70.
Other accrued expenses 991,97¢ 768,29

$ 5,44450: $ 3,181,57.

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stocl

Outstanding

as of
December 31,
Authorized Issued 2013 2012
Series A Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,00(¢ 817 — —
Series B Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,00( 75C — —
Series C Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,091 1,091 26 26
Series D Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,966,29. 1,966,29: — —

There have been no changes in the number of odistashares of our preferred stock for the yeadedrbDecember 31, 2013, 2012 or
2011.

The shares of the Company’s outstanding Series@iffed Stock have the following pertinent rightsl @rivileges, as set forth in the
Companys Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporadinthits Certificates of Designations, Rights arefétences related to the varic
series of preferred stock.

Rights on Liquidatior

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatébn, dissolution or winding up of the Companyl{guidation event”), before any
distribution of assets of the Company shall be mad# set apart for the holders of common stdo& Holders of Series C Preferred Stock, pal
passu, are entitled to receive payment of suchtsaefthe Company in an amount equal to $10,00Gpare of such series of preferred stock,
plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends ther@bether or not earned or declared).

If the assets of the Company available for distidyuto stockholders exceed the aggregate amouhedfquidation preferences payable
with respect to all shares of each series of predfestock then outstanding, then, after the paymgstich preferences is made or irrevocabl
aside, the holders of the Company’s common stogleatitled to

F-20




receive a pro rata portion of such assets basédeoaggregate number of shares of common stockbysdédich such holder. The holders of the
Company’s outstanding preferred stock shall pgoait in such a distribution on a pro-rata basisymuted based on the number of shares of
common stock which would be held by such prefeh@ders if immediately prior to the liquidation exell of the outstanding shares of the
preferred stock had been converted into sharesrofrion stock at the then current conversion valydiegble to each series.

A Change of Control of the Company (as definechan€ertificates of Designations, Rights and Prefegs) is not a liquidation event
triggering the preferences described above, aim$isad addressed by separate terms in the Sefiestificates of Designations, Rights, and
Preferences.

Although the liquidation preferences are in exadstie par value of $0.001 per share of the Comizapseferred stock, these preferer
are equal to or less than the stated value of shiates based on their original purchase price.

Voting Rights

The holders of all series of the Company’s prefks®ck outstanding have full voting rights and posvequal to the voting rights and
powers of holders of the Company’s common stockaecdentitled to notice of any stockholders’ megtmaccordance with the Company’s
Bylaws. Holders of the Company’s preferred stoekemtitled to vote on any matter upon which holdéthe Company’s common stock have
the right to vote, including, without limitatiorhe right to vote for the election of directors thg with the holders of common stock as one
class.

Conversion Rights

The Series C Preferred Stock each provide the hofdguch shares an optional conversion right angide a mandatory conversion
upon certain triggering events.

Right to ConverThe holder of any share or shares of Series C iPeeff&tock has the right at any time, at such hitddmtion, to convert
all or any lesser portion of such holder’s sharfeh® Preferred Stock into such number of fullydoand non-assessable shares of Common
Stock as is determined by dividing (i) the aggredatjuidation Preference applicable to the paréicskries of preferred shares, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends thereon by (ii) the applicabtamversion Value (as defined in the relevant seé@ertificate of Designations, Rights and
Preferences) then in effect for such series ofgorefl shares. The Company is not obligated to iasydractional shares or scrip representing
fractional shares upon such conversion and insthalll pay the holder an amount in cash equal th fnaction multiplied by the current mar}
price per share of the Company’s common stock.

Mandatory Conversioithe Company has the option upon thirty (30) dayar pyritten notice, to convert all of the outstamglishares of
the Series C Preferred Stock into such numberllyf fiaid and non-assessable shares of common atikdetermined by dividing (i) the
aggregate Liquidation Preference of the shareBeofdlevant series of preferred stock to be coadgrtus accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon by (ii) the applicable Conversion ValuedaBned in the relevant series’ Certificate of Deations, Rights and Preferences) then in
effect, if at any time after twelve months followithe Original Issue Date of each such seriesefepred stock all of the following triggering
events occur:

(i) The registration statement covering all of #heres of common stock into which the particulaieseof preferred stock is
convertible is effective (or all of the shares ofranon stock into which the preferred stock is cotilvie may be sold without restriction
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act @31as amended);

(ii) the Daily Market Price (as defined in the appble Certificates of Designations, Rights anddtences) of the common stock
crosses a specified pricing threshold for twentthefthirty consecutive trading days prior to tlaedthe Company provides notice of
conversion to the holders; and

(iii) the average daily trading volume (subjecatjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions analcimations) of the common
stock for at least twenty of the thirty consecutirging days prior to the date the Company pravitgice of conversion to the holders exct
25,000 shares.

As of December 31, 2013, our outstanding sharéiseoSeries C Preferred Stock were convertible38,@33shares of our common stc
at a conversion price of $6.80 per share, andpbécable Daily Market Price of the common stock tiiggering mandatory conversion
equaled $18.00 per share.

Common Stock

In May 2013, the Company filed a Certificate of Amdenent to the Certificate of Incorporation with fhelaware Secretary of State. The
Certificate of Amendment increased the number afeshof common stock the Company has the authorigsue from 300,000,000 shares to
600,000,000 shares.

In March 2013, the Company completed an underwritféering of 27,377,266 shares of common stock and
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warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 13,88&®ares of common stock. The shares and wasseméssold in units at a price of $0.55
per unit, with each unit consisting of one shareahmon stock and a warrant to purchase 0.50 sli@m@mmon stock at an exercise price of
$0.7936 per share. The warrants have a term offiekone-half years . The net proceeds, after dieduthe underwriters' discounts and other
offering expenses, were approximately $14.0 millidlme Company valued the registered warrants éssueonnection with the March 2013
financing as of the issuance date using the Blatlol®s pricing model and recorded a current ligbdn the consolidated balance sheet of $6.
million . The warrants were subsequently revalued tae Company recorded the increase in fair vafu#25.0 million to change in fair value
of common stock warrants on the consolidated stateiof operations for the year ended December B13.2As of December 31, 2013,
10,665,908 of these warrants had been exercisadsaction costs associated with the issuance efdh@nts were allocated by using the
relative fair value approach. These transactionsonis$316,000 were immediately expensed and iedus part of general and administrative
expense in the Company's consolidated statemegesations for the year ended December 31, 2013.

In June 2012, the Company entered into a salesmgne (the “Sales Agreement”) with an outside plaeet agent (the “Placement
Agent”) to sell shares of its common stock with mgte gross proceeds of up to $25.0 million fronetto time, through an “at-the-market”
equity offering program under which the Placemegért will act as sales agent. Under the Sales Ageag the Company will set the
parameters for the sale of shares, including tmel®w of shares to be issued, the time period dwimgh sales are requested to be made,
limitation on the number of shares that may be golthy one trading day and any minimum price beldvich sales may not be made. The
Sales Agreement provides that the Placement Ag#irteventitled to compensation for its serviceamamount equal to 3.0% of the gross
proceeds from the sales of shares sold througRldmement Agent under the Sales Agreement. The @ayripas no obligation to sell any
shares under the Sales Agreement, and may atramystispend solicitation and offers under the Sedgeement.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngeld a total of 15,700,668 shares of common stmder the Sales Agreement.
The sales were made at a weighted average prise.»4 per share with net proceeds to the Compafit &P million . As of December 31,
2013, the Company has exhausted all available pdscender this Sales Agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynpald a total of 9,344,611 shares of common stoader the Sales Agreement.
The sales were made at a weighted average prip@.59 per share with net proceeds to the Compaf.&f million .

In December 2011, the Company completed an undgewmublic offering relating to the sale and issmeof 7,699,712 units to certain
institutional investors, consisting of 7,699,712r1@s of common stock and warrants to purchase gnegate of up to 5,774,784 additional
shares of common stock. These units, which werehased for $0.5195 per unit, include the partiareise of the underwriter's overallotment
option of 962,465 additional units at the publifeohg price. The units consist of one share of mmn stock and 0.75 of a warrant to purchast
one share of common stock. The warrants have adéfive years and an exercise price of $00é6 share. The Company may call the warr
if the closing bid price of the common stock hasrbat least $1.30 over 20 trading days and ceothier conditions are met. The Company
received net proceeds from the transaction of agypiately $3.7 million , after deducting the undeten's discounts and other offering
expenses payable by the Company. The Company vHieaegistered warrants issued in connection thighDecember 2011 financing as of
the issuance date using the Black Scholes priciodetrand recorded a current liability on the coitstéd balance sheet. The warrants were
subsequently revalued and the Company recordechtirgge in fair value of $(4.9) million and $115,06@hange in fair value of common
stock warrants on the consolidated statement afatipas for the years ended December 31, 2013 @hd, 2espectively. As of December 31,
2013, all of these warrants had been exercised.

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgsicchase agreements with investors relating tastheance and sale of ()1,130,40(
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdstal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock aritlexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximatefy3hillion . The shares of common stock and wasrarere sold in units, consisting of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purcha€ed.& share of common stock, at a purchase pfi§&.a5 per unit. The Warrants have a
five -year term from the date of issuance and iassedxercisable commencing on the 180 th day #fi@date of issuance. The Company may
call the warrants if the closing bid price of th@mon stock has been at least $2.80 over 20 trafdipg and certain other conditions are met.
The Company received net proceeds from the traiosact approximately $23.0 million , after dedudtithe placement agent's fee and offerin
expenses payable by the Company. The Company viieaggistered warrants issued in connection thithJanuary 2011 financing as of the
issuance date using the Black Scholes pricing maniglrecorded a current liability on the consokddbalance sheet. The warrants were
subsequently revalued and the Company recordechtirgge in fair value of $(15.8) million and $2.4lion to change in fair value of common
stock
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warrants on the consolidated statement of opemfimnthe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2842ectively. As of December 31, 2013,
3,870,200 of these warrants had been exercised.

The Company accounts for registered common stockawts issued in July 2009, January 2011 and M2@dI8 under the authoritative
guidance on accounting for derivative financiatinsents indexed to, and potentially settled inpmpany’s own stock, on the understanding
that in compliance with applicable securities lathe, registered warrants require the issuancegidtexed securities upon exercise and do not
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net casdttlement. The Company classifies registered wtsman the consolidated balance sheet as ¢
current liability which is revalued at each balasbeet date subsequent to the initial issuancer®éting the appropriate fair-value model anc
calculating the fair value of registered warramguires considerable judgment, including estimasitogk price volatility and expected warrant
life. The Company develops its estimates basedgiarttal data. A small change in the estimateslusay have a relatively large change in
estimated valuation. The Company uses the B&atksles pricing model to value the registered waistaChanges in the fair market value of
warrants are reflected in the consolidated statéwiesperations as “Change in fair value of comrstotk warrants.”

Warrants

The following table summarizes the warrants outitegnas of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

As of December 31, 2013 As of December 31, 2012

Exercise Expiration Number of Common Stock Number of Common Stock
Issued in Connection With: Price Date Warrants Warrant Liability Warrants Warrant Liability
March 2013 financing $ 0.7¢ September 12, 2018 3,022,721 % 7,859,08! — $ =
December 2011 financing $ 0.6t December 6, 2016 — — 5,774,78. 2,078,92.
January 2011 financing $ 1.4C January 27, 2016 6,695,001 11,381,49 10,565,20 779,71:
July 2009 financing $ 3.3¢ July 1, 2014 333,33¢ 300,00( 333,33¢ 1,267
Warrants assumed in Juns $1.02 August 1, 2015-
2009 Merger $1.2¢ April 28, 2016 4,008,20: — 4,920,52 —
Total 14,059,260 $ 19,540,58 21,593,84 $ 2,859,89

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warrampsitchase 10,665,908 shares of the Company's caratook which were issued in
connection with the March 2013 financing were eiserd, with proceeds to the Company of $8.5 million

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warramsitichase 5,774,784 shares of the Company's coratoock which were issued in
connection with the December 2011 financing werr@sed, with proceeds to the Company of $3.8 omilli

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warramsiichase 3,870,200 shares of the Company's coratoock which were issued in
connection with the January 2011 financing werga@sged, with proceeds to the Company of $5.4 nmillio

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warraspisesl to purchase 58,220 shares of the Compaagisnon stock, which were
assumed in the June 2009 Merger.

In August 2012, warrants expired to purchase 13Ds@res of our common stock issued in connectitina@nsulting
services received in August 2007.

Stock Options

The Company has one active stock-based incentarg gie Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incelare(the “Incentive Plan”),
pursuant to which the Company has granted stodkmgpand restricted stock awards to executive efficdirectors and employees. The
Incentive Plan was adopted on March 31, 2007, ajgprby the stockholders on May 4, 2007, approvethbystockholders as amended on
May 2, 2008, and approved by the stockholders anded and restated on August 25, 2009 and MayQi®. On May 14, 2010 the
stockholders approved to increase the aggregatéewaf shares available for grant under the Ingerfilan by 2,000,000 and to provide that
the aggregate number of

F-23




shares available for grant under the Incentive Riilirbe increased on January 1 of each year béginin 2011 by a number of shares equal tc
the lesser of (1) 2,055,331 or (2) such lesserbauraf shares as may be determined by the BoarBedémber 31, 2013, the Incentive Plan
reserves 11,915,993 shares of common stock foaumgsuas or upon exercise of incentive awards gitantd to be granted at future dates. At
December 31, 2013, the Company had 1,197,306 sbhoesnmon stock available for future grant undher incentive Plan, and 240,08Qare:

of vested restricted stock and options to purclBak@3,063 shares of common stock outstanding uheédncentive Plan. The awards granted
and available for future grant under the IncenBNen generally vest over three years and have @&nmax contractual term of ten years. The
Incentive Plan terminates by its terms on March281,7.

The Incentive Plan supersedes all of the Compamgsgious stock option plans, which include the Adexh2000 Stock Option Plan and
the VGX Equity Compensation Plan, under which tleenany had options to purchase 1,091,750 and @@83hares of common stock
outstanding at December 31, 2013, respectively.t@tres and conditions of the options outstandindeuthese plans remain unchanged.

Total compensation cost for our stock plans recaphin the consolidated statement of operationthfoyears ended December 31, 2
2012 and 2011 was $1.2 million , $1.2 million , &1id6 million, respectively, of which $550,000 555000 and $472,000 was included in
research and development expenses and $605,088,096 and $1.million was included in general and administratixpenses, respective

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $956,0006844,000 of total unrecognized compensation cespectively, related to
unvested stock options, which is expected to begeizced over a weighted-average period of 1.8 yaaasl.9 years, respectively.

The fair value of options granted to non-employeethe measurement dates were estimated usinddbk-Bcholes pricing model. Total
stock-based compensation for options granted teemoployees for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2nd 2011 was $714,000 ,
$153,000 and $33,000 , respectively. As of DeceriheR013, 4,794,496 non-employee options remadogstanding.

The following table summarizes total stock optionsstanding at December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted
Options Contractual Life Average Options Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Outstanding (in Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.00 — $1.00 5,888,59: 82 % 0.5¢ 2,561,43. % 0.57
$1.01 - $2.00 9,363,06: 41 $ 1.3z 8,903,621 $ 1.3Z
$2.01 — $4.00 1,047,71. 31 % 3.0z 986,300 $ 3.0€
$4.01 — $6.00 188,75( 03 % 4.8¢ 188,75( $ 4.8¢
$6.01 — $6.12 50,00( 02 % 6.12 50,00C $ 6.12
16,538,11 55 $ 1.21 12,690,11 ¢ 1.3¢

At December 31, 2013, the aggregate intrinsic vafugptions outstanding was $28.7 million , the reggte intrinsic value of options
exercisable was $20.1 million , and the weighteetage remaining contractual term of options exalteswas 4.7 years.

At December 31, 2013, 3,540,163 stock options &peeted to vest.
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Stock option activity under our stock option plavess as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price

Balance, December 31, 2010 12,649,96 $ 1.4¢
Granted 2,068,75! 1.1C
Exercised (68,309 0.2:
Cancelled (347,609 2.2F
Balance, December 31, 2011 14,302,80 1.42
Granted 2,733,75! 0.5¢
Exercised — —
Cancelled (779,109 1.5t
Balance, December 31, 2012 16,257,44 1.2¢
Granted 2,913,62! 0.61
Exercised (1,925,21) 0.81
Cancelled (707,73) 1.3C
Balance, December 31, 2013 16,538,11 g 1.21

The weighted average exercise price was $1.3h&#496,012 options which expired during the yeaedrDecember 31, 2013, $1 83
the 207,498 options which expired during the yemteel December 31, 2012 and $2.08 for the 100,080rgwhich expired during the year
ended December 31, 2011.

The weighted average grant date fair value peresivas $0.44 , $0.47 and $0f@0 options granted during the years ended Deceby
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company received $1.6 million , $0 and $16j60froceeds from the exercise of stock optionsrdutihe years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The aggreg#iasit value of options exercised was $2.5 millj@0 and $65,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

11. Commitments

The Company’s corporate headquarters is locatéd@t Sentry Parkway West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvanie lease was amended in
February 2012 and runs through June 30, 2017 timtahof approximately 8,761 square feet. At thd efhthe lease term, the Company has the
option of renewing this lease for an additionaéthryear lease term at an annual rate equal taith@arket rental value of the property, as
defined in the lease agreement.

The Company's corporate office in San Diego istedat 10480 Wateridge Circle in San Diego, Catifar This lease was signed in
April 2013 and the building was occupied in earlyd@mber 2013. The term of the Lease runs througlemker 1, 2023 and is for a total of
approximately 26,500 square feet. The base rensedperiodically throughout the ten year termhefitease, with monthly payments ranging
from zero to $82,945 . In addition, the Company pély the landlord its share of operating expemseka property management fee and has
paid a security deposit of $64,000 .

The lease required the lessor to complete andgrageftain improvements to the building beforedbemmencement of the lease in
December 2013. The lessor completed these impravismerth approximately $2.3 million , which haveel recorded as a leasehold
improvement within fixed assets on the consoliddi@idnce sheet, offset by a corresponding amognotded in deferred rent.

Rent expense was $906,000 , $444,000 , and $43@0ate years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ahd, 28spectively. Future
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable opgregtases as of December 31, 2013 are as follows:
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2014 $ 233,00(

2015 677,00(
2016 817,00(
2017 739,00(
2018 668,00(
Thereafter 4,620,001
Total $ 7,754,00!

In the normal course of business, the Companyerty to a variety of agreements pursuant to witiely may be obligated to indemnify
the other party. It is not possible to predict theximum potential amount of future payments unbdes¢ types of agreements due to the
conditional nature of our obligations and the usifacts and circumstances involved in each padicadgreement. Historically, payments made
by us under these types of agreements have na haaterial effect on our business, consolidatedltesf operations or financial condition.

12. Investment in Affiliated Entity

The Company’s investment in an affiliated entitgnesents the Company’s 14.7% and 16.1% ownerstepest in the Korean based
company, VGX Int'l, as of December 31, 2013 and20#&spectively. This investment is measured awfue on a recurring basis. The fair
market value of the Company’s interest in VGX Imtds determined using the closing price of VGXliatshares of common stock as listed or
the Korean Stock Exchange as of December 31, 204 2@12.

13. Income Taxes

In accordance with the guidance pursuant to acaoyifir income taxes, a deferred tax asset orliigli$ determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and#esis of assets and liabilities as measured bgribeted tax rates which will be in effect w
these differences reverse. The Company provideguation allowance against net deferred tax assgess, based upon the available evide
it is more likely than not that the deferred tazegswill be realized.

The components of the provision for income taxespaesented in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ —  $ — 3 —
State (2,000 7,00( 1,00¢
$ (1,000 $ 7,000 $ 1,00(
Deferred:
Federal $ 15,000 $ 20,000 $ 19,00(
State 17,00( 3,00( 7,00(
$ 32,000 $ 23,000 $ 26,00(
$ 31,000 $ 30,000 $ 27,00(

The reconciliation of income taxes attributabl®perations computed at the statutory tax ratesdone tax expense (recovery), using a
35% statutory tax rate, is:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Income (benefit) taxes at statutory rates $ (23,118,00) $ (6,894,00) $ (5,352,00)
State income tax, net of federal benefit (1,651,00i) (1,234,00) (1,378,00)
Change in valuation allowance 8,819,001 7,415,001 7,679,001
IRC Section 382/383 limitation 675,00( 18,00( 918,00
Fair value warrant 16,129,00 (811,000 (3,090,00)
Stock compensation 279,00( 603,00( (147,000
Change in state tax rate (623,000 438,00( 125,00(
Other (479,000 495,00( 1,272,001

$ 31,00C $ 30,00 $ 27,00(

The income tax expense (recovery) has been recasladyeneral and administrative expense, adésté immaterial.
Significant components of the Company’s deferredaissets and liabilities as of December 31, 20132812 are shown below:

As of December 31,

2013 2012

Deferred tax assets:

Capitalized research expense $ 2,782,000 $ 3,191,000t

Net operating loss carryforwards 48,846,00 43,233,00

Research and development and other tax credits 1,877,001 1,134,001

Other 8,641,00! 6,569,00!

62,146,00 54,127,00

Valuation allowance (61,061,00) (52,185,00)
Total deferred tax assets 1,085,001 1,942,001
Deferred tax liabilities:

Acquired intangibles (1,096,00i) (1,532,00)

Investment in affiliated entity (123,000 (511,000
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (134,000 $ (101,001

We have established a valuation allowance forefitided tax assets including those for net opagdtias (“NOL”) and tax credit
carryforwards. Such a valuation allowance is reedrathen it is more likely than not that the deférax assets will not be realized. The
Company maintains a deferred tax liability rela@goodwill that is not netted against the defeteedassets, as reversal of the taxable
temporary difference cannot serve as a sourcecofiiie for realization of the deferred tax assetsabge the deferred tax liability will not
reverse until the asset is sold or written down tduenpairment.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had federdifdinia and Pennsylvania tax net operating l@ssycforwards of approximately
$122.4 million , $38.9 million and $75.6 milligmespectively, net of the net operating lossetulilaexpire due to IRC Section 382 limitatiol
The federal net operating loss carry forwards keljin to expire in 2018 unless previously utiliz€de California net operating loss carry
forwards will begin to expire in 2014 and the Paiwvenia net operating loss carry forwards will betp expire in 2021.

In addition, we had federal and state researclredit carryforwards of approximately $2.0 millioet of IRS Section 382 limitation and
$2.1 million , respectively. The federal tax crezhtryforwards will begin to expire in 2018. Theli@ania research tax credits do not expire.

Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwarddll be subject to a substantial annual limitatiomer Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, and similar state provisilugsto ownership change limitations that have aecupreviously or that could occur in the
future. These ownership changes will limit the antaaf NOL and tax credit carryforwards and othefieded tax assets that can be utilized to
offset future taxable income and tax, respectivielygeneral, an ownership change, as defined b{id®e882, results from transactions
increasing ownership of certain stock holders daipgroups in the stock of the corporation by mitran 50 percentage points over a three-
year period
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The Company is in the process of updating the &e@&82/383 study for the Company and VGX, both bicl experienced ownership
changes under Section 382 as a result of the Mergdune 1, 2009. Based upon the preliminary resiithe study, it is estimated that
approximately $28.3 million of tax benefits relatedNOL and tax credit carryforwards will expireused. Accordingly, the related NOL and
R&D credit carryforwards have been removed fromedefd tax assets accompanied by a correspondingtied of the valuation allowance.
Upon completion of the study, deferred tax assdging to NOL and R&D credit carryforwards for tBempany and VGX may need to be
adjusted with a corresponding adjustment to theatain allowance. Due to the existence of the aunaallowance, limitations created by
current and future ownership changes, if any, edlé our operations in the United States willingtact our effective tax rate. Any additional
ownership changes, may further limit the abilityuse the net operating losses and credits carrgover

The following table summarizes the activity relateadur unrecognized tax benefits:

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of the year $ 1,896,000 $ 1,829,000 $ 629,00(
Increases related to current year tax positions 305,00t 72,00( 158,00(
Increases (Decreases) related to prior year taxiquos 215,00t (5,000 1,042,001
Balance at end of the year $ 2,416,000 $ 1,896,000 $ 1,829,001

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, ibopggzed and realized would affect the effectiverate is $2.0 million as of
December 31, 2013. The Company has not recordedhtergst and penalties on the unrecognized taitipas as the Company has continued
to generate net operating losses after accountintpé unrecognized tax benefits. The Company doeanticipate that the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly incseaor decrease within twelve months of the reporiate.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject ttedr8tates federal income tax as well as incométexultiple state jurisdictions. Wi
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subjetirtited States federal income tax examinationyéars before 2010; state and local inc
tax examinations before 2009; and foreign incomeetaminations before 2010. However, to the exadiotved by law, the tax authorities may
have the right to examine prior periods where petrating losses were generated and carried fonaadimake adjustments up to the amount
of the net operating loss carryforward amount. Thenpany is not currently under Internal Revenueier(*IRS”), state or local tax
examination.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Treasury Departratrased final income tax regulations on the deoiu@nd capitalization of
expenditures related to tangible property. Thasa fiegulations apply to tax years beginning oafter January 1, 2014, and may be adopt
earlier years. The Company does not intend to ealbypt the tax treatment of expenditures to imptangible property and the capitalization
of inherently facilitative costs to acquire tangilproperty as of January 1, 2013. The tangiblegrtgpegulations will require the Company to
make additional tax accounting method changes darafary 1, 2014; however, management does naeigatd the impact of these changes to
be material to the Company’s consolidated finangiaition, its results of operations or its fooendtsclosures.

14. 401(k) Plan

In 1995, the Company adopted a 401(k) Profit Sigalflan (the “Plan”) covering substantially all tf employees. The defined
contribution plan allows the employees to contribaitpercentage of their compensation each yearCohgany currently matches 50% of its
employees’ contributions, up to 6% of their anme@hpensation. The Company’s contributions are dembas expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and total®8,900 , $170,000 and $134,000 for the years eDeéedmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

15. Related Party Transactions

VGX International Inc.
The Company conducts transactions with its afélia¢ntity, VGX Int'l.

In July 2011 the Company purchased an additionaJaD® shares of VGX Int'l at a price of approximiat®0.71 per share in connection
with a common stock rights offering. The rightsesfiig, however, reduced the Company’s ownershipgreage, which is approximately
14.7% as of December 31, 2013.

On October 7, 2011, the Company entered into aaBothtive Development and License Agreement (thgrédment”) with VGX Int’l.
Under the Agreement, the Company and VGX Int'| wikdevelop the Company’s SynCbtherapeutic vaccines for hepatitis B and C
infections (the “Products”). Under the terms of &greement, VGX Int’l will receive marketing
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rights for the Products in Asia, excluding Japard & return will fully fund IND-enabling and indl Phase | and Il clinical studies with respec
to the Products. The Company will receive from VBXI payments based on the achievement of clinic#éstones and royalties based on
sales of the Products in the licensed territoreining all commercial rights to the Productslirother territories.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into a Gotktion and License Agreement (the “VGX Int'l Agreent”) with VGX Int'l.
Under the VGX Int'| Agreement, the Company grani&elX Int’l an exclusive license to Inovio’s SynC8miniversal influenza vaccine
delivered with electroporation to be developedértain countries in Asia (the “Product”). As coresiation for the license granted to VGX Int’
the Company received payment of $3.0 million , efilreceive research support, annual license reaigmice fees and royalties on net Produc
sales. The Company recorded the $3.0 million asrded revenue from affiliated entity, and will rgodze it as revenue over the eight year
expected period of the Company’s performance ofitigaln addition, contingent upon achievementlafical and regulatory milestones, the
Company will receive development payments oveiteha of the VGX Int'l Agreement. The VGX Int'| Ageenent also provides Inovio with
exclusive rights to supply devices for clinical amammercial purposes (including single use comptaéa VGX Int'l for use in the Product.
The term of the VGX Int'l Agreement commenced ugarecution and will extend on a country by countagib until the last to expire of all
Royalty Periods for the territory (as such terrdegined in the VGX Int'| Agreement) for any Prodietthat country, unless the VGX Int'|
Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance ustprovisions as a result of breach, by mutuatagrent, or by VGX Int’§s right to terminai
without cause upon prior written notice.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid # Company recognized revenue from VGX Int'$4£5,000 , $577,000 and
$411,000 , respectively, which consisted of licagstollaborative research and development arraegtsrand other fees. Operating expense:
related to VGX Int'l for the years ended Decembkr&013, 2012 and 2011 include $2.3 million, $800,8nd $5.3 million , respectively,
related primarily to biologics manufacturing. At@enber 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company had an accmggivable balance of $0 and
$36,000 , respectively, from VGX Int'l and its sidiaries. At December 31, 2013, $231,000 of prepaysmimade to VGX Int'l were classified
as long-term other assets on the consolidated tmalstmeet.

Prior to signing the Roche Agreement, the Compaagaquired the rights, title and interest to hejsaitin Asia previously licensed to
VGX Int'l. As a result, the Company paid $300,000/GX Int'l as of December 31, 2013 based on théramt payment received from Roche.

OncoSec Medical Incorporated

On March 24, 2011, the Company completed the dalertain assets related to certain non-DNA vactéebnology and intellectual
property relating to selective electrochemical tuedalation (“SECTA”) to OncoSec Medical Incorpomter OncoSec, pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated March 14, 2011 by anceketthe Company and OncoSec. The Company hasedgeyment in full of $3.0
million from OncoSec as of December 31, 2013.

The Company's Chairman, Dr. Avtar Dhillon, is tlenrexecutive Chairman of OncoSec.

On September 28, 2011, the Company signed an amagieement with OncoSec extending the term o$éltend payment owed to the
Company in exchange for a warrant to purchase 10000shares of common stock of OncoSec. The wareaeived was a five -year warrant
with an exercise price of $1.20 per share. (See Hdor further discussion.)

On March 24, 2012, the Company signed a second dedesgreement with OncoSec further extending time ¢ the payments owed to
the Company in exchange for a warrant to purcha@@0300 shares of common stock of OncoSec. Theamareceived was a five -year
warrant with an exercise price of $1.00 per shi@ee Note 5 for further discussion.)
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16. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly resolt®perations of the Company for the years endeceihber 31, 2013 and 2012

(unaudited):

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Revenue:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements $ 82221 % 8,388,76! 1431 $ 14,25¢
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements with affiliated entity 106,25( 106,25( 106,25( 106,25(
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 811,19¢ 991,83! 665,04¢ 1,334,711
Total revenues 1,739,66 9,486,84! 785,61( 1,455,22!
Operating Expenses:
Research and development 6,404,00! 5,438,40! 4,411,08: 5,115,11.
General and administrative 4,339,53 3,282,791 3,046,58! 2,974,15:
Gain on sale of assets (1,000,001 — (1,000,00i) —
Total operating expenses 9,743,54. 8,721,20. 6,457,66! 8,089,26!
Loss from operations (8,003,87) 765,64 (5,672,05) (6,634,041
Interest and other income, net 8,57¢ 46,78’ 37,39: 39,46(
Change in fair value of common stock warrants (6,052,96) (34,952,21) (3,199,87) (1,427,61)
(Loss) Gain from investment in affiliated entity (1,419,53) 3,248,92 (2,032,05) (836,08:)
Net loss (15,467,80) (30,890,85) (10,866,59) (8,858,28i)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 13,47: 13,44: 14,00¢ 14,16(
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (1545433) $ (30,877,41) $ (10,852,58) $ (8,844,12))
Loss per common share—basic and diluted:
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le.
stockholders $ (0.09) $ (0.1¢ $ (0.0¢) $ (0.0¢6)
Weighted average number of common shares—basic and
diluted 208,509,67 191,956,15 179,954,81 156,155,53
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Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Revenue:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements $ 14,29¢ $ 22,49 % 20,907 $ 24,83t
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangements with affiliated entity 142,48: 222,48: 106,25( 106,25(
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 977,97: 609,71" 308,92! 1,562,03:
Total revenues 1,134,75. 854,69t 436,08: 1,693,12
Operating Expenses:
Research and development 4,442 84 4,972,31! 4,527,08! 4,042,557
General and administrative 2,919,001 2,674,36: 2,696,90! 2,488,08:
Gain on sale of assets — (500,000 — (651,000
Total operating expenses 7,361,84 7,146,68. 7,223,99! 5,879,66
Loss from operations (6,227,08) (6,291,98) (6,787,91) (4,186,54)
Interest and other income, net 56,52( 37,01 41,03¢ 31,54«
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 3,049,64 (1,113,63) 3,594,78: (3,548,17)
Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity 2,449,61! 736,12: (992,37)) (561,54,
Net loss (671,309 (6,632,48) (4,144,46) (8,264,71)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 12,55 10,41 11,28¢ 9,77(
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (658,75) $ (6,622,07) $ (4,133,17) $ (8,254,94)
Loss per common share—basic and diluted:
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lie.
stockholders $ — % (0.05) $ (0.09 $ (0.0€)
Weighted average number of common shares—basic and
diluted 140,704,88 135,389,30 134,968,39 134,968,39

17. Subsequent Events

On March 4, 2014, the Company closed an undennrfitélic offering of 21,810,900 shares of the Conypg.common stock,
including 2,844,900 shares of common stock issugdyant to the underwritarexercise of its overallotment option, at the jubffering price
of $2.90 per share. The net proceeds, after deduttie underwriter’s discounts and commission ahdroestimated offering expenses, were

approximately $59.2 million .

In March 2014, the Company entered into an offgzsé (the "Lease") with a publicly owned real esitatestment trust, located in
Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania. The Company expeatecupy the new space commencing in the thiadtguof 2014. The initial term of
the Lease is 11.5 years. The Company intends ttheskcility for office purposes.

The base rent adjusts periodically throughout thé Year term of the Lease, with monthly paymeatsging from $0 to $58,000 . In
addition, the Company will pay the landlord its ighaf operating expenses and a property managdeeand has paid a security deposit of

$49,000 .

Subsequent to December 31, 2013, warrants and sficns to purchase 7,619,039 shares of commaik stere exercised for total

proceeds to the Company of $10.2 million .
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Exhibit 10.36

Tenant: Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |
Premises: Suite 110, 660 W. Germantown
LEASE

THIS LEASE ("Lease") entered into as of the 5th daiarch, 2014, between BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARERSHIP, LP,
Delaware limited partnership (“"Landlord"), and IN@/PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporatiorif€nant").

WITNESSETH

In consideration of the mutual covenants hereirfagh, and intending to be legally bound, the igsrhereto covenant and agre
follows:

1. SUMMARY OF DEFINED TERMS

The following defined terms, as used in this Leab@]l have the meanings and shall be construsdtderth below:
(a) "Building": The Building located at 660 W. Germantown PiREgmouth Meeting, Pennsylvania.
(b) " Project: The Building, the land and all other improvenelucated at Plymouth Meeting Executive Campus.

(c) " Premise$: Suite No. 110, which the parties stipulate agcka is a 20,858 rentable square foot portion efitist (1) floor of
the Building shown on the space plan attached bagExhibit "A" and made a part hereof.

(d) *“Commencement Date The date that is the earlier of: (i) when Tenarnthwandlord's prior consent, assumes possessitine
Premises for its Permitted Uses (as hereinaftene; or (ii) the Landlord’s Work has been Subtitdly Completed (as defined in Exhibit “E”
attached hereto).

(e) "Term" Commencing on the Commencement Date for a penimling on the last day of the calendar monthigh@ne Hundre
Thirty Eight (138) months thereafter.

() “Expiration Daté : The last day of the Term.
(g) "Fixed Rent:




TIME PERIOD RENT PER R.S.F. MONTHLY INSTALLMENTS | ANNUALIZED FIXED RENT
Abatement Period $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Fixed Rent Start Date —end o
Rent Year 1 $28.00 $48,668.67 $584,024.00
Rent Year 2 $28.56 $49,642.04 $595,704.48
Rent Year 3 $29.13 $50,634.88 $607,618.57
Rent Year 4 $29.71 $51,647.58 $619,770.94
Rent Year 5 $30.31 $52,680.53 $632,166.36
Rent Year 6 $30.91 $53,734.14 $644,809.69
Rent Year 7 $31.53 $54,808.82 $657,705.88
Rent Year 8 $32.16 $55,905.00 $670,860.00
Rent Year 9 $32.81 $57,023.10 $684,277.20

Rent Year 10 — Expiration Date $33.46 $58,163.56 $697,962.74

(h) ‘“Rent Yeat means, with respect to the first{) Rent Year, the period that begins on the FixedtF¢art Date and ends on

last day of the calendar month preceding the mantivhich the first (1%') anniversary of the Commencement Date occurspé#fiEr eac
succeeding Rent Year shall commence on the dagwiolh the end of the preceding Rent Year and sha#nd for twelve (12) consecut
months; provided, however, the final Rent Year Istagbire on the Expiration Date. If the Commenceni2ate is not the first day of a calen
month, then the Fixed Rent due for the partial ta@ammencing on the Commencement Date shall batebased on the number of day
such month.

() ‘“Abatement Periddshall mean the period that begins on the CommentebBate and ends on the day immediately prior &
eighteenth (18thjponth anniversary of the Commencement Date. Nostatiding the foregoing, if at any time during therrmh an Event «
Default (as hereinafter defined) occurs, then thmatAment Period shall immediately become void, twedmonthly Fixed Rent due for 1
Abatement Period shall equal the amount of Fixedt Rae immediately following the Fixed Rent Stadt® Notwithstanding anything to -
contrary, during the Abatement Period, Tenant shajl to Landlord: (i) Tenarg’Share of Janitorial Expenses; (i) all utilit@s set forth i
Section Shereof and (iii) all other amounts due under theéase (excluding, however, all Operating Expensdd-ared Rent).

() ‘“Fixed Rent Start Dateshall mean the day immediately following the endhaf Abatement Period.

(k) " Security Deposit: $48,668.67.

() *“ Estimated Occupancy DateJune 16, 2014.

(m) " Tenant's Share 13.51%;

(n) “Base Yeatf: 2014.

(o) “Rentable Are& Premises 20,858 ft.
Building 154,392 ft.

(p) " Permitted Use% Tenant's use of the Premises shall be limiteddneral office use and storage incidental theréémant'
rights to use the Premises shall be subject tapglicable laws and governmental rules and regulatand to all reasonable requirements c
insurers of the Building.

(q) "Broket Skyline Commercial Real Estate




() " Notice Address/Contatt

If to Tenant prior to the Commencement Date:

1787 Sentry Parkway West
Building 18, Suite 400

Blue Bell, PA 19422
Attn:Thomas S. Kim
Phone:(267) 440-4203
E-mail:tkim@inovio.com

If to Tenant after the Commencement Date:

660 W. Germantown Pike, Suite 110
Plymouth Meeting, PA 19462

Attn: Thomas S. Kim

Phone: :(267) 440-4203

E-mail: tkim@inovio.com

with a copy to:

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
10480 Wateridge Circle
San Diego, CA 92121

Attn: Peter Kies, CFO
Phone:(858) 410-3108
E-mail:pkies@inovio.com

with a copy to:

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
10480 Wateridge Circle
San Diego, CA 92121

Attn: Peter Kies, CFO

Phone: :(858) 410-3108
E-mail: pkies@inovio.com

and to Landlord:
with a copy to:
Brandywine Operating Partnership, L.P.

555 East Lancaster Ave., Suite 100 Brandywine Realty Trust

Radnor, PA 19087 555 East Lancaster Ave. Suite 100
Attn: Jeff DeVuono Radnor, PA 19087
Phone No. 610-325-5600 Attn; Brad A. Molotsky

Phone No. 610-325-5600
E-mail: Legal.Notices@bdnreit.com

E-mail: jeff.devuono@bdnreit.com

(s) " Tenant's North American Industry Classifion Number': 3841

() *“ Additional Rent”: All sums of money or charges required to be paid égant under this Lease other than Fixed Rentthel
or not such sums or charges are designated astiéwlali Rent”.

(u) “Rent” All monthly installments of Annual Fixed Rent@wdditional Rent payable by Tenant to Landlord emithis Lease.
2. PREMISES

(a) Landlord does hereby lease, demise anchtetTenant and Tenant does hereby hire and leaselfandlord the Premises for
Term, upon the provisions, conditions and limitatiget forth herein.

(b) Landlord shall cause to be constructed thedlord’s Work (as defined in Exhibit “E”), as $etth in Exhibit “E” attached hereto
3. TERM.

(&) The Term of this Lease shall commence ("Cemmament Date"”) on the date which is the earlier(ipfwhen Tenant, wil
Landlord's prior consent, assumes possession oPtémises for its Permitted Uses (as hereinafténe); or (ii) the Premises has b
Substantially Completed (as hereinafter definetie Term shall expire on the last day of the calenaanth that is One Hundred ThirBight
(138) months after the Commencement Date. The Comoemeent Date shall be confirmed by Landlord andanéery the execution of
Confirmation of Lease Term (“COLT") in the form athed hereto as Exhibit "B"If Tenant fails to execute or object to the COlithin ter
(10) business days after its delivery, Landlordsedmination of such dates shall be deemed accepted




(b) Upon natification by Landlord, Landlord aménant shall schedule a ppeeupancy inspection of the Premises which inspe
shall occur in or around the time that Landlord'sriVis Substantially Completed and at which timpuachlist of outstanding items, if a
shall be completed. Within thirty (30) days theteafLandlord shall complete the punchlist item3émant’s reasonable satisfaction.

(c) In the event that the Premises are not réadyenant's occupancy at the time herein fixedttie@ beginning of the Term of tl
Lease, because of any alterations or construct@nar hereafter being carried on either to the Bsesor the Building (unless such alterat
are being done by Tenant or Tenant's contractaghich case there shall be no suspension or poorati rental or other sums), or becaus
any restrictions, limitations or delays caused byegnment regulations or governmental agencies,ltease and the Term hereof shall nc
affected thereby, nor shall Tenant be entitled skenany claim for or receive any damages whatsdewer Landlord; provided, however,
rent or other sums herein provided to be paid byafie shall become due until the Premises are Suizba Completed and deemed
Landlord to be ready for Tenant's occupancy, ariill that time, the rent and other sums due hereusidall be suspended.

4. FIXED RENT; SECURITY DEPOSIT

(&) Commencing on the Fixed Rent Start Dateamenhall pay to Landlord without notice or demaama] without sebff, deductiol
or counterclaim the annual Fixed Rent payable énnttonthly installments of Fixed Rent as set fontiséection 1 in advance on the first day
each calendar month during the Term by (i) checkapke to Landlord, sent to Brandywine Operatingtiaship, LP, P.O. Box 119¢
Newark, NJ 071C-4951; (ii) electronic fund transfer through the dmtated Clearing House network or similar systenigeged by Landlor
to the extent available (“ACH"pr (iii) wire transfer of immediately available fd® to the account at Wells Fargo Bank, accoun
2030000359075 ABA # 121000248 and Tenant shalfjnatindlord of each such wire transfer by facsinde610-325-562Zor such othe
facsimile number provided by Landlord to Tenant]).playments must include the following informatidBuilding #586 and Lease # The

Lease # will be provided to Tenant in the COLT. Timst full month's installment of Fixed Rent artetSecurity Deposit shall be paic
Landlord upon the execution of this Lease by Tenant

(b) Inthe event any Fixed Rent or AdditionahReharge, fee or other amount due from Tenaneutiee terms of this Lease are
paid to Landlord when due, Tenant shall also paydditional Rent a service and handling charge btmudive percent (5%)pf the tota
payment then due. The aforesaid late fee shalhbegaccrue on the initial date of a payment due,derespective of any grace period gra
hereunder. This provision shall not prevent Lardifoom exercising any other remedy herein providedtherwise available at law or in eqt
in the event of any Event of Default by Tenant.Wtitstanding anything herein to the contrary, upemants written request, Landlord agr
to waive the above referenced late fee one (1) tiorgng any twelve (12) consecutive months of tleenT or extensions thereto.

(c) Tenant shall be required to pay the Secigposit (‘Collateral"), as security for the prompt, full afadthful performance t
Tenant of each and every provision of this Leagkddrall obligations of Tenant hereundBlo interest shall be paid to Tenant on the Coléd;
and Landlord shall have the right to commingle @udlateral with other Security Deposits held by demmd. If Tenant fails to perform any of
obligations hereunder, Landlord may use, applyetain the whole or any part of the Collateral twe payment of (i) any rent or other sum
money which Tenant may not have paid when dueafij) sum expended by Landlord on Tenant's behataordance with the provisions
this Lease, and/or (iii) any sum which Landlord mexpend or be required to expend by reason of Tandefault, including, witho
limitation, any damage or deficiency in or from tiedetting of the Premises as provided in this keed$e use, application or retention of
Collateral, or any portion thereof, by Landlord Ithat prevent Landlord from exercising any othight or remedy provided by this Lease o
law (it being intended that Landlord shall not fitsee required to proceed against the Collaterat) simall not operate as either liquide
damages or as a limitation on any recovery to whighdlord may otherwise be entitled. If any portiointhe Collateral is used, applied
retained by Landlord for the purposes set forthvab@enant agrees, within ten (10) days after ttitem demand therefor is made by Landl
to deposit cash with the Landlord in an amountisieffit to restore the Collateral to its original@mt. In addition to the foregoing, if Ten
defaults (irrespective of the fact that Tenant dusech default) more than once in its performarfce monetary obligation and such mone
defaults aggregate in excess of $20,000er this Lease, Landlord may require Tenant ¢oemse the Collateral to the greater of twice tf
Fixed Rent paid monthly, or (ii) the initial amouwftthe Collateral.




(d) Provided Tenant shall have fully compliedhnall of the provisions of this Lease, includingyment of its Rent obligations, 1
Security Deposit, or any balance thereof, shaltdiarned to Tenant within thirty (30) days followirthe later of expiration of the Term
satisfaction of the conditions. In the absence wflence satisfactory to Landlord of any permittextignment of the right to receive
Collateral, Landlord may return the same to thginal Tenant, regardless of one or more assignn@nigenant's interest in this Lease or
Collateral. Upon the return of the Collateral, be remaining balance thereof, to the original Témarany successor to the original Ten
Landlord shall be completely relieved of liabiligith respect to the Collateral.

(e) Inthe event of a transfer of the Projecther Building, Landlord shall have the right tortséer the Collateral to the transferee
Landlord shall thereupon be released by Tenant fthdrability for the return of such Collateralpdn the assumption of such Collateral by
transferee, Tenant agrees to look solely to the laediord for the return of said Collateral, and firovisions hereof apply to every transfe
assignment made of the Collateral to a new landldmhant further covenants that it will not ass@nencumber or attempt to assigr
encumber the Collateral and that neither Landlandits successors or assigns shall be bound byacty assignment, encumbrance, atten
assignment or attempted encumbrance. The Colladbedl not be mortgaged, assigned or encumberashynmanner whatsoever by Ter
without the prior written consent of Landlord.

5. _ADDITIONAL RENT.

(&) Commencing on the Fixed Rent Start Date, ianglach calendar year thereafter during the Texsnsame may be extend:
Tenant shall pay to Landlord Tenant's Share of @iy Expenses and Taxes (both as hereinafter etbfi(collectively, “Recognize:
Expenses’), without deduction or set off, to the extent BlRecognized Expenses exceed the Recognized Expiertse Base Year.

(b) _Certain Definitions.

0] Operating ExpensesAll costs and expenses related to the Projeairied by Landlord, including, but r

limited to:

(A) All costs and expenses related to the operatigdheBuilding and Project, including, but not lind
to, cleaning the Building exterior and common arefthe Building interior, trash removal and redngl repairs and maintenance of the
and storm water management system, policing andlatgg traffic to and from the Project, fire suppsion and alarm systems, conci
services for the Building, removing snow, ice arebris and maintaining all landscape areas, (inolydeplacing and replanting flowe
shrubbery and trees), maintaining and repairingtileér exterior improvements on the Project, glaies and compliance costs necessitate
laws enacted or which become effective after the Hareof (including, without limitation, any addital regulations or requirements ena
after the date hereof regarding the Americans \WWigabilities Act (as such applies to the Projeccommon areas but not to any indivic
tenant’s space), if applicable) required of Landlonder applicable laws and rules and regulations;

(B) All costs and expenses incurred by Landlord forimmmental testing, sampling or monitor
required by statute, regulation or order of govesntal authority, except any costs or expenses liedun conjunction with the spilling
depositing of any hazardous substance for whichpangon or other tenant is legally liable and Lardlis reimbursed for by such other per:

© Any other expense or charge (including reasonabbcaed general and administrative char
which would typically be considered an expense @iintaining, operating or repairing the Project undenerally accepted account
principles;

(D) Management fee not to exceed three percent (3%eat. It is expressly understood that legal
incurred in an action against an individual tensiall notbe deemed includable as a component of OperatimeriSes pursuant to t
provision;

(E) Capital expenditures and capital repairs and rept@nts shall be included as a componel
Operating Expenses solely the extent of the amortized costs of same dwveruseful life of the improvement in accordancehvgienerall
accepted accounting principles;

(3] All insurance premiums and deductibles paid or pleyay Landlord for insurance with respect to
Project as follows: (1) fire and extended coverapeirance (including demolition and




debris removal); (1) insurance against Tenant alésa Landlord's rental loss or abatement (butinciuding business interruption coverage
behalf of Tenant), from damage or destruction fremzironmental hazards, fire or other casualty) (LAndlord's commercial general liabil
insurance (including bodily injury and property dege) and boiler insurance; and (IV) such otherrarsce as Landlord or any repute
mortgage lending institution holding a mortgagetba Building may require. If the coverage periodanfy of such insurance obtained
Landlord commences before or extends beyond the,Ttae premium therefor shall be prorated to thenlT&hould Tenant's occupancy or
of the Premises at any time change and therebyecauéncrease in such insurance premiums on theigrs, Building and/or Project, Ten
shall pay to Landlord the entire amount of suclsoeably documented increase.

(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "Opiémg Expenses” shall natclude any of the following:

(A) Repairs or other work occasioned by fire, windstomoether insured casualty or by the exercise €
right of eminent domain to the extent of insurapoeceeds or condemnation awards received therefor;

(B) Leasing commissions, accountants', consultaatslitors’or attorneys' fees, costs and disbursen
and other expenses incurred in connection with ti@ins or disputes with other tenants or prospectenants or other occupants
associated with the enforcement of any other least®e defense of Landlord's title to or intetieghe real property or any part thereof;

© Costs incurred by Landlord in connection with tlastruction of the Building or Premises and rel
facilities, the correction of latent defects in ttenstruction of the Building or the discharge ahdlord's Work;

(D) Costs (including permit, licenses and inspecti@sféncurred in renovating or otherwise improvim
decorating, painting, or redecorating the Buildargpace for other tenants or other occupants @ntspace;

(E) Depreciation and amortization;

(3] Costs incurred due to a breach by Landlord or ahgrotenant of the terms and conditions of
lease;

(G) Overhead and profit increment paid to subsidiapieaffiliates of Landlord for management or o

services on or to the Building or for supplies)itiis or other materials, to the extent that tlosts of such services, supplies, utilitie:
materials exceed the reasonable costs that woutl ieen paid had the services, supplies or magdyédn provided by unaffiliated parties «
reasonable basis without taking into effect voludiseounts or rebates offered to Landlord as a plastburchaser;

(H) Interest on debt or amortization payments on angstgage or deeds of trust or any other borrow
and any ground rent;

() Ground rents or rentals payable by Landlordspant to any over-lease;

J) Any compensation paid to clerks, attendants orrgpeesons in commercial concessions operate
Landlord,;

(K) Costs incurred in managing or operating anyy'foa" parking facilities within the Project;

(L) Expenses resulting from the gross negligenceithiul misconduct of Landlord,;

(M) Any fines or fees for Landlord's failure to cpl with governmental, quagievernmental, (
regulatory agencies' rules and regulations;

(N) Legal, accounting and other expenses relatedatallord’s financing, rdinancing, mortgaging
selling the Building or the Project;

(O) Taxes;




P) Costs for sculpture, decorations, painting or ottigects of art in excess of amounts typically $
for such items in office buildings of comparableliy in the competitive area of the Building;

Q) Cost of any political, charitable or civic contriimn or donation; and (R) Costs that are capit
nature except as provided_in subsection 5(b)(ihgteof.

(iii) Taxes. Taxes shall be defined as all taxes, assessrardtsther governmental charges ("Taxes"), inclL
special assessments for public improvements diidrdistricts which are levied or assessed agammstProject (or any portion thereof) dur
the Term or with respect to the ownership of thejédt (or any portion thereof) or, if levied or assed prior to the Term, which properly
allocable to the Term, and real estate tax appgadrelitures incurred by Landlord to the extent w§ aeduction resulting thereby. Noth
herein contained shall be construed to includeaa®3: (A) any inheritance, estate, successionsfeeangift, franchise, corporation, net incc
or profit tax or capital levy that is or may be ioged upon Landlord or (B) any transfer tax or rdtw charge resulting from a transfer of
Building or the Project provided, however, that if at any time during therfi the method of taxation prevailing at the comeeement of th
Term shall be altered so that in lieu of or as lasstute for the whole or any part of the taxes newied, assessed or imposed on real est
such there shall be levied, assessed or imposedtéy on the rents received from such real estatéi) a license fee measured by the r
receivable by Landlord from the Premises or anyipoithereof, or (iii) a tax or license fee imposgubn Premises or any portion thereof, -
the same shall be included in the computation aE$dereunder.

(c) Tenant shall pay, in monthly installmentsadvance, on account of Tenant's Share of Recadjiixpenses, the estimated am
of the increase of such Recognized Expenses anesTiax such year in excess of the Base Yasadetermined by Landlord in its reason
discretion and as set forth in a notice to Tenamth notice to include the basis for such calautatPrior to the end of the calendar yes
which the Lease commences and thereafter for eaotessive calendar year (each, a "Lease Year'Padrthereof, Landlord shall senc
Tenant a statement of projected increases in Ré&agExpenses and Taxes in excess of the Basearidashall indicate what Tenant's Si
of Recognized Expenses and Taxes shall be. Saidrarsball be paid in equal monthly installmentsadvance by Tenant as Additional F
commencing January 1 of the applicable Lease YHz&.Base Year shall be adjusted to adjust for aeeemnd reasonable allowance for or
going repairs and maintenance and if the TaxeshiBase Year are not based on the full assesdee as per the taxing authority, then
Taxes for the Base Year shall be adjusted to reflee full assessed value per the taxing authodtd to exclude from the Base Y
"extraordinary items" of Taxes or Operating Expsniseurred in such calendar year. For purposesisfdubparagraph, extraordinary ite
shall mean either (X) cost increases or decreasastloe prior calendar year of eleven and one quaercent (11.25%) or more with respe:
certain on-going line items of the Operating Exsn®r (Y) items which increase Landlgdbtal Operating Expenses and such items ha
been included in the determination of Operatingdfiges by the Landlord (or the Landlar@redecessor in interest) for the prior three yei
operating the Building. To the extent that any Reiped Expenses are incurred by Landlord (or Lawidoaffiliate(s)) for multiple building
within the Project, the share allocated to the diod, shall be the Project Share of the applic&#eognized Expenses. For purposes he
“Project Share’shall be a fraction, the numerator of which is téetable square footage of the Building and theodenator of which is tt
rentable square footage of the office buildingsisigasuch expenses within the Project.

(d) If during the course of any Lease Year, Lardishall have reason to believe that the ReceghiExpenses shall be different t
that upon which the aforesaid projections wereioaily based, then Landlord, one time in any catengkar, shall be entitled to adjust
amount by reallocating the remaining payments fimhsyear, for the months of the Lease Year whichaia for the revised projections, ant
advise Tenant of an adjustment in future monthlyants to the end result that the Recognized Expesisall be collected on a reason:
current basis each Lease Year.

(e) In calculating the Recognized Expenses asititeefore described, if for thirty (30) or moreydaluring the preceding Lease Y
less than ninetyive percent (95%) of the rentable area of the @od shall have been occupied by tenants, therRémognized Expens
attributable to the Property shall be deemed fehduease Year to be amounts equal to the Recogixpdnses which would normally
expected to be incurred had such occupancy of thiliBg been at least ninefixe percent (95%) throughout such year, as redsg
determined by Landlord (i.e., taking into accoungttcertain expenses depend on occupancy (e.darjah) and certain expenses do not ( e.qg.
landscaping)). Furthermore, if Landlord shall natiish any item or items of Recognized Expensesoportions of




the Building because such portions are not occupidoecause such item is not required by the teofastich portion of the Building, for t
purposes of computing Recognized Expenses, anaitpiiddjustment shall be made so that the itempefr&ing Expense in question shal
shared only by tenants actually receiving the hiendfiereof. The Base Year Operating Expenses $Sleatirossed up to reflect nindiye
percent (95%) Building occupancy to the extend inot.

() For purposes of calculating TenanB8hare of any increases in Controllable Operdfixggenses (as defined below) as comg
against the Base Year, the total Controllable QpeyeExpenses for each year subsequent to the Baaeshall not exceed the applicable
Amount (as defined below) for the applicable subged year. The “Cap Amounfbr each subsequent year shall be equal to ther@laiie
Operating Expenses for the Base Year, increasesdammpounded basis by four percent (4%) annuaty, the Cap Amount for the first (1
subsequent year shall be equal to 1.04 multipliedhle Base Year Controllable Operating Expenses,Gap Amount for the second (2
subsequent year shall be equal to (1.04 x 1.04)ipfiatl by the Base Year Controllable Operating &xges and so on, throughout the Te
The cap on Controllable Operating Expenses sdt feetein shall also be calculated on a cumulatasisbso that if in any year subseque!
the Base Year, the Controllable Operating Expengesed the applicable Cap Amount (a “Deferred Amiuthe Deferred Amount(s) shall
carried over to the following year(s) and will beacged to Tenant in the following year(s) to théeak Controllable Operating Expenses
less than the Cap Amount for the year(s) in questiGontrollable Operating Expenses” are Operatiixpenses that are within Landlogd’
reasonable control to reduce, in a material sehseygh the bidding of services or through othesomable and prudent cost control mea:
that do not result in a perceptible decrease irgttadity of the items or services to which sucmitef Operating Expenses pertain; (for exan
landscaping, common area maintenance and profesdmss, but, not including, any of the followingfility costs, Taxes (as defined), sr
and ice removal, parking lot paving and stripintggurance, other costs resulting from an event mfefanajeure, unionization costs, and ¢
resulting from a change in law occurring after diage of this Lease).

(9) By April 30" of each Lease Year or as soon thereafter as adratiisly available, Landlord shall send to Tenargtatement «
actual expenses incurred for Recognized Expensahdqrior Lease Year showing the Tenar@hare due from Tenant. Landlord shall us
reasonable efforts to provide Tenant with the afaick statements on or before April 30 of each Légesar; provided, however, if Landlord
unable to provide such statements by April 30, lamtdshall not have been deemed to waive its fighbllect any such amounts as Additic
Rent. In the event the amount prepaid by Tenanteds the amount that was actually due then Landloatl issue a credit to Tenant in
amount equal to the over charge, which credit Tenaay apply to future payments on account of RezaghExpenses until Tenant has
fully credited with the over charge. If the credite to Tenant is more than the aggregate totaltafé rental payments, Landlord shall pa
Tenant the difference between the credit in sudjreagate total. In the event Landlord has underadtrfenant, then Landlord shall s
Tenant an invoice with the additional amount dukiclv amount shall be paid in full by Tenant withiventy (20) days of receipt.

(h) Each of the Operating Expenses and Tax atapwvhether requiring lump sum payment or constituiprojected month
amounts added to the Fixed Rent, shall for all pseg be treated and considered as Additional Rehthe failure of Tenant to pay the sam
and when due in advance and without demand shed ttee same effect as failure to pay any instalinoérthe Fixed Rent and shall affc
Landlord all the remedies in the Lease therefowelf as at law or in equity. All Operating Expensésill be charged at standard rates fror
applicable service provider, unless Landlord reegia reduction on account of volume discounts efepred vendor rates applicable
Landlord, in which case such reduced rates shallyap

(i) If this Lease terminates other than at thd ef a calendar year, Landlord's annual estim&tRazognized Expenses shall
accepted by the parties as the actual Recognizpdrises for the year the Lease ends until Landlardiges Tenant with actual statement
accordance with subsection 5@jjove.

6. _UTILITY CHARGES.

(&) Notwithstanding anything in this Lease te ttontrary, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Addgi Rent all charges incurred
Landlord, or its agent, for water, sewer, gas dadtecity, (1) such charges for the Premises dbalbased upon Tenant's Share of the Bui
or the specific submeter for the Premises for autittly, and (2) such charges for the Building coomrareas shall be based on Termfthar
of the Building. The aforesaid utility charges sltammence upon the Commencement Date. Landlodtitshae the right to estimate the util
charge but shall be required to reconcile on amiahipasis based on invoices received for such geriandlord shall not be




liable for any interruption or delay in electric any other utility service for any reason unlesasea by the gross negligence or wil
misconduct of Landlord or its agents. Landlord khalre the right to change the electric and othilityuprovider to theProject or Building ¢
any time. Landlord is hereby authorized to requastyehalf of Tenant, Tenant’s electric consumptiata from the applicable utility provider.

(b) If any utility service to the Premises thaindlord is required to provide hereunder is intpted due to the negligence or wil
misconduct of Landlord (collectively, “Service Intgption”) and such Service Interruption causes all or a natgortion of the Premises to
unusable (“Affected Spacefpr a period of three (3) or more consecutive besindays after written notice thereof has beemdiyeTenant t
Landlord (“Interruption Notice”)then, provided that Tenant has actually ceaseaf & operations in the Affected Space for thedari of it:
business, Fixed Rent shall abate in the propottianthe rentable square footage of the Affectegic8bears to the rentable square foota
the Premises, which abatement shall commence ofotinth (4™") and expire on the earlier of Tenant'sc@anmencement of operations in
Affected Space or the date that the Service Inpion is remedied. Notwithstanding the foregoingna@nt shall not be entitled to abatemel
any other remedy to the extent that the Servicerfaption is caused in whole or in part by the fgggice or willful misconduct of Tenant
Tenant's employees, contractors, agents, reprasaygar invitees, or Tenastfailure to comply with its obligations under thease. Tena
agrees that the rental abatement described hdralhb® Tenans sole remedy in the event of a Service Interrmpéind Tenant hereby wai
any other rights against Landlord in connectionreéiéth. During the Term, Tenant shall maintain, Tanants sole cost and expen
commercially reasonable business interruption msce.

(c) Except for reasons outside of Landlord’stoainLandlord shall provide: (i) Premises heat aireconditioning ("HVAC") servic
in the respective seasons during the hours of 8:60 to 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, excluding Buildirdidays ("Business Hours") (HVA
service to the Premises on Saturdays shall be gidwonly upon Tenargt’prior written request to Landlord); (ii) Premisdsctricity for lighting
and standard office equipment typically found ificef buildings in the market in which the Projegiacated; and (iii) water and sewer ser
to the extent typically provided by landlords oficé buildings in the market in which the Projexidcated. Notwithstanding anything herei
the contrary, if Landlord reasonably determines Tremant's use of electricity is excessive, Teaanées to pay for the installation of a sepi
electric meter to measure electrical usage in exoésiormal office use and to pay Landlord forsaalth excess electricity registered in ¢
submeter.

7. _SIGNS; USE OF PREMISES AND COMMON AREAS

(&) Landlord shall provide the original Tendmtreinabove named, with standard identificatiomaige on all Building directori
and at the entrance to the Premises. No other sigaikbe placed, erected or maintained by Tenaany place upon the Premises, Buildin
Project.

(b) Tenant shall have the nerelusive right to cause Landlord, exercisable g telivery of written notice from Tenant
Landlord, to install a panel sign (“Panel”) on #iadsting monument sign of the BuildingMdbnument Sign), subject to satisfaction of all lnd
following terms and conditions: (i) the size anddtion and Tenant’s specifications and design efRainel shall be subject to Landlargrio
written consent and shall be generally consistédtit the aesthetic standards of the Building; (igndlord shall obtain the Panel on Tenant
behalf, at Landlord’s expense; (iii) Landlord shia#itall the Panel, at Landloglexpense; (iv) Landlord shall maintain and refferMonumer
Sign, the cost of which shall be included in OpegpExpenses; (V) if the Monument Sign is illumiegtthe costs therefor shall be include
Operating Expenses; (vi) if the Panel requiresaepminent due to changes to the Panel requested rgnfTesuch replacement shall b
Tenants sole cost and expense; (vii) if the square faotafgthe Premises is reduced by agreement of thteepdereto or Tenant otherw
commits an Event of Default and such default iscuwred within the time period provided under anyth#f terms and conditions of the Lei
Tenant shall forfeit Tenarg’Panel on the Monument Sign; and (viii) upon tkpiration or earlier termination of the Lease, Lkmnd shal
remove and discard such Panel, at Landlord’s seperese and expense. Tenant acknowledges that,resffect to (i) above, Landlogl’
determination and selections of the size, locatgpecifications and design of the Panel may take atcount the necessity to reserv
reallocate space for exterior signage for existing future tenants of the Building. The provisiafighis section are personal to the original
named Tenant and any Affiliate of the original-nanfenant.

(c) Tenant may use and occupy the Premisesfonlthe express and limited purposes stated ini@edtabove; and the Premi
shall not be used or occupied, in whole or in plart,any other purpose without the prior writtemsent of Landlord; provided that Tena
right to so use and occupy the Premises shall remairessly




subject to the provisions of "Governmental Regalal, Section 2zerein. No machinery or equipment shall be perahitteat shall cau:
vibration, noise or disturbance beyond the Premises

(d) Tenant shall not overload any floor or paereof in the Premises or the Building, includeryy public corridors or elevatc
therein, bringing in, placing, storing, installiog removing any large or heavy articles, and Lardltoay prohibit, or may direct and control
location and size of, safes and all other heaviglast and may require, at Tenant's sole cost apérese, supplementary supports of :
material and dimensions as Landlord may deem nacegs properly distribute the weight.

(e) Tenant shall not install in or for the Prees, without Landlord’ prior written approval, any equipment which regsimor
electric current than Landlord is required to pdevunder this Lease, and Tenant shall ascertaim frandlord the maximum amount of loac
demand for or use of electrical current which caiely be permitted in and for the Premises, talkirig account the capacity of electric wir
in the Building and the Premises and the needsudltiiBg common areas (interior and exterior) ane taquirements of other tenants of
Building, Tenant and shall not in any event conmegteater load than such safe capacity.

() Tenant shall not commit or suffer any wasp®n the Premises, Building or Project or any magsaor do any other act or th
which may disturb the quiet enjoyment of any otiesant in the Building or Project.

(g) Tenant shall have the right, nexelusive and in common with others, to use theréxt paved driveways and walkways of
Building for vehicular and pedestrian access toBhéding. Tenant shall also have the right, in coom with other tenants of the Building ¢
Landlord, to use the designated parking areaseoPtioject for the parking of automobiles of Tenamd its employees and business visi
incident to Tenant's Permitted Uses of the Premisewided that Landlord shall have the right tetriet or limit Tenant's utilization of tl
parking areas in the event the same become overbeddand in such case to equitably allocate oopoptionate basis or assign parking sp
among Tenant and the other tenants of the Buildirmgdlord shall provide Tenant one (1) reservedipgrspace in a mutually agreec
location within the general parking area of thel@ing. As part of the Landlord’s Work, Landlord, laandlord's expense, shall cause s
reserved parking space to be served by an elattenging system consistent with the specificatisaisforth in Exhibit “F”attached heret
Landlord shall maintain such electric charging sgstduring the Term of the Lease, at Landlord's egee

8. _ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.

(a) _Hazardous Substances

0] Tenant shall not, except as provided in subpardg(apbelow, bring or otherwise cause to be brdugi
permit any of its agents, employees, contractoiswtees to bring in, on or about any part of Bremises, Building or Project, any hazarc
substance or hazardous waste in violation of leavsuch terms are or may be defined in (x) the Cehmmsive Environmental Respol
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601seyl., as the same may from time to time be amendet tfzen regulations promulga
pursuant thereto ("CERCLA"); the United States D#&pant of Transportation Hazardous Materials Ta@® CFR 172.102); by tl
Environmental Protection Agency as hazardous sobetsa(40 CFR Part 302); the Clean Air Act; andGhean Water Act, and all amendme
modifications or supplements thereto; and/or (yy ather rule, regulation, ordinance, statute orunemments of any governmental
administrative agency regarding the environmeniiéctively, (x) and (y) shall be referred to as“Applicable Environmental Law”).

(i) Tenant may bring to and use at the Premises hazaisidstances incidental to its normal businessatipa:
under the NAI Code classification referenced_int®ecl above in the quantities reasonably required forah#&s normal business
accordance with Applicable Environmental Laws. Tenahall store and handle such substances in sdcordance with Applicak
Environmental Laws. From time to time promptly éalling a request by Landlord, Tenant shall providedlord with documents identifyi
the hazardous substances stored or used by Tenahtedremises and describing the chemical pr@sedi such substances and such
information reasonably requested by Landlord orahénPrior to the expiration or sooner terminatddrthis Lease, Tenant shall remove
hazardous substances from the Premises and $tzadplicable and reasonably requested by Landloreingthe Permitted Uses of the Premi
provide Landlord with an inspection report fromiadependent environmental engineer certifying thatPremises and the land surroun
the Premises are free of contamination from hazerdwbstances and hazardous wastes. The providithis paragraph shall be persone
Tenant and, in the event Tenant ceases to occupiPribmises, Landlors’approval to store and use hazardous substanaksgtomaticall
terminate.
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(iii) Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmlessdlard, Brandywine Realty Services Corp.

Brandywine Realty Trust and their respective emgésyand agents from and against any and all gairty- claims, actions, damages, liab
and expense (including all attorney’s, consultaatid expers fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in deferisany such claim or any act
or proceeding brought thereon) arising from Terssitbrage and use of hazardous substances oneimésE's including, without limitation, a
and all costs incurred by Landlord because of amgstigation of the Project or any cleanup, remavakstoration of the Project to remow
remediate hazardous or hazardous wastes depositédrant. Without limitation of the foregoing, ifefiant, its officers, employees, age
contractors, licensees or invitees cause contaimimaf the Premises by any hazardous substancesnTehall promptly at its sole expel
take any and all necessary actions to return teenBes to the condition existing prior to such aamihation, or in the alternative take s
other remedial steps as may be required by lawaymmended by Landlord’s environmental consultant.

(b) _NAI Numbers

() Tenant represents and warrants that Tenant's NAibeu as designated in the North American Indi
Classification System Manual prepared by the OffifeManagement and Budget, and as set forth ini@edt hereof, is correct. Tene
represents that the specific activities intendeldet@arried on in the Premises are in accordantteSectionl (p).

(i) Except as provided in_Section 8(a)(jifenant shall not engage in operations at the Besmwhich involv
the generation, manufacture, refining, transpanatireatment, storage, handling or disposal ofzéihdous substances” or “hazardous waate”
such terms are defined under any Applicable Enwremtal Law. Tenant further covenants that it wilt nause or permit to exist any “ reledse
or “discharge” (as such term is defined under Aggdlie Environmental Laws) on or about the Premises.

(iii) Tenant shall, at its expense, comply with all regmients of Applicable Environmental Laws pertainta
Tenant.

(iv) In addition, upon written notice of Landlord, Tehahall cooperate with Landlord in obtaining Applite
Environmental Laws approval of any transfer of Bhéldings. Specifically in that regard, Tenant aggehat it shall (1) execute and delive
affidavits, reports, responses to questions, aafdins or other filings required by Landlord anthted to Tenans activities at the Premises,
allow inspections and testing of the Premises duriormal business hours, and (3) as respects thmigas, perform any requirem
reasonably required by Landlord necessary foreeipt of approvals under Applicable Environmethtals, provided the foregoing shall b
no out-of-pocket cost or expense to Tenant exaaptléan-up and remediation costs arising from higsaiolation of this Section.

(c) _Additional Terms

0] In the event of Tenarg' failure to comply in full with this Section, Lalodd may, after written notice
Tenant and Tenant'’s failure to cure within thir80) days of its receipt of such notice, at Land®mption, perform any and all of Tenant’
obligations as aforesaid and all costs and expeinsesred by Landlord in the exercise of this rigtitl be deemed to be Additional R
payable on demand and with interest at the DeRaité.

(i) The parties acknowledge and agree that Tenant sbabe held responsible for any environmentaless
the Premises unless such issue was caused byiam @comission of Tenant or its agents, employeessultants or invitees.

(d) _Survival This Section shall survive the expiration or ssroermination of this Lease.
9. _TENANT'S ALTERATIONS

(&) Tenant will not cut or drill into or secuamy fixture, apparatus or equipment or make altarat improvements or physi
additions (collectively, "Alterations™) of any kintb any part of the Premises without first obtainthe written consent of Landlord, si
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Alteratishall, at Landlord's option, be done by LandlatdTenant's sole cost and expe
Landlord's consent shall not be required for (8 thstallation of any office equipment or fixturiegluding internal partitions which do t
require disturbance of any structural elementsystesns (other than attachment thereto) within thddihg or (i) minor work, includin
decorations, which does not require disturbana@ngfstructural elements or systems (other thagtatiant thereto)
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within the Building and which costs in the aggregktss than $50,000. If no approval is required bandlord approves Tenant's Alteratis
and agrees to permit Tenant's contractors to davtitk, Tenant, prior to the commencement of labrasupply of any materials, must furnist
Landlord (i) a duplicate or original policy or céidates of insurance evidencing (a) general puliibility insurance for personal injury a
property damage in the minimum amount of $1,000@@@ombined single limit, (b) statutory workmantampensation insurance, and
employer's liability insurance from each contradimrbe employed (all such policies shall be wancelable without thirty (30) days pi
written notice to Landlord and shall be in amouatsl with companies satisfactory to Landlord); ¢@nstruction documents prepared
sealed by a registered Pennsylvania architectdf slteration causes the aggregate of all Altematim be in excess of $50,000; and (iii
applicable building permits required by law. In pention with all Alterations involving Landlord'pproval, Landlord shall be entitled
collect a construction management fee equal to P#ieocost of the Alteration in connection with Iddord’s services in supervising and rev
of such Alternations. Any approval by Landlord pétimg Tenant to do any or cause any work to beedonor about the Premises shall be
hereby is conditioned upon Tenant's work beingqreréd by workmen and mechanics working in harmomy @aot interfering with lab«
employed by Landlord, Landlord's mechanics or themtractors or by any other tenant or their cantitns. If at any time any of the workn
or mechanics performing any of Tenant's work shalunable to work in harmony or shall interferehwany labor employed by Landlord, ot
tenants or their respective mechanics and contgditen the permission granted by Landlord to fieparmitting Tenant to do or cause
work to be done in or about the Premises, may bredrdawn by Landlord upon forty-eight (48) hourstéen notice to Tenant.

(b) All Alterations (whether temporary or perreahin character) made in or upon the Premisdserelly Landlord or Tenant, sk
be Landlord's property upon installation and shathain on the Premises without compensation to fiienaless Landlord provides writl
notice to Tenant prior to commencement of suchratiens if possible to remove same at the expinatibthe Lease, in which event Ter
shall promptly remove such Alterations and restbeePremises to good order and condition. At Leéaswination, all furniture, movable tre
fixtures and equipment (including telephone, segwand communication equipment system wiring artdlicg) shall, at Landlord option, b
removed by Tenant and shall be accomplished incal gmd workmanlike manner so as not to damage r@iBes or Building and in su
manner so as not to disturb other tenants in thikliBg. All such installations, removals and restiwn shall be accomplished in a good
workmanlike manner so as not to damage the Premis&uilding and in such manner so as not to distether tenants in the Building.
Tenant fails to remove any items required to beoserd pursuant to this Section, Landlord may dorsib the reasonable costs and expe
thereof shall be deemed Additional Rent hereunddrshall be reimbursed by Tenant to Landlord wififteen (15) business days of Tenant’
receipt of an invoice therefor from Landlord.

(c) _Construction LiensTenant will not suffer or permit any contractpsabcontractor's or supplier's lien (a "Constarciiien”) tc
be filed against the Premises or any part thergafebson of work, labor services or materials Seppbr claimed to have been supplie
Tenant; and if any Construction Lien shall at ametbe filed against the Premises or any part tiefieenant, within ten (10) days after no
of the filing thereof, shall cause it to be dis@ett of record by payment, deposit, bond, order @fat of competent jurisdiction or otherw
If Tenant shall fail to cause such ConstructionnLie be discharged within the period aforesaidn timeaddition to any other right or reme
Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, disgkdt either by paying the amount claimed to be duby procuring the discharge of such
by deposit or by bonding proceedings. Any amountpa@ by Landlord, plus all of Landlord's costs axpenses associated there
(including, without limitation, reasonable legak#), shall constitute Additional Rent payable bydm under this Lease and shall be pai
Tenant to Landlord on demand with interest fromdh& of advance by Landlord at the Default RatgthMg in this Lease, or in any cons
to the making of alterations or improvements shaldeemed or construed in any way as constitutitigoaization by Landlord for the maki
of any alterations or additions by Tenant withie theaning of 49 P.S. 8§ 112902, as amended, or under the Contractor and Stracto
Payment Act or any amendment thereof, or congiijuéi request by Landlord, express or implied, % @ntractor, subcontractor or supg
for the performance of any labor or the furnishaigany materials for the use or benefit of Landlord

10. _ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

(&) Subject to satisfaction of the remainingsadtions of this Section and except as expressiyitied pursuant to this Sectis
Tenant shall not, without the prior written conseht_andlord, such consent not to be unreasonalittyhwld, assign, transfer or hypothe«
this Lease or any interest herein or sublet thenizes or any part thereof. Any of the foregoingsagithout such consent shall be void
shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate
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this Lease. Subject to subparagraph 10(k) below,Ltbase shall not, nor shall any interest hefgénassignable as to the interest of Tena
operation of law or by merger, consolidation oreassle, without the written consent of Landlord.

(b) If at any time, or from time to time duritite Term of this Lease Tenant desires to assigr_tsse or sublet all or any part of
Premises, Tenant shall give notice to Landlordumhsdesire, including the effective date of thepmsed assignment or sublease, the s
footage to be subleased, and a statement of tlaiclunf the proposed sublease (which shall in@my all events expire by its terms prio
the scheduled expiration of this Lease, and imnteljiaipon the sooner termination hereof). Landloray, at its option, and in its sole :
absolute discretion, exercisable by notice giveMenant within twenty-five (25) days next followingandlord’s receipt of Tenargt’notice
(which notice from Tenant shall, as a conditionitefeffectiveness, include all of the aboseumerated information), elect to recapture
Premises if Tenant is proposing to sublet or asalbof the Premises, or such portion as is propdseTenant to be sublet (and in each ¢
the designated and non-designated parking spacksl@d in this demise, or a prata portion thereof in the instance of the recaptf les
than all of the Premises), and terminate this Ledierespect to the space being recaptured.

(c) If Landlord elects to recapture the Premisesa portion thereof as aforesaid, then from aftdr ahe effective date there
provided Tenant shall have fully performed suchiggtlons as are enumerated herein to be perforngetielbant in connection with su
recapture, and except as to obligations and ltasliaccrued and unperformed (and any other obdiggtexpressly stated in this Leas
survive the expiration or sooner termination olthiease), Tenant shall be released of and fromesbe obligations thereafter otherv
accruing with respect to the Premises (or suctetgssrtion as shall have been recaptured by Ladfl@ihe Premises, or such portion there:
Landlord shall have elected to recapture, shatllddevered by Tenant to Landlord free and clearlbfuaniture, furnishings, personal prope
and removable fixtures, with Tenant repairing aastoring any and all damage to the Premises regultom the installation, handling
removal thereof, and otherwise in the same comditi® Tenant is, by the terms of this Lease, reduiveredeliver the Premises to Land!
upon the expiration or sooner termination of thesage. In the event of a sublease of less tharf dtleoPremises, the cost of erecting
required demising walls, entrances and entrancedoos, and any other or further improvements regglin connection therewith, includi
without limitation, modifications to HVAC, electit, plumbing, fire, life safety and security sysge(if any), painting, wallpapering and ot
finish items as may be reasonably acceptable tepecified by Landlord, all of which improvementsakibe made in accordance w
applicable legal requirements and Landlord’s thamdard base building specifications, shall bequaréd by Landlord contractors, and sh
be shared 50% by Tenant and 50% by Landlord. Upercdmpletion of any recapture and terminationrasiged herein, Tenarg’Fixed Ren
Recognized Expenses and other monetary obligatiersunder shall be adjusted peta based upon the reduced rentable square fothtar
comprising the Premises.

(d) If Landlord provides written notification téenant electing not to recapture the Premisesgomuch thereof as Tenant
proposed to sublease), then Tenant may proceedatkemthe designated space and may, subject toldrasl approval of the propos
assignee or subtenant, complete such transactibrexacute an assignment of this Lease or a subsgasement within a period of nine
months next following Landlord’ notice to Tenant that it declines to recaptush space, provided that Tenant shall have firstiobt in an
such case the prior written consent of Landlorduch transaction, which consent shall not be uoredsy withheld, conditioned or delayed
however, Tenant shall not have timely assignedltbase or sublet the Premises as aforesaid, th&ucimevent, Tenant shall again be req
to request Landlord’s consent to the proposed &@tim, whereupon Landloslright to recapture the Premises (or such pog®ienant she
desire to sublease) shall be renewed upon the sams and as otherwise provided_in subsectioralfloye, provided that Landlord shall ¢
be allowed ten (10) days following its receipt otine to elect to recapture the Premises or subjation thereof.

(e) When Tenant has identified a prospect, Teshall request approval of the proposed assigmesubtenant by providing
Landlord a written statement including the namelrasls and contact party for the proposed assignsebtenant, a description of such paty’
business history, reasonable financial informat@snLandlord may reasonably require and the effedtiate of the proposed assignmer
sublease, the square footage to be subleased,statbment of the duration of the proposed subl@alsieh shall in any and all events expire
its terms prior to the scheduled expiration of thesise, and immediately upon the sooner terminduavaof).
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() For purposes of this Section, and withomtifing the basis upon which Landlord may withholsl consent to any propos
assignment or sublease, the parties agree thalltreot be unreasonable for Landlord to withhafddonsent to such assignment or sublea
(i) the proposed assignee or sublessee shall hawet aorth which is not acceptable to Landlord iantlords reasonable discretion;
intentionally omitted; (iii) the proposed assigr@esublessee, in Landloglteasonable opinion, is not reputable and of gdadacter; (iv) th
portion of the Premises requested to be subleaseters the balance of the Premises unleasablsesasate area; (v) Tenant is proposir
assign or sublease to an existing tenant of thédBgi or Project, with whom Landlord or its affiles is then negotiating (which shall
defined as Landlord sending a proposal to withinda9s); (vi) the proposed assignee or sublesseédvaawse Landlord existing parkin
facilities to be reasonably inadequate, or in \iolaof code requirements, or require Landlordrioréase the parking area or the numb
parking spaces to meet code requirements, or theenaf such party business shall reasonably require more than(siy@arking spaces [
1,000 rentable square feet of floor space, or (g nature of such par/proposed business operation would or might reddgrpermit o
require the use of the Premises in a manner instmiwith the “Permitted Usespecified herein, would or might reasonably otheente il
conflict with express provisions of this Lease, Wdbar might reasonably violate the terms of anyeotlease for the Building, or would,
Landlord’s reasonable judgment, otherwise be inaibfe with other tenancies in the Building.

(@) Any sums or other economic consideratiorirezd by Tenant as a result of any subletting gassent or license (except renta
other payments received which are attributabldéoamortization of the cost of leasehold improveimemade to the sublet or assigned po
of the Premises by Tenant for subtenant or assjgmekother reasonable expenses incident to tHet8ng or assignment, including stand
leasing commissions, free rent, moving allowancetber concessions) whether denominated rentaleruthe sublease or otherwise, wt
exceed, in the aggregate, the total sums which ritéaabligated to pay Landlord under this Leasergted to reflect obligations allocable
that portion of the Premises subject to such ssklea assignment) shall be divided evenly betweamdlord and Tenant, with Landlor
portion being payable to Landlord as Additional Rénnder this Lease without affecting or reducamy other obligation of Tenant hereunder.

(h) Regardless of Landlord's consent, no subfetbr assignment shall release Tenant of Tenabligation or alter the prima
liability of Tenant to pay the Rent and to perfoath other obligations to be performed by Tenantehader. The acceptance of renta
Landlord from any other person shall not be deemoetle a waiver by Landlord of any provision hereBbnsent to one assignmen
subletting shall not be deemed consent to any sules® assignment or subletting. In the event ofdefby any assignee of Tenant or
successor of Tenant in the performance of any eftéhms hereof, Landlord may proceed directly agjairenant without the necessity
exhausting remedies against such assignee or socces

(i) In the event that (i) the Premises or anyt plaereof are sublet and Tenant is in default unitlis Lease, or (ii) this Lease
assigned by Tenant, then, Landlord may collect Reamh the assignee or subtenant and apply the meuat collected to the rent her
reserved; but no such collection shall be deemaaiger of the provisions of this Section with respto assignment and subletting, or
acceptance of such assignee or subtenant as Thaeminder, or a release of Tenant from furtheropernce of the covenants hei
contained.

() In connection with each proposed assignmansubletting of the Premises by Tenant, Tenantl &y to Landlord (i) a
administrative fee of $500.00 per request (inclgdiequests for non-disturbance agreements and d@hsllor its lendes waivers) in order
defer Landlord's administrative expenses arisingifsuch request, plus (ii) Landlord’s reasonalileraeys’ fees.

(k) Tenant may, with notice but without the cemisof Landlord, assign this Lease to an affili@ey., any corporation or other en
fifty percent (50%) or more of whose capital stackownership interest is owned by Tenant and/oistirae individuals or entities owning fi
percent (50%) or more of Tenant's capital stoclownership interest), Tenaatparent or subsidiary or other entity, or to atitgmo whick
Tenant sells or assigns all or substantially ait®fssets or stock or with which it may be coidstéd or merged (" Affiliaté), provided suc
purchasing, consolidated, merged, affiliated ors@libry entity shall be capitalized in such a marsgethat it can meet the obligations whic
has assumed and, in writing, assumes and agreesftom all of the obligations of Tenant under théase and delivers such assumption w
copy of such assignment to Landlord within ten (fkQ¥iness days after the transaction closes, andded further that Tenant shall not
released or discharged from any liability undes theéase by reason of such assignment.
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() Anything in this Section to the contrary withstanding, no assignment or sublease shall baified under this Lease if there
an Event of Default by Tenant at the time of suskignment or has previously committed an Event efaDit (irrespective of the fact ti
Tenant cured such Event of Default) more than ticeonnection with any of its monetary obligatiamsder this Lease and such mone
defaults aggregate in excess of $20,000.

11. _LANDLORD'S RIGHT OF ENTRY. Landlord and persons authorized by Landlord matgrethe Premises at all reason.
times upon reasonable advance notice (except ircdlse of an emergency in which case no prior nasiceecessary) for the purpose
inspections, repairs, alterations to adjoining spappraisals, or other reasonable purposes; inguehforcement of Landlord's rights un
this Lease. Landlord shall not be liable for incenience to or disturbance of Tenant by reason y&anh entry; provided, however, that in
case of repairs or work, such shall be done, sadgracticable, so as to not unreasonably interféh Tenant's use of the Premises. Prov
however, that such efforts shall not require Lardilto use overtime labor unless Tenant shall paytfe increased costs to be incurrec
Landlord for such overtime labor. Landlord alsolshave the right to enter the Premises at alloaable times after giving prior oral notice
Tenant, to exhibit the Premises to any prospegtwechaser and/or Mortgagee (as hereinafter definedjing the last year of the Tel
Landlord also shall have the right to enter theri?ses at all reasonable times after giving pri@ aotice to Tenant, to exhibit the Premise
any prospective tenants.

12. _REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

(a) Except as specifically otherwise providedsubparagraphs (b) and (c) of this Section, Tergnits sole cost and expense
throughout the Term of this Lease, shall keep aathtain the Premises in good order and conditimee bf accumulation of dirt and rubbi
and shall promptly make all natructural repairs necessary to keep and maintain good order and condition. Tenant shall havegi®mn o
replacing lights, ballasts, tubes, ceiling tilestlets and similar equipment itself or it shall bate ability to advise Landlord of Tenant's de
to have Landlord make such repairs. If requestedidnant, Landlord shall make such repairs to tknies within a reasonable time of nc
to Landlord and shall charge Tenant for such sesviat Landlord's standard rate (such rate to bepettive with the market rate for st
services). When used in this Section, the termdirep shall include replacements and renewals wiesressary. All repairs made by Ter
shall utilize materials and equipment which aréeast equal in quality and usefulness to thosdraily used in constructing the Building ¢
the Premises.

(b) Landlord, throughout the Term of this Leasel at Landlord's sole cost and expenses, shale rbiknecessary repairs to
footings and foundations and the structural steklmans and girders forming a part of the Premises.

(c) Landlord shall maintain all base Building H& systems, plumbing and electric systems serdiegBuilding and the Premis
Tenant shall be solely responsible for all supplataeHVAC serving the Premises exclusively. Term@&hare of Landlord's cost for b
Building HVAC, electric and plumbing service, manance and repairs, as limited under Sectiofittb respect to capital expenditures, sha
included as a portion of Recognized Expenses asdaw in_Section Hereof.

(d) Landlord, throughout the Term of this Leaskall make all necessary repairs to the Buildiotside of the Premises and
common areas, including the roof, walls, exteriortions of the Premises and the Building, utilityels, equipment and other utility facilities
the Building, which serve more than one tenanhefBuilding, and to any driveways, sidewalks, cutbading, parking and landscaped ar
and other exterior improvements for the Buildingoypded, however, that Landlord shall have no resfulity to make any repairs unless
until Landlord receives written notice of the néedsuch repair or Landlord has actual knowledg&hefneed to make such repair. Tenant
pay its Tenant’s Share of the cost of all repasslimited under Sectionwsith respect to capital repairs, to be performed.agdlord pursua
to this Paragraph 14(d) as Additional Rent as plediin_Section Hereof.

(e) Landlord shall keep and maintain all comnameas appurtenant to the Building and any sidewgl&sking areas, curbs &
access ways adjoining the Property in a clean addrly condition, free of accumulation of dirt, hibh, snow and ice, and shall keep
maintain all landscaped areas in a neat and oradergition. Tenant shall pay TenantShare of the cost of all work to be performe:
Landlord pursuant to this Paragraph (e) as AddifidRent as provided in Sectionhereof. Landlords obligation to provide snow remo
services shall be limited to the parking areasthedsidewalk entrances to the Building.
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( Notwithstanding anything herein to the camyr, repairs to the Premises, Building or Projed &s appurtenant common ar
made necessary by a negligent or willful act orsmioin of Tenant or any employee, agent, contraotanvitee of Tenant shall be made at
sole cost and expense of Tenant, except to thatexténsurance proceeds received by Landlord.

(g) Landlord shall provide Tenant with janitdr&ervices for the Premises Monday through Fridagazh week in accordance w
the guidelines set forth in Exhibit "Dattached hereto and the Tenant shall pay its Attn&hare of the cost thereof as Additional Re
provided in_Section Bereof (“Janitorial Expenses”).

13. _INSURANCE; SUBROGATION RIGHTS

(&) Tenant shall obtain and keep in force atimkés during the term hereof, at its own expensmmercial general liability insurar
including contractual liability and personal injuigibility and all similar coverage with total litsiincluding the Umbrella limits of $3,000,(
on account of bodily injury to or death of one comnpersons as the result of any one accidensastir and on account of damage to proy
or in such other amounts as Landlord may from tim&me require. Tenant shall also require its rmswte procure and deliver to Landlor
certificate of insurance naming Landlord as an toithl insured.

(b) Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expemsentain in full force and effect on all Tenantade fixtures, equipment and pers«
property on the Premises, a policy of "special fopmoperty insurance covering the full replacemeaitie of such property.

(c) All liability insurance required hereunddrafi notbe subject to cancellation without at least th{89) days prior notice to
insureds, and shall name Landlord, Brandywine ReBlust, Landlord's Agent and Tenant as insuredghair interests may appear, an
requested by Landlord, shall also name as an additinsured any Mortgagee or holder of any morgabich may be or become a lien u
any part of the Premises. Prior to the commencerokethhe Term, Tenant shall provide Landlord withtifieates which evidence that 1
coverages required have been obtained for theyppkeiods. Tenant shall also furnish to Landlortbtighout the term hereof replacen
certificates at least thirty (30) days prior to thiration dates of the then current policy origies. All the insurance required under this Lt
shall be issued by insurance companies authorized business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvaitta avfinancial rating of at least an A-
X as rated in the most recent edition of Best'siiaisce Reports and in business for the past fiaesy@he limit of any such insurance shall
limit the liability of Tenant hereunder. If Tendhails to procure and maintain such insurance, Lamidinay, but shall not be required to, pror
and maintain the same, at Tenant's expense toilmduesed by Tenant as Additional Rent within te®)(Hays of written demand. A
deductible under such insurance policy or g&fired retention under such insurance policy iteex of Twenty Five Thousand ($25,000) r
be approved by Landlord in writing prior to issuaraf such policy. Tenant shall not self-insure withLandlords prior written consent. T
policy limits set forth herein shall be subjectperiodic review, and Landlord reserves the righteéquire that Tenant increase the liab
coverage limits if, in the reasonable opinion ohdrd, the coverage becomes inadequate or ighasscommonly maintained by tenant:
similar buildings in the area making similar uses.

(d) Landlord shall obtain and maintain the faling insurance during the Term of this Lease:€placement cost insurance incluc
"special form" property insurance on the Buildingdaon the Project, (ii) builder's risk insurance floe Landlord Work to be constructed
Landlord in the Building, and (iii) commercial geakliability insurance (including bodily injury @nproperty damage) covering Landlo
operations at the Project in amounts reasonablyined) by the Landlord's lender or Landlord.

(e) Each party hereto, and anyone claiming tiinoor under them by way of subrogation, waives r@heiases any cause of actic
might have against the other party and Brandywiealt® Trust and their respective employees, officerembers, partners, trustees and a¢
on account of any loss or damage that is insur@hagunder any insurance policy required to baioktl hereunder (to the extent that :
loss or damage is recoverable under such insurpaliey) that covers the Project, Building or PreesisLandlord's or Tenant's fixtur
personal property, leasehold improvements or basiaad which names Landlord and Brandywine RealtgtTor Tenant, as the case may
as a party insured. Each party hereto agreestthhail cause its insurance carrier to endorsaepgdlicable policies waiving the carrier's righ
recovery under subrogation or otherwise againsother party. During any period while such waivéright of recovery is in effect, each pe
shall look solely to the proceeds of such polié@@scompensation for loss, to the extent such mdseare paid under such policies.
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14. _INDEMNIFICATION.

(@) Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold Hass Landlord, Landlord’ property manager, if any, and Brandywine Realtys!
and each of Landlord’s directors, officers, memppestners, trustees, employees and agents (dedbct Landlord Indemnitee¥) from anc
against any and all claims, actions, damages,litiabi and expenses (including all reasonable casi$ expenses (including reason
attorneys’ fees)) arising from: (i) Tenasitbreach of this Lease; (ii) any negligence orfulilact of Tenant or any Tenant Indemnitees
hereinafter defined) or Tenant invitees or contrestand (iii) any acts or omissions occurringatthe condition, use or operation of,
Premises, except to the extent arising from Lamidonegligence or willful misconduct and providedttfianant's indemnity obligations st
not extend to loss of business, loss of profitetber consequential damages which may be suffeyddibdlord (except as provided in Sec
20 hereof). If Tenant fails to promptly defend antbord Indemnitee following written demand by thandlord Indemnitee, the Landlc
Indemnitee shall defend the same at Tenant's expéysretaining or employing counsel reasonabligfsattory to such Landlord Indemnitee.

(b) Landlord shall defend, indemnify and holtrnless Tenant and each of Tensulirectors, officers, members, partners, trus
employees and agents (collectively, * Tenant Indéses”) from and against any and all claims, actions, dasaliabilities and expens
(including all reasonable costs and expenses (imiureasonable attorneys’ fees)) arising fromtéhdlord’s breach of this Lease; and (ii) i
negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or abhgndlord Indemnitees; provided, however, that Lardls indemnity obligations shall r
extend to loss of business, loss of profits or otomsequential damages which may be suffered bwrite If Landlord fails to promptly defe
a Tenant Indemnitee following written demand by Tremant Indemnitee, the Tenant Indemnitee shaérdbthe same at Landlosdéxpens:
by retaining or employing counsel reasonably satigiry to such Tenant Indemnitee.

15. _FIRE DAMAGE.

(&) Except as provided below, in case of damaghe Premises by fire or other insured casuakydlord shall repair the dama
Such repair work shall be commenced promptly follmanotice of the damage and completed with dugetice, taking into account the ti
required for Landlord to effect a settlement witthdaprocure insurance proceeds from the insurerepxfor delays due to governmel
regulation, scarcity of or inability to obtain labar materials, intervening acts of God or otharses beyond Landlord's reasonable control.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) the mage is of a nature or extent that, in Landlordasonable judgment (to
communicated to Tenant within sixty (60) days frdme date of the casualty), the repair and restovatiork would require more than t
hundred ten (210) consecutive days to complete dfeecasualty (assuming normal work crews not gadan overtime), or (ii) if more thi
thirty percent (30%) of the total area of the Binlylis extensively damaged, or (iii) the casualtguws in the last Lease Year of the Term
Tenant has not exercised a renewal right, eithey ghall have the right to terminate this Leasé alhthe unaccrued obligations of the pa
hereto, by sending written notice of such termionatio the other within ten (10) days of Tenantteigt of the notice from Landlord descril
above. Such notice is to specify a termination datéess than fifteen (15) days after its transioiss

(c) If the insurance proceeds received by Lamdis dictated by the terms and conditions of angntcing then existing on t
Building, (excluding any rent insurance proceedsluld not be sufficient to pay for repairing the daya or are required to be appliec
account of any mortgage which encumbers any pathefPremises or Building, or if the nature of lassot covered by Landlord's f
insurance coverage, Landlord may elect either)toeair the damage as above provided notwithstanslich fact or (ii) terminate this Le.
by giving Tenant notice of Landlord's election &xr@said.

(d) In the event Landlord has not completedorasion of the Premises within two hundred ten j2ddlys from the date of casu:
(subject to delay due to weather conditions, slgegeof labor or materials or other reasons beyamtlord's control, Tenant may termir
this Lease by written notice to Landlord withinrtiti(30) business days following the expiratiorsath 210day period (as extended for reas
beyond Landlord's control as provided above) unlegghin thirty (30) business days following receipf such notice, Landlord h
substantially completed such restoration and dedivéhe Premises to Tenant for occupancy. Notvédtiging the foregoing, in the event Ter
is responsible for the aforesaid casualty, Tenhall :iothave the right to terminate this Lease if Landligravilling to rebuild and restore t
Premises.

17




(e) In the event of damage or destruction toRhemises or any part thereof, Tenant's obligatiiopay Fixed Rent and Additior
Rent shall be equitably adjusted or abated.

16. _SUBORDINATION; RIGHTS OF MORTGAGEE

(&) This Lease shall be subject and subordiaagdl times to the lien of any mortgages now aehéer placed upon the Premi
Building and/or Project and land of which they arnpart without the necessity of any further instemtror act on the part of Tenant to effect
such subordination. Tenant further agrees to ereamd deliver upon demand such further instrumeninstruments evidencing st
subordination of this Lease to the lien of any sortgage and such further instrument or instrusiehiittornment as shall be desired by
Mortgagee (as hereinafter defined) or proposed gagee or by any other person. Notwithstanding t¢ineging, any Mortgagee may at
time subordinate its mortgage to this Lease, witfi@nant's consent, by notice in writing to Tenamig thereupon this Lease shall be dee
prior to such mortgage without regard to their ez$jve dates of execution and delivery and in &went such Mortgagee shall have the ¢
rights with respect to this Lease as though it hadn executed prior to the execution and delivérth® mortgage. Upon written reques
Tenant, Landlord shall use its reasonable effastsdeliver a subordination, attornment and nondistoce agreement (“Nondisturba
Agreement”) from Landlord’s Mortgagee, on each shtdrtgagee’s standard form, which shall providdeiiralia , that the leasehold est
granted to Tenant under this Lease will not be teated or disturbed by reason of the foreclosurehef mortgage held by Landlosd’
Mortgagee, so long as Tenant shall not be in defsnder this Lease and shall pay all sums due uthiel_ease without offsets or defer
thereto except as may otherwise be provided utitet ease and shall fully perform and comply wilho&the terms, covenants and conditi
of this Lease on the part of Tenant to be perforaedior complied with, and in the event a Mortgageés respective successor or ass
shall enter into and lawfully become possessed®fRremises covered by this Lease and shall sudoeie rights of Landlord hereunc
Tenant will attorn to the successor as its landlonder this Lease and, upon the request of suatessor landlord, Tenant will execute
deliver an attornment agreement in favor of thecsasor landlord.

(b) In the event Landlord shall be or is allegede in default of any of its obligations owing Tenant under this Lease, Ter
agrees to give to the holder of any mortgage notneoeafter placed upon the Premises, Building arfeioject, notice by overnight mail of ¢
such default which Tenant shall have served upardload, provided that prior thereto Tenant has beatified in writing (by way of Notice «
Assignment of Rents and/or Leases or otherwiseriting to Tenant) of the name and addresses ofsaich Mortgagee. Tenant shall no
entitled to exercise any right or remedy as theag tve because of any default by Landlord withowirgagiven such notice to the Mortgac
and Tenant further agrees that if Landlord shéllitéacure such default the Mortgagee shall haveyftive (45) additional days (measured fr
the later of the date on which the default showdehbeen cured by Landlord or the Mortgagee's pecéisuch notice from Tenant), witl
which to cure such default, provided that if suelfiedit be such that the same could not be curddmauch period and Mortgagee is dilige
pursuing the remedies necessary to effectuateuttee(mcluding but not limited to foreclosure predengs if necessary to effectuate the ci
then Tenant shall not exercise any right or rerasithere may be arising because of Landlord's Wefiaciuding but not limited to, terminati
of this Lease as may be expressly provided foriheyeavailable to Tenant as a matter of law, & Mortgagee either has cured the de
within such time periods, or as the case may bejiitated the cure of same within such period asndiligently pursuing the cure of same
aforesaid.

17. _CONDEMNATION.

(&) If more than twenty percent (20%) of theoflarea of the Premises is taken or condemned foib&c or quaspublic use (a sa
in lieu of condemnation to be deemed a taking adeonnation for purposes of this Lease), this Lshsd, at either party's option, terminat
of the date title to the condemned real estatesviesthe condemnor, and the Fixed Rent and AdditidRent herein reserved shall
apportioned and paid in full by Tenant to Landléodthat date and all rent prepaid for period beytrat date shall forthwith be repaid
Landlord to Tenant and neither party shall thesgdftave any liability hereunder.

(b) If less than twenty percent (20%) of theofl@rea of the Premises is taken or if neither laddnor Tenant have elected
terminate this Lease pursuant to the precedingeseat Landlord shall do such work as may be redbpmecessary to restore the portio
the Premises not taken to tenantable conditionTimant's uses, but shall not be required to expeark than the net award Landl
reasonably expects to be available for restoratibthe Premises. If Landlord determines that thmalges available for restoration of
Building and/or Project will not be sufficient t@p the cost of restoration, or if the condemnatiamage award is required to be applie
account

18




of any mortgage which encumbers any part of thenizes, Building and/or Project, Landlord may teratinthis Lease by giving Tenant th
(30) days prior notice specifying the terminatiated

(c) If this Lease is not terminated after anghstaking or condemnation, the Fixed Rent and tHdifonal Rent shall be equital
reduced in proportion to the area of the Premidgisiwhas been taken for the balance of the Term.

(d) If a part or all of the Premises shall beetaor condemned, all compensation awarded updn cuedemnation or taking shall
to Landlord and Tenant shall have no claim themt®r than Tenant's damages associated with mosingage and relocation; and Ter
hereby expressly waives, relinquishes and releskandlord any claim for damages or other compgémsdo which Tenant might otherw
be entitled because of any such taking or limitatbthe leasehold estate hereby created, andrably assigns and transfers to Landlord
right to compensation of all or a part of the Pr&gsior the leasehold estate.

18. _ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATEEach party agrees at any time and from timent tiwithin ten (10) days after the other pa
written request, to execute, acknowledge and delivethe other party a written instrument in reaii@ form certifying all informatic
reasonably requested, including but not limitedhe, following: that this Lease is unmodified andtll force and effect (or if there have b
modifications, that it is in full force and effeas modified and stating the modifications), the @@ncement Date, the expiration date of
Lease, the square footage of the Premises, thal raes applicable to the Premises, the datedhichvRent, Additional Rent, and other cha
have been paid in advance, if any, and stating lvanedr not to the best knowledge of the party sigrsuch certificate, the requesting party
default in the performance of any covenant, agregmecondition contained in this Lease and, ifgzecifying each such default of which
signer may have knowledge. It is intended thatsurgh certification and statement delivered purstmittis Section may be relied upon by
prospective purchaser of the Project or any Moregaitipereof or any assignee of Landlord's interethis Lease or of any mortgage upon
fee of the Premises or any part thereof.

19. DEFAULT.
@ If

() Tenant fails to pay any installment of Fixed Rentaay amount of Additional Rent when due; provii
however, Landlord shall provide written notice loé tfailure to pay such Rent and Tenant shall hathee® (3) business day grace period 1
its receipt of such Landlors'notice (facsimile receipt being deemed to becedtiereunder) within which to pay such Rent withareiating
default hereunder. The late fee set forth in Sagtibiereof shall be due on the first day after steyngent is due irrespective of the foregc
notice and grace period. No additional notice shallrequired thereafter and Landlord shall be ledtito immediately exercise its reme
hereunder if payment is not received during the@izeriod;

(i) intentionally omitted;
(iii) Tenant fails to bond over a construction oechanics lien within the time period set forth gcfon 9,

(iv) Tenant fails to observe or perform any of Tet'sa other nomnonetary agreements or obligations he
contained within thirty (30) days after written et specifying the default, or the expiration otlswadditional time period as is reason:
necessary to cure such default, provided Tenanteidieely commences and thereafter proceeds witlualldiligence and in good faith to ¢
such default,

(v) Tenant makes any assignment for the benefiteditors,

(vi) a petition is filed or any proceeding is commenagdinst Tenant or by Tenant under any federal aie
bankruptcy or insolvency law and such petition mgeeding is not dismissed within thirty (30) days,

(vii) a receiver or other official is appointed for Tehanfor a substantial part of Tenant's asset®oif&€nant'
interests in this Lease,

(viii) any attachment or execution against a substargrdlgd Tenant's assets or of Tenant's interestisis

Lease remains unstayed or undismissed for a pefiotbre than ten (10) days,
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(ix) a substantial part of Tenant's assets or of Tengmérest in this Lease is taken by legal prooessy actiol
against Tenant, or

x) Tenant fails to deliver any of the estoppel, Nohadizance Agreement or financial information in tivae
period required by this Lease;

then, in any such event, an Event of Default dalleemed to exist and Tenant shall be in defauétumder.

(b) If an Event of Default shall occur, the &lling provisions shall apply and Landlord shall éaw addition to all other rights a
remedies available at law or in equity, the rigimsl remedies set forth therein, which rights amdedies may be exercised upon or at any
following the occurrence of an Event of Defaultesy, prior to such exercise, Landlord shall agneeriting with Tenant that the Event(s)
Default has been cured by Tenant in all respects.

(c) Acceleration of RentBy notice to Tenant, Landlord shall have the righaccelerate all Fixed Rent and all expenseiinsent:
due hereunder and otherwise payable in installmareas the remainder of the Term, and, at Landlavgtion, any other Additional Rent to -
extent that such Additional Rent can be determized calculated to a fixed sum; and the amount oélacated rent to the termination d
without further notice or demand for payment, slhaldue and payable by Tenant within five (5) dafysr Landlord has so notified Ten:
such amount collected from Tenant shall be diseuitd present value using an interest rate of sixgnt (6%) per annum. Additional R
which has not been included, in whole or in pariagccelerated rent, shall be due and payable bgneturing the remainder of the Term, in
amounts and at the times otherwise provided fdnimLease.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing or the apgiiea of any rule of law based on election of remasdor otherwise, if Tenant fails
pay the accelerated rent in full when due, Landibeteafter shall have the right by notice to Teén@jto terminate Tenant's further right
possession of the Premises and (ii) to termindselibase under subparagraph (e) below; and if Ttestzadl have paid part but not all of
accelerated rent, the portion thereof attributabléhe period equivalent to the part of the Termnaiming after Landlord's termination
possession or termination of this Lease shall hdiegh by Landlord against Tenant's obligations awin Landlord, as determined by
applicable provisions of subparagraphs (e) andgi@w.

(e) _Termination of Lease By notice to Tenant, Landlord shall have the tigh terminate this Lease in accordance with
conditions in this section 19 as of a date spetiiiethe notice of termination and in such casean¢'s rights, including any based on
option to renew, to the possession and use of tmiBes shall end absolutely as of the terminadite; and this Lease shall also termina
all respects except for the provisions hereof rdiggrLandlord's damages and Tenant's liabilitiésirag prior to, out of and following the Evt
of Default and the ensuing termination.

() Following such termination and the notice sefime provided above (as well as upon any othenirtation of this Lease |
expiration of the Term or otherwise) Landlord imriaely shall have the right to recover possessiai® Premises; and to that end, Land
may enter the Premises and take possession, witfutecessity of giving Tenant any notice to quiany other further notice, with or withe
legal process or proceedings, and in so doing lorddhay remove Tenant's property (including anyromepments or additions to the Prem
which Tenant made, unless made with Landlord's exn&hich expressly permitted Tenant to not remitvee same upon expiration of
Term), as well as the property of others as mainkibe Premises, and make disposition thereof ain snanner as Landlord may deem t
commercially reasonable and necessary under tbensgtances.

(g) _Tenant's Continuing Obligations/Landloifsletting Rights Unless and until Landlord shall have terminateid tease und
subparagraph (e) above, Tenant shall remain fidhld and responsible to perform all of the covésiamd to observe all the conditions of
Lease throughout the remainder of the Term to #ify éermination date; and, in addition, Tenantlispay to Landlord, upon demand anc
Additional Rent, the total sum of all costs, loss#smages and expenses, including reasonable efees, as Landlord incurs, directly
indirectly, because of any Event of Default haviregurred.

0] If Landlord either terminates Tenant's right to gEssion without terminating this Lease or termigdtes
Lease and Tenant's leasehold estate as above gdptitkn, subject to the provisions below, Landkirdll have the unrestricted right to r
the Premises or any part(s) thereof to such tesjant( such provisions and for such period(s) adload may deem appropriate. Landl
agrees, however, to use reasonable efforts to adtiifs
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damages, provided that Landlord shall not be liadI€enant for its inability to mitigate damage# $hall endeavor to relet the Premises in
manner as it offers other comparable vacant spageoperty available for leasing to others in thejéct of which the Building is a part.
Landlord relets the Premises after such a defthdtcosts recovered from Tenant shall be realldctig¢ake into consideration any additic
rent which Landlord receives from the new tenanictviis in excess to that which was owed by Tenant.

(i) Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the cantrin the Event of Default under this Lease (idahg the
filing of bankruptcy by or against Tenant), all pemal property of Tenant at the Building, shalldrmae Landlords property, shall constitt
security of Tenant’s obligations under this Leaseé shall not be removed by Tenant from the Building

(h) _Landlord's Damages

0] The damages which Landlord shall be entitledetmover from Tenant shall be the sum of:
(A) all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent accrued amgaid as of the termination date; and

(B) (i) all costs and expenses incurred by Landlordeicovering possession of the Premises, inclt
removal and storage of Tenant's property, (ii)dbsts and expenses of restoring the Premises tootidition in which the same were to h
been surrendered by Tenant as of the expiratidheoTerm, and (iii) the costs of reletting comnossi; and

© all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent (to the extdmdttthe amount(s) of Additional Rent has been
determined) otherwise payable by Tenant over thraneder of the Term as reduced to present value.

Less deducting from the total determined under atdgraphs (A), (B) and (C) all Rent and all otheldAional Rent to the extent determing
as aforesaid, (to the extent that like charges dvbave been payable by Tenant) which Landlord veseirom other tenant(s) by reason of
leasing of the Premises or part during or attribigtdo any period falling within the otherwise rander of the Term.

(i) The damage sums payable by Tenant under the pnecprdivisions of this paragraph (h) shall be pagaln
demand from time to time as the amounts are detedniand if from Landlord's subsequent receipeat as aforesaid from reletting, there
any excess payment(s) by Tenant by reason of #utitrg of such rent thereafter received, the expagyment(s) shall be refunded by Land
to Tenant, without interest.

() Landlord may enforce and protect the rigbfsLandlord hereunder by a suit or suits in equtyat law for the specif
performance of any covenant or agreement contdlireedin, and for the enforcement of any other apjmt® legal or equitable reme
including, without limitation, injunctive relief,ral for recovery of consequential damages and allay® due or to become due from Te
under any of the provisions of this Lease.

() Landlords Right to Cure Without limiting the generality of the foregoinifj,Tenant shall be in default in the performanteary
of its obligations hereunder, Landlord, withoutrigerequired to give Tenant any notice or opportutdtcure, may (but shall not be obligate
do so0), in addition to any other rights it may havéaw or in equity, cure such default on behdlTenant, and Tenant shall reimburse Lanc
upon demand for any sums paid or costs incurreddndlord in curing such default, including reasdeasttorneys' fees and other le
expenses, together with interest at 10% per annat@ fRom the dates of Landlord's incurring of castexpenses.

(k) Tenant further waives the right to any nesi¢co quit as may be specified in the Landlord Baant Act of Pennsylvania, Act
April 6, 1951, as amended, or any similar or susgsegrovision of law, and agrees that five (5) bass dayshotice shall be sufficient in a
case where a longer period may be statutorily §peci

() Additional RemediesIn addition to, and not in lieu of any of thedgoing rights granted to Landlord:
() INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.

(i) WHEN THIS LEASE OR TENANT'S RIGHT OF POSSESSION SHABE TERMINATED BY
COVENANT OR CONDITION BROKEN, OR FOR ANY OTHER REAMN, EITHER DURING THE TERM OF THIS LEASE OR AN
RENEWAL OR EXTENSION THEREOF, AND ALSO WHEN AND AS
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SOON AS THE TERM HEREBY CREATED OR ANY EXTENSION HREOF SHALL HAVE EXPIRED, IT SHALL BE LAWFUL FOI
ANY ATTORNEY AS ATTORNEY FOR TENANT TO FILE AN AGREMENT FOR ENTERING IN ANY COMPETENT COURT A
ACTION TO CONFESS JUDGMENT IN EJECTMENT AGAINST TEANT AND ALL PERSONS CLAIMING UNDER TENANT
WHEREUPON, IF LANDLORD SO DESIRES, A WRIT OF EXECWN OR OF POSSESSION MAY ISSUE FORTHWITH, WITHO
ANY PRIOR WRIT OF PROCEEDINGS, WHATSOEVER, AND PRM®ED THAT IF FOR ANY REASON AFTER SUCH ACTIO
SHALL HAVE BEEN COMMENCED THE SAME SHALL BE DETERMVIED AND THE POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES HERE
DEMISED REMAIN IN OR BE RESTORED TO TENANT, LANDLOB SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT UPON ANY SUBSEQUEN
DEFAULT OR DEFAULTS, OR UPON THE TERMINATION OF TI3l LEASE AS HEREINBEFORE SET FORTH, TO BRING ONE
MORE ACTION OR ACTIONS AS HEREINBEFORE SET FORTH RECOVER POSSESSION OF THE SAID PREMISES.

In any action to confess judgment in ejectment,dlamdl shall first cause to be filed in such actamnaffidavit made by it
someone acting for it setting forth the facts neagsto authorize the entry of judgment, of whielet§ such affidavit shall be conclus
evidence, and if a true copy of this Lease (antheftruth of the copy such affidavit shall be sti#nt evidence) be filed in such action, it s
not be necessary to file the original as a warodattorney, any rule of Court, custom or practiwe¢he contrary notwithstanding.

(INITIAL). TENANT WAIVER. TENANT SPECIFICA LLY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT TENANT HAS VOLUNTARILY,
KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED CERTAIN DUE PROC ESS RIGHTS TO A PREJUDGMENT HEARING BY
AGREEING TO THE TERMS OF THE FOREGOING PARAGRAPHS R EGARDING CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT. TENANT
FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AGREES THAT IN THE EVENT OF DE FAULT, LANDLORD MAY PURSUE MULTIPLE
REMEDIES INCLUDING OBTAINING POSSESSION PURSUANT TO A JUDGMENT BY CONFESSION AND ALSO OBTAINING
A MONEY JUDGMENT FOR PAST DUE AND ACCELERATED AMOUN TS AND EXECUTING UPON SUCH JUDGMENT. IN
SUCH EVENT AND SUBJECT TO THE TERMS SET FORTH HEREIN, LANDLORD SHALL PROVIDE FULL CREDIT TO
TENANT FOR ANY MONTHLY CONSIDERATION WHICH LANDLORD RECEIVES FOR THE LEASED PREMISES IN
MITIGATION OF ANY OBLIGATION OF TENANT TO LANDLORD FOR THAT MONEY. FURTHERMORE, TENANT
SPECIFICALLY WAIVES ANY CLAIM AGAINST LANDLORD AND LANDLORD'S COUNSEL FOR VIOLATION OF
TENANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS IN THE EVENT THAT JU DGMENT IS CONFESSED PURSUANT TO THIS LEASE.

(m) Interest on Damage Amount&ny sums payable by Tenant hereunder, which at@aid after the same shall be due, shall
interest from that day until paid at the rate oélive percent (12%) per annum, unless such ratestnéous as applied to Tenant, in which «
the highest permitted legal rate shall apply ("D#f&ate").

(n) _Landlord's Statutory Rightd andlord shall have all rights and remedies noweareafter existing at law or in equity with resj
to the enforcement of Tenant's obligations hereundd the recovery of the Premises. No right oregyrherein conferred upon or reserve
Landlord shall be exclusive of any other right @medy, but shall be cumulative and in additionltother rights and remedies given hereu
or now or hereafter existing at law. Landlord shwlentitled to injunctive relief in case of thelation, or attempted or threatened violatior
any covenant, agreement, condition or provisiothisf Lease, or to a decree compelling performarfi@ny covenant, agreement, conditiol
provision of this Lease.

(o) _Remedies Not LimitedNothing herein contained shall limit or prejudite right of Landlord to exercise any or all riglanc
remedies available to Landlord by reason of defaulto prove for and obtain in proceedings under lbankruptcy or insolvency laws,
amount equal to the maximum allowed by any lawffeat at the time when, and governing the procegglin which, the damages are tc
proved, whether or not the amount be greater, équal less than the amount of the loss or damefgered to above.

(p) _No Waiver by Landlord No delay or forbearance by Landlord in exercisamy right or remedy hereunder, or Landlc
undertaking or performing any act or matter whigmot expressly required to be undertaken by Laddiball be construed, respectively, tc
a waiver of Landlord's rights or to represent agyeament by Landlord to undertake or perform sutthoa matter thereafter. Waiver
Landlord of any breach by Tenant of any covenamtomdition herein contained (which waiver shalldfective only if so expressed in writi
by Landlord) or failure by Landlord to exercise aight or remedy in respect of any such breachl stidlconstitute a waiver or
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relinquishment for the future of Landlord's righthtave any such covenant or condition duly perfarmeobserved by Tenant, or of Landlo
rights arising because of any subsequent breaelmypf&uch covenant or condition nor bar any righteonedy of Landlord in respect of si
breach or any subsequent breach. Landlord's rearipicceptance of any payment from Tenant whi¢éndered not in conformity with t
provisions of this Lease or following an Event a#fBult (regardless of any endorsement or notatioany check or any statement in any I
accompanying any payment) shall not operate aseoré and satisfaction or a waiver of the right.ahdlord to recover any payments t
owing by Tenant which are not paid in full, or asta bar to the termination of this Lease and¢hewery of the Premises because of Ter
previous default.

(@) _Landlords Lien. In addition to any applicable common law or diaty lien, none of which are to be deemed waive
Landlord, Landlord shall have, at all times, andhdm@ hereby grants to Landlord, a valid lien ancuséy interest to secure payment of
rentals and other sums of money becoming due hdesufrom Tenant, and to secure payment of any damag loss which Landlord m
suffer by reason of the breach by Tenant of anyerant, agreement or condition contained hereinnwlogoods, wares, equipment, fixtu
furniture, improvements and other personal propeftyenant which may hereafter be situated on tieenides, and all proceeds therefrom,
such property shall not be removed therefrom wittibe consent of Landlord until all arrearage imRas well as any and all other sum
money then due to Landlord hereunder shall firsehaeen paid and discharged and all the covenagitsements and conditions hereof t
been fully complied with and performed by Tenargndlord covenants and agrees to subordinate thgtanted hereunder to any comme
lender or furniture, fixture or equipment suppliemm whom Tenant either leases or finances ("FFgp$er") to which Tenant grants a secu
interest. Upon the occurrence of an Event of DéfaylTenant, but subject to Tenantender rights, if any, after the expiration df sthtec
notice and cure periods, Landlord may, in additmany other remedies provided herein, peacealtgr @pon the Premises and take posse
of any and all goods, wares, equipment, fixturesniture, improvements and other personal propeftifenant situated on the Premi:
without liability for trespass or conversion, arell the same at public or private sale, with orhwiit having such property at the sale,
giving Tenant reasonable notice of time and placany public sale or of the time after which anyate sale is to be made, at which
Landlord or its assigns may purchase unless otsermpiohibited by law. Unless otherwise providedaw, and without intending to exclu
any other manner of giving Tenant reasonable notiee requirement of reasonable notice shall beifrgich notice is given in the man
prescribed in_Section 28f this Lease at least five (5) days before thestoh sale. The proceeds from any such dispositess, all expens
connected with the taking of possession, holding) selling of the property (including reasonablemriey's fees and other expenses), shi
applied as a credit against the indebtedness sktyréhe security interest granted in this Sectiany surplus shall be paid to Tenant o
otherwise required by law; and Tenant shall pay @eficiencies forthwith. Upon request by Landlofénant agrees to execute and deliv:
Landlord a financing statement in form sufficiemperfect the security interest of Landlord in #fierementioned property and proceeds tht
under the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Cadédorce in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Ntitgetanding the foregoing, t
parties acknowledge and agree that Tesdetider or FFE Supplier may have superior rightthé property noted herein. Tenant shall us
best efforts to obtain, within fortfive (45) days of the date hereof, a waiver okalth rights from its lender in this regard, andirfg to obtair
such waiver, that Tenant shall use its best effiartgbtain from such lender, the right to granubadinated lien to Landlord in such goc
second only to the lien of such lender.

20. _SURRENDER Tenant shall, at the end of the Term or soonenitetion of Tenans right to possession of the Premi
promptly vacate and surrender the Premises in gwddr and condition and in conformity with the apable provisions of this Lea:
including without limitation Section 9Tenant shall have no right to hold over beyorelakpiration of the Term and if Tenant does notte
as required, Tenarst’occupancy shall not be construed to effect ostitoile anything other than a tenancy at sufferabcging any period «
occupancy beyond the expiration of the Term thewarhof rent owed to Landlord by Tenant shall autboadly extend, at Landlord’ option
for an additional month to month at one hundiiéigi-percent (150%) of the sum of the Rent as éhesms are at that time calculated unde
provisions of the Lease for the first month of spehiod and thereafter at two hundred percent (908fhe sum of Rent as those sums a
that time calculated under the provision of thedeeal'he acceptance of Rent by Landlord or theriitr delay of Landlord in notifying
evicting Tenant following the expiration or sootemination of the Term shall not create any tegaights in Tenant and any such paym
by Tenant may be applied by Landlord against itstc@nd expenses, including attornefegs, incurred by Landlord as a result of ¢
holdover. The provisions of this Section shall nohstitute a waiver by Landlord of any right ofaetry as set forth in this Lease; nor s
receipt of any Rent or any other act in appardimnadnce of the tenancy
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operate as a waiver of Landlord’s right to terménttis Lease for a breach of any of the terms, mwants, or obligations herein on Tenarpar
to be performed. In addition to the foregoing, @nfnt fails to surrender the Premises upon thaaqm or sooner termination of this Le:
Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmlessdlad from all costs, loss, expense or liabilibcurred as a result of such holdo
including without limitation, claims made by anycseeding tenant and real estate brokers’ claimatincheysfees. At the end of the Term
sooner termination of Tenant’s right to possessibithe Premises, Tenant shall, at Landlerdption, remove all furniture, movable tr
fixtures and equipment (including telephone, séguaind communication equipment system wiring anllicg) in a good and workmanli
manner so as not to damage the Premises or Buididgn such manner so as not to disturb othentsria the Building. Tenarg’obligation t
pay Rent and to perform all other Lease obligatimnghe period up to and including the expirat@rearlier termination of this Lease, and
provisions of this Section, shall survive the eapan or earlier termination of this Lease.

21. _RULES AND REGULATIONS Tenant agrees that at all times during the Tefrthhie Lease (as same may be extended)
employees, agents, invitees and licenses shall lyowith all rules and regulations specified on Ebihi'C " attached hereto and made a
hereof, together with all reasonable Rules and Ré&gus as Landlord may from time to time promuégatovided they do not increase
financial burdens of Tenant or unreasonably rasignant's rights under this Lease. Tenant's tighklispute the reasonableness of any ch
in or additions to the Rules and Regulations sbhaldeemed waived unless asserted to Landlord wignir(10) business days after Land
shall have given Tenant written notice of any sadbption or change. In case of any conflict or irgistency between the provisions of
Lease and any Rules and Regulations, the provigibtisis Lease shall control. Landlord shall enéotbe Rules or Regulations equally
non-discriminatory manner.

22. _GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

(a) Tenant shall, in the use and occupancy efffemises and the conduct of Tenant's businepsotession therein, at all tim
comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, orderstices, rules and regulations of the federatestnd municipal governments, or any of |
departments and the regulations of the insuretiseoPremises, Building and/or Project.

(b) Without limiting the generality of the foreigg, Tenant shall (i) obtain, at Tenant's expehsére engaging in Tenant's busir
or profession within the Premises, all necessasnies and permits including (but not limited taYesand local business licenses or per
and (ii) remain in compliance with and keep in fidice and effect at all times all licenses, cotsemd permits necessary for the la
conduct of Tenant's business or profession at tieeniBes. Tenant shall pay all personal propertedaxncome taxes and other ta
assessments, duties, impositions and similar champch are or may be assessed, levied or impgsed Tenant and which, if not paid, co
be liened against the Premises or against Ter@opgrty therein or against Tenant's leaseholdessta

(c) Landlord shall be responsible for compliamdth Title Il of the Americans with Disabilitieact of 1990, 42 U.S.C. '1218&i
sed. and its regulations, (collectively, "ADA") (i) @o the design and construction of exterior comrmaras (_e.gsidewalks and parking are
and (ii) with respect to the initial design and straction by Landlord of the Landlord's Work. Exteg set forth above in the initial sente
hereto, Tenant shall be responsible for compliavite the ADA in all other respects concerning tfse and occupancy of the Premises, w
compliance shall include, without limitation (i)quision for full and equal enjoyment of the gooskstvices, facilities, privileges, advantage
accommodations of the Premises as contemplatedidbyoathe extent required by the ADA, (ii) compkarrelating to requirements under
ADA or amendments thereto arising after the dat¢hisf Lease and (iii) compliance relating to theide, layout, renovation, redecorati
refurbishment, alteration, or improvement to therfises made or requested by Tenant at any timewioly completion of the Landlor
Work.

23. _NOTICES Wherever in this Lease it is required or perrditteat notice or demand be given or served by ejhaety to thi
Lease to or on the other party, such notice or dehshall be duly given or served if in writing agither: (i) personally served; (ii) delivered
prepaid nationally recognized overnight courier seevie.g., Federal Express) with evidence of receiguired for delivery; (iii) forwarded |
registered or certified mail, return receipt reqadspostage prepaid; or (iv) emailed with evideofceeceipt and delivery of a copy of the no
by first class mail; in all such cases addressedhéo parties at the addresses set forth in Sedt{on above, except that prior to
Commencement Date, notices to Tenant may be sé¢in¢ tattention of any employee or attorney of Témadth whom Landlord negotiated tl
Lease. Each such notice shall be deemed to haveddeen to or served upon the party to which adsrdn the date the same is delivere
delivery is refused. Each party shall have thetriglthange its
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address for notices (provided such new address tisel continental United States) by a writing genthe other party in accordance with
Section, and each party shall, if requested, witm(10) days confirm to the other its notice addr Notices from Landlord may be giver
either an agent or attorney acting on behalf ofdlan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any noticenfr Landlord to Tenant regarding ordin
business operations (e.g., exercise of a rightoéss to the Premises, invoices, notice of maintnactivities or Landlord access, a chani
billing or notice address, estimated Operating Esps, reconciliation of Operating Expenses, rules r@gulations, etc.) may be given
written notice left at the Premises or deliveredregular mail, facsimile, or electronic means (sashemail) to any person at the Pren
whom Landlord reasonably believes is authorizegtteive such notice on behalf of Tenant withoute®ps specified herein.

24. BROKERS Landlord and Tenant each represents and warn@ante other that such party has had no dealinggotiations ¢
consultations with respect to the Premises ortthissaction with any broker or finder other thaa Broker identified in_Section land the
otherwise no broker or finder called the Premige$dnant's attention for lease or took any padrig dealings, negotiations or consultat
with respect to the Premises or this Lease. Eady pgrees to indemnify and hold the other harmfes®: and against all liability, cost a
expense, including attorney's fees and court casgtsng out of any misrepresentation or breacWwafranty under this Section.

25. _LANDLORD'S LIABILITY . Landlord's obligations hereunder shall be bindipgn Landlord only for the period of time t
Landlord is in ownership of the Building; and, upmnmination of that ownership, Tenant, exceptoaarty default by Landlord or obligatic
which are then due and owing or which accrued potermination of ownership of the Building andrevenot assumed by the succe
landlord, shall look solely to Landlord's successointerest in the Building for the satisfactioh each and every obligation of Landl
hereunder. Landlord shall have no personal ligbilitder any of the terms, conditions or covenahthkie Lease and Tenant shall look solel
the equity of Landlord in the Building of which tRgemises form a part for the satisfaction of aaynt, remedy or cause of action accruin
Tenant as a result of the breach of any SectighisfLease by Landlord. In addition to the foregpino recourse shall be had for an oblige
of Landlord hereunder, or for any claim based tberer otherwise in respect thereof, against any, gaesent or future trustee, mem
partner, shareholder, officer, director, partneyerd or employee of Landlord, whether by virtueaofy statute or rule of law, or by -
enforcement of any assessment or penalty or oteenail such other liability being expressly waiedi released by Tenant with respect t
above-named individuals and entities.

26. Intentionally deleted.
27. _MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

(&) _SuccessorsThe respective rights and obligations providethis Lease shall bind and inure to the benefihef parties heret
their successors and assigns; provided, howevarnthrights shall inure to the benefit of any sssors or assigns of Tenant unless Land
written consent for the transfer to such succeasdfor assignee has first been obtained or isaptired as provided in Section fiéreof.

(b) _Governing Law This Lease shall be construed, governed and egdoin accordance with the laws of the Commonweat
Pennsylvania, without regard to principles relatiogonflicts of law.

(c) _Entire AgreementThis Lease, including the Exhibits and any Ridegseto (which are hereby incorporated by thisresfee
except that in the event of any conflict betweenghinted portions of this Lease and any ExhibitRidlers, the term of such Exhibits or Ric
shall control except for the Rules and Regulatiosgpersedes any prior discussions, proposalstinégns and discussions between the pe
and the Lease contains all the agreements, conslitienderstandings, representations and warram#ete between the parties hereto
respect to the subject matter hereof, and may eanbdified orally or in any manner other than byagmeement in writing signed by b
parties hereto or their respective successorstereast. Without in any way limiting the generalif the foregoing, this Lease can only
extended pursuant to the terms hereof, and in Tenaase, with the terms hereof, with the due exeroisan option (if any) contained her
pursuant to a written agreement signed by both lomddand Tenant specifically extending the Term. mNgotiations, correspondence
Landlord or offers to extend the Term shall be deg@in extension of the termination date for anyopexvhatsoever.

(d) Time of the EssenceTIME IS OF THE ESSENCE IN ALL PROVISIONS OF THIS LE ASE, INCLUDING ALL
NOTICE PROVISIONS TO BE PERFORMED BY OR ON BEHALF O F THE PARTIES.

25




(e) _Accord and SatisfactiorNo payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord ¢ésser amount than any payment of Fixed Re
Additional Rent herein stipulated shall be deenwbé other than on account of the earliest stipdl&ixed Rent or Additional Rent due .
payable hereunder, nor shall any endorsement temsémt or any check or any letter accompanyingciegk or payment as Rent be deeme
accord and satisfaction. Landlord may accept shelslcor payment without prejudice to Landlardight to recover the balance of such Re
pursue any other right or remedy provided for is ttease, at law or in equity.

() Intentionally Omitted.

() _Force Majeure If by reason of strikes or other labor disputid® or other casualty (or reasonable delays inustdient ¢
insurance), accidents, orders or regulations of Begleral, State, County or Municipal authority, asty other cause beyond Landled’
reasonable control, Landlord is unable to furnisisaelayed in furnishing any utility or servicequired to be furnished by Landlord undet
provisions of this Lease or is unable to perfornmaike or is delayed in performing or making anysétations, decorations, repairs, alterati
additions or improvements, or is unable to fulbillis delayed in fulfilling any of Landlord’other obligations under this Lease, no such lity
or delay shall constitute an actual or construcgivietion, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenaatany abatement or diminution of Fixed Ren
relieve Tenant from any of its obligations undds thease, or impose any liability upon Landlorditsragents, by reason of inconvenienc
annoyance to Tenant, or injury to or interruptidmenants business, or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foiregy interruptions to utilities sh.
be governed by Paragraph 6(b) above.

(h) _Tenant Financial InformationAs requested by Landlord (but not more than atheeng any twelve month period unles
default has occurred under this Lease or Landl@sl éreasonable basis to suspect that Tenant fiasedua material adverse change i
financial position or in the event of a sale, fioegy, or refinancing by Landlord of all or any gort of the Project) Tenant shall furnist
Landlord, Landlords Mortgagee, prospective mortgagee or purchaseomahly requested financial information: (i) a eutr accurat
complete and detailed balance sheet of Tenantddaiemore than thirty (30) days prior to such daljy, a profit and loss statement, a «
flow summary and all relevant accounting footnota,prepared in accordance with generally acceptetbunting principles consister
applied and certified by the Chief Financial Offiad# Tenant to be a fair and true presentation efant's current financial position; (ii
current, accurate, complete and detailed finansiatements of Tenant audited by an independenifiegrpublic accountant for the I
applicable calendar year; and (iii) current banflerences for Tenant. Tenant agrees that its failrstrictly comply with this _Sectioshal
constitute a material default by Tenant under ltieigse. Landlord shall keep all information providedeunder strictly confidential.

() RepresentationsTenant represents and warrants that (a) Tenathilysorganized, validly existing and legally autlzed to d
business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Bhthé persons executing this Lease are duly aagebto execute and deliver this Le
on behalf of Tenant. Landlord represents and wisranTenant that: (a) Landlord is the owner of Budlding and the Project; (b) Landlord |
the authority to enter into this Lease; and (c) leeson executing this Lease is duly authorizeextcute and deliver this Lease on behe
Landlord.

() Press Releases; Confidentialitgandlord shall have the right, without furthertine to Tenant, to include general informa
relating to the Lease, including Tenant's name,Bhding and the square footage of the Premisgwass releases relating to Landlsrdnc
its affiliates’ leasing activity. Information relag to rates set forth in the Lease will not becasled without Tenaist'prior written conser
Tenant shall not issue, nor permit any broker, espntative, or agent representing Tenant in commeetith the Lease to issue, any p
release or other public disclosure regarding theskeor any of the terms contained in the Leasar(pramendments or modifications there
without the prior written approval of Landlord. Thearties acknowledge that the transaction desciivédde Lease (and any amendments
modifications thereto) and the terms thereof ara obnfidential nature and shall not be disclosexkpt to such partg’ employees, attorne
accountants, consultants, advisors, affiliates, @artdal and prospective purchasers, lenders, ionestubtenants and assignees (collecti
“Permitted Parties”)and except as, in the good faith judgment of Lamttor Tenant, may be required to enable Landlordesrant to comp
with its obligations under law or under rules aedulations of the Securities and Exchange Comnris$ieither party may make any pul
disclosure of the specific terms of the Lease, pixes required by law or as otherwise providedhis paragraph. In connection with
negotiation of the Lease and the preparation fercdnsummation of the transactions contemplategblyeeach party acknowledges that it
have had access to confidential information re¢ptim the other party. Each party shall treat sudbrination and shall cause its Permi
Parties to treat such
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confidential information as confidential, and shaleserve the confidentiality thereof, and not dwgtéd or use such information, exceg
Permitted Parties.

(k) Consent to JurisdictionTenant hereby consents to the exclusive jurigdiabf the state courts located in Montgomery Cg
and to the federal courts located in the Eastestribi of Pennsylvania.

() Captions Marginal captions, titles or exhibits and ridarsl the table of contents in this Lease are fovenience and referer
only, and are in no way to be construed as defjrdimiting or modifying the scope or intent of tkarious provisions of this Lease.

(m) _Gender. As used in this Lease, the word "person” shalamend include, where appropriate, an individuakpaeration
partnership or other entity; the plural shall bbstituted for the singular, and the singular far pural, where appropriate; and the words ol
gender shall mean to include any other gender.

(n) _Counterparts; Electronic Transmittdlhis Lease may be executed in any number of eopatts, each of which when taken together
be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Upoan®s receipt of two (2) executed original counterpaiftshis Lease from Landlot
Tenant shall provide Landlord with one (1), fullyeeuted original of this Lease. The parties ackeogé and agree that notwithstanding
law or presumption to the contrary, the exchangeopies of this Lease and signature pages by etgcttransmission shatlonstitute effectiv
execution and delivery of this Lease for all pugxsand signatures of the parties hereto transirétectronically shall be deemed to be 1
original signature for all purposes.

(o) _No Merger There shall be no merger of this Lease or oléasehold estate hereby created with the fee gntéite Premises
any part thereof by reason of the fact that theesparson, firm, corporation, or other legal entitsty acquire or hold, directly or indirectly, t
Lease of the leasehold estate and the fee est#tie ifremises or any interest in such fee estatieowt the prior written consent of Landlogd’
Mortgagee.

(p) _Recordation of Lease\ party shall not record this Lease without théten consent of the other party.

(q) _Severability If any provisions of this Lease shall be heldb#&invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainingvisions herec
shall in no way be affected or impaired and suchaiaing provisions shall remain in full force arfteet.

(n No PartnershiplLandlord does not, in any way or for any purpdsssome a partner of Tenant in the conduct of usiness, ¢
otherwise, or joint venturer or a member of a j@nterprise with Tenant. This Lease establishedationship solely of that of a landlord :
tenant.

(s) _No Presumption Against Draftel andlord and Tenant understand, agree, and adkdge that: (i) this Lease has been fr
negotiated by both parties; and (ii) that, in theerg of any controversy, dispute, or contest over mneaning, interpretation, validity,
enforceability of this Lease, or any of its termmconditions, there shall be no inference, presionpor conclusion drawn whatsoever age
either party by virtue of that party having draftats Lease or any portion thereof.

(t) Landlords Consent Under no circumstances shall Landlord be liabl€gnant for any failure or refusal to grant itesent whe
consent is required hereunder. Tenant shall n@nciamy money damages by way of setoff, counterclairdefense, based on any claim
Landlord unreasonably withheld its consent, in wwhi@se Tenarg’ sole and exclusive remedy shall be an actiorsfecific performanc
injunction or declaratory judgment.

(u) _Change of Building/Project Naméandlord reserves the right at any time and ftone to time to change the name by wl
the Building and/or Project is designated.

(v) Calculation of Time In computing any period of time prescribed oowakd by any provision of this Lease, the day ofdht
event or default from which the designated peribtime begins to run shall not be included. The ey of the period so computed shal
included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or a legigday, in which event the period runs until tmed of the next day which is not a Satur
Sunday, or legal holiday. Unless otherwise provilderkin, all Notices and other periods expire a.@d p.m. (ocal time in Newtown Squal
Pennsylvanig on the last day of the Notice or other period.
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(w) No Offer. The submission of the Lease by Landlord to Tefmanéxamination does not constitute a reservaioor option fo
the Premises or of any other space within the Ehglabr in other buildings owned or managed by Lardilor its affiliates. This Lease st
become effective as a Lease only upon the execatidriegal delivery thereof by both parties hereto.

(x)  WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY. LANDLORD AND TENANT WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION OR PROCEEDING BASED UPON, OR RELATED TO, THEUBJECT MATTER OF THIS LEASE. THIS WAIVER
KNOWINGLY, INTENTIONALLY, AND VOLUNTARILY MADE BY T ENANT AND TENANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT NEITHEF
LANDLORD NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF LANDLOR HAS MADE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT T
INDUCE THIS WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OR IN ANY WAY TO MODIFY OR NULLIFY ITS EFFECT. TENANT FURTHE
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN REPRESENTED (OR HASAB THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE REPRESENTED) IN Tt
SIGNING OF THIS LEASE AND IN THE MAKING OF THIS WAYER BY INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, SELECTED OF I’
OWN FREE WILL, AND THAT IT HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITYTO DISCUSS THIS WAIVER WITH COUNSEL. TENAN
FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS READ AND UNDERSTANS THE MEANING AND RAMIFICATIONS OF THIS
WAIVER PROVISION AND AS EVIDENCE OF SAME HAS EXECWHD THIS LEASE.

(y) Quiet Enjoyment Provided Tenant has performed all of the ternmts @mditions of this Lease, including the paymefizec
Rent and Additional Rent, to be performed by Tendehant shall peaceably and quietly hold and etfjgyPremises for the Term, with
hindrance from Landlord, or anyone claiming by tlgb or under Landlord under and subject to the ¢eand conditions of this Lease ani
any mortgages now or hereafter affecting all oéy portion of the Premises.

28. _OFAC/PATRIOT ACT COMPLIANCE Each party hereto represents and warrants totttes that such party is not a party v
whom the other is prohibited from doing businessspant to the regulations of the Office of Forefigssets Control (“OFAC")of the U.S
Department of the Treasury, including those paniasied on OFAG Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Perddst. Each par
hereto is currently in compliance with, and shaklatimes during the Term remain in compliancéhwihe regulations of OFAC and any ot
governmental requirement relating thereto. Eaclygdeereto shall defend, indemnify and hold harmbagsother from and against any anc
claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities andeagps (including reasonable attorneys' fees artd)dosurred by the other to the extent ari
from or related to any breach of the foregoing ifiestions. The foregoing indemnity obligations Bhsurvive the expiration or earli
termination of this Lease.

29. _EARLY TERMINATION OPTION.

(&) Tenant shall have a one-time right to teatérthe Lease (“Early Termination Option”), effgetias of the last day of the ninety.
eighth (98th) calendar month of the initial TerriEdfly Termination Date”)provided Tenant (i) is not then in an Event of Ddtfaor has evt
been in an Event of Default of any monetary oblaat under the Lease , (ii) gives Landlord not ldem fifteen (15) months prior writt
notice, and (iii) pays to Landlord, at the timesafd notice, the Early Termination Payment (asihafter defined). Failure to provide writi
notice and payment within the prescribed time framiebe considered by Landlord, without the nedtyssf additional notice, as a waiver
this right to terminate. Tenant acknowledges ancbexythat the Early Termination Payment is not malpg and is fair and reasona
compensation to Landlord for the loss of expectrdals from Tenant over the remainder of the sdeeldlierm. If Tenant timely and prope
exercises this Early Termination Option in accom#amvith this provision, the Lease and the Term Isbaine to an end on the Ee
Termination Date with the same force and effedf #ise Term were fixed to expire on such date, #relterms and provisions of Sectior
shall apply.

(b) The “Early Termination Payment” shall be aljto the unamortized costs on a strailye- basis over the Term with interes
eight and four tenths percent (8.4%)) of: (A) bnalgee commissions and attornefes paid by Landlord in connection with the LegBg;tota
cost incurred by Landlord for improvements to therfises in connection with the Lease; and (C) awmgd-Rent abated with respect to
Premises for any Abatement Period. The amount ®fBarly Termination Payment shall be confirmed nitimng by Landlord following th
Commencement Date, within thirty (30) days afteittem request from Tenant to Landlord. The estimamount of the Early Terminati
Payment is $1,084,633.21. If Tenant exercises Kpalsion Option pursuant to Section 31 of this keasd/or Right of First Offer pursuan
Section 32 of the Lease, then the Early TerminaBagment shall include the unamortized costs otraéghtline basis over the Term w
interest at eight and four tenths percent (8.4%){A)
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brokerage commissions and attornefggs paid by Landlord in connection with the ExpamsSpace and/or First Offer Space; (B) total
incurred by Landlord for improvements to the ExpansSpace and/or First Offer Space; and (C) angdriRent abated with respect to
Expansion Space and/or First Offer Space for aewy Fixed Rent period.

(c) The Early Termination Option is personathe original-named Tenant and any Affiliate of trgginal-named Tenant and m
only be exercised by the original-named Tenanuoh#ffiliate, as the case may be.

30. _RENEWAL OPTION

(a) Provided Tenant is the originemed tenant hereunder, Tenant is neither in antEbfeDefault at the time of exercise nor
Tenant ever committed an Event of Default (irresipecf the fact that Tenant cured such defaultymf monetary obligations under the Le
which amount exceeded at any one time more thae imonths of Fixed Rent at the initial rental r@enant or an Affiliate is fully occupyit
the Premises and the Lease is in full force anelceffTenant or an Affiliate shall have the rightrémew the Lease for one (1) consecutive
of five (5) years beyond the end of the initial fef‘Renewal Term”)Tenant shall furnish written notice of intent tmesv at least twelve (1
months prior to the expiration of the initial Terfailing which such renewal right shall be deemexivwed; time being of the essence. The t
and conditions of the Lease during the Renewal T&grall remain unchanged except that: (i) the ankixad Rent for the Renewal Term s|
be equal to the Fair Market Rent (as defined belamg Landlord shall have no obligation to performy anprovements to the Premises.
factors regarding Additional Rent shall remain wamaed and no Tenant allowance shall be providéaeimbsence of further written agreen
by the parties. Notwithstanding anything to thetcany herein, Tenant shall have no right to renegltease other than or beyond the one
five (5) year Renewal Term described in this Sectio

(b) For purposes of the Lease, “Fair Market Rehill mean the fixed rent, for comparable spacestablished by Landlord or
mutually agreed by Landlord and Tenant after Lartdforeceipt of Tenand’ notice of intent to renew. Landlord shall notifgnant of th
applicable Fair Market Rent as determined by Lamblwithin fifteen (15) days after receipt of Teri@nhotice of intent to renew.
determining the Fair Market Rent, Landlord shatktinto account applicable measurement and thefdassrs, applicable lengths of lease t
differences in size of the space demised, the ilmcaif the Building and comparable buildings, amiesiin the Building and compara
buildings, the ages of the Building and comparadhiddings, differences in base years or stop anwotfmt Recognized Expenses and
escalations and other factors normally taken irocoant in determining Fair Market Rent. The Fairrkéd Rent shall reflect the level
improvement to be made by Landlord to the spacetla@dRecognized Expenses under the Lease. If Lethdiod Tenant cannot agree on
Fair Market Rent within fifteen days of Tenant'segt of Landlords determination, the Fair Market Rent shall beldistaed by the followin
procedure: (i) Tenant and Landlord shall agree single MAI certified appraiser who shall have animum of ten (10) year®xperience i
real estate leasing in the market in which the Fsesis located; (ii) Landlord and Tenant shallheactify the other (but not the appraiser)
its determination of such Fair Market Rent andrébeesons therefor; (jii) during the next seven @ysiboth Landlord and Tenant shall prep:
written critique of the othes’ determination and shall deliver it to the othartys and (iv) on the tenth (10th) day followinglidery of the
critiques to each other, Landlord’s and Teramteterminations and critiques (as originally sutedito the other party, with no modificatic
whatsoever) shall be submitted to the appraisen s¥all decide whether Landlord’s or Tenardetermination of Fair Market Rent is m
correct. The determinations so chosen shall b&#ireMarket Rent. The appraiser shall not be empesvé& choose any number other thar
Landlord’s or Tenant’'s. The fees of the appraibetlde paid by the non-prevailing party.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the cangr Tenant acknowledges and agrees that it skalidund to the Renewal Te
subject only to the determination of Fair MarkehReaipon delivery to Landlord of the aforementiomexice of intent to renew, and Ten
further agrees to execute ten (10) months pridh¢oexpiration of the then expiring Term hereof,ag@propriate amendment to the Leas
form and content satisfactory to both Landlord dedant, in their respective reasonable judgmengmanializing the extension of the Te
hereof for the Renewal Term.

31. _EXPANSION OPTION

(@) Provided Tenant is neither in an Event ofdDi at the time of exercise nor has Tenant emeurred an Event of Defa
(irrespective of the fact that Tenant cured suckriEwf Default) of any monetary obligations undee t.ease Landlord shall notify Tena
with regard to that certain 3,162 rentable squao¢ $pace in the Building
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commonly known as Suite 120 (“Expansion Space§hasvn on Exhibit G” , attached hereto and incorporated herein, if anchvehpotentic
tenant becomes interested in the Expansion Spamedidard shall have an affirmative obligation tosfioffer to Tenant the lease of
Expansion Space on the terms set forth below.

(b) In the event that Landlord is required téeolsuch Expansion Space to Tenant pursuant toStision, Landlord shall provi
notice to Tenant on the Expansion Terms (as hdtema@efined). In any event, the Expansion Spacedl &fe leased by Tenant pursuant to
Section for a term which would be coterminous witle Term of the initial Premises. Tenant shall htese (10) business days follow
Landlord’s delivery of such notice within which aacept such terms in writing to Landlord, time lgeir the essence.

(c) For purposes hereof, the “Expansion Tersigdll be defined as: if the Expansion Space isebde Tenant pursuant to t
Section the Expansion Terms shall be as follow3:t& Fixed Rent for the Expansion Space shalhbesame Fixed Rent as then is applic
for the initial Premises on a per square foot bast shall escalate at the same rate and timisgtaerth in Section 1 hereof; (B) Tenant s
be entitled to a free Fixed Rent period calculasdollows: a fraction which shall be the total hoen of months of the Abatement Pei
divided by the total Term of the initial Premiseg¢luding any extension or renewal term) the prodfievhich shall be multiplied by the to
number of months of the Term of the Lease of thpafsion Space and (C) Landlord shall provide toafiean improvement allowance for
Expansion Space equal to the amount on a per fensgjpare foot as the initial Premises (excludimowever, those costs for the ini
Premises related to the above ceiling improvemefite)provement Allowance”),which share of the Improvement Allowance shal
calculated as follows: a fraction, which shall be remaining Term for the initial Premises divided 138, the product of which shall
multiplied by the Improvement Allowance and whichlwe referred to as the "Expansion Space Imprammillowance.” The improveme
allowance shall be used by Tenant to complete phignprovements to the Expansion Space as mutagliged to by Landlord and Ten
and which allowance shall be fully utilized or feited by Tenant on the date that is twelve (12) tm®ifollowing the delivery of possessior
the Expansion Space to Tenant.

(d) Should Tenant accept such terms as arefigzbby Landlord, the parties shall negotiate #venis of an amendment to the Le
to memorialize their agreement. In the absencengf farther agreement by the parties, such additispace shall be delivered with
improvements that are mutually agreed to by Lantdénd Tenant performed by Landlord and Rent slaimence upon such delivery of
additional space to Tenant. If Tenant shall noepttandlords terms within such ten (10) business day period, the parties shall not ha
executed and delivered a mutually satisfactorydesmmendment within thirty (30) days next followihgndlord’s original notice under tr
Section, then Tenargt’rights to lease such space shall lapse and tateiand Landlord may, at its discretion, leasd sppace on such ter
and conditions as Landlord shall determine. Tesamghts hereunder shall not include the rightetask less than all of the space identifie
Landlord’s notice.

(e) Nothing contained in this Section is intethd@r may anything herein be relied upon by Teaard representation by Landlor¢
to the availability of the Expansion Space wittie Building at any time. Tenasttights hereunder shall continue throughout thenTieereo
(or any extension of the Term) until the final #@) years of the Term, provided that Tenant-fitsbve named (or its successors by merc
consolidation) shall remain in occupancy of noslégan one hundred percent (100%) of the Premisgisally demised hereunder. In the e\
that Tenant should not exercise its option undisr $ection 31 and Landlord leases it to anotheairterthen Tenant shall have a right of
offer if and when the Expansion Space becomesablaiduring the Term (or any extension of the Tesmjhe terms set forth above.

(H Notwithstanding anything to the contraryetterms and conditions of this Section and, afterinitial leasing of the Expansi
Space to any tenant(s), Tenant's expansion righit abt apply to (i) any space that is subject by aenewal, expansion, or other op
heretofore or hereafter given or granted to angteg occupant of the Building, (ii) any space wheandlord has permitted any theristing
tenant to renew or extend its lease (either byettexution of a new lease or by an amendment txitting lease) with respect to such sg
whether or not such lease contains an option teodar (jiii) any space recaptured by Landlord frotersant as a result of Landlord exercisin
right to do so upon receiving a request to subléase such tenant.

(g) Landlord shall not be liable for any failuw€a prior tenant to vacate such space upon thaation of its lease term, and in
event of any such holding over, the obligationdafdlord and Tenant under this Section shall beesuded during the period of holding ¢
and until Landlord can deliver possession of sysate to Tenant.
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Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to recoves@ssion as soon as possible and upon such rechaediord shall deliver possession the
to Tenant.

32. _RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER.

(&) Provided Tenant is neither in an Event ofaDi at the time of exercise nor has Tenant emeurred an Event of Defa
(irrespective of the fact that Tenant cured suchriEwf Default) of any monetary obligations undes tease and subject to the existing ri
of other tenants within the Building, Landlord dhadtify Tenant with regard to rentable square feice on the first (1) floor of the Building
that is or Landlord expects to become vacant amdlable for lease (“First Offer Spacegxcept that the First Offer Space shall excludt
Expansion Space.

(b) In such notice Landlord shall propose todrerthe basic economic terms upon which Landlordlsvbe prepared to entertain
negotiation of an amendment to the Lease with whhiehparties would add the First Offer Space todéscription of the “Premisesiyhich
economic terms shall include the estimated datettteaFirst Offer Space shall be available fordaly and the Fixed Rent (which shall be
Fair Market Rent for such space), whereupon Teshall have ten (10) business days next followingdlard's delivery of such notice with
which to accept such terms, time being of the esseBhould Tenant accept such terms as are sgkbifieandlord, the parties shall negot
the terms of an amendment to the Lease, to menrarideir agreement. In the absence of any fuidigeeement by the parties, such additi
space shall be delivered in “AS -18bndition, and Rent for such additional space st@mihimence on that date which is ninety (90) daex
delivery of the First Offer Space to Tenant. If @atshall not accept Landlosdterms within such ten (10) business day period,tbe partie
shall not have executed and delivered a mutuatigfaatory lease amendment within thirty (30) dagst following Landlord$ original notic
under this Section, then Tenantights to lease such space shall lapse and tateniand Landlord may, at its discretion, leasé space ¢
such terms and conditions as Landlord shall detexmienans rights hereunder shall not include the righteask less than all of the sp
identified in Landlord’s notice.

(c) Nothing contained in this Section is intethab®r may anything herein be relied upon by Teaard representation by Landlor¢
to the availability of the First Offer Space withime Building at any time. Tenastrights hereunder shall continue throughout thenTigerec
(or any extension of the Term) until the final #r@) years of the Term, provided that Tenant-fitsbve named (or its successors by merc
consolidation) shall remain in occupancy of nosl#sn one hundred percent (100%) of the Premisginally demised hereunder.

(d) In the event Landlord and Tenant cannot egne the amount of the Fair Market Rent for thestF@®ffer Space, Tenant i
accept Landlord terms subject only to the determination of Faarkét Rent for the First Offer Space which shaltb&ermined as provided
Section 30(b) above. While the Fair Market Rertbéing determined, Tenant shall pay Fixed RentHerRirst Offer Space as determinec
Landlord. Once the Fair Market Rent has been détexhn Tenant shall begin paying Fixed Rent in adance with such determination an
such rent is lower than the amount determined hydlaad, Landlord will credit Tenarg’ future payments of Fixed Rent for the First C
Space by the amount of such over payment.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrarye terms and conditions of this Section and Tenanpsnsion right shall not apply
(i) any space that is subject to any renewal, esipan or other option heretofore or hereafter givemgranted to any existing occupant of
Building, (ii) any space where Landlord has peredtany therexisting tenant to renew or extend its lease (eitlyethe execution of a ne
lease or by an amendment to its existing leasd) regpect to such space, whether or not such teadains an option to do so or (iii) any sf
recaptured by Landlord from a tenant as a resuleofllord exercising its right to do so upon reg&va request to sublease from such tenant.

(H Landlord shall not be liable for any failuoé a prior tenant to vacate such space upon tpaation of its lease term, and in
event of any such holding over, the obligationt afidlord and Tenant under this Section shall bpesuded during the period of holding ¢
and until Landlord can deliver possession of sugéfice to Tenant. Landlord shall use reasonabletgftor recover possession as soo
possible and upon such recovery, Landlord shaivelepossession thereof to Tenant.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Lease the day and year first above written.

LANDLORD: TENANT:

BRANDYWINE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP, LP INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: Brandywine Realty Trust, its general partner

By: /s/ DANIEL PALAZZO By: /s/J. JOSEPH KIM
Name: Daniel Palazzo Name: J. Joseph Kim
Title:VP Asset Management Title: President and CEO
EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT "A" - SPACE PLAN OF PREMISES

EXHIBIT "B"- FORM OF COLT

EXHIBIT "C"- RULES AND REGULATIONS

EXHIBIT "D" - CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS

EXHIBIT “E”- LANDLORD WORK

EXHIBIT “F" - ELECTRIC CHARGING SPECIFICATIONS
EXHIBIT “G”- EXPANSION SPACE

The submission of this Lease for examination angbtiation does not constitute an offer to leasea eeservation of, or an option for,
Premises. This Lease shall not become effectivessriind until executed and delivered by both Laddilad Tenant. Any modifications m:
to this Lease after Landlord’'s execution shall beteffective unless and until Landlord has initiafeich modifications. Landlorsl’executio
and delivery of this Lease shall constitute anraffeTenant to lease the Premises on the conditi@nTenant executes and delivers to Lanc
one (1) fully executed original of this Lease orbefore February 28, 2014 unless a later datedspded by Landlord, which acceptance ¢
be evidenced by Landlord’s initialing here: (“Tenant’s Execution Deadline”).

If Landlord does not receive one (1) fully executedinal of this Lease on or before Tenant’'s ExieuDeadline, then Landlorsg’offer tc
lease the Premises to Tenant shall be deemed descin
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EXHIBIT "A "
SPACE PLAN

(Floor plan has been omitted)
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EXHIBIT "B "
FORM OF COLT

CONFIRMATION OF LEASE TERM

THIS CONFIRMATION OF LEASE TERM ("COLT") is made as of the of . , between
("Landlord") and ("Tenant").

1.  Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain dated ("Lease Document"), with respect to the premises
described in the Lease Document, known as Suite consisting of approximately rentable square feet ("Premises"),
located at

2. All capitalized terms, if not defined in this COLT, have the meaning give such terms in the Lease Document.

3. Tenant has accepted possession of the Premises in its "AS IS" "WHERE IS" condition and all improvements required to

be made by Landlord per the Lease Document have been completed.

4. The Lease Document provides for the commencement and expiration of the Term of the lease of the Premises, which
Term commences and expires as follows:

a. Commencement of the Term of the Premises:
b. Expiration of the Term of the Premises:

5. The required amount of the Security Deposit and/or Letter of Credit per the Lease Document is § . Tenant has
delivered the Security Deposit and/or Letter of Credit per the Lease Document in the amount of §

6.  The Building Number 1s and the Lease Number 1s . This imnformation must accompany every payment of
Rent made by Tenant to Landlord per the Lease Document.

TENANT: LANDLORD:
By:

By:
Name:

Name:
Title:

Title:
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EXHIBIT “C”
BUILDING RULES AND REGULATIONS
LAST REVISION: JULY 2. 2013

Landlord reserves the right to rescind any of these rules and make such other and further rules and regulations as in
the judgment of Landlord shall from time to time be needed for the safety, protection, care, and cleanliness of the
Project, the operations thereof, the preservation of good order therein, and the protection and comfort of its tenants,
their agents, employees and invitees, which rules when made and notice thereof given to Tenant shall be binding
upon Tenant in a like manner as if originally prescribed. As used in these rules and regulations, capitalized terms
shall have the respective meanings given to them in the Lease to which these rules and regulations are attached,
provided Tenant shall be responsible for compliance herewith by everyone under Tenant’s reasonable control,
including without limitation its employees, invitees, agents, contractors, licensees, subtenants and assignees, and a
violation of these rules and regulations by any of the foregoing is deemed a violation by Tenant.

1.

Sidewalks, entrances, passages, elevators, vestibules, stairways, corridors, halls, lobby, and any other part
of the Building shall not be obstructed or encumbered by Tenant or used for any purpose other than ingress
or egress to and from the Premises. Landlord shall have the right to control and operate the common
portions of the Building and exterior facilities furnished for common use of the Building’s tenants (such as
the eating, smoking, and parking areas) in such a manner as Landlord deems appropriate.

No awnings or other projections may be attached to the outside walls of the Building without the prior
written consent of Landlord. All drapes and window blinds shall be of a quality, type, design, and color,
and attached in a manner approved in writing by Landlord.

No showcases, display cases, or other articles may be put in front of or affixed to any part of the exterior of
the Building, or placed in hallways or vestibules without the prior written consent of Landlord. All stocking
supplies shall be kept in designated storage areas. Tenant shall not use or permit the use of any portion of
the Project for outdoor storage. No mats, trash, or other objects may be placed in the public corridors,
hallways, stairs, or other common areas of the Building.

Restrooms and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purposes other than those for which they
were constructed, and no debris, rubbish, rags, or other substances may be thrown therein. Only standard
toilet tissue may be flushed in commodes. All damage resulting from any misuse of these fixtures shall be
the responsibility of the tenant who, or whose employees, agents, visitors, clients, or licensees, caused such
damage. Bathing and changing of clothes 1s permitted only in designated shower/locker facilities, and is not
permitted in restrooms.

Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, mark, paint, drill into, bore, cut, string
wires, or in any way deface any part of the Premises or the Building except for the reasonable hanging of
decorative or instructional materials on the walls of the Premises. Tenant shall remove seasonal decorations
that are visible outside of the Premises within 30 days after the end of the applicable season.

Tenant shall not construct, install, maintain, use, or operate in any part of the Project any electrical device,
wiring, or other apparatus in connection with a loud speaker system or other sound/communication system
that may be heard outside the Premises.

No bicycles, mopeds, skateboards, scooters, or other vehicles, and no animals or pets of any kind (other
than a service animal performing a specified task), including without limitation fish, rodents, and birds,
may be brought into, used, or kept in or about the Building. Rollerblading and roller skating is not
permitted in the Building or in the common areas of the Project.

Tenant shall not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable odors to be produced upon or permeate from
the Premises.

No space in the Project may be used for the manufacture of goods for sale in the ordinary course of
business, or for sale at auction of merchandise, goods, or property of any kind.
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10.

11.

12:

13.

14.

15

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Tenant shall not make any unseemly or disturbing noises, or disturb or interfere with the occupants of the
Building or neighboring buildings or residences by voice, musical instrument, radio, talking machines,
whistling, singing, lewd behavior, or in any other way. All passage through the Building’s hallways,
elevators, and main lobby shall be conducted in a quiet, businesslike manner. Tenant shall not commit or
suffer any waste upon the Premises, the Building, or the Project, or any nuisance, or do any other act or
thing that may disturb the quiet enjoyment of any other tenant in the Building or Project.

Tenant shall not throw anything out of the doors, windows, or down corridors or stairs of the Building,

Tenant shall not place, install, or operate in the Premises or in any part of the Project, any engine, stove,
machinery, or electrical equipment not directly related to its business, including without limitation space
heaters, coffee cup warmers, and small refrigerators, conduct mechanical operations, cook thereon or
therein, or place or use in or about the Premises or the Project any explosives, gasoline, kerosene oil, acids,
caustics, canned heat, charcoal, or any other flammable, explosive or hazardous material, without the prior
written consent of Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to install and use a
coffee machine, microwave oven, toaster, ice maker, refrigerator, and/or vending machine in compliance
with all applicable Laws in a kitchen or break room designated as such by Landlord, provided Tenant shall
use only stainless steel braided hoses.

No smoking is permitted anywhere in the Premises, the Building or the Project, including but not limited to
restrooms, hallways, elevators, stairs, lobby, exit and entrances vestibules, sidewalks, and parking lot area,
provided smoking shall be permitted in any Landlord-designated exterior smoking area. All cigarette ashes
and butts shall be deposited in the containers provided for such disposal, and shall not be disposed of on
sidewalks, parking lot areas, or toilets.

Tenant shall not install any additional locks or bolts of any kind upon any door or window of the Building
without the prior written consent of Landlord. Tenant shall, upon the termination of its tenancy, retum to
Landlord all keys for the Premises, either furnished to or otherwise procured by Tenant, and all security
access cards to the Building.

Tenant shall keep all doors to hallways and corridors closed during business hours except as they may be
used for ingress or egress.

Tenant shall not use the name of the Building, Project, Landlord, or Landlord’s agents or affiliates in any
way in connection with its business except as the address thereof. Landlord shall also have the right to
prohibit any advertising by Tenant that, in Landlord’s sole opinion, tends to impair the reputation of the
Building or its desirability as a building for offices, and upon written notice from Landlord, Tenant shall
refrain from or discontinue such advertising.

Tenant shall be responsible for all security access cards issued to it, and shall secure the return of all
security cards from all employees terminating employment with them. Lost cards shall cost $35.00 per card
to replace. No person/company other than Building tenants and/or their employees may have security
access cards unless Landlord grants prior written approval.

All deliveries to the Building that involve the use of a hand cart, hand truck, or other heavy equipment or
device shall be made via the freight elevator, if such freight elevator exists in the Building. Tenant shall be
responsible to Landlord for any loss or damage resulting from any deliveries made by or for Tenant to the
Building. Tenant shall procure and deliver to Landlord a certificate of insurance from its movers, which
certificate shall name Landlord as an additional insured.

Landlord reserves the right to inspect all freight to be brought into the Building, and to exclude from the
Building all freight or other material that violates any of these rules and regulations.

Tenant shall refer all contractors, contractor’s representatives, and installation technicians rendering any
service on or to the Premises, to Landlord for Landlord’s approval and supervision before performance of
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22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.
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any contractual service or access to Building, This provision shall apply to all work performed in the
Building including installation of telephones, telegraph equipment, electrical devices and attachments, and
installations of any nature affecting floors, walls, woodwork, trim, windows, ceilings, equipment, or any
other physical portion of the Building. Landlord reserves the right to require that all agents of contractors
and vendors sign in and out of the Building.

If Tenant desires to introduce electrical, signaling, telegraphic, telephonic, protective alarm or other wires,
apparatus or devices, Landlord shall direct where and how the same are to be placed, and except as so
directed, no installation boring or cutting shall be permitted, without Landlord’s consent, not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Landlord shall have the right to prevent and to cut off the
transmission of excessive or dangerous current of electricity or annoyances into or through the Building or
the Premises and to require the changing of wiring connections or layout at Tenant’s expense, to the extent
that Landlord may reasonably deem necessary, and further to require compliance with such reasonable and
uniformly applied rules as Landlord may establish relating thereto, and in the event of non-compliance with
the requirements or rules, Landlord shall have the right immediately to cut wiring or to do what it
reasonably considers necessary to remove the danger, annoyance, or electrical interference with apparatus
in any part of the Building. All wires installed by Tenant must be clearly tagged at the distributing boards
and junction boxes and elsewhere where required by Landlord, with the suite number of the office to which
such wires lead, and the purpose for which the wires respectively are used, together with the name of the
concern, if any, operating such wires.

Landlord reserves the right to exclude from the Building at all times any person who is not known or does
not properly identify himself or herself to Landlord’s management or security personnel.

Landlord may require, at its sole option, all persons entering the Building outside of Business Hours to
register at the time they enter and at the time they leave the Building.

No space within the Building, or in the common areas such as the parking lot, may be used at any time for
the purpose of lodging, sleeping, or for any immoral or illegal purposes.

Tenant shall not use the hallways, stairs, lobby, or other common areas of the Building as lounging areas
during breaks or during lunch periods.

No canvassing, soliciting, or peddling is permitted in the Building or its common areas.

Tenant shall comply with all Laws regarding the collection, sorting, separation, and recycling of garbage,
trash, rubbish and other refuse, and Landlord’s recycling policy for the Building.

Landlord does not maintain suite finishes that are non-standard, such as kitchens, bathrooms, wallpaper,
special lights, etc. However, should the need arise for repair of items not maintained by Landlord, Landlord

at its sole option, may arrange for the work to be done at tenant’s expense.

Tenant shall clean at least once a year, at its expense, drapes in the Premises that are visible from the
exterior of the Building.

No pictures, signage, advertising, decals, banners, etc. may be placed in or on windows in such a manner as
they are visible from the exterior, without the prior written consent of Landlord.

Tenant is prohibited at all times from eating or drinking in hallways, elevators, restrooms, lobbies, or lobby
vestibules outside of the Premises. Food storage shall be limited to a Landlord-approved kitchen or break

room.

Tenant shall be responsible to Landlord for any acts of vandalism performed in the Building by its
employees, invitees, agents, contractors, licensees, subtenants and assignees.

Tenant shall not permit the visit to the Premises of persons in such numbers or under such conditions as to
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40.
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42.
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interfere with the use and enjoyment by other tenants of the entrances, hallways, elevators, lobby, exterior
common areas, or other public portions or facilities of the Building.

Landlord’s employees shall not perform any work or do anything outside of their regular duties unless
under special instructions from Landlord. Requests for such requirements shall be submitted in writing to
Landlord.

Tenant 1s prohibited from interfering in any manner with the installation and/or maintenance of the heating,
air conditioning and ventilation facilities and equipment at the Project.

Landlord shall not be responsible for lost or stolen personal property, equipment, money, or jewelry
regardless of whether such loss occurs when an area is locked against entry or not.

Landlord shall not permit entrance to the Premises by use of pass key controlled by Landlord, to any person
at any time without written permission of Tenant, except employees, contractors or service personnel
supervised or employed by Landlord.

Tenant shall observe and comply with the driving and parking signs and markers on the Project grounds
and surrounding areas. Tenant shall comply with all reasonable and uniformly applied parking regulations
promulgated by Landlord from time to time for the orderly use of vehicle parking areas. Parked vehicles
shall not be used for vending or any other business or other activity while parked in the parking areas.
Vehicles shall be parked only in striped parking spaces, except for loading and unloading, which shall
occur solely i zones marked for such purpose, and be so conducted as to not unreasonably interfere with
traffic flow or with loading and unloading areas of other tenants. Tractor trailers shall be parked in areas
designated for tractor trailer parking. Employee and tenant vehicles shall not be parked in spaces marked
for visitor parking or other specific use. All vehicles entering or parking in the parking areas shall do so at
owner’s sole risk and Landlord assumes no responsibility for any damage, destruction, vandalism or theft.
Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord in any reasonable and uniformly applied measures implemented by
Landlord to control abuse of the parking areas, including without limitation access control programs, tenant
and guest vehicle identification programs, and validated parking programs, provided no such validated
parking program shall result in Tenant being charged for spaces to which it has a right to free use under the
Lease. Each vehicle owner shall promptly respond to any sounding vehicle alarm or horn, and failure to do
so may result in temporary or permanent exclusion of such vehicle from the parking areas. Any vehicle that
violates the parking regulations may be cited, towed at the expense of the owner, temporarily or
permanently excluded from the parking areas, or subject to other lawful consequence.

Tenant shall not enter other separate tenants’ hallways, restrooms, or premises except with prior written
approval from Landlord’s management.

Tenant shall not place weights anywhere beyond the load-per-square-foot carrying capacity of the Building.
Tenant shall comply with all laws, regulations, or other governmental requirements with respect to energy
savings, not permit any waste of any utility services provided Landlord, and cooperate with Landlord fully
to ensure the most effective and efficient operation of the Building.

The finishes, including floor and wall coverings, and the furnishings and fixtures in any areas of the
Premises that are visible from the common areas of the Building are subject to Landlord’s approval in its
sole discretion. Selections for these areas shall be pre-approved in writing by Landlord.

Power strips and extension cords shall not be combined (also known as daisy chaining).

Candles and open flames are prohibited in the Building.

skelskskiekekek ok
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EXHIBIT “D”
CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS

DAILY

Empty Trash and Recycle

Empty shredded paper bins

Remove Spots/Spills from Carpet
Remove Visible Debris/Litter from Carpet
Spot Clean Desks and Tables

Straighten Chair — Furniture

Turn Off Lights

WEEKLY

Dust Desks and Computer Monitors

Vacuum Carpet
Clean Wastebaskets
Clean Light Fixtures and Vents

Clean Telephones
Clean Walls, Switch Plates and Baseboards
Dust File Cabinets, Partitions and Bookshelves
Clean Chairs

Clean Glass Walls

Clean Doors
Clean Tables
Dust Pictures and Surfaces Over 5’
Dust Window Sills, Ledges and Radiators
Spot Clean Side Light Glass

RESTROOM CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS
DAILY

Sinks

Floors

Counters

Trash Receptacle
Toilet/Urinals
Dispensers

Door

Spot Clean Walls
Spot Clean Partitions
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WEEKLY

Dust Lights

Dust Surfaces Over 5’
Ceiling Vents

Clean Walls

Clean Partitions

FLOOR CARE SPECIFICIATIONS

DAILY
Spot Clean Carpet

WEEKLY

Burnish Polished Surfaces

MONTHLY

Machine Scrub Restroom Floors
Scrub and Recoat Copy Room Floors
Scrub and Recoat Kitchenette Floors

ONCE EVERY FOUR MONTHS

Shampoo Conference Room Carpets

YEARLY
Strip and Refinish all vinyl tile

THESE SPECIFICATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHROTICE.
THE COST FOR ANY CLEANING OVER AND ABOVE THE STARIDBLEANING SPECIFICATIONS IS TO BE BORNE BY THEANET
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EXHIBIT “E”
LANDLORD’'S WORK

1. Certain Definitions
(a) “ Architect” means the architect or space planner, if anyagad by Landlord to prepare and/or review the Plans
(b) “ Building Standard means the quality and quantity of materials, fiasland workmanship specified from time to 1

by Landlord as being standard for leasehold improa@s at the Building or for other areas at thdddug, as applicable. Landlord expres
acknowledges that, as part of the Building Standaaddlord shall provide bolt slot grid, 2’ x 2'yldn beveled tegular Ultima ceiling tiles, lay-
in basket fixtures, cherry doors and mecho shades.

(c) “ Initial Plang means the plans attached hereto as Exhibit A aadstdndard pricing notes prepared by Nelson
January 8, 2014 and revised January 10, 2014.

(d) “ Landlords Work ” means the improvements, alterations and other gdlysidditions to be made or provided
constructed, delivered or installed at; or otheenasquired for the Premises in accordance withPtaas. Any provision of this Exhibit to t
contrary notwithstanding, the Landlord’s Work shadt include Tenant’s Equipment.

(e) “ Plans” means collectively the Initial Plans and the Camdton Drawings (as hereinafter defined). Land
acknowledges that Landlord shall cause Architegirépare the Plans at Landlord’s expense.

()] “ Punch List Work” means the list of items to be generated by Tendthin three (3) days after Tenant's preeupanc
inspection of the Premises that do not materidfiyca Tenant’s ability to use the Premises for Breemitted Uses.

(9) “ Substantial Completiofi or “ Substantially Completed means the date on which the LandlardVork has bee
completed except for Punch List Work to the extdatt the Premises may be occupied by Tenant foPeatsnitted Uses and Landlord
obtained a final inspection approval and/or a terapoor permanent certificate of occupancy from &pgplicable local governing author
Notwithstanding the foregoing, issuance of suchmagrent or temporary certificate of occupancy magdmitioned upon Tené's installatiol
of its equipment, racking, cabling or furniture ammpletion of any other work or activity in the Riises for which Tenant is responsible
such event, if the governmental authority will megue the temporary or permanent certificate ofipaacy, or schedule an inspection of
Landlord’'s Work due to Tenant’s failure to complet®y work, installation or activity (including thestallation of the Tenarg’ Equipment
then the Landlord Work shall be deemed Substantially Completedauitthandlord having obtained the temporary or perama certificate
occupancy and correspondingly, the Commencemert £atll be established.

(h) “ Tenant Delay’ means that, in whole or in part, Landlord is geld in Substantially Completing any LandledNork
that Landlord is required to design, constructiath®r otherwise provide or in obtaining any pei(s)i or certificate(s) that Landlord is requi
to obtain under the Lease or this Exhibit as alteglany of the following: (a) Tenargt'failure to timely provide the Construction Infatior
as required hereunder; (b) Tenarfilure to furnish plans and specifications aie any other reasonably requested informaticapproval
related to the furtherance of Landlord’s Work witHive (5) business days following Landlosdritten request to Tenant for the same;
Tenant material changes, including any Change Orfs hereinafter defined), (notwithstanding Lardi® approval of such changes) to
Plans; (c) Tenant changes to the Construction hmdgion (as hereinafter defined) given to the Amtiitin connection with the Architest’
preparation of the Construction Drawings; (d) Tenaguests noBuilding Standard improvements, materials, finislednstallations; (e
delays caused by any governmental or quasi-govertahauthorities arising from the LandlosdWork being designed to include item:
improvements not typically found in the office spaaf other comparable buildings in the market irichtthe Building is located but only
requested by Tenant as a change to Constructiomtation or Construction Plans; (f) Tenant matérieiterferes with the work of Landlord
contractor including, without limitation, during yapre-commencement entry period; or (g) Tenant failsulty fand timely comply with th
terms of this Exhibit.

0] “ Tenants Equipment’ means any telephone, telephone switching, teleplammke data cabling, furniture, comput
servers, Tenant's trade fixtures and other persomgderty to be installed by or on behalf of Tenarthe Premises.
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)] “ Tenants Representativé means Thomas Kim, whose email address is tkim@inoem. All correspondence &
information to be delivered to Tenant with resgedhis Exhibit shall be delivered to Tenant's Regantative.

(k) “Work " means the labor and materials required for any ¢di#amg construction, acquisition, installation afidishing ot
the Landlord’s Work.

2. Plans

(a) Construction Drawings On or before March 1, 2014, Tenant shall submifigent information, including
without limitation, Tenang finish selections, mechanical loads, electriocalds and locations, furniture plans and speciditifig and us
requirements, if any (collectively, the “Constrctiinformation”),to, and as required by Architect to enable the Aechto prepare and deliy
to Landlord complete construction and permit drasifor the Landlord’s Work no later than March 2814 (“ Construction Drawingy.

(b) Change OrdersTenant shall have the right to make changesdd’tans provided: (i) such changes are appi
in writing by Landlord, which approval shall not bereasonably withheld (* Change Ordgrand (ii) Tenant reimburses Landlord for the
costs to Landlord (including any delays) arisingnir Tenant$ change(s) to the Plans, including all costs tdifydhe plans and obtain a
modified approvals in connection therewith (colieely, “ Additional Costs’). Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the Additio@aists withit
ten (10) business days after Tenant's receipt @fvamice from Landlord for the Additional Costs.

3. Performance of Work

(a) Allocation. Except to the extent that the Plans or this Exipitovide that Tenant will perform a portion ofthandlords
Work, Landlord will cause the LandlosI'Work to be made, constructed or installed in adgand workmanlike manner substantiall
accordance with the Plans. Except as set forthegti& 4 hereof, Landlord shall obtain all pernmégquired in connection with the Landlosd’
Work, at Landlord’s expense.

(b) Building StandardsExcept as expressly set forth in the Plans, Lenddill cause the Landlord’Work to be construct
or installed to Building Standards; provided, hoe\Landlord shall have the right to substitute pamable norBuilding Standard materia
fixtures, finishes and items for Building Standanéterials, fixtures finishes and items to the exthat such Building Standard materi
fixtures, finishes and items are not readily audda

4. FirelLife Safety; Cabling Any Landlord’s Work relating to the Building firend life safety systems shall be performed by lamtk
fire and life safety subcontractor, at Landlorkpense. Tenant shall be solely responsible foothering, delivery and installation of Tenant’
Equipment in compliance with all Laws. Tenant slealbrdinate the installation of TenamEquipment (including cabling) at the Premiseh
contractor’s performance of the LandlsdNork. Subject to Landlord's reasonable approMahant may use the vendor of its choice for
installation. Tenant shall contact the municipalityvhich the Building is located for specific infiition requirements and shall comply witt
local rules and regulations and shall obtain andfpaany and all required permits in connectioardwith. Tenant's requirements for instal
voice and data cabling in commercial offices inrRbyth Township are outlined in detail by the Coddocement Office for Plymou
Township. This information is available dine at www.plymouthtownship.org or by calling tRéymouth Township Code Enforcement Of
at 610-2774104. Tenant shall provide Landlord with its sigreed! sealed Tele/Data drawings and a copy of itdract with the Tele/Da
vendor retained by Tenant no later than two (2)keesfter signing the Lease. Tenant's failure tebnprovide the foregoing information
Landlord shall be considered a Tenant Delay hereund

5. Cooperation Tenant and TenastRepresentative shall cooperate with Landlordhidect and the contractor to promote the efficiemd
expeditious completion of the Landlord’s Work.

6. Punch List Landlord will diligently pursue completion of afunch List Work and Landlord will make reasonadfferts to complet
all such Punch List Work within thirty (30) daygeafthe Commencement Date. Upon completion of thmecR List Work, it shall be presunr
that all of the Landlord Work shall be free from defects in materials arkananship. Landlord shall obtain from its generahtractor(s)
commercially customary one (1)-year warranty fog ttandlords Work and Landlord shall make claim under suchravdies on behalf
Tenant, to the extent necessary.
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7. Tenant Delay If the Landlords Work are delayed in being Substantially Completed result of Tenant Delay then the Commence
Date of the Lease (and the corresponding paymeReot) shall be accelerated by the number of dawsich Tenant Delay. Landlord st
have no obligation to expend any funds, employ aahgitional labor, contract for overtime work or etWise take any action to compensatt
any Tenant Delay.

8. Early Access Tenant shall have reasonable access to the Rremisor to the Commencement Date during constmctif the
Landlord’'s Work at such time(s) as are reasonably praciEaletermined by the general contractor in lighthefconstruction schedule for
completion of the Landlord’s Work (“ Early Acce$sto coordinate installation of Tenastwiring and equipment, provided such access
not materially interfere with or materially deldyet Landlords Work. All insurance, waiver and indemnity prowiss of the Lease shall be
full force and effect during Early Access. Tendmalsensure that its phone/data, security and oteadors comply with all applicable La
and pull their permits and perform their work imgnction with the Landlord’s Work so as not to arélly delay the Landlord Work an
any and all inspections therefor. Any material gatesulting from Early Access, including withoutitation due to a Tenant vendsnvork
materially delaying Landlord’s ability to obtairsipermits, shall be deemed a Tenant Delay.
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EXHIBIT “F’
ELECTRIC CHARGING SPECIFICATIONS

Manufactured by Clipper Cre

Model #HCS40

7.4 kKW

NEMA 4 enclosure for installation in every enviroan

Landlord shall install a 4@mp electrical line for the charging stal
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EXHIBIT “G”
EXPANSION SPACE
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Exhibit 21.1

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiary Name(1) Jurisdiction of Organization
Genetronics, Inc. California
VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC Delaware
VGX Animal Health, Inc. Delaware

(1) Inaccordance with Instructions (ii) to Exhif21) to the Exhibit Table in Item 601 of RegutattiS-K, Registrant has omitted from the
above table one of its subsidiaries because sudiednsubsidiary does not constitute a significautisidiary of registrant as of the enc
the year covered by this report.



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iféllewing Registration Statements:

1)
2)
3)
4)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.

3B®123) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, i
3BB126) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, i
338670) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, i
333698) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, i

Exhibit 23.1

5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 38®077) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@000 Stock Option Pla

6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-12)@@&ttaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporatidimended 2000 Stock Option Pl

7) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-13pp28taining to Inovio Biomedical Corporatidimended 2000 Stock Option Pl

8) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 332938) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@®07 Omnibus Incentive Pl

9) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3%8769) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@®07 Omnibus Incentive Pl

10) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15603&ppeng to Inovio Biomedical Corporation Viral Gamics, Inc. Equity
Compensation Plan,

11) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 338t559) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@®07 Omnibus Incentive Pl:

12) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-166906ppeng to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, 182007 Omnibus Incentive Pl

13) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-174358&ppeng to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, 182007 Omnibus Incentive Pl

14) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-18153&ppeng to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, 182007 Omnibus Incentive Plan,

15) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-19231&ppeng to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, 182007 Omnibus Incentive Pl

of our reports dated March 17, 2014, with respe¢hé consolidated financial statements of Inoviaraceuticals, Inc. and the effectivel
of internal control over financial reporting of Wio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. included in this AnnuatpBrt (Form 1K) of Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the year ended Decenthe2@®L3.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 17, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&p(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

[, J. Joseph Kim, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on FornK16F Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ir

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrantl have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdorbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovegirfirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent eN@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisatifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date:March 17, 2014 /sl J. bsepH K M

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&p(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Peter Kies, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornK16F Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrantl have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdorbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovegirfirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent eN@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisatifole in the
registrant's internal control

Date:March 17, 2014 /sl PeTter K IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Inovio Pimaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K floe year ending December 31,
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), eacthefundersigned, in the capacities and on
the date indicated below, hereby certifies, purstmd8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugdettion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to his knowledge:

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefkction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date:March 17, 2014 /sl J. bsepH K m

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:March 17, 2014 /sl Peter K IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




